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Look out for
Read more content within our Annual Report
You can read more in our online Annual Report at
unitedutilities.com/corporate where we maintain
a wide range of information of interest to institutional
and private investors including:
› Latest news and press releases;
› Reports and publications; and
› Corporate responsibility content.
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Welcome to our Annual Report and Financial
Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
United Utilities is the UK’s largest listed
water company. We provide essential services
for millions of people and are constantly
innovating and working with our stakeholders
to ensure continuous improvement.
We supply water

We remove wastewater

We are helping life flow smoothly for
around seven million people and 200,000
businesses in the North West of England
by providing them with clean,
fresh water every day.

We take away and treat the North West’s
wastewater, helping to keep our rivers
and beaches clean so current and future
generations can enjoy the exceptional
natural beauty of our region.

We are an innovator
We continually strive for new and innovative ways of working and have adopted
an industry-leading systems-based approach to managing our network,
which we call Systems Thinking.

Read more on page 29

We build resilience
We are investing for the long-term to make our network more resilient to the effects
of climate change, population growth and financial shocks, and to continue improving
drinking water quality. We want to ensure that customers can rely on us for a great
service, and that the investment we are making to deliver this continues to boost the
North West’s economy, supporting thousands of jobs, and securing a legacy for the future.

Read more on page 37

Our vision is to be
the best UK water and
wastewater company.
06

unitedutilities.com/corporate

Stock Code: UU.

Read more
about
Our performance
in 2017/18

Our business model
Page 18

Page 42

Our way of
creating value
Page 17

Our use of technology and
Systems Thinking approach
is delivering sustained
improvements and setting
new benchmarks for
the sector.

Our key performance
indicators
Page 38

Our competitive
advantage
Page 13

Our stakeholder
engagement
Page 30

Our financial statements
Page 127

Our corporate
governance report
Page 59

Materiality
Our Annual Report and Financial Statements aim to meet the information needs of our investors to help them make informed decisions regarding their
participation – for example, whether to buy, sell or hold our shares or bonds, whether to engage with management on issues, and how to vote their
shares. We have included information that we believe is material to these decisions, which is presented in a way that we believe is fair, balanced and
understandable.
We recognise that this report will be read by a wide variety of other stakeholders including customers, suppliers, employees, analysts, regulators,
community bodies, politicians, non-governmental organisations, and devolved authorities. Where we believe that a topic is material to a large number
of them, we either include it in this report or refer the reader to other reports and information (such as our customer communications, corporate
responsibility web pages, or regulatory reports).
We believe this approach meets the requirements of company law, the UK Corporate Governance Code, IFRS and the International <IR> Framework,
and that we go beyond those requirements where we feel it is particularly helpful to do so and where that can be done without making the report
unnecessarily lengthy or difficult to read.

Integrated Report

Serving the North West

This Annual Report is an Integrated Report and has been
prepared and presented in accordance with the International
<IR> Framework published by the International Integrated
Reporting Council in December 2013.
The board, which is responsible for the integrity of this report,
has considered the preparation and presentation of this report
and concluded that it has been prepared and presented in
accordance with the Framework.

Every day, we are on a mission to give
customers the best service at the lowest
sustainable cost. We provide around
seven million people and 200,000
businesses with clean water and treat their wastewater before
returning it cleanly and safely back into the environment.
Our innovative Systems Thinking approach enables us to optimise
our performance from both a cost and a service perspective,
operating within a proactive, rather than reactive, culture.
Serving the North West means helping to grow the northern
economy, enhance the environment and protect wildlife within our
beautiful region, and supporting vulnerable customers.

Dr John McAdam
Chairman

Steve Mogford
Chief Executive Officer

We do this under our strategy of providing:

The best
service to
customers

At the lowest
sustainable
cost

In a responsible
manner
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s review

Industry-leading
customer satisfaction
across a range of
metrics

Confident of
delivering totex
outperformance
of £100 million against
2015–20 allowance

Sharing anticipated
net outperformance
through £250
million additional
investment in
resilience

Reported operating
profit up 5 per cent
at £636 million and
underlying operating
profit up 4 per cent
at £645 million

Total dividend of
39.73 pence, in line
with our growth
policy for this
regulatory period

Our approach to innovation and Systems Thinking is
radically changing the way we operate, and leading
the way for the industry. It has helped us to deliver
sustainably better service, greater resilience and
improved efficiency, contributing to outperformance
that we are sharing with customers.
Overview

Customer focus

Our strategy has, for many years now, focused
on putting customers first in everything we do.

Our customers are benefiting from sustained
improvements in service, efficiency and greater
resilience, and this is demonstrated by the
continuous improvements we have made
in our customer satisfaction scores.

The improvement in customer satisfaction that
we have delivered as a result of this positions
us as a leader in the sector, recognised across
a range of metrics, and our approach to
vulnerability and affordability is setting new
benchmarks for the industry.
Our industry faces many challenges, ranging
from recent increased political scrutiny and
preparations for the next regulatory review, to
planning for long-term resilience needs to cope
with a changing climate and growing population.
We intend to rise to all of these challenges,
building on the trust our customers place in us
to provide an outstanding service, invest wisely
to deliver additional benefits, and offer
exceptional value for money.
We are using advanced technology and
innovations from around the world and
across different sectors to accelerate our
implementation of Systems Thinking. This is
delivering sustainable improvements in service,
resilience and efficiency, and is contributing to
outperformance in the current regulatory period.
The enhanced capability that Systems Thinking
has delivered gives us confidence heading
into the next regulatory period and beyond.
We are sharing our anticipated net
outperformance with customers by investing
in projects that were not part of our original
regulatory settlement for this regulatory period
but that will help deliver long-term resilience for
the benefit of customers and the environment,
and ease the burden of future customer bills to
help improve affordability.
This philosophy is central to our strategy and will
help deliver long term value for customers, the
environment and shareholders.

This year, we achieved our best ever scores
against Ofwat’s qualitative Service Incentive
Mechanism (SIM), and we were delighted to
be positioned first in the industry in the final
wave of the year, and to be in an upper quartile
position for the year overall.
Our best practice in customer satisfaction
has received external recognition through
several awards, many of which look beyond the
water sector. We achieved an upper quartile
performance in the UK Customer Satisfaction
Index, which covers all industries, and we are the
leading listed company for the Consumer Council
for Water’s assessment of household complaint
numbers.
The North West suffers from high levels of
extreme deprivation. Helping vulnerable
customers is a high priority for us. We are
supporting more than 50,000 customers
through our Priority Services scheme, which
provides dedicated support for those customers
who are experiencing short or long-term
personal challenges in their lives, such as
physical or mental health difficulties, as well
as those struggling financially.
We have far surpassed our target for the
number of customers we would help through
our financial assistance schemes in this
regulatory period. In January, we hosted the first
ever North West Affordability summit, engaging
with many of our stakeholders including
customers and building on our already leading
position on affordability and vulnerability.
Notwithstanding our benchmark debt
management processes and wide range of
schemes to help customers struggling to pay,
the high levels of income deprivation in our
region mean that bad debt and cash collection
will remain a principal challenge for us.
We have made significant inroads in this area,
reducing household bad debt even further to
2.3 per cent in 2017/18, from 2.5 per cent in
2016/17.
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Pictured: Steve Mogford, Chief Executive Officer, and Dr John McAdam, Chairman

Financial performance
Group revenue was £32 million higher than last
year, at £1,736 million, reflecting our allowed
regulatory revenue changes partly offset by the
accounting impact of our non-household retail
joint venture, Water Plus, which completed on
1 June 2016.
Reported operating profit was up £31 million,
at £636 million, reflecting the underlying
movements as well as reduced profits last
year due to costs associated with preparing
the business for open competition in the
non-household retail sector and other
restructuring costs.
Underlying operating profit was up £22 million,
at £645 million, reflecting the increase
in revenue and lower operating costs,
partly offset by an increase in depreciation
and amortisation.
Reported profit before tax was down £10
million, at £432 million, reflecting the
underlying movements as well as fair value
movements and other adjusting items as
outlined in the underlying profit reconciliation
table on pages 52 and 53.
Underlying profit before tax was down £19
million, at £370 million, as the increase
in underlying operating profit was more
than offset by a £40 million increase in the
underlying net finance expense. The increase
in the underlying net finance expense is mainly
due to the impact of higher RPI inflation on our
index-linked debt.

Reported earnings per share was 52.0 pence,
which is higher than the underlying figure,
mainly reflecting the net effect of fair value
gains on debt and derivative instruments,
capitalised borrowing costs, and interest on
swaps and debt under fair value option, all
of which are excluded from the underlying
profit figure.
Underlying earnings per share was 44.7 pence,
more than covering the dividend.
The board has proposed a final dividend of
26.49 pence per ordinary share, taking the total
dividend for 2017/18 to 39.73 pence. This is an
increase of 2.2 per cent, in line with our policy
for this 2015–20 regulatory period of targeting
an annual growth rate of at least RPI inflation
through to 2020.
We have a robust capital structure, with gearing
of 61 per cent as at 31 March 2018 (measured
as group net debt to ‘shadow’ regulatory capital
value, which adjusts for actual capital spend
to date), sitting comfortably within our policy
target range of 55 per cent to 65 per cent. This
supports a solid investment grade credit rating.
Our regulated company, United Utilities Water
Limited, has long-term credit ratings of A3
from Moody’s, on stable outlook, and A- from
Standard & Poor’s, on stable outlook.

This helps us retain efficient access to the debt
capital markets throughout the economic cycle,
and we have a low cost of debt already locked-in
that places us in a strong position to substantially
outperform our industry allowed cost of debt for
the 2015–20 regulatory period.
Our pension scheme asset-liability matching
approach continues to prove its effectiveness,
providing us with stability in times of turbulent
market conditions. We had an IAS 19 surplus of
£344 million at 31 March 2018.
During the year, our Water Plus joint venture
with Severn Trent has, along with the wider
market, experienced an increase in its working
capital arising from data and billing issues
following market opening. As a consequence,
loans owed to the group by Water Plus have
increased by £17 million to £136 million.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s review
continued

Creating value
for our community
We are a highly visible service provider in
the North West and do our best to be a good
neighbour and add value by investing in the
communities where we live and operate.
We have a long-standing partnership that helps
to regenerate neighbourhoods impacted by
our work, for example our work to improve our
mains and sewers. As part of this initiative, we
have supported a range of local environmental
projects around our Davyhulme wastewater
treatment works in Greater Manchester,
including the creation of a community orchard.
We work with schools across our region,
with workshops encouraging a focus on the
importance of saving water, not flushing the
wrong things down the toilet, practical tips
for the home and garden, and protecting and
enhancing our beaches and bathing waters.
Our employees love getting involved in local
communities through volunteering, fundraising,
and charitable giving. We support and
encourage this, offering paid volunteering leave,
matching charitable fundraising efforts, and
through our payroll giving scheme.
Whether it’s walking the hills, spotting wildlife,
swimming or sailing, locals and tourists would
agree that the North West is a nature lover’s
delight. We work to continually maintain and
enhance the environment in our region, and
we encourage the public to access our land
and regional bathing waters for relaxation and
recreation, and to enjoy them safely.

Operational performance
Innovation and our Systems Thinking approach
are radically changing the way we operate.
We have driven efficiency into the delivery of
our 2015–20 investment programme through
changing our delivery model, and are creating
value through greater use of innovation and
advanced technology alongside our substantial
capital investment programme.
As well as customer service, operational and
environmental benefits, this strategy has
optimised performance under our outcome
delivery incentives (ODIs) and delivered
efficiency savings, contributing to regulatory
outperformance beyond the significant savings
that were already included in our business plan.
We are particularly proud that we have
delivered these efficiencies whilst maintaining
highly effective capital delivery, as reflected in
our Time: Cost: Quality index (TCQi) score which
remains high at over 90 per cent.
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Total net regulatory capital expenditure in the
year, including £147 million of infrastructure
renewals expenditure, was £816 million. This
brings our cumulative net regulatory capital
expenditure for the first three years of this fiveyear period to around £2.4 billion, reflecting the
planned acceleration that we have implemented
in order to optimise our operational performance
and reap the benefits of enhancements earlier in
the regulatory period.

Performance against our
regulatory contract
The low cost of debt we have already locked-in
places us in a strong position to substantially
outperform compared with the allowed cost of
debt under industry price limits.
We are also confident in delivering
outperformance of £100 million compared
with our totex allowance for the 2015–20
regulatory period. This is in addition to
£400 million of savings that we had already
committed to deliver over the period to meet
our final determination.
Our ODIs get increasingly challenging as we
progress through this regulatory period, and we
received a net £7.0 million penalty for 2017/18.
Our wastewater ODI performance remains
strong, but we recognise that against our water
measures there are still areas in which we can
improve and we are committed to achieving
this. Our water metrics over the first three years
of this regulatory period have been impacted
by a number of big bursts on our network. We
have been successful in minimising the impact of
these events on customers, and we are working
hard to improve performance in this area.
Our cumulative net ODI performance for the
first three years of the period remains positive
at a net £2.2 million reward, and we are on track
to deliver a good performance against one of
our ODIs that will only impact the final year of
this regulatory period, 2019/20, in relation to
our West Cumbria pipeline project. Read more
about this project on page 33.
Our performance in the first three years of
this regulatory period exceeds our initial
expectations and we now expect, in the absence
of any unforeseen events over the remainder
of the 2015–20 period, to end the period with
a cumulative net reward on ODIs.
We are sharing our anticipated net
outperformance by reinvesting to improve
resilience for the benefit of customers.
We have increased the additional investment
that we are making available in this regulatory
period from £100 million to £250 million. This
is in line with the approach we took in the
2010–15 regulatory period.

This takes our total 2015–20 net regulatory
capital expenditure programme to around £3.8
billion. In addition, we expect to invest up to
£100 million in non-regulated projects, subject
to acceptable returns. In the first three years
of the 2015–20 period we have invested £59
million in non-regulated projects, primarily in
solar power.

Preparing for the long term
We are advanced in our plans for PR19, informed
by extensive engagement with customers
regarding their needs and priorities. We are
on track to submit our PR19 business plan in
September 2018 and we are confident that it will
deliver against Ofwat’s four key themes – great
customer service, affordable bills, innovation
and resilience. These are not new for us in the
way that we run our business and have been
areas of focus for some time. Indeed, in many of
these areas we are a leader in the industry and
already have plans in place to build on this in the
2020–25 regulatory period and beyond.
We have recently finished consulting with
customers and other stakeholders on our new
25-year Water Resources Management Plan,
balancing investment with affordability in our
long-term planning for the 2020–45 period.

Strong corporate
responsibility credentials
We operate in a manner that aims to deliver the
highest levels of corporate governance and our
board continues to provide sound and prudent
governance, consistent with the principles of the
UK Corporate Governance Code.
In July 2017, we were delighted to retain
Industry Leading Company status, as measured
through the Environment Agency’s annual
assessment – the only listed company to do
so. We achieved frontier performance for the
sector with the lowest number of pollution
incidents, alongside our best-in-sector level of
self-reporting.
Our drinking water quality has improved
again and is the best it has ever been, and we
are leading the industry in our approach to
resilience.
We retained our World Class rating in the
Dow Jones Sustainability Index for the tenth
consecutive year, a very good achievement in
light of the ever-evolving standards.
We have consistently met, or outperformed, our
regulatory leakage targets and our performance
to date keeps us on track to meet our 2015–20
regulatory targets.

unitedutilities.com/corporate
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By 2020, we aim to reduce our carbon footprint
by 50 per cent compared with a 2005/06 baseline
and we are on track to do so. Our carbon
footprint has reduced by one-third since 2005/06,
helped by a 4 per cent reduction in electricity
use. In addition, we generated more renewable
energy than ever before, 12 per cent higher than
the previous year. This illustrates good progress
in our energy strategy to use less and generate
more renewable energy.

Our employees
The commitment and dedication of our people
is critical to the sustained improvements we
have delivered in operational performance and
customer service.
Employee engagement of 79 per cent this year,
as measured through our annual Employee
Voice survey, is higher than the UK norm. We
are immensely grateful for the contribution our
people make to the company’s performance.
We have been successful in attracting and
retaining people, having regenerated our
graduate and apprentice schemes in 2010 and
continuing to expand them to help provide an
optimal balance of skills and experience within
the business.
In the first year of our apprentice scheme in
2010 we took on six apprentices, and have
built this intake to 42 in 2017, taking our total
programme to 118 currently employed. We are
accredited by four awarding bodies and named
as one of the top 100 apprenticeship employers.
We have 55 people currently on our graduate
scheme, across a range of different disciplines,
including finance, engineering, commercial and
project management. We encourage diversity
among the new generation we are bringing
into this industry and 40 per cent of our current
graduates are female.
We are committed to helping local schools and
have trained Science, Technology, Engineering
and Mathematics (STEM) ambassadors. We
frequently attend careers events across
our region and have good links with local
universities.
Last year we launched a partnership with Teach
First, a charity that strives to end educational
inequality by placing and training graduates
to teach in low income communities. This
helps with our desire to be more active with
schoolchildren in communities that are hard
to reach within our region, helping them to
improve their employability skills, raising
awareness of future career opportunities,
and offering our employees development
opportunities in coaching and mentoring.

We work with our supply chain partners to give
young people not in education, employment
or training (NEETs) the chance to realise their
potential, and gain hands on experience
and basic skills training in a real workplace
environment, bringing social and economic
benefit to the region.
Our employee accident frequency rate for
2017/18 was 0.101 accidents per 100,000
hours, compared with a rate of 0.196 in
2016/17. Our contractor accident frequency
rate in 2017/18 was 0.092 compared to 0.087
in 2016/17. As part of our health and safety
improvement programme, we continue to make
improvements to our corporate health, safety
and wellbeing management system and through
local initiatives. For example, in the last 12
months we have deployed around 600 devices
to high-risk lone workers to increase their level
of personal protection.
We have been awarded the workplace wellbeing
charter, continue to retain Occupational Health
and Safety Assessment Series (OHSAS) 18001
accreditation, and have achieved the Gold
Health and Safety Award from the Royal Society
for the Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) for the
sixth consecutive year.

Our work supports thousands of jobs, both
directly and indirectly through our supply
chain, which helps underpin the success of the
North West economy through employment and
training opportunities.
We are planning and preparing for the next price
review and for long-term challenges through
our new 25-year Water Resources Management
Plan. Through this, we will ensure that we
remain resilient in the face of increasingly
extreme weather and prepare to support a
growing population in the North West.
Last, but by no means least, we want to give a
big thank you to our employees, customers and
wider stakeholders for their continued support.

Dr John McAdam
Chairman

Steve Mogford
Chief Executive Officer

The strategic report on pages 10 to 57 was approved at a
meeting of the board on 23 May 2018 and signed off on
its behalf by Steve Mogford, Chief Executive Officer.

We aim to ensure that all our colleagues go
home safe and well and we firmly believe that
nothing we do is worth getting hurt for.

Outlook
Systems Thinking and the implementation
of innovative technology has put us in a
strong position as we look ahead to the next
regulatory review.
Our leading operational performance is
supported by a robust financing position.
We are outperforming the regulatory contract
for the 2015–20 period, allowing us to fund
additional investment for the benefit of
customers, and we have plans in place to
improve yet further, giving us confidence
heading into the 2020–25 regulatory period
and beyond.
We have achieved industry-leading
environmental and water quality performance
scores, and we are making a substantial
contribution to the North West. Our £3.8 billion
investment programme is helping to enhance
the environment that provides a home for
wildlife, areas for recreation for our community,
and a major pull for tourism in our region.

05

United Utilities Group PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

2017/18 highlights

Operational highlights
Our use of
technology
and Systems
Thinking
approach is
delivering
sustained
improvements
and setting new
benchmarks for
the sector.

The best service
to customers
Read more about Our performance
in 2017/18 against this strategic
theme on page 42

At the lowest
sustainable cost
Read more about Our performance
in 2017/18 against this strategic
theme on page 44

In a responsible
manner
Read more about Our performance
in 2017/18 against this strategic
theme on page 46
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Sustained improvements in customer service
recognised across a range of metrics
›› Best ever scores in Ofwat’s qualitative Service Incentive
Mechanism (SIM), positioning first in the final wave and
upper quartile for the year overall;
›› Upper quartile performance for the utilities sector in the
UK Customer Service Institute’s Satisfaction Index; and
›› Leading listed company for the Consumer Council for
Water’s assessment of household complaint numbers.
Leading on support for vulnerable customers
›› Hosted the first ever North West Affordability summit,
building on our already leading position on affordability
and vulnerability; and
›› Supporting more than 50,000 customers in need of help
through our Priority Services scheme, helping significantly
more customers than initially targeted.
Consulting with customers on our long-term plans
›› Consulted with customers and stakeholders on our new
25-year Water Resources Management Plan, balancing
investment with affordability.

Efficient delivery of investment plan without
compromising on quality
›› Efficiency driven into the delivery of our investment
programme has delivered customer service, operational
and environmental benefits;
›› Efficiency savings have contributed to regulatory
outperformance, which has been achieved whilst
maintaining highly effective capital delivery, with our
TCQi score remaining over 90 per cent; and
›› Optimised our ODI performance, performing better than
expected so far and now expect, absent any unforeseen
events, to finish the 2015–20 period with a cumulative net
reward on ODIs.
Outperforming our regulatory contract
›› Delivered our investment plan efficiently, along with
our Systems Thinking approach and innovation, giving
us confidence in outperforming our regulatory totex
allowance by £100 million for the 2015–20 period; and
›› Low cost of debt already locked-in, placing us in a strong
position to substantially outperform the regulatory cost
of debt allowance for the 2015–20 period.
Leading performance with integrity
›› Retained Industry Leading status in the Environment
Agency’s assessment, achieving frontier performance for
the sector with the lowest number of pollution incidents
and our best-in-sector level of self-reporting;
›› Improved our drinking water quality again, which is now
the best it has ever been; and
›› Leading the industry in our approach to resilience.
Strong Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
credentials
›› Retained World Class rating in Dow Jones Sustainability
Index for tenth consecutive year, a very good achievement
in light of the ever-evolving standards.
Sharing outperformance to improve resilience
›› Sharing our anticipated net outperformance across the
2015–20 regulatory period, increasing our additional
investment from £100 million to £250 million and
delivering industry-leading, long-term resilience for the
benefit of customers.

unitedutilities.com/corporate

Stock Code: UU.

2017/18 highlights
Financial highlights
Revenue

Underlying operating profit*
£1,736m

2017/18
2016/17

2016/17

£1,704m

2015/16

£1,730m

2014/15

£1,720m

2013/14

2017/18

£1,689m

2015/16

£645.1m
£622.9m

£604.1m

2014/15
2013/14

£664.3m

£634.6m

Revenue was up £32 million at £1,736 million,
reflecting our allowed regulatory revenue
changes partly offset by the accounting impact
of our non-household retail joint venture,
Water Plus, which completed on 1 June 2016.

Underlying operating profit was up £22 million
at £645.1 million, reflecting the £32 million
increase in revenue and lower operating costs
partly offset by an increase in depreciation
and amortisation on our increased asset base.

Reported operating profit*

Total dividend per share

2017/18
2016/17
2015/16
2014/15
2013/14

£636.4m
£605.5m

2017/18

39.73p

2016/17

38.87p

2015/16

£567.9m

£653.3m

£636.9m

Reported operating profit was up £31 million,
at £636.4 million, reflecting the £22 million
increase in underlying operating profit and
lower profit last year due to the cost of getting
ready for the opening of competition in nonhousehold retail and other restructuring costs.

2014/15
2013/14

We delivered a strong
set of financial results
for the year and
maintained a robust
capital structure with
appropriate gearing.

38.45p

37.70p

36.04p

Total dividend per ordinary share for 2017/18
of 39.73 pence. This is an increase of 2.2
per cent on last year, in line with our policy of
targeting an annual growth rate of at least RPI
inflation through to 2020.

Read more about our Financial
performance on pages 48 to 51

*A guide to alternative performance
measures and a reconciliation
between underlying operating profit
and reported operating profit is shown
on pages 52 and 53.
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What we do
Carlisle

We operate in the North West,
for the North West.
We provide water and wastewater
services to millions of customers, and
we invest in our region, supporting the
economy and the environment.

Workington
Whitehaven

Kendal
Barrow-in Furness

Lancaster

1.7 billion litres a day
of clean, treated water supplied to our customers. We gather water
for treatment from reservoirs, lakes, boreholes and streams. Our
biggest reservoirs are Haweswater and Thirlmere in Cumbria, with
Haweswater holding more than 84 billion litres of water when full,
and supplying about a quarter of the North West’s water supply.

3 million households
and 200,000 business customers (from small shops to large
manufacturing companies) served across the North West. We are
also one of the largest employers in the North West, with more
than 5,000 employees, and 10,000 people engaged through our
supply chain, meaning that we support – directly or indirectly –
one in every 150 jobs in the region.

Over 56,000 hectares
and much of the land we own and manage is catchment land (the
areas immediately surrounding our reservoirs). We believe that
quality control starts right from the point of collection, so we
manage our catchment land so that it is as clean and sustainable
as possible. Much of our land is also open to the public, for the
enjoyment of our communities in the North West and tourists
visiting the area.

Over 400km of coastline
and around 7,000km of rivers flowing across our region. Over 30 of
our beaches are designated for swimming and paddling, including
Blackpool South that achieved its first blue flag status in 2016. We
are required to meet increasingly stringent regulation standards for
bathing water quality to keep our beaches and waters up to scratch.

£3.8 billion investment
through our planned capital programme across the current
2015–20 regulatory period is delivering substantial investment
and improvements across the North West, and this includes
£250 million of additional spend on resilience projects, above
and beyond the scope of our regulatory contract, which we have
committed to fund from our anticipated net outperformance.
10
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Our purpose and strategy

Our purpose is to provide great
service to our customers and
communities in the North West,
creating long-term value for all of
our stakeholders.
Our vision is to be the best UK water
and wastewater company.

Our strategy

Our core values
Our core values provide the cultural framework within which we are
working towards achieving our vision, and we encourage our employees
to live these values in everything they do in their daily work:

Customer focus

Everything we do is about our customers, not us. We put
customers at the heart of everything we do so that we can give
them our best service.
This means in addition to supplying the seven million people and
200,000 businesses in our region with clean water and treating their
wastewater every day, we constantly look for ways to improve our
customer contacts, to keep bills down, and to give extra help to those
vulnerable customers who need it most.
Customer focus means putting customers first now, and also building
a resilient and sustainable network to prepare for future generations.

We will realise our vision by delivering:

Innovation

The best service
to customers

At the lowest
sustainable cost

The world doesn’t stand still and neither do we. We will continue
to innovate to make our services better, safer, faster and cheaper.
We’re always searching for new and better ways of working, adapting
our service to suit the needs of our region’s diverse population.
Only by making the best use of new processes and technologies can
we ensure we are prepared for a growing population and extreme
weather, to ensure we continue to deliver the lowest sustainable cost
in an ever-changing world.
One example of innovation that spans our entire business is our
Systems Thinking operational approach.
Read more about Innovation across our entire business on page 29

Integrity

We make promises knowingly and keep them.

In a responsible
manner
We use these three strategic themes as a framework to measure
each aspect of our performance, with each of our operational
key performance indicators and risks closely linked to one of
them or, often, to more than one, such is the interconnectivity
of our business.
Read more about Our key performance indicators
on pages 38 to 40

We behave responsibly towards all of our stakeholders, including:
› Our customers;
› The communities we operate in;
› Our employees;
› Our suppliers;
› Our shareholders; and
› The environment.
Read more about Our stakeholder engagement
on pages 30 to 33

Read more about How we manage risk
on pages 54 to 57

Throughout this report we show how our vision, strategy and values enable us
to fulfil our purpose.
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Our competitive advantage

Clarity on allowed returns
through to 2020, with a
track record of regulatory
outperformance

Wholesale revenue and asset
base linked to RPI inflation to
at least 2020

Planning for the long-term,
protecting and delivering
essential services

Significant improvements
in customer service and
operational performance,
with more to come

Sustainable dividend policy,
targeting a growth rate of at
least RPI inflation per annum
to at least 2020

Robust capital structure with
a stable A3 credit rating

Customer and environmental
benefits delivered through
substantial capital investment,
driving long-term RCV growth

Deeply integrated with the
environment, with external
recognition for our responsible
business approach

How we differentiate ourselves from our competitors
within the water industry
Systems Thinking approach to how we operate
improves efficiency and resilience
We have adopted an innovative systems-based approach to our regional water system and
wastewater drainage areas, which we call Systems Thinking. This enables us to build a better
understanding by examining the linkages and interactions between each of the components in
our system. Rather than operating each treatment works in isolation, our field engineers are
linked via our Integrated Control Centre (ICC), the data hub where we plan, monitor and control
our water and wastewater infrastructure. It’s one integrated system across the North West, and
we can process enormous amounts of data received in real time from the telemetry backbone
across our network, as well as factoring in other source data such as weather forecasts.

Strategic report

How we offer value

By operating our network in this way we are able to optimise cost and service performance,
as well as moving away from a reactive mindset to address problems proactively, before they
actually affect customers. This helps us to improve the reliability of our assets in order to reduce
unplanned service interruptions. It also helps us to improve our use of data, at local asset level
and centrally, to optimise performance and allocate resources to production teams with full
accountability for asset and system performance.
This approach was built into our business plan in order to help us deliver both operational
improvements and cost savings across the 2015–20 regulatory period, and is part of our long
term strategy to continue delivering operational benefits in future regulatory periods. As a
result of this Systems Thinking approach, we are improving the resilience of our assets and
network. This enables us to keep providing a reliable service to customers long into the future.

Prudent financial risk management delivers long-term predictability
and resilience to financial shocks
Effective financial risk management delivers long-term predictability and resilience to financial
shocks. Our clearly articulated policies, covering a variety of market risks, help us reduce our
exposure to the economic and regulatory environment, providing more predictable returns to
investors. They underpin our target to maintain debt to regulatory capital gearing (RCV) within
a range of 55 to 65 per cent, supporting a solid A3 rating with Moody’s for United Utilities Water
Limited and efficient access to the debt capital markets across the economic cycle.
Inflation exposure is managed by having around 50 per cent of our debt in index-linked form,
which offers good value relative to nominal debt and acts as a partial hedge of the impact of
inflation on our RCV and revenues. Most of our index-linked debt is RPI-linked, reflecting the
regulatory model to March 2020, but thereafter the regulatory model will transition towards
CPIH. In the absence of a CPIH debt capital market we will, subject to cost and availability,
gradually transition towards a greater proportion of CPI-linked debt, being the best available
proxy for CPIH.
Interest rate exposure on our remaining nominal debt is managed by fixing the underlying
interest cost out to ten years, on a reducing balance basis. We have previously supplemented
this by substantively fixing interest rates for each forthcoming regulatory period at the time of
the price control determination, but this is no longer necessary as Ofwat is using debt indexation
on the assumed portion of new debt from 2020. Our approach to interest rate management
enables us to manage uncertainty in the approach to setting the cost of debt at each price
review and our approach to debt financing, with a continuous assessment of various funding
opportunities, enables us to consistently lock in long-term debt at good relative value.
We adopt an asset-liability matching policy for our defined benefit pension schemes by investing
in assets such as corporate bonds and gilts along with the use of interest rate swaps, which
perform in line with the liabilities so as to hedge against changes in swap and gilt yields. This
therefore reduces the volatility of the required funding level. The schemes have also hedged
inflation exposure, partly through RPI swaps and partly through an inflation funding mechanism,
whereby company contributions are flexed for movements in RPI inflation, providing a natural
hedge against any inflationary uplift on the RCV. It is anticipated that further progressive
de-risking measures will continue to be implemented in relation to the pension schemes
as part of a long-term ‘self-sufficiency’ strategy.
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Our marketplace
Our industry and market

Environmental and quality regulation

Every day, over 50 million household and non-household customers
receive water and wastewater services in England and Wales. There are
ten licensed water and wastewater companies, which are split regionally
based on river catchment areas, and these make up around 95 per cent
of the industry, with the remainder being made up of licensed companies
which provide water-only services and tend to be smaller in size.

The water and wastewater industry in the UK is subject to substantial
domestic and European Union (EU) regulation, placing significant statutory
obligations on companies relating to, amongst other factors, the quality
of drinking water supplied, wastewater treatment, and the impact of our
activities on the environment.

United Utilities Water Limited (UUW) is the second largest based on the
size of our asset base, as measured by Regulatory Capital Value (RCV).
We are licensed to provide water and wastewater services to a population
of approximately seven million people in the North West, and we provide
services to approximately three million households, which generates
around two-thirds of our total revenue, and approximately 200,000
businesses, ranging in size from large manufacturing companies to
small shops.
The privatisation of the industry has delivered a significant contribution
to improvements in public health as a result of over £130 billion that has
been invested in maintaining and improving assets and services since
1989. It has led to improvements in the quality of services, significantly
higher environmental standards, and superior quality drinking water, all at
a fair cost to customers that has been estimated to be lower than would
be the case if the water sector was still owned by the UK Government,
with prices that have declined in real terms over the current and last
regulatory periods.
The advancement of technology and innovation makes way for even
more improvements in the future, as investment continues to be made
in improving the service we provide for the long-term.

Our competitive environment
The other water companies in England and Wales are naturally our main
competitors, and we benchmark our performance on a comparative basis
with these peers.
In line with our vision to be the best UK water and wastewater company,
we also benchmark our customer service performance against other
leading service providers in our region.
In addition, as a publicly listed FTSE 100 company, the other UK and
worldwide utilities are competitors from an investment perspective.

Our political and regulatory environment
As each company in the water sector operates as a regional monopoly for
the majority of its services, we are subject to regulation in terms of price
and performance.
At privatisation, in order to protect the interests of both customers
and the environment, three separate bodies were set up to regulate
the activities of water and wastewater companies under the areas of
economic, drinking water quality, and environmental regulation. This has
since evolved further to fit with the substantial tightening of laws and
regulations that we have seen since privatisation.
Over a long time frame the political and regulatory environment can
change significantly. While to some extent these changes are outside
of our direct control, we believe in the importance of maintaining
good relationships. This enables us to engage positively in regulatory
discussions, offering our industry knowledge in order to help influence
future policy with the aim of achieving the best outcome for customers,
shareholders and other stakeholders.
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Defra is the UK Government department
responsible for water policy and regulations in
England and Wales; it sets drinking water quality and
environmental standards (many based on European
law) which water companies must meet.
Read more online at gov.uk/government/organisations/department-forenvironment-food-rural-affairs

The Environment Agency (EA) controls how much
water can be drawn from the environment and
the quality of water returned to rivers and the
sea. The EA produces an assessment of water and
wastewater companies’ annual performance, and
we include this as one of our operational KPIs; see
pages 38 and 39.
Read more online at gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency

The Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI) is
responsible for ensuring compliance with the
drinking water quality regulations.
Read more online at dwi.gov.uk

Natural England is responsible for the protection
of designated sites for nature conservation,
for example Sites of Special Scientific Interest.
Companies are required to manage these sites
and to protect and enhance biodiversity.
Read more online at gov.uk/government/organisations/natural-england

The Consumer Council for Water (CCW) represents
customers’ interests relating to price, service
and value for money. It investigates customer
complaints. Customers who remain dissatisfied
can refer their complaint to be adjudicated by an
independent service, WATRS (see below).
Read more online at ccwater.org.uk

The Water Redress Scheme (WATRS) is an
independent service designed to adjudicate disputes
that have not been resolved through the water
company’s customer service teams or by referring
the matter to the Consumer Council for Water.
Read more online at watrs.org

unitedutilities.com/corporate
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Economic regulation

Price controls

Read more online at:

ofwat.gov.uk

The water industry plans and operates within five-year regulatory periods
known as Asset Management Plan (AMP) periods.
Prior to the start of each regulatory period, Ofwat consults with
stakeholders, including companies and sets out its price review
methodology, which gives the framework for the forthcoming five-year
regulatory period.
As part of the price review process, companies submit their business
plans to Ofwat with a projection of the expenditure needed to enhance
and maintain their assets over the period, in line with customer priorities,
statutory requirements and the regulatory framework. Ofwat scrutinises
and challenges these business plans, and ultimately sets the five-year
price, service and incentive package – this is the regulatory contract that
company performance is measured against over the regulatory period.
Each year all water companies are required to publish an annual
performance report (APR). Our APRs, from the beginning of this regulatory
period, can be found on our website, where our report for this financial
year will also be made available: unitedutilities.com/corporate
This report covers the third year of the 2015–20 regulatory period (AMP6).
While we are working to perform within the current regulatory period,
the industry and its stakeholders, including government and regulators,
are constantly looking ahead and planning for the future. The 2014 Water
Act paved the way for the extension of competition into certain parts of
the wholesale business. The retail market was opened to competition for
all non-household customers from 1 April 2017 and Ofwat proposed, in its
Water 2020 consultation document in 2015, to open up the areas of water
resources and bioresources treatment to future competition.
In December 2017, Ofwat published its final methodology for the price
review (PR19) for the ‘AMP7’ regulatory period, which runs from April
2020 to March 2025. This methodology forms part of Water 2020, which
is Ofwat’s overall vision for the water sector in England and Wales.
Ofwat has outlined four key themes in its final methodology for the
2020–25 regulatory period:
› Great customer service;
› Affordable bills;
› Resilience in the round; and
› Innovation.
These are not new for us in the way that we run our business and have
been areas of focus for us for some time. We have been actively engaged
in the development of Ofwat’s approach to PR19, contributing across the
full range of working groups and providing detailed proposals in key areas.
We have been carrying out extensive customer research and engagement
with stakeholders to determine our plans for AMP7. We will be submitting
our business plan in September 2018.
Ofwat is introducing a number of changes for the 2020–25
regulatory period.

Ofwat moved away from one single price control and introduced four
separate price controls:
› Wholesale water – the physical supply of water;
› Wholesale wastewater – the removal and treatment of wastewater;
› Household retail – customer-facing activities (principally customer
contact, billing, meter reading and cash collection) for households; and

Strategic report

2015–20 regulatory period (AMP6)
The Water Services Regulation
Authority (Ofwat) is the economic
regulator of the water and
sewerage sectors in England and
Wales, responsible for ensuring
the companies provide customers
with good-quality, efficient
service at a fair price.

› Non-household retail – customer-facing activities for businesses (now
covered by our joint venture, Water Plus).
Separate retail price controls were introduced to encourage a more
efficient service and to promote competition in non-household retail.
2020–25 regulatory period (AMP7)
Ofwat’s methodology for AMP7 sets out six separate binding controls:
› Water resources – the resources from which water is sourced;
› Water network plus – water treatment and distribution;
› Wastewater network plus – wastewater collection and treatment;
› Bioresources – the treatment and sale of energy and nutrient-rich
bioresources from recycled organic waste;
› Residential retail (the equivalent of household retail); and
› Business retail (the equivalent of non-household retail).
This further separation is intended to promote future competition in water
resources and bioresources. As we have transferred our non-household
(business) retail business to our joint venture, Water Plus, we will not be
covered by the business retail price control.

Operating and capital costs (totex)
2015–20 regulatory period (AMP6)

In order to encourage companies to utilise the most efficient sustainable
solutions, Ofwat changed the way companies’ operating and capital costs
are assessed for AMP6, from separate capex and opex to a combined totex
model that treats them both equally.
Ofwat developed wholesale cost assessment totex models as part of the
last price review process, which were used to set the allowed costs for
companies in AMP6.
Where companies outperform or underperform their totex allowance, this
gain or pain is shared between investors and customers, ensuring both
receive a share of the impact. We include our performance against our
allowed totex expenditure as one of our operational KPIs.
Read more about our performance against
our operational KPIs on pages 38 and 39

2020–25 regulatory period (AMP7)
Ofwat is developing new cost assessment totex models for AMP7, and we
have taken a constructive approach in sharing cost driver analysis from
third party experts with Ofwat and our peers in the industry through
working groups and other available consultation channels.
Ofwat has introduced a new mechanism for AMP7 that uses cost sharing
rates to incentivise companies to submit efficient business plans. Each
company will have one cost sharing rate for outperformance and
another rate for underperformance, with the rates determined by the
ratio of a company’s business plan totex to Ofwat’s view of efficient
totex as determined by its cost assessment models. Business plans that
are deemed efficient versus the models used by Ofwat will get more
favourable cost sharing rates, and vice versa.
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Our marketplace
Performance commitments and incentives

Household retail

In a move to a more outcomes-based approach, there was greater
emphasis placed on customer engagement to set outcomes for
AMP6. Companies’ performance is measured through performance
commitments covering a wide range of measures assessing operational
and environmental performance, with associated rewards or penalties
(outcome delivery incentives, or ODIs). We include our performance
against our ODIs in our operational KPIs.

Allowed costs within the household retail price control are determined
using a water industry average cost to serve approach in AMP6, rewarding
companies that are able to achieve costs below the industry average.

2015–20 regulatory period (AMP6)

Read more about our ODIs for the 2015–20 regulatory period on page 41

Following their introduction in AMP6 there was a wide variety of
approaches towards definition, measurement, targets, rewards
and penalty payments associated with performance commitment
measurements and outcome delivery incentives. There is a cap of +/- 2
per cent of the return on regulated equity in place in AMP6. In part, this
reflected a recognition that this was the first period in which these new
performance incentives had been applied.
2020–25 regulatory period (AMP7)

Our household retail revenue allowance includes the assumed average
cost to serve plus a margin that is intended to cover retail costs not
covered through the average cost to serve, such as financing of new retail
assets and the retailer’s working capital.
We include our performance against our household retail revenue
allowance as one of our operational KPIs.
Read more about our performance against our operational KPIs
on pages 38 and 39

2020–25 regulatory period (AMP7)
Ofwat intends to replace its previous average cost to serve approach with
a cost assessment based on econometric models of household retail costs
in AMP7. These costs will be benchmarked to an efficient baseline.

Ofwat has set out a clear intention to introduce more powerful ODIs in
AMP7, with a drive for companies’ returns to be more heavily dependent
on their operational performance against stretching targets. It intends to
achieve this by removing the cap that is currently in place and also through
enhanced outperformance payment rates for significant outperformance
and higher underperformance penalty rates for very poor performance.

We support the decision to use econometric models. This more
sophisticated approach has the potential to directly reflect key industry
cost drivers such as dual and single billing, meter penetration and the
impact of extreme deprivation when estimating of efficient levels for retail
cost allowances.

Alongside the increased scope for outperformance and underperformance
payments, company performance commitments and outcome delivery
incentives are likely to be subject to significant revision in AMP7, including
a set of 14 common performance commitments across the industry, with
three of these having common upper quartile performance targets.

2015–20 regulatory period (AMP6)

Customer satisfaction

2015–20 regulatory period (AMP6)
Ofwat’s Service Incentive Mechanism (SIM) assessment is used as a
measure of customer satisfaction that rewards companies that perform
particularly well on customer service relative to other water companies,
and penalises companies that perform particularly poorly.
SIM is split into two components – quantitative SIM is based on the
number of customer contacts, and qualitative SIM is based on the
satisfaction of customers with the outcomes of those contacts.
We include both of these SIM assessments as operational KPIs.
Read more about our performance against our operational KPIs
on pages 38 and 39

2020–25 regulatory period (AMP7)
A new customer service metric, C-MeX, will replace SIM in AMP7, and will
be piloted from 2018/19.
This will be based on two customer surveys, one from customers that have
contacted the company, which should be similar to the qualitative SIM in
the current period, and one from customers that have not contacted the
company. The proposed incentive range will be higher than is currently
available for SIM, demonstrating a greater emphasis on customer
satisfaction and customer sentiment in AMP7.
In addition, Ofwat plans to introduce a new developer service measure,
D-MeX, which will also be piloted from 2018/19.
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2015–20 regulatory period (AMP6)

Financing

Ofwat estimated a weighted average cost of capital for AMP6 (3.74 per
cent, in real terms , based on RPI inflation) in order to provide debt and
equity investors with a return that was considered to be commensurate
with the level of risk that underpinned their investment.
In setting the cost of capital, Ofwat used a notional capital structure with
62.5 per cent gearing, calculated as net debt as a percentage of regulatory
capital value.
We include our performance against Ofwat’s industry allowed cost of debt
as one of our operational KPIs.
Read more about our performance against our operational KPIs
on pages 38 and 39

2020–25 regulatory period (AMP7)
Ofwat has been clear that the estimated weighted average cost of capital
will be lower in AMP7, recognising that requirements for overall returns
are lower now than they have been historically, and reflecting its intention
that a higher proportion of companies’ returns should come from
operational outperformance.
In setting the cost of capital, Ofwat is using a notional capital structure
with 60 per cent gearing – this is the midpoint of our target range of 55 to
65 per cent.
Ofwat will apply debt indexation to new debt in order to reduce the risk
of forecast errors, and has confirmed that CPIH will be adopted for the
indexation of future price controls.
Ofwat has set an indicative figure for its estimate of the cost of capital
of 3.4 per cent in real terms (using CPIH as the price index), which is
equivalent to 2.4 per cent if RPI had been used as the price index, as in
earlier price reviews.

unitedutilities.com/corporate

Stock Code: UU.

Our way of creating value

We use short, medium and long-term planning horizons to focus our
activities and investment on the creation of sustainable value, under
our strategy of delivering the best service to customers, at the lowest
sustainable cost, in a responsible manner.
Our 25-year planning horizon seeks to ensure we are investing in our
people, collaborating with suppliers, innovating to make our services
better and more efficient, maintaining a robust capital structure, and
preparing to ensure a resilient service in the face of future challenges.
This long-term planning helps us to focus the business plans that we
submit to Ofwat, which set out how we intend to create value for each
five-year regulatory period, whilst setting ourselves up in a sustainable
way to continue creating value in future years. We monitor progress
against these five-year plans as well as each individual financial year.
Read more about our planning cycles on pages 34 to 36.

Delivering our regulatory contract
By submitting a robust, balanced plan to Ofwat prior to the start of each
five-year regulatory period, we can help ensure we receive a regulatory
contract that allows for the best overall outcomes for our customers,
shareholders and the environment.
Once each regulatory contract is set, we create value in line with our
business plan by delivering that contract. In order to drive better and
more efficient operational performance, there are a number of areas in
which companies have the opportunity to outperform in each regulatory
period, and in doing so we are able to create further value for customers,
shareholders and wider stakeholders.
During the 2015–20 regulatory period, there are five main areas in which
Ofwat has given incentives for companies to outperform.

Totex

We can create value by delivering the agreed outcomes for customers
within or below the total expenditure (totex) allowance. This requires us to
innovate and create operational efficiencies to minimise our expenditure.

ODIs

We can create value by delivering a level of operational service that meets
or exceeds the targets set in our wholesale outcome delivery incentives.
These targets stretch us to continuously improve our service to customers
and our environmental performance.

Customer satisfaction

We can create value by delivering a great level of customer service that
is favourable relative to the other water companies. This is measured
through Ofwat’s quarterly service incentive mechanism (SIM) surveys
during the current regulatory period.

Risk management
The risk-return trade-off means that the level of return to be earned
from an investment should increase as the level of risk increases,
therefore value is created through the effective management of risk.
We adopt a prudent approach to risk management.
Our Systems Thinking approach and telemetry backbone improves our
ability to manage operational risks, as we are able to recognise the normal
‘signature’ of our network and generate real-time alerts of potential
issues, which we can then manage before there is any impact on service
delivery, by undertaking proactive repairs and/or redirecting supply from
elsewhere in our network where we have built in additional capacity.

Strategic report

We create value by delivering the services that customers want, at a price
they can afford, now and in the future, through innovation and efficient
operational performance, effective risk management and efficient
financing. Through the work that we do and the investment that we make,
we also create value for wider stakeholders, including the environment
and communities in the North West.

Our financial risk management policies help us reduce our exposure
to the economic and regulatory environment, thereby providing more
predictable returns to investors. These cover a variety of market risks
including inflation hedging, interest rate exposure, and an asset-liability
matching policy for our defined benefit pension schemes.
Systems Thinking and prudent financial risk management are competitive
advantages for us, as we set out on page 13.
Read more about How we manage risks on pages 54 and 55

We also engage in reasonable tax planning, which fully complies with the
letter and spirit of the law. We benefit from allowable tax deductions on
our substantial capital investment programme, whilst continuing to pay
corporate tax at the full headline rate. We maintain an open, transparent
and collaborative relationship with HMRC, and maintain a robust
governance and tax risk management framework.

Stakeholders
We value the importance of building and maintaining constructive
relationships with all of our stakeholder groups in order to ensure we are
considering their interests in our strategic decisions and to influence and
inform as much as we are able to do so.
Read more about Our stakeholder engagement on pages 30 to 33

We create value for a number of stakeholder groups through the returns
we provide to investors, the essential service we provide to customers and
support to those in vulnerable situations, the contribution we make to the
economy and our communities across the North West, and the natural
environment that we maintain and enhance.
Read more about how we create value for these stakeholders in
Our business model on the next page.

One area from which value is derived is market sentiment. This encompasses
any developments in the regulatory environment, political and media focus,
and any speculation there may be on potential merger and acquisition
(M&A) activity in the sector.
This sentiment has many elements that impact the industry as a whole and
are largely outside of management control, however we seek to influence
elements where possible.

Financing

We can create value by raising debt finance at a cost that meets or beats
the industry allowed cost of debt.

Household retail

We can create value by minimising the costs to serve our customers
relative to the allowed revenue for household retail activities.
We include our performance against each of the above areas in our
operational KPIs, including our targets for the 2015–20 regulatory period.
Read more about our performance against our operational KPIs
on pages 38 and 39
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Our business model
We consult and plan for short, medium and long-term horizons

We provide essential water and wastewater services to millions of customers every day, and our work places us at the heart of the communities in
the North West of England.
We are reliant on a variety of key resources, and the way that we manage these is influenced by a broad range of external drivers and relationships
with a number of stakeholders.
Managing these relationships and consulting with customers and stakeholders forms an integral part of our long-term planning process.
We agree outcomes that we will deliver for customers during each five-year regulatory period and for the long-term, and the work we do delivers a
range of long-term benefits and value for many different stakeholder groups. This value creation feeds back into the continuous cycle of what we do.

Our key resources
Natural resources

Assets

› We rely on natural sources of raw water that we collect for treatment, and

› Our significant capital investment programme grows our business whilst

› We maintain large areas of catchment land in a sustainable way; and
› We process bioresources from wastewater to generate renewable energy,

› We manage our assets as one integrated network through our innovative

we return wastewater safely and cleanly to the environment;

which helps to reduce our carbon footprint, the amount of waste that
goes to landfill, and our energy costs.

People

building resilience and maintaining sustainable long-term assets;

Systems Thinking approach and using our Integrated Control Centre; and

› We continually innovate to find more efficient ways of building and
maintaining our assets.

Financing

› We develop, train and motivate our diverse skilled workforce;
› We have management incentives based on performance and a long-term

› We maintain a robust capital structure with an appropriate gearing level;
› We are prudent in our approach to risk management and we have long

› We build effective relationships and work with suppliers who share

› We proactively engage with equity and credit investors, and maintain

incentive plan; and
our values.

term debt locked in at good relative value; and
access to a range of markets.

Our external drivers and relationships
Stakeholders

Natural environment

› It is the nature of our business, being such a vital part of our customers’ lives

› The natural environment is constantly changing, and we must adapt and

› We build relationships and consult with these stakeholders in developing

› Our use and return of water to the environment is a continuous cycle, and

and managing huge areas of land where people live and visit, that we have
an impact on a large variety of stakeholders; and
and executing our plans for running our business.

Read more about Our stakeholder engagement on pages 30 to 33

prepare for future impacts such as climate change and population growth,
as our business is very long-term by its nature;
returning water cleanly and safely, as well as managing our catchment land
effectively, allows this cycle to begin again from the best starting point; and

› We are committed to reducing our environmental impact in order to

protect and enhance the natural environment that we live and operate in.

Economic environment

› New technologies present opportunities for us to continue improving

› We are impacted by market rate movements, such as interest rates and

› New ideas can come from many sources, which is why we encourage it

› We are one of the largest employers in the North West and make a huge

› We constantly seek ways to make our services better, faster, cheaper

so helping vulnerable customers is particularly important for us;

inflation, and seek to manage these prudently to reduce risk as far as
practicable; and
contribution to the North West economy.

Regulatory environment

quality and efficiency in our business;

across our business at all levels, from our annual CEO Challenge and our
dedicated innovation team to our new Innovation Lab; and
and safer.

Political environment

› We place great value on our relationships with our economic,

› As well as our regulators, we engage with North West MPs through

› It is also part of our sustainable approach to our business that we are

› We engage in relation to areas such as our local investment schemes, our

environmental and quality regulators, engaging actively and influencing
where we are able to; and
constantly adapting to prepare for upcoming market reform, and actively
engaging in any discussions about potential future reforms.
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Technology and innovation

› We operate in an area of high regional deprivation in the North West, and

regular meetings, an annual drop-in session with our senior directors, and
party conferences; and
economic contribution to the North West, and key policy issues affecting
the water industry.

unitedutilities.com/corporate
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We deliver the outcomes set out in our regulatory contract

We have plans in place that set out what we are working to deliver within this five-year
period within each of the price controls areas set by Ofwat, which for this regulatory period
are wholesale water, wholesale wastewater and household retail, with non-household
retail sitting within our joint venture, Water Plus.
What differentiates us from our peers is our Systems Thinking approach – we operate our
entire network as one integrated system rather than as individual assets.
Our strategy, governance and risk management, values and culture also underpin
everything that we do.

Our internal drivers

Outcomes

›› Provide great water;
›› Dispose of wastewater; and
›› Deliver a service customers can rely on.

Water
network
plus

KPIs

›› Wholesale ODI composite;
›› SIM – qualitative; and
›› SIM – quantitative.

Values and culture

usehold Retai
Ho
l

Metering
Billing and
and
collections
connections
Helping
vulnerable
customers

esale Wastew
hol
ate
r

Bioresources

Governance and risk management

We deliver
great water

W

These outcomes and KPIs fit within the framework of
our three strategic themes.

The best service
to customers

olesale Water

Water
resources

We measure our performance against operational KPIs
as well as financial measures.

Our outcomes and KPIs
Strategy

Wh

We review progress towards the outcomes we have
promised to deliver for customers in this regulatory
period.

At the lowest
sustainable cost
Outcomes

›› Value for money; and
›› Improved efficiency.
KPIs

›› Totex outperformance;
›› Financing outperformance; and
›› Household retail cost to serve.

In a responsible
manner

Wastewater
network
plus

We safely
dispose of
wastewater

Outcomes

›› Protect and enhance the environment;
›› Support local communities; and
›› Support employees in a safe workplace.
KPIs

Systems Thinking

›› Leakage;
›› EA performance assessment; and
›› Dow Jones Sustainability Index.

Our vision is to be the best UK water and
wastewater company.

We review and measure our progress

unitedutilities.com/corporate
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We create value for a range of stakeholders

The work we do delivers a wide range of benefits to a variety of stakeholder groups, creating long-term sustainable value for our
shareholders, customers, people, the environment, and communities in our region. Responsible business runs through everything
we do, as encapsulated by our business principles. Read more at unitedutilities.com/corporate/responsibility/our-approach

For our shareholders

For our customers

›› We manage risk prudently and provide an appropriate
return, investing in our assets for growth and sustainability,
and providing income through dividends; and

›› We focus on innovation and efficiency to provide a great
service and bills have declined in real terms since 2010; and

›› As many of our shareholders are pension funds and
charities, the income that we provide is relied on by
millions of people every year.

›› We support over 100,000 vulnerable customers through
a wide range of assistance schemes, including our sectorleading Priority Services scheme, in our region that
struggles with high levels of extreme deprivation.

For our people

For the environment

›› We focus on attracting, developing and retaining a
diverse workforce, and ensuring that we look after
their health, safety and wellbeing; and

›› We are rated Industry Leading by the Environment
Agency, and we strive to reduce our environmental
impact and invest in innovative technology to tackle
environmental challenges for future generations; and

›› We have more than 5,000 employees, and 10,000
people are engaged through our supply chain,
meaning that we support, directly or indirectly,
one in every 150 jobs in the region.

›› Maintaining and enhancing our reservoirs, catchment
land and bathing waters provides a home for wildlife,
areas for recreation, and a major pull for tourism.

For the community
›› We invest in the North West’s infrastructure and generate jobs, skills and income
through our supply chain that supports the economy in our region;
›› We build partnerships to develop employability skills and help people back
to work. We also work with teachers and children to build awareness among
the next generation; and
›› We actively encourage employee volunteering programmes to help create better
places, stronger communities, and accomplish more to address local issues together.
20
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We are on course
for a bright future
– working with
others to improve
the wellbeing
and prosperity of
customers and
communities in
the North West.
Together, we’ll
go on helping life
flow smoothly,
for everyone.

Open this flap to view
our business model
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Our business model continued
Key resources
Natural resources
How our natural resources
help us to create value
We hold abstraction licences that permit us to
utilise the natural environment in the North
West to create value for our business. Raw water
is collected from our catchment land and stored
in our reservoirs, or is taken directly from rivers
and boreholes. This key resource is essential in
order for us to continue providing water to our
customers’ taps once we have treated it.
We own over 56,000 hectares of land, much of
which is catchment land around our reservoirs.
As well as providing a source for raw water
collection, the way we manage this land helps
to protect and improve the natural environment
in the North West, enhancing recreational value
for the community and providing economic
benefits such as underpinning the region’s
tourist industry.
Another value-generator can be found in
the waste that we collect. Bioresources from
wastewater can be processed to generate
renewable energy. Our advanced digestion
facility at our Davyhulme wastewater treatment
works is one of the largest of its type, and we
inject biogas from Davyhulme’s wastewater
treatment into the national gas network. We
recycle waste by supplying treated biosolids to
agriculture, providing a valuable resource for
farmers as high-quality fertiliser.
We have a responsibility to return water to the
environment safely after extensive cleaning
processes. Spills from our network can lead to
pollution which, depending on the severity, can
damage the natural environment and potentially
lead to loss of reputation and/or financial
penalties.

The best service to customers
Providing the best service to customers goes
beyond the provision of water and wastewater
services and looks at ways we can add further
value. We help customers to save money on
their bills through our water-saving initiatives,
efforts to reduce leakage, and ‘what not to flush’
campaigns to prevent blockages.

At the lowest sustainable cost
The generation of renewable energy from
bioresources helps to save power costs, and
we seek to use the lowest cost sources where
practicable and innovate to find the most
cost-effective methods to treat water and
wastewater.
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Preparing our network to cope with the extreme
weather and potential effects of a changing
climate that we are both experiencing and
predicting for the future can save repair and
recovery costs as well as ensuring a more
resilient service for our customers.

In a responsible manner
We continue to invest in the protection and,
where appropriate, enhancement of the natural
environment of the North West.
See page 31 for how we are contributing to the
UN’s Sustainable Development Goal to ‘Ensure
access to water and sanitation for all’.
Much of our catchment land is open to
the public for use and enjoyment by our
communities and the tourists that visit our
region.
We consider the natural environment in the
management, operation and maintenance
of our sites, helping to support rare species
and habitats. Wildlife is not only protected,
but frequently improved, as a result of our
interventions.
Our Sustainable Catchment Management
Programme (SCaMP) has shown that we
can manage our catchment land to protect
and enhance water quality and to provide
other benefits for the North West, such as an
improving biodiversity.
Our approach to integrated catchments looks at
working with others to improve the lakes, rivers
and coastal waters where we return treated
wastewater in the North West.
Rainfall in our region is greater than in other
parts of the country, and therefore short,
medium and long-term water supply is not as
constrained. Nonetheless, it is in everyone’s
interest to make the most of this precious
resource. Reducing demand for water is
important, and our efforts to encourage and
support water efficiency are increasing. We
encourage customers to save water, and are
working with external partners to integrate our
messaging further afield, as well as working to
reduce leakage.
The use of bioresources provides an ongoing
opportunity to reduce carbon emissions, helping
in the global fight against climate change as
well as saving money that can be used to add
further value by investing in improving the
resilience of our assets and/or by reducing bills
for customers.
We can make an important contribution
to protecting and enhancing the natural
environment by using fewer natural resources
and reducing our greenhouse gas emissions.

While providing water and wastewater services
to the North West, we produce waste materials
such as sludges, excavated materials and general
office waste, which we are committed to
managing in a sustainable way, with less than
five per cent of our waste going to landfill.
We are looking at ways to lessen our use of
raw materials to reduce our impact on the
environment and make us more efficient, and
we use recycled products where practicable.
We are working on plans to substantially
increase our renewable energy production
across this 2015–20 regulatory period, with the
main contributor being solar opportunities. This
will provide environmental benefits as well as
adding value through energy cost savings.

How we manage
our natural resources
Our ISO accredited environment management
system covers the whole business and our
environmental policy is available on our
website at: unitedutilities.com/corporate/
responsibility/environment
This policy details our commitments to:
›› Manage water resources sustainably and
promote water efficiency;
›› Improve the North West’s bathing waters
through our work and that of others;
›› Act to prevent pollution from our operations
and inform our customers on the responsible
disposal of waste to our sewers;
›› Protect and enhance the natural environment
and the services it provides;
›› Manage our use of natural resources, reduce
waste and put it to valuable uses;
›› Consider the impacts of climate change
on the services we deliver and adapt our
business accordingly;
›› Reduce our greenhouse gas emissions and
generate more renewable energy;
›› Aim to observe legal and regulatory
requirements and appropriate industry codes
of practice; and
›› Integrate environmentally responsible
behaviour into our operations.
Our regulatory framework shapes the way
that we manage natural resources as we are
governed by environmental regulators.
Read more about Our marketplace
on pages 14 to 16

Protecting and enhancing the environment is
one of the promises and key outcomes that we
committed to deliver as part of our business
plan for the current regulatory period, and
features as one of our Business Principles, which
can be accessed online at: unitedutilities.com/
corporate/about-us/governance/businessprinciples

unitedutilities.com/corporate

We continuously encourage our customers to
use water more efficiently and have increased
the number of households fitted with meters.
In terms of managing water supply and demand,
we already have an integrated supply zone
covering the majority of the North West.
Generally, this system is proficient in managing
demand, but there are extremities that require
further improvements to deal with future
challenges. Where there is any potential
shortfall, we bring more supplies online to
meet demand.
We have a regulatory annual leakage target,
based on the sustainable economic level of
leakage, which is one of our operational KPIs
(see pages 38 and 39), and we have consistently
met or outperformed this target.
As a major owner of woodland we manage
our trees in a sustainable way to protect water
quality, conservation, access, recreation and
timber, and we have been Forest Stewardship
Council® (FSC®) certified since 2003.
The sustainable management of surface water
is vital in adapting to the predicted increase in
more intense rainfall across the region, which is
the key risk to our wastewater service.
Read more about our Sustainable drainage solutions
on page 47

We are one of many organisations with a role to
play in boosting the quality of bathing water on
the North West coast. With strict bathing water
standards, we continue to work with partners to
improve the quality of rivers and coastal waters,
and we give the public real-time information on
bathing water quality.
The Environment Agency assesses water
companies’ performance across a basket of
measures, such as regulatory compliance,
pollution incidents and improvement plans, and
its overall assessment is included as one of our
operational KPIs (see pages 38 and 39).

Our environmental performance is reported
within our corporate responsibility pages on
our website at: unitedutilities.com/corporate/
responsibility/environment/environmentperformance and a table of measures important
to stakeholders, including those relating to our
environmental performance, is on page 124.

Impact of the
external environment
We plan far into the future to ensure we are
prepared for the changing natural environment,
most notably the risks and opportunities
presented by climate change.
Climate change is the long-term change
in average weather conditions, including
temperature, rainfall and wind. It is predicted
that our climate will change dramatically and for
the North West, this will result in higher daily
temperatures in both winter and summer, and a
shift in our rainfall from summer to winter.
This will mean there is likely to be:
› More frequent and/or higher magnitude
drought events in summer;
› More rainfall in the winter; and
› More occurrences of heavy rainfall.
Climate change has been the subject of strategic
concern to us for over two decades. As a water
and wastewater utility provider, we have first
hand experience of the impacts of extreme
weather events on our operations and our
customers, and we recognise our part to play
in mitigating climate change.
With severe dry periods becoming increasingly
common, we must ensure we continue to have
resilient water resources and an infrastructure
capable of moving water efficiently around
the region.
At other times, we must tackle flooding
incidents caused by the intensive bursts of
rainfall which are becoming more frequent due
to changing weather patterns.

Our response to climate change can be split into
two areas:
› Adaptation – making sure our services are
resilient to a changing climate.
The potential effect of climate change on our
future water resources is included in our 25
year Water Resources Management Plan, and
we have published two adaptation reports, in
2011 and 2015, outlining our holistic, integrated
and partnership approach to a range of short,
medium and long-term challenges including
climate change.

Strategic report
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› Mitigation – reducing the carbon emissions
associated with our services, especially
through our energy strategy.
The key factor in climate change is an increase
in greenhouse gases. There is global scientific
agreement that as a result of human activity the
amount of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere
is increasing and affecting the global climate.
Therefore, minimising the greenhouse gases
emitted as a result of our operations will
mitigate climate change.
We have been driving down our carbon
footprint over the last decade (a reduction of
one-third since 2005/06) and have plans to
reduce it further.
Read more about our carbon emissions performance
on pages 117 to 119.

More information on our approach to all
of these impacts and our environmental
performance can be found on our website at:
unitedutilities.com/corporate/responsibility/
environment/environment-performance
For information on principal risks and
uncertainties in this area, see pages 56 and 57
‘Health safety and environmental risk’, ‘Water
service risk’ and ‘Wastewater service risk’.

Pictured: Crummock Water in the Lake District
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Our business model continued

Key resources continued
People
How our people help
us to create value
Our employees play a critical role in increasing
long-term value generation. Fundamental to
the decisions we take, and the operational
performance we deliver, is a skilled, engaged
and motivated team.
Our suppliers and contractors provide us with
essential services that we rely on to deliver
our strategy. Our suppliers are contributing
significantly towards the around £9 billion
forecast contribution we are making to the
regional economy over the 2015–20 period.

The best service to customers
Our people, both our employees and our supply
chain, act as the face of our business for our
customers, and therefore are a crucial part of
delivering the best service to customers across
our entire business.

At the lowest sustainable cost
Independent studies have shown that
competitive wages, benefits and long-term
incentives enhance the quality of work, increase
employee retention and reduce absenteeism, as
well as providing societal benefits, which helps
to ensure efficient costs in relation to salaries
and training. Comprehensive training and
development opportunities for our employees
help to improve our internal skills-base and
therefore quality of work at an efficient cost, as
well as creating a more engaged workforce.

In a responsible manner
We are supporting thousands of jobs in the
North West. We have been named as one of the
top 100 apprenticeship employers and have a
growing graduate programme, helping to secure
a legacy for the future in our region.
We work with our supply chain partners to give
young people not in education, employment
or training (NEETs) the chance to gain hands-on
experience and basic skills training in a real
workplace environment, bringing social and
economic benefit to the region.
We are committed to promoting a safe, happy
and diverse workforce and we maintain a
comprehensive suite of policies, from ‘Agency
worker’ to ‘Working time’ which are available to
all employees on our intranet.
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See page 31 for how we are contributing to
the UN’s Sustainable Development Goal to
‘Promote just, peaceful and inclusive societies
and institutions’.

How we manage our people
Our employees are paid a competitive base salary
along with a benefits offering and the opportunity
to join both the employee healthcare scheme and
our share incentive plan. We measure employee
engagement each year through our Employee
Voice survey and achieved 79 per cent in the
latest survey, which is higher than the UK norm.
Management has a range of incentives which
focus on performance over a number of years,
rather than just the current year, to encourage the
delivery of benefits over the longer-term.
We place a strong emphasis on providing
comprehensive training and development
opportunities for our employees. We strive to
enhance our understanding of best business
practices in other companies and sectors
around the world and, by bringing this learning
back to our business, we have increased our
organisational knowledge and capability. This
has been integral to developing our Systems
Thinking approach to operating our business.
The health and safety of our employees is
fundamental, both for their welfare and to the
reputation and performance of our company.
This continues to be a significant area of focus as
we strive for continuous improvement. We have
implemented a number of initiatives over recent
years to improve health and safety conditions
for our employees, and have been awarded the
Workplace Wellbeing Charter.
We value diversity, providing equal opportunity
and recruiting and promoting employees on the
basis of merit, which we believe drives a more
comprehensive and balanced skill set. Despite
being a highly engineering-based organisation,
women are represented at all levels of our
company. Over a third of our combined board
and executive team is female. See chart below.

Gender diversity across our
business
Male
Group board
Execu ve team*
Senior managers
Wider employees
Female
Group board

No.
7
2
37
3,416

%
70
50
84
64

3

30

Execu ve team*

2

50

Senior managers
Wider employees

7

16

1,914

36

* Excludes CEO, CFO and COO, who are included in
UUG board figures
As at 31 March 2018, there were 14 male (82 per cent) and
3 female (18 per cent) employees who were appointed
as statutory directors of subsidiary group companies but
who do not fulfil the Companies Act 2006 definition of
‘senior managers’.

Further information on diversity can be found
on pages 76 to 78.

Over the last few years, we have been striving
to improve diversity at all levels and across all
types of roles within our business, including
establishing our Gender Equality Network in
2015 to provide role models, mentoring and
opportunities, and targeting diverse shortlists
and attraction campaigns for our apprentice and
graduate schemes.
Our policies on maternity, paternity, adoption,
personal and special leave go beyond the
minimum required by law. For disabled
applicants, and existing employees, we are
committed to fulfilling our obligations in
accordance with the relevant legislation.
Applicants with disabilities are given equal
consideration in the application process, and
disabled colleagues have equipment and
working practices modified for them, as far as
possible, where it is safe and practical to do so.
Our Human Rights policy demonstrates our
commitment to protecting the human rights of
our employees and supply chain. We convened a
cross-company working group to draft the policy
statement, and identify and assess human rights
risks and potential impacts on our employees,
customers, suppliers and communities. This
group identified our salient human rights issues
as access to clean water, data protection and
privacy, health and safety, and modern slavery.
We work with suppliers and contractors whose
business principles, conduct and standards align
with our own. Our key suppliers have committed
to our Sustainable Supply Chain Charter. We
support the appointment of a small business
commissioner to investigate companies who do
not treat suppliers fairly, are a signatory to the
Prompt Payment Code, and will fully comply
with rules on reporting payments to suppliers.

Impact of the
external environment
The availability of skilled engineers is dependent
on economic and social conditions and
preferences. Our award-winning apprentice
scheme, coupled with our graduate recruitment
programme, is helping to ensure we can
continue to attract and train a high calibre
of engineers, in a profession which has seen
declining numbers in the UK in recent years.
For information on principal risks and
uncertainties in this area, see pages 56 and
57 ‘Health safety and environmental risk’ and
‘Resource risk’. To date, we have not identified
any human rights abuses within our own
operations nor our supply chain and so no
remediation actions have been required. We
have mapped our human rights risks against
our corporate risk register and manage them
within this framework. Our supply chain modern
slavery risk management plan is detailed in our
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement.
Read more online at unitedutilities.com/
corporate/responsibility/our-approach/
human-rights

Assets
How our assets help
us to create value
Many of our assets are long-term in nature,
for example our impounding reservoirs have
a useful economic life of around 200 years.
We earn a return, received through revenues,
based on a regulatory measure of the value of
our capital asset base, Regulatory Capital Value
(RCV). This mechanism allows us to share the
cost of building these long-term assets between
the generations that will benefit from the use of
those assets.
Our RCV is currently just over £11 billion,
however the gross replacement cost of our fixed
assets (including all our reservoirs, treatment
works and pipes), i.e. the estimated amount it
would cost for another company to build similar
assets and networks, is around £90 billion. We
expect to invest around £3.8 billion across 2015–
20 and to continue with a substantial investment
programme for the foreseeable future in
order to meet more stringent environmental
standards and to maintain and improve the
current standards of our assets and services.
We manage our assets in a holistic way that
seeks to minimise whole-life costs, which
helps us to deliver efficient totex against our
regulatory allowance.

The best service to customers
Since privatisation in 1989, total capital
investment of over £15 billion has provided
substantial benefits to our customers, including
reduced supply interruptions and improved
water quality.

At the lowest sustainable cost
By carefully reviewing our potential capital
projects, and considering the most efficient
long-term solutions in terms of the lowest
whole-life cost, we can save future operating
costs, help to reduce future customer bills, and
work towards being able to operate in a more
sustainable manner. Disciplined investment,
along with RPI inflation, also grows our RCV,
increasing future revenues.

In a responsible manner
Effective capital investment helps us to
meet increasingly stringent environmental
standards, which helps to improve the region’s
environment and protect indigenous wildlife,
as well as contributing to the North West’s
economy through job creation, both within our
company and through our supply chain.

How we manage
our assets
When deciding on our investment strategy
we need to be mindful of the impact on our
customers’ bills and this is why, for example, we
are spreading some of the environmental spend
required by European legislation over the next
15 years.
It is important that we have the right systems
and procedures in place in order to monitor and
control the assets efficiently and effectively
within our network. Embracing innovation in
our asset configuration and work processes can
help to make our future service better, faster
and cheaper.
See page 31 for how we are contributing to the
UN’s Sustainable Development Goal to ‘Build
resilient infrastructure, promote sustainable
industrialisation and foster innovation’.
We are committed to managing and operating
our water, wastewater and energy assets to
ensure we continue to provide a water and
wastewater service that helps life flow smoothly
for our customers, regulators and other
stakeholders.
We have an asset management policy that
is available to all employees on our intranet
that details how we will operate, maintain and
invest in our assets with the aim of delivering
our customer promises and their associated
outcomes, as agreed at the price review for the
current regulatory period.

Impact of the
external environment
We anticipate an increase in the North West’s
population of around 900,000 by 2045 (more
than the population of a large city such as
Liverpool).
We are planning to ensure that our services
and supporting infrastructure are able to meet
the needs of this growing population, which is
also expected to include a higher proportion of
older people. We must ensure we are able to
meet increased demand on both our water and
wastewater networks as the regional population
is expected to increase.

There is need for a careful balance between
preparing for future challenges and maintaining
affordable bills by phasing the work and cost.
We must strike a balance between the various
interests of customers and our many regulators,
as well as political and societal interest.
A phased, long-term approach to address all
of these concerns ensures that the necessary
work can be delivered without placing too much
pressure on customer bills.

Strategic report
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Technology and innovation presents an
opportunity; for example the new wastewater
treatment process, Nereda, has transformed
this area, our use of robots in managing the
water network has driven greater efficiency and
improved customer service, and we are using
drones to inspect assets with restricted access
to improve health and safety as well as reduce
time and costs.
Read more about Innovation across our entire
business on page 29

We have been utilising technology within
our energy self-generation, for example our
Davyhulme sludge recycling centre employs
a groundbreaking configuration of thermal
hydrolysis to maximise energy generation from
sludge; and we built Europe’s largest floating
solar array system on our reservoir in Godley,
Greater Manchester.
Advances in technology can be used to help
deliver improvements in the quality and/
or cost of our service. Embracing innovation,
using modern technology or techniques, is at
the heart of how we do business. Our Systems
Thinking approach to operating our network
is a key example of this.
Technological advances can give rise to greater
risks as well as presenting opportunities.
Cybercrime has been on the increase in
recent years and, as the holder of customer
information, is a threat we take very seriously.
For information on principal risks and
uncertainties in this area, see pages 56 and 57
‘Security risk’, ‘Water service risk’, ‘Wastewater
service risk’, ‘Compliance risk’, and ‘Supply chain
and programme delivery’.

We must build increased resilience into all of
our assets in order to cope with the anticipated
impacts of a changing climate. Our assets
must be prepared to meet the changing
and increasingly challenging environmental
constraints that we have to comply with in
regard to areas such as water abstraction (for
example our West Cumbria pipeline project,
see page 33), increasingly stringent wastewater
treatment levels, and improvements to flood
defences as a result of increasing extreme
weather conditions.
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Our business model continued

Key resources continued
Financing

How we manage
our financing

How our financing
helps us to create value

We have proactive programmes of engagement
with equity and credit investors, which allows us
to hear their views, which we then consider in
our strategic planning, and also to update them
on developments in our business.

We aim to maintain a robust and sustainable
capital structure, balancing both equity and
debt, to achieve a strong investment grade credit
rating, thus enabling efficient access to the debt
capital markets across the economic cycle.
We adopt a prudent approach to managing
financial risks, which helps to ensure financial
resilience in the long-term. We have a long track
record of aligning our financial risk management
with the regulatory model through inflation
and interest rate management policies, which
helps us manage uncertainty in volatile market
conditions and when faced with changes in
Ofwat’s approach to setting the cost of debt at
each price review.

The best service to customers
Customers benefit from reductions to bills and
lower finance costs contribute to our ability to
deliver this.
Customers also appreciate receiving the benefit
of service improvements earlier rather than
later, and the ability to efficiently finance our
business helps enable us to deliver this.

At the lowest sustainable cost
Locking in long-term debt and swaps at good
relative value can help keep our finance costs
low and provides the potential to outperform
the industry-allowed cost of debt.
The long-term average life of our debt portfolio,
our strong and stable investment grade credit
rating, robust hedging policies, and maintaining
access to a broad range of sources of finance,
all help to ensure that our ability to efficiently
finance our business is sustainable, and to
reduce our exposure to the risk of fluctuating
market conditions and changes in the regulatory
environment.

In a responsible manner
As a FTSE 100 listed company, we have open and
transparent reporting around all of our equity
and debt financing arrangements.
We do not utilise offshore financing vehicles,
and we maintain an appropriate level of gearing,
measured as net debt to Regulatory Capital
Value (RCV), broadly in line with regulatory
assumptions, which supports a robust and
sustainable capital structure.
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As part of our planning process, we review key
credit ratios to ensure these meet required
thresholds in order to satisfy the board’s ratings
targets. Performance against business plan
credit ratios is regularly monitored, and we
maintain close contact with the credit rating
agencies to understand the methodology and
any changes. Gearing is maintained within our
target range of 55 per cent to 65 per cent, which
broadly mirrors regulatory assumptions.
Issuing new debt is important as our capital
investment is largely financed through a mix of
debt and cash generated from our operations.
We maintain access to a broad and diverse range
of sources of finance, in a number of markets,
across which we seek best relative value when
issuing new debt. We manage relationships
with a diverse range of banks, and we refresh
our European Medium Term Note (EMTN)
Programme annually to allow for efficient issuing
of debt under pre-agreed contractual terms.
We aim to avoid a concentration of refinancing in
any one year, and tend to fund long-term where
possible, with the average life of our term debt
being just under 20 years. We regularly review
liquidity forecasts against our policy of having
available resources to cover the next 15–24
months of projected cash flows. This helps ensure
forward funding requirements are met.
We have clearly articulated financial risk
management policies, covering credit, liquidity,
interest rate, and currency risk, and we
responded proactively to Ofwat’s intention to
transition from RPI to CPIH inflation and to index
the portion of new debt in calculating the cost of
debt in the next regulatory period.
We have conducted an extensive review of our
inflation and interest rate hedging policies and
amended these to align with the new regulatory
model and continue to maintain the most
appropriate financial risk management. We will
no longer substantively fix all of our nominal
debt at the start of each regulatory period,
but maintain a rolling 10-year fixing profile on
nominal debt to mirror Ofwat’s assumed 70
per cent embedded and 30 per cent new debt
split (with debt indexation on the new debt
portion). We aim to retain around half of our net
debt in index-linked form (where it is economic
to do so), by issuing index-linked debt and/
or swapping a portion of nominal debt. This is
expected to remain mostly in RPI-linked form
until CPI/CPIH debt and swaps become available
in sufficient size at an economic cost.

We are the sector leader in CPI inflation-linked
financing, having issued the first ever CPI-linked
notes by a UK utility, and we have continued to
build the CPI-linkage in our debt portfolio where
good relative value opportunities can be found.
Read more about our financial risk management
policies on pages 160 to 166, and about the
competitive advantage this provides on page 13.

Impact of the
external environment
Changes in economic conditions and financial
markets, such as inflation and interest rates,
can influence our ability to create value through
financing. While these are outside of our direct
control, we can mitigate some of the potential
adverse impacts associated with market
movements, such as on inflation and interest
rates, through our financial hedging strategies.
In this way we can create value by reducing the
risks to which we are exposed.
Interest rates have remained below the long
term trend and we have benefited from this as
we drew down, or raised, over £600 million of
new debt in 2017/18. Comparatively low interest
rates have been beneficial to our future cost of
debt as we continue with our nominal interest
rate hedging strategy.
RPI inflation has continued to rise during
2017/18, briefly reaching levels as high as 4.1
per cent, but returning to 3.3 per cent at March
2018, compared with 3.1 per cent at March
2017. However, it has been lower over recent
years than levels it has reached in the last 10
years. The prices we charge our customers
(which drive our revenue) and our regulatory
capital value (RCV) are linked to RPI inflation
for the current regulatory period, therefore
lower RPI over recent years has meant slightly
lower growth on these measures. However, as a
result of our large quantity of index-linked debt,
our finance costs decrease as inflation falls,
providing a partial economic offset to revenue.
Our pension liabilities are linked to RPI inflation,
and have been hedged by a combination of
a market hedge and the inflation funding
mechanism (IFM), whereby company
contributions are flexed for movements in RPI.
We expect the schemes to increase the market
hedge for inflation in line with a progressive de
risking strategy, with a corresponding reduction
in the IFM.
Market sentiment can also have an impact on
our financing. While much of this can be outside
of our direct control, there are ways in which
we are able to help inform and influence public
opinion.
For information on principal risks and
uncertainties in this area, see pages 56 and 57
‘Financial risk’.
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Business insight

Using artificial intelligence to deliver advanced water
network management
Our Systems Thinking approach is one of our
competitive advantages, as outlined on page
13, and we continue to increase our capabilities
as part of this approach. One area that
demonstrates this is in managing leakage.
We need to operate and maintain our
water network to reduce leakage and to
reliably deliver excellent quality water at the
appropriate pressure to our customers’ taps.
In the past this has often relied upon customers
informing us of an issue before we’ve carried out
emergency repairs and restored service.
Due to advances in network monitoring
technology, coupled with artificial intelligence,
we’re now able to provide proactive, and often
predictive, management and maintenance of
our water network. We’re leading the way in
the UK water industry with our use of artificial
intelligence to improve customer service and
operational efficiency.
We supply water to around seven million
customers, and to do this effectively the water
distribution network is divided into approximately
3,000 District Metered Areas (DMAs). In
collaboration with a leading university, we’ve
developed an artificial intelligence system known
as Event Recognition in the Water Network
(ERWAN).

ERWAN applies
Systems Thinking
ERWAN uses advanced analytics to learn the
typical patterns of the system from our network
of sensors, identifying the ‘normal’ system
signature for each DMA so that it can recognise
any deviation to this signature and generate an
immediate alert. It applies Systems Thinking to
determine the likely root cause of an alert, such
as a faulty valve or water main leak/burst, and
understanding adapts automatically over time.
Traditional analysis often focuses on individual
items, whereas Systems Thinking also looks at
how these items are connected and interact.
The application of ERWAN has resulted in
multiple benefits including the avoidance or
reduction in issues such as poor water pressure,
no water, or poor water quality, thereby
improving our service to customers. It has also
reduced asset maintenance costs by informing
the need for maintenance prior to asset failure,
and avoiding unneeded maintenance visits.
Operational costs are also reduced as it enables
problems to be dealt with proactively which is
much less expensive than dealing with asset and
service failures.

The use of ERWAN has contributed to the three
per cent reduction in leakage and 29 per cent
reduction in water network incidents between
2011 and 2017.

Strategic report

A new step in Systems Thinking

Expanding our use of
artificial intelligence
Artificial intelligence and machine learning
methods provide the opportunity for us to
operate and maintain our asset base at a lower
totex than was previously possible, while being
able to minimise levels of customer disruption
and improve the service we offer.
Following the success of ERWAN, we’re looking
to apply similar artificial intelligence methods in
other areas of the business. We have a number
of collaboration projects with universities and
specialist analytics companies to capitalise on
the opportunities further as we move into the
next five-year investment period (2020–25).
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Our business model continued

Internal environment
Governance
Good governance lies at the heart of all
successful organisations. We firmly believe that
it leads to better management decisions as well
as helping to avoid exposure to potential risks
and improving corporate resilience.
We strive to operate in a manner that reflects
the highest standards of corporate governance,
accountability and transparency. Our company
structure and governance standards are
designed to ensure that our board continues
to observe sound and prudent governance
in compliance with the principles of the
UK Corporate Governance Code. Our audit
committee has oversight of the policies and
procedures in relation to anti-bribery and fraud.
Read more on page 89

We have an anti-bribery policy that all our
employees must follow, and processes in
place to monitor compliance with the policy.
This policy is available to view online at
unitedutilities.com/corporate/about-us/
governance
We also operate an independently provided,
confidential reporting telephone helpline and
web portal for employees to raise matters
of concern in relation to fraud, dishonesty,
corruption, theft, security and bribery, and all
claims are fully investigated.
Our employees and representatives of our
suppliers must also comply with our sustainable
supply chain charter, which explains that we
will not tolerate corruption, bribery and anticompetitive actions and we expect our suppliers
to comply with applicable laws and regulations
and in particular never to offer or accept any
undue payment or other consideration, directly
or indirectly, for the purposes of inducing
any person or entity to act contrary to their
prescribed duties.

Prudent risk management
As you would expect of the provider of an
essential service, we adopt a prudent approach
to managing risks to our business. That being
said, accepting some level of risk is a normal
consequence for a commercial organisation
being run in a cost-effective way.
Given the complex legal and regulatory
environment within which we operate, we are
exposed to a range of risks.
An important risk to our business is ensuring
that we get the constituent elements of our
five-yearly business plans correct to ensure
our financeability, as well as the outcomes we
will deliver for customers, and that we provide
sufficient information to Ofwat to ensure we
receive a final determination that covers these,
as we are bound by these plans for the following
five-year period with limited opportunity to
change them. Failure to meet the terms of our
current 2015–20 regulatory contract is a risk.
We face risks in relation to potential future
changes in legislation or regulation. This includes
the anticipated changes for the 2020–25
regulatory period, as outlined on pages 15 to 16,
and increased political scrutiny with discussion
of the potential Renationalisation of the water
industry, as well as potential changes further
into the future.
We also face risks such as possible noncompliance with existing laws or regulations,
and from environmental impacts such as climate
change.
See pages 56 and 57 for more details on what
we consider to be our principal risks and
uncertainties.

Values and culture
We are committed to delivering our services
in a responsible way and our approach to
responsible business practice is outlined in
our Business Principles document, which is
available on our website at: unitedutilities.com/
corporate/about-us/governance/businessprinciples. More information on the board’s
approach to values and culture can be found
on pages 72 to 73. Also see page 31 for how
we are contributing to the UN’s Sustainable
Development Goal to ‘Promote just, peaceful
and inclusive societies and institutions’.
Our culture is embodied in our three core values
of customer focus, integrity and innovation,
and we operate with these at all levels of our
business. These core values are interrelated
– innovating to improve our services and
acting with integrity in the way we conduct
our activities helps us to continually improve
customer service.

Customer focus
We have instilled a customer-centric approach
right across our organisation, and this evolving
culture has been a key driver of the major
improvements in customer service we have
been able to deliver.
Putting customers at the heart of what we do
has also helped deliver benefits for shareholders
and wider stakeholders.

Integrity
Acting with integrity, both at board level and
as a company, underpins our approach to
responsible business and building trust.
We actively encourage our employees to
express their opinions and ideas through various
engagement and social channels, such as our
annual ‘Employee Voice’ survey, through news
articles on our intranet, and on our social media
collaboration tool ‘Yammer’.

Innovation
Innovation is a critical enabler in creating value,
helping us to be ahead of our competitors, and
we welcome ideas on how we can innovate
across all levels of our business and from wider
industries across the world.
Our employees are given the opportunity
to develop and present their ideas to senior
management, facilitating and encouraging an
innovative environment. Utilising innovation
from our suppliers is part of our supply chain
approach, which provides another avenue to
benefit from new ideas and technologies.
The business insight on the following page
demonstrates a few of the ways that we
innovate across the business.
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Business insight

Innovation across our entire business
Generating and adopting new ideas is an intrinsic part of our culture
Innovation Lab draws new
ideas from around the globe

CEO Challenge helps embed
an innovation mindset

Drone technology improves
access and site safety

Our groundbreaking Innovation Lab provides a
platform for us to engage with suppliers around
the world, many of whom have never worked
with us before.

As well as engaging with innovators from around
the world, we foster a culture of innovation from
within our business. Our annual CEO Challenge
tasks our graduates with finding practical and
innovative solutions to real business problems,
encouraging innovation from future thoughtleaders.

Many of our sites and assets have restricted
access, such as valve towers and outfalls, which
makes inspection more difficult. The use of
drones gives a variety of benefits, in terms of
time-saving covering large areas, improved
access, and reduction of health and safety risks.

We advertised the Lab in the spring of 2017 and
received applications from 80 suppliers, which
we narrowed down to a shortlist of 22, including
14 start-up companies. They were then invited
to a pitch day in December 2017, where seven
successful applicants were selected.
Over a 10-week programme, these seven
partners co-locate with us and are mentored
by our senior business leaders, with access to
test, improve and demonstrate their product or
service in live customer environments, enabling
rapid prototyping of breakthrough technologies
before implementation on a larger scale.

Process innovations deliver
significant efficiencies
Nereda is a wastewater treatment process
that delivers significantly lower energy and
chemical costs, and the ability to treat larger
volumes within a smaller footprint. We have
contracted our fourth installation of Nereda, in
Blackburn, which will be the largest in Europe
once completed.

Image analytics enables
proactive repairs
We use satellite data processed through
advanced image analytics to detect millimetre
ground movements that may indicate the
risk of potential sewer collapses. The benefits
of proactive repair before a sewer collapse
are significant in terms of cost and customer
disruption.

Eye in the sky,
nose on the ground
Tackling leakage is a real priority for us and we’re
always looking for new and innovative ways to
do the job more effectively. The North West of
England is a notoriously wet region, and sorting
the leaks from the puddles, especially out in the
fields, can be real challenge. We have trialled
a new leak detection method that is showing
great results.
We use innovative satellite technology (our ‘eye
in the sky’), which was originally developed to
detect water under the surface of other planets,
to spot areas of potential water mains leakage
by using unique algorithms to detect a spectral
‘signature’ typical to treated drinking water.
Once we have identified an area, we send
in our ‘nose on the ground’ to sniff out the
precise location of a leak. Snipe, the UK’s first
leak detection sniffer dog, was a stray rescued
in Ireland who has since gone through a
rigorous training programme with ex-military
dog trainers to help him learn how to use his
sensitive nose to locate the tiniest traces of
chlorine used to disinfect water supplies.
This is particularly useful in rural areas where
the water does not always show on the surface,
and helps us to minimise customer disruption
since Snipe can pinpoint the location of a leak
with far greater accuracy, therefore avoiding
the need to dig up large areas of countryside to
locate the source of the issue.
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Our stakeholder engagement
Why stakeholder
engagement matters
Delivering water and wastewater services
underpins our region’s economy, society and
environment and this creates a deep connection
between the company and the society we serve.
We do not operate in isolation and we cannot
alone determine what the region needs from its
water supplier.
It is essential that we engage with stakeholders
across the North West to ensure our service
delivery is prioritised to meet those needs
and that we serve customers in a reliable and
sustainable way. We depend on the perspectives
that stakeholders can bring to our decisionmaking, but this can only be achieved if we build
strong, constructive relationships with a broad
range of stakeholders representing different
interests.
There is considerable stakeholder interest in
corporate governance and business conduct,
and how actions taken by companies need to
build trust. As a listed company we comply with
the UK Corporate Governance Code, but it is
also important that our approach to stakeholder
engagement is subject to robust governance so
that the relationships we develop are taken into
account in our decision-making. This makes an
important contribution to building trust. The
board’s corporate responsibility committee
meets four times a year and an update on
stakeholder engagement is one of its standing
agenda items. The chair of the independent
customer challenge group, YourVoice, attends
board meetings to provide an external
perspective.

Who are our
principal stakeholders?
Customers – Through relentless focus on
improving service at an efficient cost, we can
help to build their trust and confidence in
our service delivery. Providing clean drinking
water remains one of our most significant
contributions to public health, and customers
expect us to provide reliable water and
wastewater services they can depend upon.
They also want us to support customers in
vulnerable circumstances.
Community – Our work puts us right at the
heart of the communities in which we operate.
With the highest proportion of the UK’s most
socially and economically deprived areas in
the North West, working with community
stakeholders is critical if we are to make a
meaningful contribution to tackling water
poverty. Read more about ʻOur first affordability
summitʼ on page 43. Other organisations play an
important role in tackling the water challenges
we face of too much water, too little water, and
water of the right quality.
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Suppliers – Supporting jobs through our supply
chain stimulates the development of skills and
employment the North West economy needs. By
maintaining good relationships with suppliers we
can continue to improve our delivery of projects
to time and good quality at efficient costs.
Working with responsible suppliers means we can
achieve more and succeed together. Key for our
suppliers is fair and prompt payment terms and,
in this year’s report, we provide information on
our payment performance.

How we engage with
stakeholders

See page 124 for a table of data that our
stakeholders consider the most relevant.

In some cases, our engagement focuses on
future requirements so that our investment in
infrastructure enables the North West economy
to grow. Other times, we have to be more
reactive, supporting our stakeholders when
issues arise such as extreme weather events.
Our approach goes beyond simple engagement,
as it is important to understand what issues our
stakeholders consider to be material and the
wider benefit that addressing these issues brings.

Employees – By developing our people we can
continue to improve our service to customers,
and by demonstrating that we are a dynamic,
innovative organisation we can attract the
talent our future workforce needs. Increasing
the diversity of our employees ensures we have
access to a broad set of views that are fit for our
modern society. Looking after the health, safety
and wellbeing of our employees is paramount.
Investors and analysts – Our shares are held by
individuals and large investors, including pension
funds and charities, and we provide a return
that is relied on by millions. We help investors
and analysts to understand our business – such
as priorities around risk and return, growth and
income, and corporate governance – to assist
them in making the right investment decisions
for themselves, their investors and clients.
Regulators – We engage actively to help shape
the policy and regulatory framework within
which we operate, covering customer, economic
and environmental factors. These priorities
require balancing and need to be looked at over
a long-term horizon. Maintaining relationships
is key to assist with this. There are also changes
in the priorities and aims of our regulators
over time, and actively engaging in discussions
around future policy is important for us to
provide the company perspective.
Political – Engagement with national and local
government, as well as elected representatives
and devolved administrations, on topics of public
interest helps us to understand their issues and
seek solutions to shared environmental, social,
economic and governance issues.
Media – It is through the media, and
increasingly its social media platforms, that
many stakeholders receive their information
about us and our activities. Given the essential
nature of our services, it is important that
coverage is fair, balanced and accurate,
requiring effective two-way dialogue.

We approach stakeholder engagement in an
inclusive way, taking time to understand which
stakeholders are interested in which topics,
holding genuine two-way conversations with
them and, through continuous engagement,
working hard to understand any concerns
or issues from their perspective to ensure a
suitable response from the company.

To understand which issues are of material
concern to stakeholders, and which are most
material to our company strategy, we regularly
compile a materiality matrix. This is informed
by extensive stakeholder consultation and
customer research, which we carry out on a
rolling programme to validate our business
planning, and by business representatives sitting
on our corporate responsibility panel.
Our matrix is available on our website – see
unitedutilities.com/corporate/responsibility/ourapproach/materiality

There are a number of ways in which we engage
with stakeholders. For example, our panel of
customer representatives, YourVoice, typically
meets quarterly to ensure that customers are
at the heart of the company’s business planning
engagement.
We arrange regular meetings with stakeholders
from across the region to cover a variety of
topics, such as workshops to discuss priorities for
our draft business plan. Some of our employees
also have formal roles on bodies set up by our
stakeholders, providing the opportunity to give
the company’s perspective on topics ranging from
land management to infrastructure development.
We act on the findings of our annual opinion
surveys to ensure that employees are engaged
and committed to deliver the company’s goals
and objectives.
For investors, our programme of regular
engagement allows us to explore matters of
financing and how our company strategy will
provide them suitable returns.

unitedutilities.com/corporate
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As part of our continuous programme of communicating with our stakeholders, we held a series
of workshops in 2017/18 where 200 representatives from local authorities, tourism bodies,
environmental regulators, public health representatives, national and local non-governmental
organisations and the business community came together to discuss their priorities for our services.
Our ‘you care more than you think’ campaign using #nwmatters encouraged feedback on our draft
2020–25 business plan by encouraging people in the North West to think about what water really
means to their lives. The campaign reached over 1.5 million people, with 25,000 engagements
from social media users and over 4,000 face-to-face interactions at nine roadshows. This insight is
influencing what we do, the services we deliver, and shaping what we propose for our future plans.
Our first-ever affordability summit (see page 43) brought together the region’s stakeholders to
identify ways to help customers in vulnerable circumstances. Five key action areas emerged, where
we are co-creating and co-delivering projects to find shared solutions to shared problems.
We actively involved customers in the design process for a new bill for metered customers, learning
what aspects of the existing bill were not working effectively, then testing the new design with them.
Engagement with environmental stakeholders in Cumbria has shaped the solution we are installing
to improve water quality in the River Petteril. Working with partners, we are implementing a range
of solutions that will bring wider benefits than just water quality, at a lower overall cost.

Stakeholder interest: UN Sustainable Development Goals
Since they were published, stakeholder interest has increased in the contributions companies are
making to the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Our work underpins
the North West’s
economy, society
and environment, and
this creates a deep
connection with the
society we serve

Strategic report

Stakeholder engagement activities

Our investment
in infrastructure –
totalling £3.8 billion in
the current regulatory
period – enables the
North West economy
to grow

Based on our activities, we have identified five goals most material to United Utilities and the nature
of the essential services that we provide. Our approach to operating in a responsible manner aligns
quite naturally with these goals. We also explain the steps we are taking to meet the goals.
Ensure access to water and sanitation for all – This is our core function providing
safe, resilient and affordable water and wastewater services to communities across
the North West, promoting efficiency and protecting and enhancing water-related
ecosystems.
Promote inclusive and sustainable economic growth, employment and decent
work for all – Our daily operations provide direct and indirect employment, enabling
training and development opportunities in safe and secure working environments.
Information on diversity within our business can be found on pages 76 to 78.
Build resilient infrastructure, promote sustainable industrialisation and foster
innovation – Ensuring the region where we operate has reliable, sustainable and
resilient infrastructure for the long-term requires innovation to keep pace with an
increasingly digital world. See page 37 for more details on our approach to resilience
and page 29 for some examples of how we are innovating across the business.
Make cities and communities inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable – Using our
understanding of customer needs and priorities, we deliver services that meet their
expectations and engage with communities to enhance participation in what we do.

We depend on the
perspectives that
stakeholders can bring
to help in our planning
and strategic decisionmaking processes

Our customer
representative panel,
YourVoice, meets
regularly to ensure
customers are at the
heart of our planning

Promote just, peaceful and inclusive societies and institutions – Running our
business with integrity, promoting transparency and maintaining high ethical
standards of business conduct and corporate governance – those systems and
processes through which our organisation is managed, controlled and held
accountable.
We will increasingly need to work in partnership with all our stakeholders in order to achieve these
goals. For more information on each of these SDGs, see unitedutilities.com/sdgs
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Business insight

Balancing competing interests
Letting the planning process run its course
We are custodians of some of the most beautiful
landscapes in the United Kingdom, and often
need to balance competing interests in our
land from groups wanting to use it for various
pursuits. We need to manage these interests
while keeping in mind our primary concern
of ensuring that the water flowing into our
reservoirs from the land is as clean as possible.
In 2017, Cumbrian company Treetop Trek
approached us about creating a new activity hub
at Thirlmere in the Lake District National Park,
which would feature zip line experiences across
our reservoir.

Local protest
The idea gave rise to significant local protest.
Conservation, walking and mountaineering
groups were united in opposition, arguing that
the development was profoundly unsuited to
the location and risked undermining the policies
of the National Park.
As the landowner at Thirlmere, we were
satisfied that the zip line would not have had a
detrimental impact on water quality, although
we acknowledged that wider impacts would
need consideration.
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With that in mind, we supported Treetop Trek
in exploring the possibility of gaining planning
permission for its proposed development. From
the outset we said that the planning process
was the most appropriate mechanism for these
differing views to be aired, and for stakeholders
with a vested interest in the future economic,
social and environmental prosperity of Cumbria
to decide upon this proposal.
After announcing its intentions, Treetop Trek
held several consultation sessions with the local
community and stakeholder groups. However, in
the face of increasing opposition and concerns
from the Ministry of Defence about the danger
to low-flying fighter aircraft, it withdrew its
application temporarily.

Freedom of information
Following this temporary withdrawal, a Freedom
of Information request was made by Friends of
the Lake District to the Lake District National
Park Authority asking for a copy of the Planning
Officer’s draft report. The report showed that
planning officers were recommending the
application be refused on grounds of harm to
the landscape.

Following the publication of this report, and
given our stated position to stand by the
planning authority’s decision, we withdrew our
support for the proposal.
Sometimes, as a landowner, we are drawn into
disputes about what happens on and around the
land that we safeguard for the region.
The activity hub proposal drew comment and
concern from stakeholders with competing
interests and strongly held views. We remained
neutral and let the planning process conclude,
believing that the best course of action was to
let Cumbria decide.

unitedutilities.com/corporate
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Business insight

A collaborative approach
Working closely with local communities in Cumbria
To meet statutory obligations under the EU
Habitats Directive to protect England’s largest
population of freshwater mussels, our licence to
abstract water from Ennerdale Water will end
in 2022. To address the future supply/demand
deficit that will result from this, we are creating
a major pipeline and water treatment works
using Thirlmere reservoir to supply drinking
water to West Cumbria.
Community involvement and stakeholder
engagement have been central to the
development of our water supply strategy for
West Cumbria. This is the single biggest project
to go through the Lake District National Park
in recent times. How we engaged within the
constraints of the planning process was key to a
successful planning outcome.

Innovative approach
We needed to be innovative in our approach
and engage the communities of Cumbria. Core
to our approach was a Planning Performance
Agreement funded by us and created in
conjunction with Natural England, the
Environment Agency, the three Local Planning
Authorities, and Cumbria County Council.

We were clear from the outset that local
communities and stakeholders would be
encouraged to have their say on any plans,
creating a wide range of opportunities for local
people and groups to give their views and raise
any concerns to help us develop our proposals.
Collaborating with stakeholders, we developed a
Construction Code of Practice, giving confidence
that the environment would be protected during
construction, and in particular to support the
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).

Best practice
We submitted a planning application in January
2016 and in November 2016, four months ahead
of schedule, all three local planning authorities
voted unanimously to grant full planning
permission.
We have shared our experience with our
regulators and other interested stakeholders,
carrying out a series of presentations and tours
of the pipeline construction. This project has
been recognised externally as best practice in
relation to our approach to planning applications
in sensitive areas such as national parks.

The project is now underway and is in its
second year of construction. We have held
further public exhibitions and sessions with
stakeholders across Cumbria to keep them
informed on the project.
In January 2018, we launched two legacy
funds, totalling over £1 million, with Cumbria
Woodlands and Cumbria Community
Foundation so that local communities affected
by the pipeline can apply for help with projects
that deliver social or environmental benefits.
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Our planning cycles
Our approach to planning
The three business areas within our business
model – wholesale water, wholesale
wastewater, and household retail – are
structured in line with Ofwat’s distinct price
controls for the current regulatory period.
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We will continue to
contribute to improving
bathing water quality
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Planning – key milestones

2022

We will extend our
integrated water supply
network into West Cumbria

The fourth price control, non-household retail,
is regulated within our 50:50 joint venture
with Severn Trent, Water Plus. While we can
influence it, we cannot control this joint venture
and it is not part of our consolidated group,
therefore it does not form part of our group’s
business model.
Each business area undertakes both long,
medium and short-term planning to identify
how they can best deliver their outcomes now
and in the future.

2025

We will halve the risk of
requiring drought permits
to augment supply

We have planning cycles that cover:
›› 25+ years – reflecting the long-term nature
of our business, which provides an essential
service to customers, and helping us to
define what we need to deliver in each fiveyear regulatory period to ensure long-term
resilience;
›› 5 years – reflecting the regulatory review
periods within which our revenue allowances
are set, and helping us move towards
achievement of our long-term goals; and
›› 1 year – reflecting the annual targets we set
to help move us towards achievement of our
five-year goals.
Our plans take into account the internal and
external drivers and relationships described in
our business model, and we adopt an integrated
approach that consults with and considers the
interests of a whole range of stakeholders.
Read more about Our stakeholder engagement
on pages 30 to 33

Underpinning our approach to planning, we
continuously assess our performance using
key performance indicators (KPIs) and other
performance measures, which help us to
formulate our future improvement plans for our
various stakeholders.
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Read more about our performance against
Our key performance indicators on pages 38 to 40

2025+

We will work to
enable future national
water trading

2030
We will work with others to
achieve ‘Blue Flag’ beaches
along our coastline

Planning – 25+ years
In order to maintain a reliable, high-quality
water service for our customers into the future,
we have to look a long way ahead, to anticipate
and plan for the changes and core issues that are
likely to impact on our activities.
Over the next 25+ years, we will face many
challenges and opportunities including:
›› Climate change and its implications for water
resources and flooding;
›› A more open, competitive UK water market;
›› More rigorous environmental regulations;
›› Population growth;
›› Developments in technology;
›› The UK’s exit from the European Union; and
›› Combining affordable bills with a modern,
responsive service.
By anticipating and planning ahead for these, we
can ensure that we continue to deliver the best
service to customers, at the lowest sustainable
cost, in a responsible manner.
Our strategy for the future is set out on our web
pages where we examine the challenges ahead
and how we will focus our resources and talents
in order to meet them. Our current 25-year
Water Resources Management Plan (WRMP)
was published in 2015 covering the 2015–40
period.
We have recently finished consulting with
customers and stakeholders to ensure their
interests are reflected in our new 25-year
WRMP, which covers the 2020–45 period and
will be submitted to Defra in August 2018.
These long-term plans set out the investment
needed to ensure we have sufficient water to
continue supplying our customers, taking into
account the potential impact of climate change.

Some of the key ways we are aiming to create
value over the long-term are by:

Some of the key ways we are aiming to create
value over the 2015–20 regulatory period are:

›› Investing in our people to ensure a
committed, capable and motivated workforce
delivering high performance;

›› Improving our customer service further –
improving efficiency while reducing costs,
improving our SIM performance to increase
rewards/reduce penalties from Ofwat;

›› Close collaboration with suppliers and
disciplined investment, based on sustainable
whole-life cost modelling;
›› Efficiently implementing a robust and
appropriate mix of debt and equity financing;
›› Embracing innovation and our Systems
Thinking approach to make our future
services better, faster, safer and cheaper;
›› Long-term planning and management of
water resources (25-year WRMP);
›› Responding to the many challenges and
opportunities we face, including climate
change and population growth; and
›› Sustainable catchment management.
Read more online at unitedutilities.com/
corporate/about-us/our-future-plans/lookingto-the-future/

Planning – 5 years
Each five-year regulatory contract is designed
with our strategic themes in mind and aims to
help us to work towards our long-term plans
and ultimately to achieve our long-term vision.
We submit a robust, balanced plan to Ofwat in
order to agree a regulatory contract that allows
for the best overall outcomes for our customers,
shareholders and the environment.
Once each regulatory contract is set, we create
value principally by delivering, or outperforming,
that contract by providing the best service to
customers, at the lowest sustainable cost, in a
responsible manner.
Our five-year plan for the 2010–15 regulatory
period focused on improving customer
satisfaction, meeting our statutory obligations,
and delivering shareholder value. We delivered
on each of these, which provided us with a
strong platform to deliver further in the current
2015–20 regulatory period.

›› Enhancing our debt collection activities –
reducing retail costs, whilst providing the best
support for customers struggling to pay;
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›› Minimising total costs on a sustainable
basis – for example power, materials and
property rates, which will help us to meet or
outperform our allowed totex costs;
›› Raising low-cost finance – helping us to
outperform our allowed finance costs, which
is our most significant area of potential
outperformance in this regulatory period;
›› Delivering our operational and regulatory
commitments – helping to ensure we achieve
high levels of customer service and meet
environmental standards, as well as improving
our ODI performance to increase rewards/
reduce penalties from Ofwat in areas such as
reliable water delivery and reducing pollution
and sewer flooding incidents;
›› Implementing our hedging strategies to
fix medium-term interest rates and power
costs – helping us to meet our allowance by
reducing the volatility of these costs;
›› Increasing our production of renewable
energy from waste – helping to protect us
from rising energy costs and reducing our
carbon footprint; and
›› Maintaining a robust supply/demand balance
– providing water resource and customer
supply benefits, and avoiding penalties/
unfunded expenditure requirements.
See the next page for more on the plans each
of our business areas are delivering over the
2015–20 period.

2045
We will serve
900,000 more
households in the
North West

,

75
We will install additional water
meters to achieve coverage of
around 75 per cent of households
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Our planning cycles continued
Wholesale water

› Maintain existing high levels of reliability in
the delivery of day-to-day water services,
making better use of technology for remote
monitoring and control of source-to-tap
assets;
› Maintain existing high levels of water quality,
as measured at customers’ taps and our
water treatment works;
› Reduce the number of customer contacts
regarding water quality;
› Maintain leakage at or below the sustainable
economic level;
› Limit the impact on customers of increases in
operating costs, such as chemicals and rates,
by making cost savings elsewhere through
continuous improvement in our operational
efficiency; and
› Work to link 150,000 customers in West
Cumbria to Thirlmere reservoir to ensure
a long-term, reliable supply of drinking
water and to support the sensitive ecology
in that area.

Wholesale wastewater

› Continue to improve the way we operate,
making better use of technology, automation
and control to drive better customer service
at reduced cost, and build on customer
satisfaction improvements already delivered;
› Reduce the number of our customers’
properties exposed to sewer flooding,
working in partnerships to deliver schemes
cost-effectively and promote the use of more
sustainable drainage systems;
› Improve bathing waters to meet tougher
regulatory standards, and work with other
organisations to support them in delivering
improvements to our region’s beaches;
› Improve water quality in the North West’s
rivers and lakes through investment in our
treatment works and at overflows, and
engage with others to explore innovative
catchment management techniques to
control diffuse pollution in our catchments;
› Increase production of renewable energy from
waste to protect customers from rising energy
costs and reduce our carbon footprint; and
› Constrain the costs of taking responsibility
for all private sewers and private pumping
stations across the region, through
improvements to our operating model and
efficient delivery of our programme.

Household retail

› Continue to improve the customer experience
by being more proactive, anticipating
problems before they materialise and
improving our communication channels;
› Reduce the number of customer complaints
further, and resolve them whenever we
can, avoiding the need for complaints to be
referred to the Consumer Council for Water;
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› Reduce the debt burden on the company and
its customers by engaging with those who
are struggling to pay, helping them return
to sustained payment behaviour. We are
extending our options for assistance to hardpressed customers, including the social tariff,
and we remain committed to contributing
to the United Utilities Trust Fund, ‘Restart’,
which has proven effective in helping
customers in difficulty return to regular
payment; and
› Reduce the cost to serve our customers
through systems and process improvements.
This is particularly important under the
current price control methodology which uses
an industry average retail cost to serve to
determine part of customer bills.

Adapting our plans to meet our
customers’ evolving needs

The North West remains the most socially and
economically deprived region in England, which
is the principal driver of our higher than average
cost to serve for household customers. This
is currently recognised by Ofwat through an
additional cost allowance for deprivation of
£20 million per annum over the 2015–20
regulatory period.
A report from the Department for Communities
and Local Government in 2015/16 reaffirmed
that the North West has the most deprived
regions in England, containing three of the top
five local authority districts with the highest
proportion of ‘highly deprived’ neighbourhoods
(categorised as the most deprived 10 per cent).
Bad debt remains a risk, particularly with the
continuing tightening of real disposable incomes
and the impact of welfare reforms likely to
intensify. Our debt management processes have
been externally benchmarked as efficient and
effective. We continue to refine and enhance
them, whilst also helping customers back into
making regular payments through the use of
manageable payment plans.
We anticipate continued hardship for a number
of communities and difficulties for some
customers in paying their bills. We will remain
committed to supporting these customers
through a suite of payment assistance schemes
and by looking at new ways to help, like
the introduction of our social tariff in 2015,
supporting elderly customers.
We are also adapting to the increasing use of
social media and digital technology. We have
recognised the increasing power of social media
as communication channels for customers in
doing business with us, and have invested in a
new digital external communications capability
and a number of website improvements that
were built through consultation with our
customers.

Planning – 1 year
Before the start of each financial year, we
develop a business plan for that year, which is
approved by the board.
This sets our annual targets, which are designed
to help deliver further improvements in service
delivery and efficiency, and to help move us
towards achievement of our five-year goals.
Our business plan covers a broad range of
measures across our three strategic themes
to deliver the best service to customers, at
the lowest sustainable cost, in a responsible
manner.
Our one-year targets help us to measure
progress towards our five-year goals, which in
turn help us work towards our long-term plans
and, ultimately, our vision to be the best UK
water and wastewater company.
This top-down approach helps us to ensure
the long-term resilience and sustainability
of our business through short and medium-term
goals that we can monitor and measure our
progress against.

Performance monitoring

The executive directors hold quarterly business
review meetings with senior managers to
monitor and assess our performance against
these measures, helping to ensure that we are
on track to deliver our targets.

Performance measurement

At the end of every financial year, our
performance is assessed against these measures
and this determines employees’ annual bonuses
right through the organisation.
As well as annual targets, our directors are
assessed against three-year performance,
covering total shareholder return, sustainable
dividends and customer service, through long
term incentive plans.
Details of the 2017/18 annual bonus and vested
long-term incentive plans for our executive
directors are shown on pages 96 to 103 within
the remuneration report.
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Business insight

Rising to the resilience challenge
Delivering a high level of resilience, balanced
with affordable bills, while at the same time
responding to pressures from a changing
climate, growing population, ageing
infrastructure, and market competition is an
ongoing challenge that requires a modern and
innovative approach.

Preparing for climate change
The extreme weather we’ve experienced
in recent years is widely expected to be a
forerunner to longer term climate change
impacts.
With this in mind, we considered a range of
future challenges within our draft 2019 Water
Resources Management Plan including:
›› Extreme drought, freeze-thaw, and flooding;
›› Climate change (100 scenarios under the
latest UK climate projections, UKCP09); and
›› Demand (population growth, economic
trends and patterns of water use).
We assessed risks over the 2020–45 planning
period and took a long-term view at the 2080s.
We published two adaptation reports, in 2011
and 2015, which outline our holistic, integrated
and partnership approach to a range of short
and long-term challenges including a changing
climate.
Read more online at unitedutilities.com/
corporate/responsibility/environment/climatechange

We use our PIONEER system to identify
the probability of failure, based on asset
performance and health, to prioritise a
programme of infrastructure improvements
that ensures resilient supply under a range of
challenging circumstances.
Our methodology follows best practice from
the UK Water Industry Research Ltd (UKWIR),
Joint Emergency Services Interoperability
Programme (JESIP), and Cabinet Office guidance
on addressing system resilience risks.

Learning from experience
Our approach to resilience is greatly enhanced
by the lessons we learned following the extreme
flooding and boil water notice in 2015 and
2016. Storms Desmond and Eva brought river
levels significantly higher than ever recorded,
demonstrating that flood defences and
protection measures can be overwhelmed in
extreme events.
We have new incident management procedures
with detailed contingency plans, and a directorled incident review board. We introduced
Priority Services, tailoring support to the more
vulnerable members of society in emergencies,
engaged with charities to help reach people
who may benefit from this service, and agreed a
memorandum of understanding with the British
Red Cross to support us in assisting vulnerable
customers in an incident.

Skills resilience

We have some key highly skilled roles, and
our talent succession pipeline is critical to the
seamless transfer of skills from one generation
of employees to another. We have partnered
with Teach First, and are an active participant in
the STEM (science, technology, engineering and
mathematics) programme. We have growing
apprentice and graduate programmes, a stateof-the-art training centre and over 200 senior
and front-line managers have been trained by
the Emergency Planning College.

Systems Thinking delivers
better operational resilience
We use asset monitoring and real-time
data analytics from telemetry across our
network to manage it in a way that improves
interconnectivity and operational flexibility,
using remote control and automation through
our Integrated Control Centre (ICC).
Our innovative ERWAN (Event Recognition
on the Water Network) system uses machine
learning and sensors in the network to identify
a ‘normal’ system signature, and generate an
early warning alert and probable cause for
any deviations. We have installed automatic

shutdown and ‘start-up to waste’ at all of our
water treatment sites, and are installing UV
treatment at higher risk water treatment works.
The new water treatment works we are building
for West Cumbria is sized to meet peak demands
with redundancy built in to ensure no single
points of failure.
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Delivering resilience is integral to our business

The ICC has a 24/7 duty manager who can
lead an immediate, uniform, coordinated
and effective response to breaking incidents
to minimise the impact on customers, wider
society and the environment.

Visible benefits
In February 2018 there were freeze-thaw
issues across the country. Despite access
difficulties during the period, we managed to
minimise disruption of supply to customers by
participating in multi-agency calls and initiating
an incident, with a number of proactive actions.
Our enhanced capability in managing
this incident meant we had no significant
deterioration in service. No service reservoirs
ran empty, and our water treatment works
production was maintained throughout.

We have leading financial and
corporate resilience
Long-term financial resilience starts with strong
and effective risk management processes, and
we believe we are at the frontier in this respect.
Read more on page 13.
Ofwat monitors financial resilience across the
industry within its annual ‘Monitoring financial
resilience’ report. The latest report can be
found on Ofwat’s website. As a public listed
company, we also adhere to the highest levels of
governance, accountability, and transparency.

Continuous improvement
Throughout the rest of this investment period,
and into the next, we‘ll continue to learn and
develop our resilience and have committed
to reinvest £250 million of our anticipated net
outperformance, in the current regulatory
period, to deliver significant resilience benefits.
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How we measure our performance
Our key performance indicators (KPIs)

To help measure progress on how well we are delivering the outcomes described in our business model and adding value for all our stakeholders, we
focus on a range of financial and operational KPIs, encompassing the important areas of customer service and environmental performance, as well
as financial indicators. We set KPIs for the five-year regulatory period, and they remain the same as last year. Our executive bonuses and long-term
incentives are closely aligned to our financial and operational performance KPIs, as highlighted in the remuneration report on pages 94 to 115.

Operational KPIs
Strategic theme

KPI

Definition

The best service
to customers

Wholesale outcome delivery incentive (ODI)
composite

Net reward/(penalty) accrued across United Utilities’ 19
wholesale financial ODIs, more detail of which can be
found on page 41.

Service incentive mechanism – qualitative

Ofwat-derived index based on quarterly customer
satisfaction surveys, measuring the absolute and relative
performance of the 18 water companies. Each company
receives a score in the range of zero to five, with five
being the best attainable score.

Service incentive mechanism – quantitative

Ofwat-derived composite index based on the number
of customer contacts, assessed by type, measuring
the absolute and relative performance of the 18 water
companies. Each company receives a SIM point total,
where the lowest score represents the best performance.

Totex outperformance

Progress to date on delivering our promises to customers
within the cumulative 2015–20 wholesale totex final
determination allowance.

Financing outperformance

Progress to date on financing expenditure
outperformance secured versus Ofwat’s industry
allowed cost of debt of 2.59 per cent real over the
2015–20 period.

Household retail cost to serve

Cost to serve in our household retail business compared
with Ofwat’s revenue allowance.

Leakage – average annual leakage

Average annual water leakage from our network
quantified in megalitres (Ml) per day.

Environment Agency performance assessment

Composite assessment produced by the Environment
Agency, measuring the absolute and relative performance
of the 10 water and wastewater companies across a broad
range of areas, including pollution.

Dow Jones Sustainability Index rating

Independent rating awarded using sustainability metrics
covering economic, environmental, social and governance
performance.

At the lowest
sustainable cost

In a responsible
manner
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Target
End the 2015–20 regulatory period with a cumulative
net ODI reward.

To move towards the upper quartile in the medium-term.

Performance

Status Linked to bonus/LTP

2017/18: £7.0 million net penalty
(cumulative £2.2 million net reward)
2016/17: £6.7 million net reward
(cumulative £9.2 million net reward)
2015/16: £2.5 million net reward
2017/18

4.49

2016/17

To move towards the upper quartile in the medium-term.

4.27

2014/15

4.24

2016/17

Bonus – direct
LTP – direct

4.42

2015/16

2017/18

Sector worst
Sector best

Bonus – direct
LTP – indirect

71

Sector worst
(see note 1)
Sector best
(see note 1)

77

2015/16
2014/15

Bonus – direct
LTP – direct

95
99

To outperform Ofwat’s final determination totex allowance
by £100 million over the 2015–20 regulatory period.

2015–20: Confident of outperforming the
final determination allowance by £100
million over the 2015–20 regulatory period
Totex was a new measure for the 2015–20
period, hence no prior years’ comparators

Bonus – indirect
LTP – indirect

To beat Ofwat’s industry allowed cost of debt.

2015–20: On track to beat Ofwat allowance
2010–15: Exceeded our £300 million target
outperformance

LTP – indirect

To minimise costs compared with Ofwat’s revenue allowance.

2017/18: £9 million outperformance
2016/17: £14 million outperformance
2015/16: £10 million outperformance

Bonus – indirect
LTP – indirect

To meet our regulatory leakage target of 462.65 Ml per day
for each year in the 2015–20 regulatory period, as set by
Ofwat.

2017/18: Met target
2016/17: Met target
2015/16: Met target
2014/15: Met target
2013/14: Met target

Bonus – indirect

To be a first quartile performer (i.e. at least 4th) on a
consistent basis.
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2016/17*

Joint 1st

2015/16

Joint 2nd

2014/15

2nd

2013/14

2nd

2012/13

2nd

Bonus – indirect

*2016/17 latest available assessment

To retain ‘World Class’ rating each year.

2017/18: ‘World Class’
2016/17: ‘World Class’
2015/16: ‘World Class’
2014/15: ‘World Class’
2013/14: ‘World Class’

Note 1: Sector best and worst figures for quantitative SIM are not yet available for 2017/18
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How we measure our performance continued
Our key performance indicators
Financial KPIs
KPI

Revenue

Underlying
operating
profit

Underlying
earnings
per share

Dividend
per share

Definition
A definition of revenue is included within the
‘Accounting policies’ note on page 173.

The underlying operating profit measure
excludes from the reported operating profit
any restructuring costs and other significant
non-recurring items. The group determines
adjusted items consistently in the calculation of
its underlying operating profit measure against
a framework which considers significance
by reference to profit before tax, in addition
to other qualitative factors such as whether
the item is deemed to be within the normal
course of business, its assessed frequency of
reoccurrence and its volatility which is either
outside the control of management and/or not
representative of the current year performance.
A reconciliation is shown on pages 52 to 53.
This measure deducts underlying net finance
expense and underlying taxation from
underlying operating profit to calculate
underlying profit after tax and then divides this
by the average number of shares in issuance
during the year. Underlying net finance expense
makes consistent adjustments to the reported
net finance expense, including the stripping
out of fair value movements. Underlying
taxation strips out any prior year adjustments,
exceptional tax or any deferred tax credits
or debits arising from changes in the tax rate
from reported taxation. Reconciliations to the
underlying measures above are shown on pages
52 to 53.
This measure divides total dividends declared by
the average number of shares in issuance during
the year.

Performance
2017/18
2016/16

£1,704m
£1,730m

2014/15

£1,720m

2013/14

£1,689m

2017/18
2016/17
2015/16

£645m
£623m

2013/14

2017/18
2016/17
2015/16

£664m

LTP – indirect

44.7p
46.0p
47.7p
51.9p

2013/14

44.7p

2017/18

39.73p

2015/16

2017/18
2016/17
2015/16
2014/15
2013/14

Bonus – direct
LTP – indirect

£635m

2014/15

2016/17

Feeds into bonus / LTP
Bonus – indirect
LTP – indirect

£604m

2014/15

2013/14

Group net debt (including derivatives) divided
by UUW’s regulatory capital value (RCV).
From 2016/17 onwards this uses shadow RCV,
adjusted for actual spend, whilst prior years
used Ofwat’s published RCV in outturn prices as
per previous methodology. Our target range is
55 per cent to 65 per cent.

£1,736m

2015/16

2014/15

Gearing:
net debt to
RCV

Status

LTP – direct

38.87p
38.45p
37.70p
36.04p

61%
61%
61%
59%
58%

Note 2: For both our Operational and Financial KPIs, where we have declared external targets we assess our performance against the most recent public targets. Where there are no
externally declared targets we assess our performance against our internal budget, however our internal budget is not disclosed. Green status indicates that we have achieved or are
confident of achieving our target. Amber status indicates that we are close to achieving our target but there remains some work to be done. Red status indicates that we are missing
our target.
Note 3: In some instances the remuneration committee has used metrics with similar names but calculation methodologies which they consider more appropriate for executive
remuneration, as set out in the remuneration report on pages 94 to 115.
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Outcome delivery
incentives (ODIs)
For the 2015–20 regulatory period, Ofwat
introduced outcome delivery incentives (ODIs).
Companies undertook extensive customer
engagement and challenge from customer
challenge groups, and developed a set of
performance commitments, or ‘outcomes’,
along with measures, targets and incentives.
These set out the level of service that we have
to deliver against a variety of measures, and any
financial penalties/rewards that will be incurred
if the level of service was below/above that
which was set out.
There were limits on rewards and penalties
(caps and collars) and neutral zones (deadbands)
set as part of this, and the ODIs were challenged
by and ultimately set by Ofwat as part of our
final determination.
We publish information about our performance
against these ODIs each year, and the rewards/
penalties we have earned/incurred, in our
Annual Performance Report (APR). Our APRs
for each year from the start of this regulatory
period can be found at unitedutilities.com/
corporate/about-us/performance/annualperformance-reports-2015–2020
Our performance commitments and ODIs
represent a set of tough performance targets.
They are skewed to the downside, with many
of our ODIs being ‘penalty-only’, reflecting
the feedback we received from our customer
engagement. Many also become tougher as
we progress through this regulatory period,
requiring improvements in performance year
on-year.
In seeking to manage this challenge, we have
continued to focus on and implement our
Systems Thinking approach and accelerated
investment into the first two years of the
five-year regulatory period to deliver early
operational benefit and mitigate potential
penalties under our ODIs.
Our ODIs for the current 2015–20 regulatory
period are detailed further on this page. As
discussed on page 16, a new set of ODIs will
be set as part of the price review for the
2020–25 regulatory period, based on a new
customer engagement process that is taking
place and including 14 common performance
commitments set out by Ofwat.

Our ODIs for the 2015–20
regulatory period
For the 2015–20 regulatory period, we have 27
ODIs, as detailed further on this page.

Wholesale water financial ODIs

› Water quality events DWI category 3 or
above;
› Water Quality Service Index;

› Average minutes supply lost per property
(a year);
› Reliable water service index;
› Security of supply index;
› Total leakage at or below target;
› Resilience of impounding reservoirs;
› Thirlmere transfer into West Cumbria – the
reward / penalty for this ODI is only incurred
in the final year of this regulatory period,
2019/20; and
› Contribution to rivers improved – water
programme.

Wholesale wastewater
financial ODIs

› Private sewers service index;
› Wastewater network performance index;
› Sewer flooding index;
› Contribution to bathing waters improved
(includes NEP phase 3&4 bathing water
intermittent discharge projects);
› Protecting rivers from deterioration due to
population growth (includes Davyhulme non
delivery penalty);
› Maintaining our wastewater treatment works
(includes Oldham and Royton WwTWs special
cost factor claims);
› Contribution to rivers improved – wastewater
programme (includes Oldham, Royton and
Windermere);
› Wastewater serious (category 1 and 2)
pollution incidents;
› Wastewater category 3 pollution incidents;
and
› Satisfactory sludge disposal.
It also includes three non-financial wholesale
water ODIs, one non-financial wholesale
wastewater ODI, two financial retail ODIs
and two non-financial retail ODIs, which are
detailed below.

Wholesale water
non-financial ODIs

› Drinking Water Safety Plan risk score;
› Delivering our commitments to developers,
local authorities and highway authorities; and
› Number of free water meters installed.

Wholesale wastewater
non-financial ODI

› Future flood risk.

Retail financial ODIs

› Service incentive mechanism (SIM); and
› Customer experience programme.

Retail non-financial ODIs

› Customers saying that we offer value for
money; and
› Per household consumption.
Ten of our financial ODIs are penalty-only, being
nine wholesale financial ODIs and one of our
retail financial ODIs, with the remaining 11 being
reward or penalty dependent on the level of
performance.
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Our performance to date on
wholesale financial ODIs
We have earned a cumulative net reward across
the first three years of this regulatory period of
£2.2 million.
This represents a strong performance,
particularly given that our ODI composite is
skewed to the downside with many being
penalty-only, and some that can be subject to
large impacts from one-off events.
Our performance has been helped by our
Systems Thinking approach and the planned
acceleration of our capital investment
programme into the earlier years of this
regulatory period.
We have gradually improved our ODI target
guidance as we progress through the regulatory
period, reflecting the success of our approach at
managing and mitigating the downside risk.
Many of our ODIs get progressively tougher,
however we have one ODI that does not earn/
incur a reward/penalty until the final year of the
period, 2019/20, in relation to the Thirlmere
transfer into West Cumbria, and we feel confident
that we are delivering well against this project.
All our ODIs are end of period ODIs. The actual
values for the first three years of the 2015–20
period, plus the anticipated values for the final
two years, will be used to determine a five-year
impact for each ODI. The water and wastewater
service ODIs will then be aggregated to determine
a single five-year total for each service. If this
value is positive then this reward will be added
to the opening regulatory capital value (RCV)
for the 2020–25 regulatory period. If the value
is negative then this penalty will be removed
from the total required revenue for the 2020–25
regulatory period.
All adjustments to revenue or RCV will be made
through the 2020–25 regulatory review process
(PR19), with our anticipated outturn position
and proposed adjustments due to be provided
to Ofwat in July 2018.

This includes nine financial wholesale water
ODIs and 10 financial wholesale wastewater
ODIs detailed below, which we include as one of
our operational KPIs on pages 38 and 39.
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Operational performance
The best service to customers
Customer service – sitting at the core of
everything we do, our strong focus on customer
service has helped us deliver substantial
improvements in recent years, becoming
the most improved company in the 2010–15
regulatory period with a reduction of around
75 per cent in the overall number of customer
complaints.
This year, we have seen another step change
in our customer satisfaction performance. We
achieved our highest ever scores against Ofwat’s
qualitative Service Incentive Mechanism (SIM)
measure, finishing first in the final survey of
the year and third for the year overall. This
performance is mirrored in the number of
complaints that we receive. These have reduced
by over 34 per cent in two years and the number
of repeat complaints have reduced by 63 per
cent over the same period.
We have added to our already leading position
on affordability and vulnerability. We are now
supporting more than 50,000 customers in need
of help through our Priority Services scheme,
providing more targeted support for customers
experiencing short or long-term personal or
financial difficulties in their lives, with tailored
assistance. In January we hosted the first ever
North West Affordability summit, engaging with
customers and key stakeholders with an interest
in this topic.
We have an industry-leading digital capability
informed by customers with more than 750,000
customers now registered for our online
customer portal, My Account, and we have
launched the sector’s first truly integrated
mobile app allowing customers to complete
a variety of interactions with us using their
preferred channel.
Improving customer service will continue to be
a key area of focus, and we have identified
a range of opportunities to deliver further
benefits for customers.
Leading North West service provider – we
are consistently ranked third out of 10 leading
organisations in the North West, through an
independent brand tracker survey which is
undertaken quarterly. This covers key attributes
such as reputation, trustworthiness and
customer service. We are behind only Marks
& Spencer and John Lewis, and ahead of seven
other major organisations covering utilities,
telecoms, media and banking services.
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Robust water supply – our customers benefit
from our robust water supply and demand
balance, along with high levels of water supply
reliability. Our overall water quality continues to
be good, and although our water quality service
index has slightly deteriorated compared with
the prior year, it remains above our historical
average and we have plans in place to deliver
improved performance going forward. We have
consistently delivered a reliable water service,
although we have experienced some water
no-supply incidents in the 2015–20 regulatory
period. Whilst this is disappointing, our Systems
Thinking approach is helping us to respond to
these events and avoid them in future.
Reducing sewer flooding – we have continued
to invest heavily in schemes, projects and
programmes of work designed to reduce the
risk of flooding of our customers’ homes,
including incidence-based targeting on areas
more likely to experience flooding and defect
identification through CCTV sewer surveys
and other innovative technologies. Our plan
for the 2015–20 regulatory period includes a
target of reducing sewer flooding incidents
by over 40 per cent, in line with customers’
affordability preferences, and we are making
good progress. We have achieved our best-ever
five-year performance on our repeat flooding
and internal operational flooding measures. Our
wastewater network will continue to benefit
from significant investment going forward and
we will continue to seek to work in collaboration
with other external lead flood authorities and
associated partners to address the widespread
flooding events that hit our region, as we aim to
help mitigate changing weather patterns likely
to result from climate change.
Key performance indicators:
Outcome delivery incentives (ODIs) – we have
19 wholesale financial ODIs and as was supported
by customers, the risk is skewed to the downside
with only 10 providing the potential to earn a
reward in the 2015–20 regulatory period.
Our performance for 2017/18 has resulted in a
£7.0 million net penalty. Overall, performance
was again good against our wastewater measures
but we recognise that there are still areas in which
we can improve against our water measures, and
we are committed to achieving this.
We are pleased with our cumulative performance
over the first three years of the current regulatory
period resulting in a net reward of £2.2 million,
exceeding our initial expectations. Whilst a
number of our ODI measures are susceptible to
one-off events and, on the whole, our ODI targets
get tougher each year, our strong performance to
date coupled with continued targeted investment
alongside our Systems Thinking and innovative
approach to the way we operate, gives us
confidence that we will achieve a cumulative net
ODI outcome over the 2015–20 regulatory period
in positive reward territory.

Our main areas of reward to date have come
through our performance in the areas of private
sewers, pollution and leakage, with our main
penalty being on reliable water service and
water quality service.
Service incentive mechanism (SIM) – we
have previously stated our target was to move
towards the upper quartile in the medium
term, and we are particularly pleased with the
progress we have made this year, ending the
year as a leading company in our peer group.
Qualitative: Ofwat has undertaken the four
surveys for 2017/18 and United Utilities has
improved its score to 4.49 points, compared
with 4.42 points in 2016/17, putting us in
third position for the year out of the 18 water
companies, and also third position out of
the 10 companies providing both water and
wastewater services. We ended the year with
our highest ever score of 4.61 in wave 4, which
placed us in first position in this wave for the
sector overall. In particular, customers scored us
highly for our billing and wastewater services.
Quantitative: the quantitative assessment
measures customer contacts and performance
is assessed on both an absolute and relative
basis. Whilst relative performance can only
be assessed in full following the end of each
financial year when the other companies
publish their respective results, on absolute
performance for 2017/18, our score of 71 points
represents a marked improvement on our
2016/17 score of 77 points. For the first nine
months of the year, of the companies that share
data on quantitative SIM, we were first of the
seven water and wastewater companies and
fourth of the 11 water companies.
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Our first affordability summit
Helping customers in vulnerable circumstances
The North West has one of the largest
populations of economically deprived
households in the country. There is often a link
between customers with affordability issues and
those in vulnerable circumstances. Factors such
as ill-health, unemployment or bereavement
make it more difficult to manage finances. We
want to do our part to help customers during
these difficult times by having the necessary
support mechanisms in place.

Collective challenge
To help us understand more about the
challenges customers face, we decided to
bring together organisations from across our
region who deal with customers in challenging
circumstances, to discuss what more could be
done to support those struggling to make ends
meet. If customers are finding it hard to pay
their water bills, they are likely to be having
difficulty paying most of their household bills,
so this is a collective challenge to see what
more we could all be doing to help and support
people.
Our first ever affordability summit brought
together more than 100 stakeholders from
across the North West to stimulate new ideas
and share best practice.

The event, held at Liverpool St. George’s Hall,
was opened by the Rt. Hon Angela Eagle MP,
who represents the constituency of Wallasey,
and attended by Lord John Bird, the founder of
the Big Issue and now a cross-bencher in the
House of Lords, charities, foodbanks, Citizens
Advice Bureau, StepChange, Department
for Work and Pensions, Credit Unions, debt
agencies, housing associations, local councils
and other utilities and financial service
companies.
Some very clear themes emerged from the
summit, which have now been developed into
five key areas of action. Progress is tracked and
reported every eight weeks, and the results will
be shared at our next affordability summit in
January 2019.

New financial support
schemes launched
On the same day we also launched two new
financial support schemes. Our Payment Plus
scheme is for customers who are behind with
their water bill payments. For every pound they
pay off towards their outstanding debt, we
will pay a pound too. After six months, we will
increase our contribution to two pounds, and
after two years any debt that remains will be
written off.

In response to the roll-out of Universal Credit,
we introduced a chance for customers to
suspend or delay their payments for up to eight
weeks.
We already offer a wide range of financial
assistance schemes to support our most
vulnerable customers, but we are continuing to
challenge ourselves to improve the scale and
effectiveness of the support we offer. Coming
together with others who can likewise support
customers and encourage them to access the
help available is important for getting people
out of poverty and back on track.
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Operational performance
At the lowest sustainable cost
Power and chemicals – our asset optimisation
programme continues to provide the benefits of
increased and more effective use of operational
site management to optimise power and
chemical use and the development of more
combined heat and power assets to generate
renewable energy. In addition to the electricity
we generate from bioresources, we are
developing other renewable energy facilities.
This is primarily in the area of solar, where we
have invested £53 million in the first three
years of the 2015–20 regulatory period and
contributing towards our expected investment
of up to £100 million across the five-year period.
We have also substantially locked-in our power
commodity costs across 2015–20, providing
greater cost certainty for the regulatory period.
Proactive network management – through
our Systems Thinking approach we are more
proactive in the management of our assets and
networks. We have improved our predictive
modelling and forecasting through better use
of sensors in our network and better analysis
of other data, such as weather forecasting,
enabling us to address more asset and network
problems before they affect customers. This
reduces the level of reactive work and improves
our performance and efficiency.
Debt collection – our region suffers from high
levels of income deprivation and we offer wideranging schemes to help customers struggling
to pay. We now have over 100,000 customers
on affordability schemes, almost double the
commitment we made at the start of AMP6.
Notwithstanding our industry-leading debt
management processes, deprivation remains
the principal driver of our higher than average
bad debt and cost to serve and we expect this
to continue to be a challenging area for us.
Reflecting our ongoing focus on bad debt
through initiatives such as our affordability
schemes, our household bad debt expense has
reduced to 2.3 per cent of regulated revenue
from 2.5 per cent last year.
Pensions – United Utilities has taken progressive
steps to de-risk its pension provision. The group
had an IFRS retirement benefit surplus of £344
million as at 31 March 2018, compared with
a surplus of £248 million as at 31 March 2017.
Further details of the group’s pension provision
are provided in the pensions section on pages
153 to 154.
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From 1 April 2018, the majority of active
members in the defined benefit sections of
the group’s pension schemes transitioned to
a hybrid section incorporating both defined
benefit and defined contribution elements. The
changes have had no impact on the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
as they have only taken effect for pensionable
service from 1 April 2018.
Capital delivery and regulatory commitments
– we are strongly focused on delivering our
commitments efficiently and on time, and
have a robust commercial capital delivery
framework in place. Across the 2015–20
regulatory period, we are working with a
single engineering partner and four design and
construction partners to deliver our regulatory
capital investment programme of around £3.8
billion. We are involving our partners much
earlier in project definition and packaging
projects by type, geography and timing in order
to deliver efficiencies. Projects are allocated
on an incentive or competitive basis leading to
our partners presenting a range of solutions,
innovations and pricing.
We have accelerated our 2015–20 investment
programme in order to improve services for
customers and deliver early operational and
environmental benefits. Regulatory capital
investment in 2017/18, including £147 million
of infrastructure renewals expenditure, was
£816 million, including additional investment
that we have committed to, sharing our overall
regulatory outperformance with customers.
This, combined with £1.6 billion invested in the
first two years of the regulatory period, brings
our total spend to around £2.4 billion of our
planned £3.8 billion capital investment across
the 2015–20 regulatory period.
We are also driving more effective and efficient
delivery of our capital programme and applying
a tougher measurement mechanism to our
Time: Cost: Quality index (TCQi) score for
this regulatory period. Despite this tougher
approach, our TCQi score remains high at 93 per
cent, representing very good performance.

Key performance indicators:
Total expenditure (totex) performance – our
totex allowance for the 2015–20 regulatory
period represented a significant challenge
compared with the costs we originally submitted
as part of our business plan. We have not only
closed the gap to our allowance but we are now
also confident of outperforming that allowance
by £100 million. This has been achieved through a
combination of driving efficiency into our capital
programme and also through Systems Thinking.
Financing outperformance – the low cost of
debt we have already locked-in places United
Utilities in a strong position to deliver significant
outperformance for the 2015–20 regulatory
period compared with the industry allowed cost.
Household retail cost to serve – we continue
to deliver against a challenging benchmark set
for AMP6. Our target is to minimise our costs
compared with our revenue allowance and we
have delivered a good performance in 2017/18,
outperforming this year’s revenue allowance by
around £9 million. By 2020, we are forecasting
a cost to serve in line with the regulatory cost
allowance and we are hopeful that our cost
plans will move us towards upper quartile
performance in AMP7.
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Design for manufacture and assembly
Delivering significant construction cost savings
The 2015–20 capital programme represented
a significant opportunity for us. The traditional
challenges around time and cost demanded
disruptive solutions to confront the normal ways
of working. Conventional on-site manufacturing
can be noisy and disruptive for our customers
and neighbours, and it can be expensive to
remove the inherent safety risks that go with
being on busy construction sites.
Designing and building off-site in a factory
reduces the disruption for customers and
lessens the on-site safety risk. Design for
manufacture and assembly (DfMA) involves the
digital design and prefabrication of a significant
proportion of a project offsite. Working in a
DfMA and Building Information Modelling (BIM)
environment allows standard supply chain
products to be embedded within the BIM model
and then ordered and built within the supply
chain. We have seen this with electrical kiosk
design, procurement and assembly, where the
risk for rework and on-site modifications was
significantly reduced as a result of this new
approach.

Strategic success
Having already made a significant return on
investment, the DfMA initiative has been a
strategic success. It started as an innovation
project, but now it is the accepted way of
working within our business and our supply
chain.
As a result, we have already delivered over
£5.2 million in direct construction cost savings,
nearly 11,500 site days, as well as innumerable
productivity and health and safety benefits.
The default programme approach to DfMA
has driven a culture within our partners and
their supply chain, which will benefit capital
programmes in the future. We will see more and
more standard products being developed by our
supply chain, which will increase the proportion
of our construction projects going forward that
use DfMA.

Jackson’s Edge service
reservoir
We appointed a construction company to
replace an existing service reservoir that
was over 100 years old with an expired asset
life. The new asset consists of two reservoir
compartments, the first of which was to
be commissioned prior to commencing
construction of the second, thereby allowing
the existing asset to be demolished whilst
maintaining supply.
Due to its proximity to residential properties,
and in order to deliver the scheme as efficiently
as possible, a DfMA approach was selected using
a system of modular pre-cast wall panels. DFMA
led to a significant reduction in the timescale of
the overall programme (8-10 weeks) as well as a
reduced number of people on site.
Further efficiencies were achieved through
the use of BIM and the coordination of civil,
structural and mechanical discipline models,
helping to ensure the design was right first time.
The project was completed in October 2016.
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Operational performance
In a responsible manner
Behaving responsibly is fundamental to the
manner in which we undertake our business,
and the group has for many years included
corporate responsibility factors in its strategic
decision making. Our environmental, social
and governance performance across a broad
front has received external recognition.
Earlier in the 2017/18 financial year, United
Utilities retained a World Class rating in the
Dow Jones Sustainability Index for the tenth
consecutive year, again achieving industry
leading performance status in the multi-utility/
water sector. Retaining ‘World Class’ status for
this length of time is a significant achievement,
particularly as the assessment standards
continue to increase and evolve.
Leakage – we have continued our strong
operational focus on leakage, alongside
our network resilience improvements and
a range of initiatives such as active pressure
management, satellite technology and the UK’s
first leakage sniffer dog specially trained to
pinpoint the exact location of leaks. This has
delivered good performance against our leakage
targets in 2017/18. Encouraging our customers
to save water through water efficiency
programmes not only enables them to help
preserve this precious resource but can also
save money on their water bill.
Environmental performance – this is a high
priority for United Utilities and we were
delighted to have retained our Industry Leading
Company status in the Environment Agency’s
latest performance metrics, as described
in the KPIs section below. This is a result of
our approach to managing our assets in an
integrated way and has resulted in reduced
environmental incidents. We still don’t
always get it right and this year we delivered
the obligations under our first enforcement
undertakings, investing in catchment schemes
rather than accepting formal prosecutions.
Carbon footprint – by 2020, we aim to reduce
our carbon footprint by 50 per cent compared
with a 2005/06 baseline and we are on track
to do so. This year our carbon footprint has
reduced to 391,640 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent, a reduction of one-third since
2005/06, helped by a 4 per cent reduction
in electricity use. In addition, we generated
more renewable energy than ever before,
at 167 gigawatt hours, up 12 per cent on the
previous year. This illustrates good progress in
the company’s energy strategy to use less and
generate more renewable energy.
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Employees – we continue to work hard
to engage all of our employees in the
transformation of the group’s performance.
Employee engagement was at 79 per cent this
year, higher than the UK norm. We remain
focused on maintaining high levels of employee
engagement.
We have been successful in attracting and
retaining people and have continued to expand
our apprentice and graduate programmes for
2017/18. We now have a total of 55 graduates
and 118 apprentices across the business.
Our investment in recruiting graduates and
apprentices is already benefiting the company
with 153 employees securing permanent roles
across our business, having previously been on
either the graduate or apprentice scheme.
Over the last year, we have continued our
sustained focus on health, safety and wellbeing.
In this period we retained our Gold award
status with the Royal Society for the Prevention
of Accidents and our status under the UK
workplace wellbeing charter. Our employee
accident frequency rate for 2017/18 reduced to
0.101 accidents per 100,000 hours, compared
with a rate of 0.196 in 2016/17. For the same
period, our contractor accident frequency rate
increased slightly to 0.092 per 100,000 hours,
compared with a rate of 0.087 in 2016/17. We
recognise that there is always more to do, and
health, safety and wellbeing will continue to
be a significant area of focus as we strive for
continuous improvement.
Communities – we continue to support
partnerships, both financially and in terms of
employee time through volunteering, with
other organisations across the North West.
Our approach to integrated catchments helps
to tackle water quality issues in lakes, rivers
and coastal waters across the North West,
and our LoveMyBeach contribution includes
employees volunteering to help to keep our
region’s beaches tidy. We continue to support
local communities through contributions
and schemes such as providing debt advisory
services and, our work with Youth Focus North
West engages the region’s young people,
and our future customers, with our business
planning process.

Key performance indicators:
Leakage – Although leakage is included within
our outcome delivery incentives, we intend
to continue publishing our leakage position
separately, with it being an important measure
from a corporate responsibility perspective.
In 2017/18 we have again met our regulatory
leakage target of 463 megalitres per day.
Environmental performance – On the
Environment Agency’s latest annual assessment,
published in July 2017, we were awarded
Industry Leading Company status across the
range of operational metrics for the second year
running and were one of only two companies to
achieve this status. This aligns with our mediumterm goal of being a first quartile company on a
consistent basis.
Corporate responsibility – United Utilities has
a strong focus on operating in a responsible
manner and is the only UK water company to
have a World Class rating as measured by the
Dow Jones Sustainability Index. In 2017/18,
United Utilities retained its World Class rating
for the tenth consecutive year.
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Sustainable drainage solutions
Reducing flooding and improving resilience
Urban creep – the conversion of existing
permeable areas – has increased significantly
over the last ten years. According to the Royal
Horticultural Society (RHS), the proportion of
front gardens that are completely paved over in
the North West increased from four per cent in
2005 to 21 per cent in 2015. Back gardens have
also been built on, with new extensions and
conservatories that may then be connected into
surface water drains.
Surface water run-off from new developments
and urban creep leads to higher peak flows in
the sewer system. This leads to a higher risk
of sewer flooding, and increasing frequency
and duration of intermittent overflows to
watercourses.
In order to protect customers and the
environment, there is a need to reduce flooding
and spills, and improve the resilience of the
sewer network to cope with peak storm events.
We need to do this in a more sustainable way
than traditional interventions, such as storage
tanks and upsized sewers, which is why we
are taking a positive approach to sustainable
drainage solutions (SuDS) for surface water
management.

Slow the flow garden

Informing our customers

We are working with partners (City of Trees,
RHS) to transform hard grey areas into living,
planted places. So far we have initiated several
key SuDS projects, including our show garden at
RHS Tatton in 2017, which demonstrated how
a front garden could be designed to contain
sustainable drainage solutions instead of
traditional hardstanding areas.

There are, on average, 75,000 visitors to Tatton
flower show every year, with 63 per cent being
from the North West (more than any other RHS
show). The show receives television and radio
coverage and is also widely promoted using
social media.

Our ‘Slow the Flow’ garden, designed by John
Everiss Design Ltd and Francesca Murrell,
received excellent feedback and won Best
Show Garden at Tatton 2017. It has since been
relocated to Moss Bank Park in Bolton, which
is open to the general public, to help increase
the numbers of customers that can be informed
about sustainable surface water management.

This project therefore contributed significantly
to educating and influencing customers on
surface water management at a household level,
particularly relevant for new developments
and surface water run-off, and provides us
with information on the cost and feasibility
of this type of solution. It helped highlight to
household customers the impact of urban creep
on downstream flooding, and educate them on
how they can play their part in reducing peak
flow to combined sewer systems.
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Financial performance
Highlights
Year ended
31 March 2018
31 March 2017
£1,735.8m
£1,704.0m
£645.1m
£622.9m
£636.4m
£605.5m
39.73p
38.87p
61%
61%

Continuing operations
Revenue
Underlying operating profit(1)
Operating profit
Total dividend per ordinary share (pence)
RCV gearing(2)
(1)
(2)

Underlying profit measures have been provided to give a more representative view of business performance and are defined in the underlying profit measure tables
on pages 52 to 53.
Regulatory capital value (RCV) gearing calculated as group net debt/United Utilities Water Limited’s shadow RCV (outturn prices).

United Utilities delivered a strong set of financial
results for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Revenue
Revenue was up £32 million, at £1,736 million,
reflecting our allowed regulatory revenue
changes, partly offset by the impact of our
Water Plus JV, which completed on 1 June 2016
and the below regulatory adjustments.
With regard to Ofwat’s revenue correction
mechanism relating to the 2014/15 financial
year, we have around £9 million to return to
customers. As we have previously indicated,
we have begun to return this to customers
with a revenue reduction of around £3 million
in 2017/18, with further revenue reductions
proposed of around £3 million in both of
2018/19 and 2019/20. This approach has been
adopted to help aid a smoother bill profile.
Separately, consistent with Ofwat’s annual
wholesale revenue forecasting incentive
mechanism (WRFIM), revenue has also been
reduced in 2017/18 by £10 million as actual
volumes in 2015/16 were higher than our
original assumptions. We will further be
reducing revenues in 2018/19 by £4 million as
actual volumes in 2016/17 were also higher than
our original assumptions.

Operating profit
Reported operating profit increased by
£31 million, to £636 million, reflecting the
increase in underlying operating profit, along
with a reduction in adjusted items. Adjusted
items for 2017/18 amounted to £9 million, £6
million of which related to restructuring costs.
Adjusted items in the prior year amounted to
£17 million, £10 million of which related to
restructuring costs.
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Underlying operating profit at £645 million was
£22 million higher than last year. This reflects
our allowed regulatory revenue changes, partly
offset by an expected increase in depreciation
and the accounting impact of our Water Plus
JV. The JV completed on 1 June 2016 and, from
that date, its contribution is no longer included
within operating profit and is, instead, included
within the share of profits of joint ventures line
in the income statement.

Investment income and
finance expense
Reported net finance expense of £207 million
was higher than the £189 million expense in
2016/17. This £18 million increase principally
reflects the increased indexation charge in the
year of £57 million which has been partly offset
by an increase in the fair value gains on debt and
derivative instruments, from a £24 million gain
in 2016/17 to a £47 million gain in 2017/18.
The underlying net finance expense of £277
million was £40 million higher than last year,
mainly due to the impact of higher RPI inflation
on the group’s index-linked debt, particularly on
the portion of index-linked debt with a threemonth lag. Interest on non index-linked debt of
£92 million was £17 million lower than last year,
due to the lower rates locked in on our interest
rate swaps and the re-couponing of a portion of
our regulatory swap portfolio. The indexation of
the principal on our index-linked debt amounted
to a net charge in the income statement of £138
million, compared with a net charge of £81
million last year. As at 31 March 2018, the group
had approximately £3.7 billion of index-linked
debt at an average real rate of 1.3 per cent.
The higher RPI inflation charge compared with
last year contributed to the group’s average
underlying interest rate of 4.2 per cent being
higher than the rate of 3.8 per cent for the year
ended 31 March 2017. The average underlying
interest rate represents the underlying net
finance expense divided by average debt.
The group has fixed the substantial majority
of its non index-linked debt for the 2015–20
regulatory period.

Profit before tax
Reported profit before tax was £432 million, £10
million lower than last year due to the increase
in operating profit being more than offset by fair
value movements, as outlined in the underlying
profit measures tables on pages 52 and 53 and
the £22 million profit in 2016/17 on disposal of
the non-household business.
Underlying profit before tax was £370 million,
£19 million lower than last year, primarily
reflecting the £22 million increase in underlying
operating profit more than offset by the £40
million increase in underlying net finance
expense. This underlying measure reflects the
adjusting items, as outlined in the operating
profit section above, and other items such
as fair value movements in respect of debt
and derivative instruments, as outlined in the
underlying profit measures table on page 53.

Tax
In addition to corporation tax, the group pays
significant other contributions to the public
finances on its own behalf as well as collecting
and paying over further amounts for its
5,000 strong workforce. The total payments
for 2017/18 were around £242 million and
included business rates, employment taxes,
environmental taxes and other regulatory
service fees such as water abstraction charges
as well as corporation tax.
In 2017/18, we paid corporation tax of £36
million, which represents an effective cash
tax rate on underlying profits of 10 per cent,
which is 9 per cent lower than the headline rate
of corporation tax of 19 per cent. Consistent
with prior years, the key reconciling item to
the headline rate was allowable tax deductions
on capital investment. We have expressed the
effective cash tax rate in terms of underlying
profits as this measure excludes fair value
movements on debt and derivative instruments
and thereby enables a medium-term cash tax
rate forecast. We would expect the average cash
tax rate on underlying profits through to the
end of the current regulatory period in March
2020 to be around 12 per cent. The key risk to
sustaining this rate is any unexpected changes
in tax legislation or practice and, as necessary,
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we would actively engage with the relevant
authorities in order to manage this risk.
The current tax charge was £25 million in
2017/18, compared with £54 million in the
previous year; the main differences being
timing in nature with a corresponding equal
and opposite adjustment to deferred tax. There
were current tax credits of £7 million in 2017/18
and £23 million in 2016/17, following agreement
of prior years’ tax matters; in addition to UK tax,
the prior year figure also included the release
of a provision in relation to agreed historic
overseas tax matters.
For 2017/18, the group recognised a deferred
tax charge of £52 million, compared with a
charge of £28 million for 2016/17. In addition,
the group recognised a deferred tax charge of
£7 million in both 2016/17 and 2017/18 relating
to prior years’ tax matters. In 2016/17, the group
also recognised a deferred tax credit of £58
million relating to the enacted reduction in the
headline rate of corporation tax from 18 per
cent to 17 per cent from 1 April 2020.
The total tax charge for 2017/18 was £78 million
as compared to a total tax charge of £9 million
for 2016/17, the main differences being the £58
million deferred tax credit relating to changes
in tax rates in 2016/17 together with the higher
current tax credit in 2016/17 in respect of prior
years. For both periods, the total underlying
tax effective rate was in line with the headline
rate (currently at 19 per cent) and subject to any
legislative or tax practice changes, we would
expect this to continue for the medium term.

Profit after tax
Reported profit after tax was £355 million,
compared with £434 million in the previous year,
due to the £10 million reduction in reported
profit before tax and the £69 million higher
tax charge as 2016/17 included a deferred tax
credit of £58 million relating to changes in the
Government’s future planned tax rate and a
further tax credit of £16 million relating to prior
years’ tax matters.

Dividends

Interest and
taxa on

Net
capex

Loans to joint
ventures

Underlying profit after tax of £305 million was £8
million lower than last year, principally reflecting
the £19 million decrease in underlying profit
before tax partly offset by lower underlying tax
on lower profits and the reduction in the headline
rate of corporation tax.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share decreased from 63.6
pence to 52.0 pence, for the same reasons that
decreased profit after tax.
Underlying earnings per share decreased from
46.0 pence to 44.7 pence. This underlying
measure is derived from underlying profit after
tax which decreased by £8 million.

Dividend per share
The board has proposed a final dividend of
26.49 pence per ordinary share in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2018. Taken together
with the interim dividend of 13.24 pence per
ordinary share, paid in February, this produces
a total dividend per ordinary share for 2017/18
of 39.73 pence. This is an increase of 2.2 per
cent, compared with the dividend relating to last
year, in line with the group’s dividend policy of
targeting a growth rate of at least RPI inflation
each year through to 2020. The inflationary
increase of 2.2 per cent is based on the RPI
element included within the allowed regulated
revenue increase for the 2017/18 financial year
(i.e. the movement in RPI between November
2015 and November 2016).
The final dividend is expected to be paid on
3 August 2018 to shareholders on the register
at the close of business on 22 June 2018. The
ex-dividend date is 21 June 2018.
Our dividend policy targets a growth rate of at
least RPI inflation each year through to 2020,
with further details set out below.
Policy period – the dividend policy aligns with
the five-year regulatory period which runs from
1 April 2015 to 31 March 2020.

Inﬂa on
upli on
index-linked
debt

Other

Net debt
at 31.03.18

Policy approval process – the dividend policy
was considered and approved by the United
Utilities Group Board in January 2015, as part
of a comprehensive review of the 2015–20
regulatory final determination in the context of
a detailed business planning process, with due
regard for the group’s financial metrics, credit
ratings and long-term financial stability, and is
reviewed at least annually.
Distributable reserves – as at 31 March 2018,
the company had distributable reserves of
£3,163 million. The total external dividends
relating to the 2017/18 financial year amounted
to £271 million. The company distributable
reserves support over 11 times this annual
dividend.
Financing headroom – supporting the group’s
cash flow, United Utilities adopts a funding/
liquidity headroom policy of having available
resources to cover the next 15–24 months of
projected cash outflows on a rolling basis.
Cash flows from subsidiaries – the directors
consider that the group’s principal operating
subsidiary, United Utilities Water Limited, has
sufficient resources to pay dividends to United
Utilities Group PLC for the duration of the
current dividend policy period to support the
external payment of dividends to shareholders.
Financial stability – the water industry has
invested significant capital since privatisation
in 1989 to improve services for customers and
provide environmental benefits, a large part of
which is driven by legislation. Water companies
have typically raised borrowings to help fund
the capital investment programme. Part of total
expenditure is additive to the regulatory capital
value, or RCV, on which water companies earn
a return allowed by the economic regulator,
Ofwat. RCV gearing is useful in assessing a
company’s financial stability in the UK water
industry and is one of the key credit metrics
that the credit rating agencies focus on.
United Utilities has had a relatively stable RCV
gearing level over the last seven years, always
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Our performance in 2017/18 continued
Financial performance
comfortably within its target range of 55 per
cent to 65 per cent, supporting a solid A3 credit
rating for UUW with Moody’s. RCV gearing at
31 March 2018 was 61 per cent and the
movement in net debt is outlined in the cash
flow section below.
Dividend sustainability – in approving the
policy, the board is satisfied that across the
current regulatory period, the projected
dividend is adequately covered by underlying
profit after tax. Separately, the executive
directors’ long-term remuneration plan is
directly linked to a measure of sustainable
dividends. Whilst specific targets are not
disclosed in advance, for commercial sensitivity
reasons, there is a major focus on the creation
of strong earnings that ensure the sustainability
of dividends.
Viability statement – the dividend policy is
underpinned by the group’s long-term viability
statement (which is on page 81). Assurance
supporting this statement is provided by the
review of: the group’s key financial measures;
the key credit financial metrics; the group’s
liquidity position; the contingent liabilities of the
group; and the key risks of the group together
with the associated mitigating actions.
Annual dividend approval process – the group
places significant emphasis on strong corporate
governance, and before declaring interim and
proposing final dividends, the United Utilities
Group board undertakes a comprehensive
assessment of the group’s key financial metrics.

Policy sustainability
2015–20

flow capex differs from regulatory capex, since
regulatory capex includes infrastructure renewals
expenditure and is based on capital work done in
the period, rather than actual cash spent.
Net debt including derivatives at 31 March
2018 was £6,868 million, compared with £6,579
million at 31 March 2017. This increase reflects
regulatory capital expenditure, payments of
dividends, interest and tax, the inflationary
uplift on index-linked debt and loans to joint
ventures, partly offset by operating cash flows.

Fair value of debt
The group’s gross borrowings at 31 March
2018 had a carrying value of £7,912 million.
The fair value of these borrowings was £9,052
million. This £1,140 million difference principally
reflects the significant fall in real interest rates,
compared with the rates at the time we raised
a portion of the group’s index-linked debt. This
difference has decreased from £1,218 million at
31 March 2017 due primarily to an increase in
credit spreads.

Debt financing and interest
rate management
Gearing, measured as group net debt divided
by UUW’s shadow (adjusted for actual spend)
regulatory capital value, was 61 per cent at
31 March 2018. This is the same gearing as at
31 March 2017 and remains comfortably within
our target range of 55 per cent to 65 per cent.

Gross debt –
total carrying value £7,384.5m

› The policy is considered by the board to be
robust to reasonable changes in assumptions,
such as inflation, opex, capex and interest
rates; and
› Extreme economic, regulatory, political
or operational events, which could lead to
a significant deterioration in the group’s
financial metrics during the policy period, may
present risks to policy sustainability.

2020–25

› A dividend policy for the 2020–25
regulatory period will be formulated after
Ofwat announces the outcome of the
regulatory price review (currently expected
in December 2019).

Cash flow
Net cash generated from continuing operating
activities for the year ended 31 March 2018 was
£816 million, and therefore broadly consistent
with £821 million in the previous year. The
group’s net capital expenditure was £710 million,
principally in the regulated water and wastewater
investment programmes. This excludes
infrastructure renewals expenditure which is
treated as an operating cost under IFRS. Cash
50

Yankee bonds (USD)

780.1

Euro bonds (EUR)

636.1

GBP bonds

1,544.2

GBP RPI-linked bonds

1,990.6

GBP CPI-linked bonds
EIB and other RPI-linked bonds

168.0
1,571.2

Other EIB loans

637.5

Other borrowings

584.6

UUW has long-term credit ratings of A3/A- and
United Utilities PLC (UU PLC) has long-term
credit ratings of Baa1/BBB from Moody’s
Investors Service (Moody’s) and Standard &
Poor’s (S&P) Ratings Services respectively.
The split rating for UU PLC reflects differing
methodologies used by the credit rating
agencies. Both Moody’s and S&P have the
group’s ratings on a stable outlook.
The group has access to the international debt
capital markets through its €7 billion euro
medium-term note (EMTN) programme. The
EMTN programme does not represent a funding
commitment, with funding dependent on the
successful issue of the notes.
Cash and short-term deposits at 31 March 2018
amounted to £510 million. Over 2015–20 we
have financing requirements totalling around
£2.5 billion to cover refinancing and incremental
debt, supporting our five-year investment
programme, and we have now raised over
£2.2 billion of this requirement.
In April 2016, UUW signed a £250 million indexlinked term loan facility with the European
Investment Bank (EIB) to support the delivery of
UUW’s AMP6 investment programme. In October
2017 the final £75 million was drawn down such
that as at 31 March 2018, the full £250 million had
been drawn down. This is an amortising facility
with an average loan life of 10 years and a final
maturity of 18 years from draw down.
In December 2017, UUW’s financing subsidiary,
United Utilities Water Finance PLC (UUWF),
raised around £23 million of term funding,
via the issue of €26 million private placement
notes, with a 15-year maturity, off our EMTN
programme. In January 2018, UUWF raised
around £27 million of term funding, via the issue
of €30 million private placement notes, with a
15-year maturity, off our EMTN programme.
In February 2018, UUWF raised around £68
million of term funding, via the issue of HKD739
million private placement notes, with an 8-year
maturity, off our EMTN programme. Also in
February 2018, UUWF issued £300 million
fixed rate notes in the public bond market,
with a 7-year maturity. This was the group’s
first public bond issue since 2009 and was well
received by the market with good investor
participation generating an order book in excess
of £600 million. Notwithstanding a degree
of market volatility at the time of issuance,
we were pleased to price the bond at a very
satisfactory level.
We remain the sector leader in CPI based
financing having previously raised £165 million,
in response to Ofwat’s decision to transition
away from RPI inflation linkage.
In addition, since September 2017, the group
has renewed £100 million of committed bank
facilities.
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*Future repayments of index-linked debt include inflation based on an average annual RPI rate of 3% and an average annual CPI rate of 2%.

Long-term borrowings are structured or hedged
to match assets and earnings, which are largely
in sterling, indexed to UK retail price inflation
and subject to regulatory price reviews every
five years.
Long-term sterling inflation index-linked debt
provides a natural hedge to assets and earnings.
At 31 March 2018, approximately 54 per cent of
the group’s net debt was in index-linked form,
representing around 33 per cent of UUW’s
regulatory capital value, with an average real
interest rate of 1.3 per cent. The long-term
nature of this funding also provides a good
match to the company’s long-life infrastructure
assets and is a key contributor to the group’s
average term debt maturity profile, which is just
under 20 years.
Recognising Ofwat’s intention to transition to
the use of CPIH as part of its PR19 methodology,
the group has undertaken a review of its inflation
hedging policy. This review involved a balanced
assessment across a range of factors including
maintaining an appropriate economic hedge of
the RCV and associated cash flows, the availability
and costs of hedging instruments, the impact
of different hedging strategies on key financial
indicators including income statement metrics,
along with a consideration of broader sector
positioning. Taking account of these factors, along
with the intention of the group’s defined benefits
pension schemes to implement further de-risking
by increasing their hedges of RPI inflation with a
corresponding reduction/removal of the pension
Inflation Funding Mechanism, has resulted in
a revised inflation hedging policy whereby the
group intends to maintain around half of net debt
in index-linked form.
Where nominal debt is raised in a currency
other than sterling and/or with a fixed interest
rate, the debt is generally swapped to create
a floating rate sterling liability for the term of
the debt. To manage exposure to mediumterm interest rates, the group fixes underlying
interest costs on nominal debt out to ten years
on a reducing balance basis. Historically, this
has been supplemented by fixing substantially

all remaining floating rate exposure across
the forthcoming regulatory period around the
time of the price control determination. In line
with this, the group has fixed interest costs for
substantially all of its floating rate exposure over
the 2015–20 regulatory period, locking in an
average annual interest rate of around 3.2 per
cent nominal (inclusive of credit spreads).
Recognising Ofwat’s intention to apply debt
indexation for new debt raised during the
2020–25 regulatory period, we will retain the
hedge to fix underlying interest costs on nominal
debt out to ten years on a reducing balance
basis, but we will no longer supplement this with
the additional ‘top up’ hedge at the start of each
new regulatory period.

Liquidity
Short-term liquidity requirements are met from
the group’s normal operating cash flow and its
short-term bank deposits and supported by
committed but undrawn credit facilities. The
group’s €7 billion EMTN programme provides
further support.
Available headroom at 31 March 2018 was £435
million based on cash, short-term deposits and
committed bank facilities, net of short-term
debt as well as committed facilities and term
debt falling due within 12 months.
United Utilities believes that it operates a
prudent approach to managing banking
counterparty risk. Counterparty risk, in relation
to both cash deposits and derivatives, is
controlled through the use of counterparty
credit limits. United Utilities’ cash is held in the
form of short-term money market deposits with
prime commercial banks.
United Utilities operates a bilateral, rather
than a syndicated, approach to its core
relationship banking facilities. This approach
spreads maturities more evenly over a longer
time period, thereby reducing refinancing risk
and providing the benefit of several renewal
points rather than a large single refinancing
requirement.

Pensions
As at 31 March 2018, the group had an IAS 19
net pension surplus of £344 million, compared
with a net pension surplus of £248 million at
31 March 2017. This £97 million increase mainly
reflects the impact of a decrease in credit
spreads and the favourable impact of updating
mortality assumptions. The scheme specific
funding basis does not suffer from volatility due
to inflation and credit spread movements as
it uses a fixed inflation assumption via a blend
of the inflation market hedge and the Inflation
Funding Mechanism and a prudent, fixed credit
spread assumption. Therefore, any inflation
and credit spread movements have not had a
material impact on the deficit calculated on a
scheme specific funding basis or the level of
deficit repair contributions.
Further detail on pensions is provided in note
17 (‘Retirement benefit surplus’) on pages 153
and 154.

Underlying profit
The underlying profit measures in the following
table represent alternative performance
measures (APMs) as defined by the European
Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA). These
measures are linked to the group’s financial
performance as reported under International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union in the group’s
consolidated income statement, which can be
found on page 134. As such, they represent nonGAAP measures.
These APMs have been presented in order to
provide a more representative view of business
performance. The group determines adjusted
items in the calculation of its underlying measures
against a framework which considers significance
by reference to profit before tax, in addition
to other qualitative factors such as whether
the item is deemed to be within the normal
course of business, its assessed frequency of
reoccurrence and its volatility which is either
outside the control of management and/or not
representative of current year performance.
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Our performance in 2017/18 continued
Financial performance

Guide to Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)
The underlying profit measures in the table opposite represent the group’s alternative performance measures (APMs) under the definition given by the
European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA). These measures are linked to the group’s financial performance as reported under International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union in the group’s consolidated income statement, which can be found on page 134.
As such, they represent non-GAAP measures.
These APMs are reviewed internally by management and reported to the board, and have been presented in order to provide a more representative
view of business performance. The group determines adjusted items in the calculation of its underlying measures against a framework which considers
significance by reference to profit before tax, in addition to other qualitative factors such as whether the item is deemed to be within the normal course
of business, its assessed frequency of reoccurrence and its volatility which is either outside the control of management and/or not representative of
current year performance.
Adjustments in arriving at underlying profit measures
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Flooding incidents

Two significant flooding incidents in the year ended 31 March 2016 caused extensive damage to localised parts
of our infrastructure, resulting in significant levels of remedial operating expenditure and a large claim under the
group’s insurance cover. Management’s view is that these were significant and infrequent events and as such,
were not part of the normal course of business.

Non-household retail
market reform

The group has incurred significant costs since the year ended 31 March 2015 relating to the non-household retail
market opening to competition in April 2017. This represents a one-off event and as such, is not considered part
of the normal course of business.

Restructuring costs

The group has incurred restructuring costs in the past in relation to a number of discrete underlying events
which can cause volatility in the reported results. Management adjusts internally for these costs to provide an
underlying view of performance which it views as being more representative of the normal course of business
and more comparable period to period.

Net fair value (gains)/
losses on debt and
derivative instruments

Fair value movements on debt and derivatives can be both very significant and volatile from one period
to the next. These movements are determined by macro economic factors which are outside the control
of management and these instruments are purely held for funding and hedging purposes (not for trading
purposes). Taking these factors into account, management believes it is useful to adjust for this to provide a
more representative view of performance.

Interest on swaps and
debt under fair value
option

Net fair value losses on debt and derivative instruments includes interest on swaps and debt under fair value
option. In adjusting for the former, it is appropriate to add back interest on swaps and debt under fair value
option to provide a view of the group’s cost of debt which is better aligned to the return on capital it earns
through revenue.

Net pension interest
(income)/expense

This item can be very volatile from one period to the next and it is a direct function of the extent to which the
pension scheme is in an accounting deficit or surplus position. Management believes it is useful to adjust for this
to provide a more representative view of performance which is better aligned to the return on capital it earns
through revenue.

Capitalised borrowing
costs

Accounting standards allow for the capitalisation of borrowing costs in the cost of qualifying assets.
Management believes it is appropriate to adjust for these significant costs to provide a representative cost
of borrowings and current year performance which is better aligned to the return on capital it earns through
revenue.

Profit on disposal of
business

This relates to the disposal of the group’s non-household retail business during the year ended 31 March 2017
which represents a significant one-off event and as such is not considered part of the normal course of business.

Deferred tax
credit-change in tax rate

The deferred tax impacts from changes to the corporation tax rate announced by the UK Government represent
both significant and volatile impacts which are outside the control of management. Management adjusts for this
to provide a more representative view of current year performance.

Agreement of prior
years’ tax matters

The agreement of prior years’ tax matters can be significant, volatile and often related to the final settlement
of numerous prior year periods. Management adjusts for this to provide a more representative view of current
year performance.

Tax in respect of
adjustments to
underlying profit
before tax

Management adjusts for the tax impacts of the above adjusted items to provide a more representative view
of current year performance.

Stock Code: UU.
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Operating profit
Operating profit per published results
Flooding incidents (net of insurance proceeds)
Non-household retail market reform
Restructuring costs
Underlying operating profit

Year ended
31 March
2018
£m
636.4
1.7
1.0
6.0
645.1

Year ended
31 March
2017
£m
605.5
1.5
5.8
10.1
622.9

Net finance expense
Finance expense
Investment income
Net finance expense per published results
Adjustments:
Net fair value gains on debt and derivative instruments
Interest on swaps and debt under fair value option
Net pension interest income
Adjustment for capitalised borrowing costs
Underlying net finance expense

£m
(218.6)
12.0
(206.6)

£m
(202.7)
13.7
(189.0)

(47.3)
23.5
(7.1)
(39.7)
(277.2)

(24.3)
15.4
(10.2)
(29.2)
(237.3)

Profit before tax
Share of profits of joint ventures
Profit before tax per published results
Adjustments:
Flooding incidents
Non-household retail market reform
Restructuring costs
Net fair value gains on debt and derivative instruments
Interest on swaps and debt under fair value option
Net pension interest income
Capitalised borrowing costs
Profit on disposal of business
Underlying profit before tax

£m
2.3
432.1

£m
3.8
442.4

1.7
1.0
6.0
(47.3)
23.5
(7.1)
(39.7)
–
370.2

1.5
5.8
10.1
(24.3)
15.4
(10.2)
(29.2)
(22.1)
389.4

Profit after tax
Underlying profit before tax
Reported tax charge
Deferred tax credit – change in tax rate
Agreement of prior years’ tax matters
Tax in respect of adjustments to underlying profit before tax
Underlying profit after tax

£m
370.2
(77.5)
–
0.4
11.8
304.9

£m
389.4
(8.5)
(58.2)
(15.5)
6.2
313.4

Earnings per share
Profit after tax per published results (a)
Underlying profit after tax (b)
Weighted average number of shares in issue, in millions (c)
Earnings per share per published results, in pence (a/c)
Underlying earnings per share, in pence (b/c)

£m
354.6
304.9
681.9m
52.0p
44.7p

£m
433.9
313.4
681.9m
63.6p
46.0p

Dividend per share

39.73p

38.87p

Strategic report

Underlying profit
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How we manage risks

Principal risks and uncertainties
Our risk management
framework supports our strategy
and long-term resilience for
the benefit of our customers,
shareholders and other
stakeholders.
We continue to focus on creating sustainable value by
delivering a high-quality customer service, at the lowest
sustainable cost, while acting in a responsible manner at every
level within our organisation. In our day-to-day operations
we encounter a wide variety of risks which can challenge the
quality, cost-effectiveness and timescales for the delivery of
our aims and ambitions. We identify and plan for mitigation of
these risks under our established risk management framework
which includes:
› An enterprise-wide approach to risk management;

Figure 1: Governance and reporting process
Group board
Reviews the nature and
extent of risk, confirms the
company’s viability and
reports on effectiveness of
risk management and
internal control

Wholesale risk &
resilience board

Group audit &
risk board

Monitors status of risk,
control and actions
associated with wholesale
risk

Reviews governance, risk
and compliancerelated
matters

Wholesale core
risk team

Corporate
risk team
Second line framework
development, advisory,
assurance and reporting

Monitors risk management
activity, roles and
responsibilities and status
of wholesale operational
risk

› Oversight and control of risk through a well-established
governance and reporting process;

Our individual business areas and functions take responsibility
for identifying, quantifying, communicating and controlling
the risks relevant to their own business activities. We also use
a forward-looking approach to take into account new and
emerging areas of concern and the long-term impact of risk.
The identified risks cover a very wide range of potential events
including regulatory, legal, core operations, service and hazard
risks. They are reviewed and scored for likelihood as well as
for financial and reputational impact should the identified
event occur. Initially we use the gross position when assessing
risk, i.e. we assume that any controls over the risk are absent
or have failed. We then assess the current position of the risk
including considering existing controls and their effectiveness.
This is then followed by a targeted risk position which
introduces further mitigating controls where the current state
does not fully align with objectives and/or obligations.
Our governance and reporting process includes twice-yearly
reports to our group board on the character of the group’s
risk profile, informed by the above risk identification and
assessment approach. Individual event-based risks are
identified and then categorised within ten inherent risk areas
known as principal risks (see below). We also build on this
overview in the board report, highlighting two key categories
of risk: i) the most significant group-wide business risks; and
ii) wholesale operational risks. These are represented by
the 10 highest ranked risks (based on the scores awarded
for likelihood x ‘full life’ financial impact) for each of the
two categories plus a further five risks with potentially very
high impact severity in their current state (net of control
effectiveness). In addition, the report also identifies risks that
could create potentially significant reputational impacts or are
associated with potentially significant emerging topics but have
not already been covered by the other reported categories.

Reviews the effectiveness
of risk management and
internal control systems

Corporate
audit team
Third line review and
assurance of risk
management and internal
controls

Business areas
and projects

› A risk assessment and management process which aligns to
ISO 31000:2018; and
› Training materials, accessible policies and guidance to
help our people to identify and manage risk in a consistent
manner.

Audit committee

First line identification,
analysis, evaluation and
management of risk

Board/Board Commi ee
Management Commi ee/Ac vity

Figure 2: Risk map
High

1. Political and regulatory
2. Compliance

1

3. Water service
4. Wastewater service

10

5. Retail and commercial

3

6. Financial

Impact
6

2

8

7. Supply chain and programme
delivery

4

9

8. Resources
9. Security

5

10. Health, safety and environment

7

Low
Low
Risk increased
Risk stable
Risk decreased

Likelihood

High

The risk map provides an indicative only view of the current
exposure of each of the principal risks relative to each other:
illustrating the likelihood of occurrence relative to the
associated internal or external drivers; whether the risk is
believed to have increased, decreased or remained stable
over the last 12 months; and the most likely (not worst case)
impact should an event occur.

Our approach aligns with the UK Corporate Governance Code and includes
reports to the group board for every full and half year statutory accounting
period so that the board is in a position to:
› Determine the nature and extent of the principal risks it is willing to take in
achieving its strategic objectives;
› Oversee the management of those risks and provide challenge to executive
management where appropriate;
› Express an informed opinion on the long-term viability of the company; and
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› Monitor risk management and internal control systems and review their
effectiveness.
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Figure 3: Assessment and management
process adapted from ISO 31000:2018

Identify &
assess

Monitor &
review

Consult &
communicate

Control &
mitigate

Record &
update

Key developments
Key developments include a maturing of and
increased formalisation of our risk appetite
framework. Our framework supports our
assessment of the extent of risk we are willing
to take based on obligations, stakeholders’
requirements and the company’s capacity and
capability to manage risk. By doing this we aim
to influence the target position for individual
risks underpinning the principal risks through
improved consistency. This approach also
enables better benchmarking of individual risks
against the appetite limits and boundaries.
We have also sought to make an incremental
governance improvement in our sign-off
processes for all risks and also in relation to the
wholesale risk and resilience board (see Figure
1) and the core risk team meetings which focus
on long-term resilience. Associated with this is
a focus on asset health and operational hazard
risk assessment in advance of and beyond PR19.
This supports our understanding of the long
term risk profile of our asset base and improves
our capability to deliver the most cost-effective
and proportionate risk management response
as a result.

Profile features
Our risk profile currently consists of around 200
event-based risks. By their nature, these will
include all combinations of high to low likelihood
and high to low impact. Heat maps are typically
used in various managerial and group reports
either as a method to evaluate the extent of
multiple risks within a certain profile or to
evaluate the effectiveness of mitigation for a
single risk relative to the initial gross position.
Political and regulatory risk and uncertainty
feature prominently within the profile, notably
with the outcome of PR19 which is expected to
be even tougher than previous price reviews.
The possibility of ‘Renationalisation’ is a key
area of uncertainty as is the opening up to
competition of wholesale operations (including

the current focus on possible competition in
bioresources and water abstraction) and the
potential for competition covering domestic
retail activities.
Our operations continue to be substantially
UK-based, but the potential impacts of ‘Brexit’
remain under review and have been reported
to the group board. In common with other UK
companies, a significant issue is the uncertainty
surrounding the effects of the Brexit deal
that the UK Government ultimately delivers.
Our review has considered the availability
of European funding, the price of goods and
services, exchange rate impacts, possible
impacts on our ability to collect cash were there
to be an economic downturn and the effect of
any potential inflationary shift outside current
predicted parameters. We continue to keep this
area under review.
Following the launch of non-household
retail competition in April 2017, we have
continued to monitor our operations within
the market to review compliance risks and
ensure that we continue to operate in a manner
that complements and promotes the ‘level
playing field’.
From an operational risk perspective, the
dominance of the penalty element of Ofwat’s
outcome delivery incentive mechanism and the
effect following changes to the Environmental
Sentencing Guidelines are key features of
evolving exposure. Reputationally, our core
operations/service provision (notably water
service) and health, safety and environmental
risks have the highest focus for monitoring and
reviewing control effectiveness based on the
potential impact should the risk event occur.
We continue to adapt to and plan for climate
change and its significant and permanent
impacts on the water cycle, our operations
and the broader operating environment.
This includes consideration of the long-term
viability of water and wastewater services
such as water abstraction, drinking water
supply and treatment capability, drainage and
sewer capacity, wastewater treatment and its
discharge efficiency and effectiveness. The
recommendations of the Task Force on Climaterelated Financial Disclosures (TCFD) support
and reinforce the need to consider climaterelated risks and uncertainties. These continue
to be factored into risk management and the
likely effects of future changes are a critical
consideration in our long and medium-term
risk, operational and financial planning (see
also Key Resources on page 23 and the Business
Insight on page 37). Our water service and
wastewater service risks (summarised in the
table on pages 56 and 57) also reflect current
key risks including the potential for extreme
weather and climate change.

Material litigation
The group robustly defends litigation where
appropriate and seeks to minimise its exposure
by establishing provisions and seeking recovery
wherever possible. Litigation of a material
nature is regularly reported to the group board.
While our directors remain of the opinion that
the likelihood of a material adverse impact on
the group’s financial position is remote, based
on the facts currently known to us and the
provisions in our statement of financial position,
the following two cases are worthy of note:
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› In February 2009, United Utilities International
Limited (UUIL) was served with notice of a
multiparty ‘class action’ in Argentina related
to the issuance and payment default of a
US$230 million bond by Inversora Eléctrica
de Buenos Aires S.A. (IEBA), an Argentine
project company set up to purchase one of
the Argentine electricity distribution networks
which was privatised in 1997. UUIL had a 45
per cent shareholding in IEBA which it sold in
2005. The claim is for a non-quantified amount
of unspecified damages and purports to be
pursued on behalf of unidentified consumer
bondholders in IEBA. UUIL has filed a defence
to the action and will vigorously resist the
proceedings given the robust defences
that UUIL has been advised that it has on
procedural and substantive grounds. There
have been no material developments in this
matter over the last 12 months; and
› In March 2010, Manchester Ship Canal
Company (MSCC) issued proceedings seeking,
amongst other relief, damages alleging trespass
against United Utilities Water Limited (UUW)
in respect of UUW’s discharges of water and
treated effluent into the canal. While the
matter has not reached a final conclusion, the
Supreme Court has found substantively in
UUW’s favour on a significant element of the
claim and the High Court has upheld UUW’s
position on the remainder of the proceedings.
MSCC have now instigated further heads of
claim against UUW in order that they may
continue to challenge UUW’s rights to discharge
water and treated effluent into the canal.

Principal risks
The principal risks (combinations of eventbased risks), which have been set out in
the risk map opposite and summarised in
the table on pages 56 and 57 reflect the
categories of risks that define business
activity or contributing factors where
value can be lost or gained and could have
a material impact on the business model,
future performance, solvency or liquidity of
the group. In each case the nature and the
extent of exposure is highlighted together
with the extent of management/mitigation.
To ensure relevance with the current
environment, issues or areas of uncertainty
are also illustrated.
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How we manage risks continued

Principal risks and uncertainties
Principal risk description

Regulatory & legal

1

2

Core operations and service provision

3

4

5

Functional service & support

6

7

8

Hazard-based

9

56
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Political and regulatory risk
Potential change in the political and
regulatory environment and/or frameworks

Compliance risk
The failure to meet all legal and regulatory
obligations and responsibilities

Main business Principal/significant impacts
objective

The potential increase in costs of administration, reduced income,
margin and greater variability of returns
The potential loss of confidence of equity investors and challenging
debt market conditions create funding pressures given the need to raise
finance and refinance debt on an ongoing basis
The possibility on a potential Renationalisation that the business is
acquired below fair value
The potential to receive penalties of up to ten per cent of relevant
turnover and ultimately revocation of our licence or the appointment of
a special administrator

Risk exposure




Water service risk
A failure to provide a secure supply of clean,
safe drinking water and the potential for
negative impact on public confidence in water
supply
Wastewater service risk
A failure to remove and treat wastewater

The potential for public health issues associated with poor water quality
The potential for supply interruptions that could affect large populations
within the region for long durations



The potential for serious pollution (including sewer flooding) leading to
disruption to the public, businesses and the environment (wildlife, fish
and natural habitats) resulting in fines and reputational damage

Retail and commercial risk
Failing to provide good and fair service to
domestic customers and third-party retailers

The potential for significant regulatory penalties and long-term
reputational damage associated with poor customer satisfaction
The potential for a significant increase in the bad debt charge, reducing
profitability




Financial risk
Potential inability to finance the business
appropriately

The potential for worse credit ratings, associated funding costs or
reduced access to debt capital markets leading to lower liquidity and
adversely impacting the economic return on the regulatory capital value
(RCV)
The potential for a worsening of the pension scheme funding position
leading to a requirement for the group to make additional contributions



Supply chain and programme delivery
Potential ineffective delivery of capital,
operational and change programmes/
processes

The potential failure to meet our obligations and customer outcomes
resulting in an impact at future price reviews, negative reputational
impact with customers and regulators



Resources risk
Failing to provide appropriate resources
(human, technological or physical resource)
required to support business activity

The potential inability to recruit and retain knowledge/expertise
The potential inability to respond and recover due to ineffective nonresilient business activity



Security risk
Potential for malicious activity (physical
or technological) against people, assets or
operations

The potential for a loss of data/information and the consequent effect
on service provision



Health, safety and environmental risk
Potential harm to people (employees,
contractors or the public) and the
environment

The potential for serious injury or loss of life in remote, extreme
circumstances
The potential for catastrophic damage to private, public or commercial
property/infrastructure including the consequent effect on water and
wastewater service provision
The potential for serious impact to wildlife, fish or natural habitats
resulting in significant fines and reputational damage

The potential for catastrophic damage to UU property, infrastructure
and non-infrastructure and the consequent effect on service provision
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The best service to customers
At the lowest sustainable cost
In a responsible manner

Risk exposure
An indication of each category's current exposure relative to the
previous year is shown by the arrow in the risk exposure column

Management and mitigation

Increased

Mitigation is provided through core business processes, including centralised planning and control,
quality assurance procedures, risk assessments and rigorous sampling/testing regimes. Optimisation
of operational and maintenance tasks together with targeted capital interventions help to ensure
services to customers are maintained. Our 25-year Water Resources Management Plan defines our
strategy to achieve a long-term, best-value and sustainable plan for water supplies in the North West
including consideration of over 20 different climate change scenarios including a 2oC or lower global
warming scenario (assessing systems resilience). We continue to develop innovative solutions and
invest in resilience to further support the delivery of water and wastewater services in the long-term.

Stable

Decreased

Current key risks, issues and uncertainties

We engage in relevant government and regulatory consultations which may affect policy and
›
regulation in the sectors where we operate. We also consult with customers to understand their
›
requirements and proactively consider all the opportunities and threats associated with any potential
change; exploiting opportunities and mitigating risks where appropriate. We keep customers and the
public informed. We also provide information to the government, regulators, customers and the public ›
as appropriate to help them to make informed decisions.
›
Legislative and regulatory developments are continually monitored as is the governance framework
utilised by the group. Risk-based training of employees is undertaken and we participate in
consultations to influence legislative and regulatory developments. Allowance for any material
additional compliance costs in the regulated business is sought as part of the price determination
process. The group also robustly defends litigation where appropriate and seeks to minimise its
exposure by establishing provisions and seeking recovery wherever possible.

  

Potential Renationalisation of the water sector
Market reform including upstream competition and,
further ahead, the potential for the introduction of
domestic competition
Change from using the retail prices index to the
consumer prices index for regulatory indexation
Brexit

› Competition law and regulatory compliance while
preparing for and operating within a changing
competitive market
› Level playing field requirements in relation to the nonhousehold retail market
› Current material litigation
› Higher fine levels for environmental offences
› Introduction of material pieces of legislation
e.g. the General Data Protection Regulation
› Population growth
› Extreme weather and climate change
› Meeting infrastructure investment requirements
› Expected change to the abstraction licensing regime
› Catchment management
› Raw water quality
› Drinking water safety and security
› Critical asset failure
› Drought
› Socio-economic deprivation in the North West
› Welfare reform and the impact on domestic bad debt
› Competition in the water and wastewater market and
competitor positioning
› Brexit
› Non-household retail competition and the ability to
treat other participants equally

For Domestic Retail there are a wide range of initiatives and activities focused on improving customer
satisfaction, including proactive incident communication, complaints handling and use of appropriate
tariffs. Bad debt risk is managed through the adoption of best practice collection techniques,
segmentation of customers based on their credit risk profile and the use of data sharing to better
understand customers’ circumstances to determine the most appropriate collection and support
activities. Our wholesale business maintains processes, systems, data and organisational capacity and
capability to deal fairly with market participants and the central market operator in the Business Retail
market in order to generate and collect revenue.
Refinancing is long-term with staggered maturity dates to minimise the effect of short-term downturns.
›
Counterparty credit exposure and settlement limits exist to reduce any potential future impacts. These are
based on a number of factors, including the credit rating and the size of the asset base of the individual
›
counterparty. The group also employs hedging strategies to manage the impact of market fluctuations for ›
inflation, interest rates and energy prices. Sensitivity analysis is carried out as part of the business planning ›
process, influencing the various financial limits employed. Continuous monitoring of the markets takes place
including movements in credit default swap prices and movements in equity levels.
›
Supply chain management is utilised to deliver an end-to-end contract management service, including ›
contract strategy, tendering and category management, which provides a risk-based approach and
›
relationship management programmes for suppliers. We prioritise our investment programmes, projects ›
and integrated business and asset plans. We have created better alignment and integration between our ›
capital delivery partners and engineering service providers including alignment with our operating model.
Our programme and project management capabilities are well established with strong governance and
embedded processes to support delivery, manage risks and achieve business benefits. We utilise a time,
cost and quality index (TCQi) as a key performance indicator and enhance our performance through a
dedicated programme change office to deliver change in a structured and consistent way.
Developing our people with the right skills and knowledge, combined with delivering effective
›
technology are important enablers to support the business to meet its objectives. Employees are kept ›
informed regarding business strategy and progress through various communication channels. Training ›
and personal development programmes exist for all employees in addition to talent management
›
programmes and apprentice and graduate schemes. We focus on change programmes and innovative
ways of working to deliver better, faster and more cost-effective operations.
Physical and technological security measures and awareness training combined with strong governance
›
and inspection regimes aim to protect infrastructure, assets and operational capability. Externally, we work ›
closely with our industry peers, the Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure (CPNI), the National ›
Cyber Security Centre (NCSC) and Defra to shape the sector approach to security, particularly cyber security, ›
and to understand how we can best deliver the appropriate levels of protection to our business. Ongoing
system and network integration improves operational resilience and we maintain robust incident response,
business continuity and disaster recovery procedures. We also maintain insurance cover for loss and liability
and the licence of the regulated business also contains a ‘shipwreck’ clause that, if applicable, may offer a
degree of recourse to Ofwat/customers in the event of a catastrophic incident.
Supported by strong governance and management systems certified to OHSAS 18001 we have developed
›
a strong health and safety culture where ‘nothing we do at United Utilities is worth getting hurt for’. We
actively seek to improve health, safety and wellbeing across the group through targeted improvements and
›
benchmarking against our peers. Also certified to ISO 14001, we seek to protect and improve the environment ›
through the responsible delivery of our services. This includes helping to support rare species and habitats
›
through targeted engagement and activity and commitment to reducing our carbon emissions by designing ›
out waste from our operations, generating our own energy and looking at ways to reduce our use of raw
›
materials. We also recognise the impact the environment can have on our service provision with extreme
weather and climate change being integrated into our risk, planning and decision-making processes.

Strategic report

Strategic objectives

Stability of financial institutions and the world
economy
Economic uncertainty
Inflation/deflation
Financial market conditions, interest rates and funding
costs
Brexit
Security of supply
Delivery of solutions
Technical quality and innovation
Brexit

Delivering required employee engagement
Personal development and talent management
Technological innovation
Asset management
Cybercrime
Terrorism
Fraud
Ownership of Critical National Infrastructure and
National Infrastructure

Impounding reservoirs containing significant volumes
of water
Other critical asset failure
Process safety
Excavation, tunnelling and construction work
Working with chemicals
Fluvial and coastal flooding
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Corporate governance report
Board of directors

Dr John McAdam
Chairman

Steve Mogford

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Russ Houlden

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
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Responsibilities: Responsible for the leadership of the board, setting its agenda and
ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of its role.
Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Chemical Physics, Diploma Advanced Studies in Science, PhD.
Appointment to the board: Appointed as a non-executive director in February 2008 and
as Chairman in July 2008.
Committee membership: Nomination (chair).
Skills and experience: With over 19 years’ service as a board director in a wide range of
companies, and as a current non-executive director serving on a number of other boards
and across different sectors, John has a wealth of past and current experience on which
to draw in his role as Chairman and leader of the board.
Career experience: Appointed to the board of ICI plc in 1999 and became chief
executive in 2003, a position held until ICI’s takeover by Akzo Nobel. He previously held
roles as: senior independent director at J Sainsbury plc; non-executive director of RollsRoyce Holdings plc until May 2017; and senior independent director at Electra Private
Equity PLC until 1 March 2018.
Current directorships/business interests: Chairman of Rentokil Initial plc and was
appointed as non-executive and senior independent director of Cobham plc on
1 August 2017. He is also Chairman of United Utilities Water Limited.
Independence: John met the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code’s independence
criteria on his initial appointment as Chairman.
Responsibilities: To manage the group’s business and to implement the strategy
and policies approved by the board.
Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Astrophysics/Maths/Physics.
Appointment to the board: January 2011.
Committee membership: Corporate responsibility.
Skills and experience: Steve’s experience of the highly competitive defence market
and complex design, manufacturing and support programmes has driven forwards
the board’s strategy of improving customer service and operational performance
at United Utilities, and his perspective of the construction and infrastructure sector
provides valuable experience and insight to support United Utilities’ capital investment
programme.
Career experience: Previously chief executive of SELEX Galileo, the defence electronics
company owned by Italian aerospace and defence organisation Finmeccanica, and chief
operating officer at BAE Systems PLC and a member of its PLC board, he spent his earlier
career with British Aerospace PLC.
Current directorships/business interests: Appointed as senior independent director of
G4S PLC in May 2016. He is also Chief Executive Officer of United Utilities Water Limited.

Responsibilities: To manage the group’s financial affairs and to contribute to the
management of the group’s business and to the implementation of the strategy and
policies approved by the board.
Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Management Sciences, Fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants, Chartered Global Management Accountant and a Fellow of
the Association of Corporate Treasurers.
Appointment to the board: October 2010.
Committee membership: Treasury.
Skills and experience: Russ’s skills and experience in accounting, treasury, tax, M&A
and investor relations in other commercial and regulated companies, along with his
extensive experience of driving performance improvement and managing large capital
investment programmes, provides the group with valuable expertise in pursuing its
strategy to drive for improvements in customer service and in providing our services at
the lowest sustainable cost.
Career experience: He previously held roles as chief financial officer at Telecom New
Zealand and finance director of: Lovells; BT Wholesale; BT Networks and Information
Services; ICI Polyurethanes; and ICI Japan.
Current directorships/business interests: Member of the supervisory board
and chairman of the audit committee of Orange Polska SA, the largest listed
telecommunications company in Poland. He is a member of the main committee
and chairman of the financial reporting committee of the 100 Group. He is also Chief
Financial Officer of United Utilities Water Limited.

Steve Fraser

unitedutilities.com/corporate

Responsibilities: To develop the strategy for, and to manage, the group’s operations.
Qualifications: BA (Hons) Management Studies, MSc Engineering Management,
AMP Harvard University.
Appointment to the board: August 2017.
Committee membership: None.
Skills and experience: Steve brings a strong commercial acumen and operations focus
to the wider business. He has a proven track record in managing networks and using
his change management skills and broad experience across all aspects of utilities
construction, programme and operations management.
Career experience: Steve has a wide range of project and contract management
experience within the infrastructure sector. Prior to joining United Utilities in 2005,
he was Operations Director of Bethell plc, the power and construction group.
Current directorships/business interests: He is also Chief Operating Officer of United
Utilities Water Limited.
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Chief Operating Officer (COO)

Mark Clare

Senior independent non-executive director

Stephen Carter

Independent non-executive director

Responsibilities: Responsible, in addition to his role as an independent non-executive
director, for discussing any concerns with shareholders that cannot be resolved through
the normal channels of communication with the Chairman or Chief Executive Officer.
Qualifications: Chartered Management Accountant (FCMA).
Appointment to the board: November 2013.
Committee membership: Nomination and remuneration.
Skills and experience: Through his previous roles at British Gas and BAA Mark has a
strong background operating within regulated environments. His extensive knowledge
of customer-facing businesses is particularly valuable for United Utilities with the
implementation of greater competition in the industry and in pursuit of our strategy to
improve customer service.
Career experience: Mark retired from his position as chief executive at Barratt Developments
plc in July 2015, a role he had held for nine years. He is a former trustee of the Building
Research Establishment and the UK Green Building Council. Prior to joining Barratt, he was an
executive director of Centrica plc and held a number of senior roles within both Centrica plc
and British Gas. Mark was also a non-executive director of BAA plc, the airports operator, and
Ladbrokes Coral PLC.
Current directorships/business interests: He was appointed non-executive chairman of
Grainger plc in February 2017. He is also a non-executive director of Premier Marinas Holdings
Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director of United Utilities Water Limited.
Responsibilities: To challenge constructively the executive directors and monitor the
delivery of the strategy within the risk and control framework set by the board and to
lead the board’s agenda on acting responsibly as a business.
Qualifications: Bachelor of Law.
Appointment to the board: September 2014.
Committee membership: Nomination, audit and corporate responsibility (chair).
Skills and experience: As the chief executive officer of a FTSE listed company, Stephen
brings current operational experience to the board. His public sector experience
provides additional insights to the board regarding regulation and government
relations, and his experience in the media and technology industries provides additional
perspective for the board’s discussions. Stephen’s previous public sector roles underpin
his knowledge of the utilities sector.
Career experience: Group chief executive at Informa plc, having previously served on
the board of the Informa Group as a non-executive director and member of the audit
committee. Previous executive roles include president/managing director, Europe,
Middle East and Africa, and a member of the executive management board at Alcatel
Lucent Inc. Stephen has also held a number of public sector/service roles, serving a term
as the founding chief executive of Ofcom. He was formerly chairman of the board at
Ashridge Business School. He is a Life Peer.
Current directorships/business interests: Group chief executive at Informa plc and a
non-executive director of the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy.
He is also an independent non-executive director of United Utilities Water Limited.
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Alison Goligher

Independent non-executive director

Brian May

Independent non-executive director

Paulette Rowe

Independent non-executive director
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Responsibilities: To challenge constructively the executive directors and monitor the
delivery of the strategy within the risk and control framework set by the board.
Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Mathematical Physics, MEng Petroleum Engineering.
Appointment to the board: August 2016.
Committee membership: Nomination, audit (relinquished with effect from 1 July 2017),
remuneration and corporate responsibility.
Skills and experience: Alison has strong technical and capital project management skills,
having been involved in large projects and the production side of Royal Dutch Shell’s
business. This experience of engineering and industrial sectors provides the board with
additional insight into delivering United Utilities’ capital investment programme.
Career experience: From 2006 to 2015, Alison worked for Royal Dutch Shell, with
her most recent executive role as Executive Vice President Upstream International
Unconventionals. Prior to that she spent 17 years with Schlumberger, an international
supplier of technology, integrated project management and information solutions to the
oil and gas industry.
Current directorships/business interests: Alison is a non-executive director of Meggitt
PLC, was appointed as part-time executive chair of Silixa Ltd in August 2016, and sits
on the board of Edinburgh Business School. She is also an independent non-executive
director of United Utilities Water Limited.

Responsibilities: To challenge constructively the executive directors and monitor the
delivery of the strategy within the risk and control framework set by the board and to
lead the audit committee.
Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Actuarial Science, Chartered Accountant FCA.
Appointment to the board: September 2012.
Committee membership: Nomination, audit (chair), treasury (chair) and remuneration
(with effect from May 2017).
Skills and experience: Brian joined Bunzl plc in 1993 as head of internal audit before
becoming group treasurer, then finance director (Europe and Australasia), and is currently
finance director. Brian’s background and the various finance roles that he has held are major
assets to the board in chairing both the audit and the treasury committees. Brian has been
chair of the audit committee for nearly five years and has considerable knowledge of the
company and the specifics of the utilities sector.
Career experience: Brian has been finance director at Bunzl plc since 2006 and prior to
that held a number of senior finance roles within the company. Prior to joining Bunzl,
Brian qualified as a chartered accountant with KPMG.
Current directorships/business interests: Finance director at Bunzl plc. He is also an
independent non-executive director of United Utilities Water Limited.

Responsibilities: To challenge constructively the executive directors and monitor the
delivery of the strategy within the risk and control framework set by the board.
Qualifications: Mechanical Engineering and Management. MBA.
Appointment to the board: 1 July 2017.
Committee membership: Nomination and audit.
Skills and experience: Paulette has spent most of her career in the regulated finance
industry providing the board with additional perspective and first-hand regulatory
experience. Her experience of technology driven transformation will contribute to
United Utilities’ customer experience programme and its Systems Thinking approach.
Paulette’s experience of operating a commercial organisation within a regulated
framework is directly relevant to the utilities sector.
Career experience: Paulette is managing director, Barclaycard Payments Solutions at
Barclays Bank. Prior to joining Barclays, she was strategy director at NBNK Investments
plc and before which she was commercial and marketing director at Tesco Personal
Finance. She spent seven years at the Royal Bank of Scotland, where her roles included
chief executive, European Consumer Finance and managing director, NatWest Retail
Banking. She has served on the board of the Prince’s Youth Business Trust and is a
former trustee and chair of childrens’ charity The Mayor’s Fund for London.
Current directorships/business interests: From 9 July 2018 Paulette will take up a new
appointment on the EMEA Executive of Facebook Inc. She is also an independent nonexecutive director of United Utilities Water Limited.

Sara Weller

Independent non-executive director

Responsibilities: To challenge constructively the executive directors and monitor the
delivery of the strategy within the risk and control framework set by the board and to
lead the board’s activities concerning directors’ remuneration.
Qualifications: MA Chemistry.
Appointment to the board: March 2012.
Committee membership: Nomination and remuneration (chair).
Skills and experience: Sara’s experience of customer-facing businesses, together with
her knowledge of operating within a regulated environment, provides the board with
valuable perspective as the company responds to the increased competition in the
sector and improves its service to customers.
Career experience: Sara has wide-ranging business experience, having worked for
Mars, Abbey National and J Sainsbury plc and as managing director of Argos from 2004
to 2011. She served as the senior independent director at Mitchells and Butlers plc
from 2003 to 2006 and also chaired its remuneration committee from 2003 to 2010.
Previously, she was the lead non-executive director for the Department for Communities
and Local Government and chair of the Planning Inspectorate (an executive agency of
the Department of Communities and Local Government).
Current directorships/business interests: Sara is a non-executive director of Lloyds
Banking Group plc; the lead non-executive director for the Department of Work and
Pensions; a board member at the Higher Education Funding Council for England; and
a council member at Cambridge University. She is also an independent non-executive
director of United Utilities Water Limited.
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Pictured: Independent non-executive directors Paulette Rowe and Brian May being shown around our ground-breaking Innovation Lab
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Letter from the Chairman

As a board, we must take long-term decisions to ensure our
successors are able to operate the business efficiently for
customers, and we need to build our assets to meet future
demand and circumstances.
Quick facts
› Dr John McAdam met the independence criteria as set out in the
2016 UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code) when he was
appointed as Chairman;
› The Code requires that at least half of the board is made up
of independent non-executive directors (the test excludes the
Chairman). At United Utilities, six out of the remaining nine
directors (excluding the Chairman) are independent nonexecutive directors;
› The company secretary attends all board and committee meetings
and advises the Chairman on governance matters. The company
secretariat team provides administrative support; and
› All directors are subject to annual election at the annual general
meeting (AGM) held in July. Following the completion of the
annual evaluation process all the non-executive directors were
considered by the board to be independent and making a
valuable and effective contribution to the board (see page 71).
As a result, the board recommends that shareholders vote in
favour of those standing for a further term at the forthcoming
AGM, as they will be doing in respect of their individual
shareholdings.

Quick links
The details of the matters that the board has reserved for its own
decision are set out in the ‘Schedule of matters reserved for the
board’.
A copy can be found at unitedutilities.com/corporate-governance

A copy of the Financial Reporting Council’s 2016 UK Corporate
Governance Code can be found at frc.org.uk

Dear Shareholder
Our year

We have seen strong performance contributing towards achieving our
strategic targets during 2017/18. We were proud of our employees in
achieving our best ever overall score during the year under Ofwat’s
customer service index, known as the Service Incentive Mechanism (SIM),
where we were placed in an upper quartile position of the 18 water and
wastewater companies. SIM, along with other key performance indicators
(see page 38), is regularly reviewed at board meetings. This has been a
fantastic milestone to achieve as part of our strategic journey.
During the year, we have also had our challenges, including prosecutions
for operational incidents, most notably relating to the 2015 Lancashire
water quality incident at Franklaw water treatment works incurring a fine
of £300,000. Access to our more remote assets during the severe weather
in February 2018 proved difficult and we worked hard to minimise freezethaw issues disrupting customers’ supplies. Similarly, during the industrial
action in relation to the changes to the defined benefit pension scheme,
colleagues not on strike worked hard to ensure our services to customers
were not affected.
64

Our approach

As individual directors we are cognisant of our statutory duty to act in
the way he/she considers, in good faith, would most likely be to promote
the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole,
as set out in s172 of the Companies Act 2006. Our role as the board is
to set the strategy of the group and ensure that management operates
the business in accordance with this strategy. Details of the strategy are
set out in the strategic report (see page 12). We believe this approach
will promote the group’s long-term success and our customers’ interests
as well as create value for shareholders and have regard to our other
stakeholders. The board’s intention is to hand over the business to our
successors in a better and more sustainable position for the future. Within
our region, our activities often have multiple touch points on individuals’
lives. United Utilities is a monopoly supplier of water and wastewater
services to domestic households. Many of our customers are also our
shareholders either directly or indirectly holding shares through pension
scheme investments. Indeed, many of our employees are also both
customers, shareholders and future pensioners and have an interest in
the group’s long-term success. As directors we are mindful of our duties to
exercise independent judgement and reasonable care, skill and diligence
and there are times when difficult decisions must be taken. Last year,
the board considered proposals in relation to the United Utilities defined
benefit pension scheme and the related discussions with the trade unions.
We listened to our employees and their representatives and were able to
respond to some of their requests and address some of the aspects of the
pension scheme that employees valued the most nothwithstanding the
decision taken to proceed with changes to the defined benefit pension
scheme with effect from 1 April 2018. This was one of those difficult
decisions, where we had to act in the way we considered was most likely
to promote the success of the company in the long-term. I am pleased to
say that these issues have now been resolved.

Our governance structure

We held eight scheduled board meetings during the year; in addition,
there were a number of other board meetings held which directors
attended either in person or via telephone conferencing facilities.
A diagram showing the interrelationships of the various board committees
can be found on page 67 and reports from each of the committee chairs
about their work can be found on the following pages. The diagram also
describes some of the group’s principal management committees.

Our people

As reported in last year’s annual report, Paulette Rowe was appointed as
an independent non-executive director on 1 July 2017. In addition to her
experience of the regulated financial services industry, Paulette has long
had an interest and involvement in the charitable sector, which brings a
wider perspective to board discussions.
Furthermore, we are pleased to appoint Steve Fraser to the board as our Chief
Operating Officer. Steve has been with the business in various operational
roles since 2005. Most recently his role was managing director of our
wholesale business and his appointment to the board reflects the value we
place on his experience and in-depth knowledge of our business as we face
the challenges of the next five-year asset management period.
Biographies for Paulette and Steve and those of the other board
members can be found on pages 60 to 63 .
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With three out of ten directors on the board being women we have
maintained our gender target of at least 25 per cent of our board
comprising women, and the board aspires to achieve 33 per cent by
2020. With regards to diversity more generally, I am satisfied that we
have an appropriately diverse board in terms of experience, skills and
personal attributes and in terms of age and ethnicity amongst our board
members. The directors have many years of experience gained across
a variety of industries and regulated businesses, and so are familiar
with the particular challenges of a regulated operating environment.
Although there are time constraints for non-executive directors who also
have an executive role, these individuals bring valuable current market
experience and thinking to the board table. Similarly, we encourage our
executive directors to serve as non-executive directors elsewhere to help
broaden their experience, although this is normally limited to one other
directorship in a company in an industry which does not conflict with
United Utilities’ business.
Twenty-seven per cent of our executive team is made up of women.
We are keen to develop our female senior managers so that, over time,
they can be considered for executive board appointments or as potential
candidates for non-executive directorships in other companies. Our
current talent programme at a senior level is well embedded and we
believe a non-executive appointment for senior managers provides
an excellent opportunity for both personal and career development.
It is a way of gaining valuable experience that may be applied at
United Utilities so long as no conflicts of interest occur. Our graduate
and apprentice programmes are thriving and we are focusing more
effectively on middle/junior management succession. Our gender pay
data can be found on page 78. Historically, our industry has been male
dominated, but we have measures in place to increase diversity in broad
terms, including gender amongst our employees.
The board considered the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code
requirement (the Code), that the ‘audit committee as a whole shall have
competence relevant to the sector in which the company operates’
and concluded that when taking into account the skills, knowledge,
experience and professional qualifications of committee members
(see the directors’ biographies on pages 60 to 63) this 2016 Code
requirement was fulfilled. Furthermore, all members of the audit
committee are independent non-executive directors.

Our values and culture

Our aim is to behave as a responsible business, and our business principles
can be found on our website (see page 73). Our core values of acting with
integrity and focusing on our customers provides both the framework for
our business culture and the way in which our employees go about their
daily work. Behaving responsibly has been part of the United Utilities
ethos for a number of years.

The company has complied fully with the main and subsidiary principles
and provisions of the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code (the details
of which are contained within this corporate governance report), with
which we are required to report by the Financial Conduct Authority’s
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Our approach to risk

Our approach toward risk is very much aligned with our culture. We are an
organisation that provides a vital service to its customers and we recognise
the responsibilities of this, and our intention is to act responsibly towards
our stakeholders, in particular our customers, in the provision of our services
to them. As a board, we must take long-term decisions to ensure our
successors are able to operate the business efficiently for customers, and
we need to build our assets to meet future demand and circumstances. We
are a commercial organisation operating within a regulated framework and
accepting some level of risk is a normal consequence of doing business. It is
the board’s and the executive team’s role to understand the risks associated
with each activity of the business and ensure that actions are taken to mitigate
these risks.

Our investors

We are in regular contact with our large investors through a regular
scheduled programme of meetings attended by either our CEO or CFO
or both of them. The programme is also supported by the activities of
our investor relations team who are readily available to address investors’
queries. Mark Clare, senior independent director, and myself are also
available to meet with investors and will be doing so later in the year.
Ensuring that the directors’ remuneration packages align the directors’ and
senior managers’ interests with the long-term interests of the company and
its shareholders is always a key area of interest for investors. Our directors’
remuneration policy was last approved by shareholders at the 2017 AGM;
the current intention is that the directors’ remuneration policy (as published
on pages 91 to 97 of the 2017 accounts) will apply until the 2020 AGM. At
last year’s AGM over 98 per cent of the votes were cast in favour of the new
directors’ remuneration policy and, although only advisory, similarly over 98
per cent of the votes were cast in favour of the directors’ remuneration report.
We welcome any feedback you may have on this annual report – please
email any comments you may have to: secretariat@uuplc.co.uk
Dr John McAdam
Chairman
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Code principles
Leadership
Read more about Leadership on page 66

Effectiveness
Read more about Effectiveness on page 70

Relations with shareholders
Read more about Relations with shareholders on page 79

Accountability
Read more about Accountability on page 80

Remuneration
Read more about Remuneration on page 94

Code principle –Leadership
Introduction by Dr John McAdam
“There is renewed focus on how boards discharge their duties. I hope
from reading our strategic report (on pages 9 to 57) and this corporate
governance report, it will provide you with an understanding of how
we operate our business in accordance with our current strategic
objectives and how we are constantly planning for the future needs
of our customers and other stakeholders.”

Overview of the board’s responsibilities
› Sets the strategy of the group, ensuring the long-term success of the
group for customers, investors and wider stakeholders and in creating
shareholder value;
› Is responsible for challenging and encouraging the executive team
in its interpretation and implementation of how it manages the
business, and that it is doing so in accordance with the strategic goals
the board has set;
› Has responsibility for ensuring the company’s internal control systems
(including financial, operational and compliance) and processes are
sound and fit for purpose. See the ‘accountability’ section of this
report on pages 80 to 89 for more detail;
› Must ensure that the company has the necessary financial resources
and people with the necessary skills to achieve its objectives. It also
reviews managerial performance annually; and
› Has oversight of major capital expenditure projects within UUW which
exceed £150 million, and any project which materially increases the
group’s risk profile or is not in the ordinary course of the group’s
business.
Full details of the matters that the board has reserved for its own
decision-making, due to their importance to the business or the
working of the board, can be found on our website at
unitedutilities.com/corporate-governance
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Governance structure for
our board and our committees
In line with the Code, the board delegates certain roles and
responsibilities to its principal board committees, as shown in the
diagram opposite. While the board retains overall responsibility, a
sub-committee structure allows these committees to probe the subject
matters more deeply and gain a greater understanding of the detail.
The commitees then report back to the board on the matters discussed,
decisions taken, and where appropriate, make recommendations to the
board on matters requiring its approval. The reports of the principal
board committees required by the Code can be found on the subsequent
pages. Minutes of the board and principal board committee meetings
(with the exception of the remuneration committee) are tabled at
board meetings and the chairs of each of the board committees report
verbally to the board on their activities. The Chairman chairs the
nomination committee; all other principal board committees are chaired
by independent non-executive directors who have particular skills or
interests in the activities of those committees.
The executive team is chaired by the CEO, and its members are
the senior managers who have a direct reporting line to the CEO.
Our executive team meets monthly; it is responsible for the dayto-day running of the business and other operational matters and
implementing the strategies that the board has set. Short biographies
of the executive team can be found on our website at
unitedutilities.com/executive-team.
The diagram shown opposite also shows the principal management
committees and a brief description of their roles. These committees
enable senior management to understand and, if necessary, challenge
the business in its interpretation of the implementation of the strategies
the board has set. The board received reports from the CEO and CFO at
every scheduled board meeting, providing the board with an updated
overview of the business and its financial performance and position.
Operational updates are also provided to board meetings by the COO.
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Governance structure of the board and its principal committees and the principal management committees

Chair: Dr John McAdam

Chief Executive Officer

Governance

Group Board

Steve Mogford

Principal board committees
Audit committee
Chair: Brian May
Read more on
pages 82 to 89

Remuneration committee
Chair: Sara Weller

Read more on
pages 94 to 115

Nomination committee
Chair: Dr John McAdam
Read more on
pages 74 to 78

Corporate responsibility
committee
Chair: Stephen Carter
Read more on
pages 90 to 93

Principal management committees
Executive team

Chair: Steve Mogford, CEO
This forum is responsible for implementing the board’s
strategy and the day-to-day operation of running the
business and the CEO will cascade decisions made by
the board to the business via this forum.

Group audit and risk board
Chair: Steve Mogford, CEO
Read more on
page 88

Quarterly business review
Chair: Steve Mogford, CEO

This forum is responsible for the quarterly review
of operational and financial performance.

Political and regulatory
steering group

Chair: Gaynor Kenyon, corporate affairs director
This forum is responsible for discussing political
and regulatory issues affecting the company,
where any ‘horizon scanning’ issues are raised and
business responses to consultations are agreed.

Treasury committee
Chair: Brian May

The committee considers and approves borrowing, leasing,
bonding and other banking facilities within limits set
by the board. The CFO and treasurer are also members.
Some powers are sub-delegated, within certain limits,
to the CFO and treasurer.

Capital investment committee
Chair: Steve Mogford, CEO

The committee is responsible for authorising expenditure
relating to the capital investment programme.

Key:

The best service to customers
At the lowest sustainable cost
In a responsible manner
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Summary of board activity in 2017/18
Cross reference
Leadership and employees
› Review of health, safety and wellbeing activities and consideration of health and safety incidents of
employees and contractors reinforcing the company’s belief that ‘nothing we do is worth getting hurt
for’ and an update on the progress of developing and implementing an improved health and safety
culture within the business ‘home safe and well’;

See page 5

› Considered board succession planning and the appointment of Paulette Rowe as an independent
non-executive director and Steve Fraser, Chief Operating Officer, to the board as an executive director;

See page 74

› Monitored progress on key aspects of the employee succession and development plans, identifying
leadership potential at all levels, developing our employer brand and our aspiration for a multigenerational workforce that is representative of our customer base building on the strong progress
already made in the apprentice and graduate programmes;

See page 78

› Reviewed and discussed executive succession plans and the needs of the business to develop talented
employees in the senior leadership team in preparation for the business challenges anticipated in the
next asset management period;

See page 76

› Discussed the results of the annual employee voice and engagement survey;

See page 4

› Reviewed and updated the board diversity policy; and

See page 77

› Approved the extension of the all employee share incentive scheme for a further ten years and updated
the scheme rules to reflect legislative changes.
Strategy
› Reviewed the group’s corporate responsibility activities focusing on reputation management, particularly See page 93
in our communications with stakeholders;
› Received regular updates at each meeting of items with strategic component, such as emerging changes
to regulation, major capital expenditure and business structuring decisions;
› Held the annual full-day strategy session debating and discussing the context of the next price review,
the key issues to be addressed and considered the expectations of our key stakeholders;

See page 4

› Approved the group’s policy and approach on human rights; and

See page 24

› Discussed the potential Renationalisation of the water sector.

See page 93

Governance
› Reviewed and debated the risk profile of the group, and in particular the principal risks and our risk
appetite, including a review of the most significant operational risks;

See page 56

› Reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management systems, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control systems;

See page 80

› Reviewed and discussed developments in cyber crime and the activities undertaken to enhance the
effectiveness of the group’s security controls and work with various government agencies and a number
of other water companies to define cyber security guiding principles for use across the industry;

See page 57

› Reviewed the terms of reference for the audit, remuneration, treasury and corporate responsibility
committees and received post-meeting reports from the chairs of each committee summarising
discussions and actions;
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› Reviewed biannual updates on changes and developments in corporate governance and the
implementation of any changes required;

See page 72

› Reviewed and discussed the external evaluation of the board, its committees and individual directors
and conflicts of interest;

See page 71

› Reviewed the performance of the external auditor and recommendation for reappointment; and

See page 86

› Reviewed the approach and progress of work to identify areas where there is any risk of modern slavery
occurring in our supply chain and approval of the 2017/18 slavery and human trafficking statement.

See page 24

Link to strategic
objectives
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Summary of board activity in 2017/18
United Utilities Water Limited (UUW) regulated business and its stakeholders
› Reviewed the progress with the implementation of the lessons learnt and recommendations of the
internal investigation undertaken by Mark Clare, senior independent director, in relation to the August
2015 Lancashire water quality incident and the outcome of the subsequent prosecution by the DWI in
September 2017;

See page 80

› Monitored progress of the embedding of the customer experience programme to improve customer
service including new initiatives such as ‘Priority Services’ and ‘Moving Home’, improved training
for employees handling customer calls and systems improvements and resulting improvements as
demonstrated by our scores against Ofwat’s qualitative Service Incentive Mechanism (SIM); and

See page 2

› Received regular updates on the group’s preparedness and plans for the 2020–25 regulatory period
and the preparation of UUW’s business plan due for submission to Ofwat in September 2018.

See page 4

Other group business
› Reviewed progress on the group’s renewable energy generation capabilities and opportunities for
expansion and innovation including developing our plans around battery storage of power for use
overnight when solar panels are not generating; and
› Reviewed progress of the group’s joint venture Water Plus and approved additional working capital
and increased credit support as matched by joint venture partner Severn Trent.
Shareholder relations
› Received and discussed a presentation by Rothschild Investor Advisory on investors’ views and
perceptions of the group in relation to amongst other things: strategy; the group’s unique selling
proposition; dividend policy; and how the company compares with other listed water and wastewater
companies; and

Link to strategic
objectives

Governance

Cross reference

See page 46

See page 87

See page 79

› Regularly received and discussed feedback from roadshows, presentations and face-to-face meetings
See page 79
between investors and the CEO and/or the CFO and other communications received from large investors.
Financial
› Reviewed the 2017/20 business plan and approved the 2018/19 budget;
› Reviewed and approved the half and full-year results and associated announcements;
› Reviewed and approved the 2017/18 company’s UK tax strategy;

See page 116

› Reviewed the potential effects of changes to inflation on the water sector and proposals from Ofwat
to transition from the Retail Price Index (RPI) to the Consumer Prices Index including owner occupiers’
housing costs (CPIH) as the primary means of indexation in the next asset management period;

See page 13

› Reviewed and approved the company’s treasury policy, the group’s funding requirements for the year
and the potential sources to meeting these funding requirements and managing the group’s interest
rate and other market risk exposures including the impact of Brexit;

See page 50

› Reviewed progress with material litigation involving the group; and

See page 55

› Reviewed, discussed and approved proposals in relation to pensions in general and specifically the
United Utilities defined benefit pension scheme and related discussions with the trade unions.

See page 64

Key:

The best service to customers
At the lowest sustainable cost
In a responsible manner
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The board table

Attendance at board
and committee meetings
Eight scheduled board meetings were planned and held during the
year (2017: eight). A number of other board meetings and telephone
conferences were also held during the year, as the need arose. The table
below shows the actual number of scheduled meetings attended and
the maximum number of scheduled meetings which the directors could
have attended. Only in exceptional circumstances would directors not
attend board and committee meetings. Similarly, every effort is made
to attend ad hoc meetings either in person or via the use of video or
telephone conferencing facilities if needs be. None of our non-executive
directors have raised concerns over the time commitment required of
them to fulfil their duties.
On the evening before most scheduled board meetings all the nonexecutive directors meet either by themselves, or together with just
the CEO, or with the entire board and the company secretary, and this
time is usefully spent enabling board colleagues to share views and
consider issues impacting the company. Time together also helps to
build relationships on a personal level, which contributes to better
relationships and decision-making around the board table.

Chairman
Execu ve director
Senior independent non-execu ve director
Independent non-execu ve director
Company secretary

Board
meetings
8/8
8/8
8/8
4/4
7(2)/8
8/8
8/8
8/8
5/5
8/8

Dr John McAdam
Steve Mogford
Russ Houlden
Steve Fraser(1)
Stephen Carter
Mark Clare
Alison Goligher
Brian May
Paulette Rowe(4)
Sara Weller

Audit Remuneration
committee
committee
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
4/4
–
–
4/4
4/4
1(3)/1
4/4
4/4
3/3
–
–
4/4

Nomination
committee
3/3
–
–
–
2(2)/3
3/3
2/2
3/3
0(5)/1
3/3

Corporate
responsibility
committee
–
3/3
–
–
3/3
–
3/3
–
–
–

Treasury
committee
–
–
3/3
–
–
–
–
3/3
–
–

Actual number of meetings attended/maximum number of scheduled meetings which the directors could have attended during 2017/18.
(1)
Steve Fraser was appointed on 1 August 2017.
(2)
Stephen Carter was unable to attend a meeting of the board and the nomination committee due to a conflicting commitment.
(3)
Alison Goligher relinquished her membership of the audit committee on the appointment of Paulette Rowe as a member of the committee.
(4)
Paulette Rowe was appointed on 1 July 2017.
(5)
Paulette Rowe was unable to attend a meeting of the nomination committee due to a conflicting commitment.

Code principle – Effectiveness
Introduction by Dr John McAdam
“External evaluation provides valuable insight for board members
and helps prevent complacency and examine whether, as a board, we
are doing the right things, with the right people and making the right
decisions to promote the long-term success of the company.”

Board evaluation
2017/18 being the third year since the previous external evaluation, this
year’s evaluation was conducted by Lintstock Consultants (Lintstock). In
other years the evaluation is an internal one conducted by the company
secretary and his team. Lintstock have no other connection with the
company other than facilitating external evaluations in 2012 and 2015.
The 2017/18 Lintstock process consisted of discussions between Lintstock and
the Chairman and the company secretary after which Lintstock issued online
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questionnaires to board members assessing: the performance of the board;
each of its principal committees; the Chairman and each of the individual
directors. In addition to board members, other members of the executive
team who regularly attend and support the various committee meetings were
asked to complete the same questionnaires where applicable.
Lintstock analysed the results, which were reviewed by the company
secretary, and were then discussed with the Chairman and the chair of
the relevant committee. Thereafter they were discussed at a meeting of
the relevant committee; and then presented to the board. The Chairman
reviewed the performance of the individual directors. Mark Clare, as the
senior independent director, and after gauging the views of the other
non-executive directors, led the review of the Chairman’s performance.

unitedutilities.com/corporate
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2017/18 areas of assessment
Board composition and
expertise

Commentary and actions
The composition of the board was considered to be a diverse group of high-quality non-executive and executive
directors.

Board agenda

The board was well informed about the regulatory environment within which the company operates and
had a good understanding of the views of investors, regulators and customers, but would benefit from more
opportunities to gain greater exposure to the views of employees from across the group.

Board dynamics

The relationship between the board and the chief executive was appropriate and board meetings were
conducted in an atmosphere which encouraged equal contribution from all board members where there was
candid discussion and critical thinking encouraged.

Board support

The timeliness of the distribution of board documentation was appropriate. Executive summaries of board
papers were used effectively although board packs were sometimes considered to be too lengthy. Board
presentations were considered to be of good quality.

Wider strategic oversight

The involvement of the board in the development of the strategic direction of the group was considered to be
appropriate. The format and content of the board strategy away day held during the year was well received
with appropriate documentation circulated in advance along with conclusions captured and circulated after
the event. It was felt that additional use of external experts would be beneficial.

Risk management and internal
control

The board’s approach to the management of risk and to its systems of internal control were considered to be
appropriate. The information received relating to risk management was rated highly with good visibility of
operational and reputational risks, with further focus of the board on material risks being required.

Succession planning and human
resource management

Succession plans for the board were in place with outline timescales. Succession for executive positions was
considered to be satisfactory.

Committees

The composition and performance of the audit, remuneration, nomination, corporate responsibility and
treasury committees were considered to be appropriate, and the feedback from committee meetings by
committee chairs was full and transparent and meetings chaired effectively. Specific actions identified were
as follows:

Governance

A summary of Lintstock’s analysis of the 2017/18 evaluation is as follows:

› Nomination committee: ensure the focus on senior board succession was managed proactively;
› Remuneration committee: consider the way in which incentives should address the transition to the next
asset management period;
› Audit committee: ensure that the committee was kept abreast of reporting changes: and
› Corporate responsibility committee: ensure that the committee contributed in the PR19 bid submission
process particularly in terms of customer priorities.
Individual directors

The individual performance of the all the directors was assessed, all the non-executive directors were
considered to be independent and effective, and all directors demonstrated the expected level of commitment
to their roles. The review of the Chairman’s performance (led by the senior independent director) concluded he
continued to demonstrate an effective and unbiased perspective notwithstanding that he would have served
for over ten years as a board director by the 31 March 2018, that he fulfilled the expected commitment to the
role and was an effective leader of the board. All directors would be offering themselves for reappointment/
election at the 2018 AGM.
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2016/17 evaluation recommendations
The board would benefit from more opportunities to gain a better
understanding of the views of customers and on service delivery
and technical innovations for customers.

Actions taken during 2017/18
The board receives regular reports from both the COO and the customer
and people director at almost every meeting on activities within their
business areas to improve our services for our customers, and from time
to time are provided with data on the areas of our service generating
the most complaints.

Allow more time for the discussion of key strategic topics at the board
strategy away day.

The main topic of discussion at the board strategy day held in October
2017 was the forthcoming 2019 price review submission.

Nomination committee: maintain the focus on senior board succession
over the next 12 months, but also ensure that there was thought
given to the skills needed around the board over the next five years.

There have been three senior appointments during the year from our
executive succession plan, Steve Fraser appointed to the board as
COO, James Bullock appointed to the executive team as strategy and
regulation director and Louise Beardmore now has a broader executive
role with responsibility for human resources in addition to her customer
role as our customer and people director.

Remuneration committee: consider the timetable for the review
of the committee’s external advisers.

A review process for the committee’s external advisers has been
scheduled.

Audit committee: continue the focus on ensuring papers were
concise.

Improvements had been made to the conciseness of papers.

Corporate responsibility committee: increase the committee’s
engagement with customer priorities.

The chair of the YourVoice panel has provided the panel’s view of
customer priorities to the committee and steps taken to facilitate
payment by customers in lower income groups.

Board development
Board directors regularly receive updates to improve their understanding
and knowledge about the business and in particular its regulatory
environment. As part of the individual directors element of the board
evaluation exercise (see page 71), directors are asked to identify any
skills or knowledge gaps they would like to address.
Consideration of environmental and social issues are fundamental to the
way in which we operate as a responsible business at United Utilities;
such matters are central to board discussions (see the summary of board
activity on pages 68 to 69). The board’s approach to these matters is
reflected in our strategic objective of behaving in a responsible manner,
and information relating to this can be found throughout the strategic
report. Board awareness of in-region environmental and social matters
has also been raised during the year by the independent customer
challenge group, known as ‘YourVoice’. In addition to this less formal
approach to board development, during the year the board also received

briefings from both Slaughter and May (legal and governance matters)
and KPMG (governance changes relating to reporting requirements)
along with a number of other advisers.
Our non-executive directors are conscious of the need to keep
themselves properly briefed and informed about current issues and to
deepen their understanding of the business. During the year, the board
visited the offices of Water Plus in Stoke-on-Trent to experience first
hand the operational side of our activities with our joint venture partner
Severn Trent in the competitive commercial sector. Board members also
visited the group’s offices in Warrington and had the opportunity to see
the work of our Innovation Lab (see page 29).
Following appointment each director will have an induction programme
arranged for them in order to help them gain an understanding of the
business and the key issues and to provide them with information that
will help them to be effective and make a contribution to board debates.
Details of Paulette Rowe’s induction are given on page 77.

Values and culture
The values identified by the board (see page 12) underpin our strategic objectives:

The best service for customers
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At the lowest sustainable cost

In a responsible manner

Core value:

Core value:

Core value:

Customer
focus

Innovation

Integrity

Everything we do will be
about our customers, not us.

We will innovate to make our
services better, safer, faster and
cheaper for our customers.

We will make promises
knowingly and keep them.

The United Utilities way of doing things is to behave as a responsible
business and is set out in our ‘Business Principles’ document. A copy
can be found at: www.unitedutilities.com/corporate/about-us/
governance/business-principles/ . During the year the board approved
the group’s human rights policy which can be found on our website and
which also has links to other related policies including our customer
data protection policy, modern slavery policy, privacy policy and our
sustainable supply chain charter. We believe that the areas that are most
salient to our business, and which would have the greatest negative
impact on people through our activities or business relationships are:
forced/child labour; health and safety and data protection and privacy.
The culture of a company was defined by the FRC* ‘as a combination
of the values, attitudes and behaviours manifested by a company in
its operations and relations with its stakeholders. These stakeholders
include shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers and the wider
community and environment which are affected by a company’s
conduct.’ The board’s aim is to lead by example and set the standard
of behaviour we expect from our employees. The approach for board

How we behave responsibly
towards our customers
We offer ‘Priority Services’ that customers can
register for if they require extra support due to
such things as age, ill health, disability, mental
health problems, financial worries or language
barriers.

meetings is to foster an environment of trust and one that is conducive
to open and frank discussions. This approach is in the best interests of
our business and all our stakeholders. Furthermore, culture in its various
forms/guises is treated as business as usual. Cultural indicators such as
customer service, employee matters and risk management form part
of the board’s regular discussions and further contribute towards our
objective of behaving responsibly (see the summary of board activity
on pages 68 to 69). Our CEO is responsible for cascading our culture and
responsible behaviour throughout the business and he is supported and
facilitated in this by the executive and wider management team. As part
of their role, we expect our employees to live the values of customer
focus, integrity and innovation (see page 12). More information on our
values can be found on our website.

Governance
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In the table below are examples of how we aim to behave responsibly
towards our different stakeholders. Further information on our
stakeholder engagement can be found on pages 30 to 33:

How we behave responsibly
towards our employees
At the heart of our operations is our ethos
of ‘nothing we do is worth getting hurt for’ ,
we believe the safety of our employees and
contractors is paramount.
Our offering to employees includes:
› A competitive base salary;

How we behave responsibly towards
our other stakeholders (shareholders,
environment, communities, and regulators)
Our engagement with our wider stakeholders
is business as usual through a number of
specialist functions/teams such as:
› our investor relations team provides a point
of contact for equity investor queries;

Our ‘Moving Home’ services are available to
those moving house in our region.

› Employee benefits;

We are making improvements to our written
communications with customers to make them
easier to understand and remove technical
jargon along with launching a new customer
website and a mobile app.

› our stakeholder teams provide support for
communities where we are undertaking
major capital projects;
› The opportunity to express their views about
›
our
communications teams raise awareness
the company in the annual employee voice
and respond to press and media queries;
survey;

› the sustainability team champions
sustainability issues with the business;

› Family friendly HR policies that go beyond
the statutory minimum;

› An internal network of mental health
The board has regular contact with
awareness supporters; and
representatives of ‘YourVoice’ the independent › Employees are encouraged to improve
customer challenge group who provide a direct
their wellbeing through exercise. Corporate
channel of customers’ views to the board.
or reduced rate gym membership has
been arranged with providers across the
company’s region.
The company funds an employee assistance
support programme providing a confidential
counselling and information service 24/7 to
assist employees with personal or work-related
problems that may be affecting their health,
wellbeing or performance. A whistleblowing
helpline is in operation (see page 89).

› our corporate affairs team provides
information to public organisations;
› teams within our business are in constant
communication with our various regulators
in relation to customer, economic and
environmental factors; and
› our treasury team provides a point of contact
for credit investor queries.

We have made significant progress in improving the customer experience and embedding a customer service orientated culture in recent years.
On page 38 of the strategic report, details of the KPIs used to monitor customer service can be found. Our annual employee voice survey (see page
4 of the strategic report) shows employee engagement at 79 per cent. The management team continue to focus on embedding these values in our
business. Furthermore, with the implementation of our Systems Thinking approach and improving the technology deployed across our asset base
during the current regulatory period, we would expect to see further improvements in the standard and efficiency of our service to our customers.
On page 124 is the stakeholder performance table which, amongst other things provides data on a number of stakeholder and cultural indicators.
*The FRC’s ‘Corporate Culture and the Role of Boards’ July 2016.
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To ensure that board members and senior management have
the appropriate balance of skills and experience to support the
group’s strategic objectives.

Quick facts
› All members of the committee are independent, thus exceeding
the Code requirement that a ‘majority of members of the
nomination committee should be independent non-executive
directors’;
› The role of the committee is to make recommendations to the
board on its composition, balance and membership and on
refreshing the membership of the board committees;
› The company secretary attends all meetings of the committee;
› The customer services and people director, who has
responsibility for human resources, regularly attends meetings
and is responsible for engaging with executive search
recruitment advisers; and
› The CEO is not a member of the committee, but from time to
time is invited to attend. Neither the Chairman nor the CEO
would participate in the recruitment of their own successor.

Quick links
Terms of reference –
unitedutilities.com/corporate-governance

Nomination committee members
Dr John McAdam (chair)

Brian May

Stephen Carter

Paulette Rowe

Mark Clare

Sara Weller

Alison Goligher

Dear Shareholder
We have made considerable progress during the year in developing
our board succession plans, and we have tried in this report to provide
an informative explanation of our succession planning activities that
will reassure our stakeholders that these matters are being properly
addressed. In many ways, given the nature of the subject matter, it is
a difficult topic to report publicly, and on a human level, people’s lives
and circumstances can change, sometimes at short notice.
As a board that is relatively small in size, succession planning to ensure
that board members and senior management have the appropriate
balance of skills and experience to support the group’s strategic
objectives is a matter that the board as a whole considers. We therefore
have the benefit of the views and experience of all board members to
contribute to the debate. During the year the board has reviewed the
people and organisational capability plan and the progress being made
to develop the skills and capabilities we need going forwards to support,
amongst other things, our Systems Thinking and digitalisation. In our
succession planning we aim to ensure both our board directors and
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members of the executive team and other senior managers, who are
potential successors to the executive team or board, are well equipped
with the right skills and experience to address the challenges of our
business and, where necessary, address any developmental needs. They
also need to be in tune with the culture of the company.
In support of these board discussions, the nomination committee
has responsibility for considering the detailed recruitment process
for executive and non-executive board appointments and members
of the executive team. All the non-executive directors are members
of the nomination committee and participate in meetings and in
the recruitment process for new board colleagues. The nomination
committee would be supported in a board recruitment process by Louise
Beardmore, customer services and people director, as part of her human
resources responsibilities. The committee met three times during the
year. The meetings discussed and developed our board and executive
level succession plans, which address both contingency planning needs
and requirements in the short to medium-term. These plans now
include more granularity on timescales for key board positions. During
the year, the committee finalised the appointment on 1 July 2017 of
Paulette Rowe as an independent non-executive director. Paulette’s firsthand regulatory experience will provide additional perspective in this
important area for the group, and her experience of technology driven
business transformation will contribute to our operational activities,
through the customer experience programme and our Systems Thinking
approach. We welcome Paulette to the board in this her first nonexecutive role for a listed company.
The committee has for some time been monitoring the development of
Steve Fraser towards a board appointment and it was concluded that he
be recommended to the board for an executive appointment as Chief
Operating Officer.
Historically, independent non-executive directors at United Utilities have
served a term of between seven and nine years, a pattern which has
facilitated the refreshing of the board in recent years on an annual basis,
along with ensuring a high degree of continuity. Notwithstanding this,
the specifics of each of the non-executive directors’ time of departure
has been driven by their own personal circumstances. Serving beyond
a nine-year term is identified in the Code as being one of the reasons
which could affect a non-executive director’s independence. The 2016
Code excludes board chairmen from the nine-year rule.
Our board diversity policy (see page 77) is taken into account during
every candidate selection process. Ultimately, we do strive to appoint
the person we believe is best matched to the role in terms of what
they have to offer the company and to make a positive contribution to
the board conversation and board dynamics. Diversity of outlook and
interest is essential to ensuring we have a variety of views to contribute
to discussions. We have revised our target for gender diversity, which
currently stands at 30 per cent, in our board diversity policy, which shall
be to maintain at least 25 per cent, and aspire to 33 per cent female
representation on our board by 2020.
Dr John McAdam
Chair of the nomination committee

unitedutilities.com/corporate
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Pictured: (back row, left to right) Alison Goligher, Stephen Carter, Brian May, Sara Weller (front row, left to right) Paulette Rowe, Dr John McAdam, Mark Clare

Main responsibilities of the committee
› Lead the process for board appointments and make recommendations
to the board about filling vacancies on the board, including the
company secretary;
› Consider the succession planning of directors and members of the
executive team;
› Make recommendations to the board on refreshing the membership
of the board’s principal committees;

Directors’ tenure as at 31 March 2018

› Consider requests from non-executive directors for the election to
the boards of other companies; this role has been delegated to the
Chairman (other than in respect of his own position).

4yrs 5m

Alison Goligher

1yr 8m

Brian May

5yrs 7m

Paule e Rowe

9m

Sara Weller

6yrs 1m

51–55
40%

40–50
10%

50–60
30%

61–70
20%

31 March 2018

Mark Clare

31 March 2017

3yrs 7m

31 March 2016

Stephen Carter

31 March 2015

8m

31 March 2014

Steve Fraser

31 March 2013

7yrs 6m

31 March 2012

Russ Houlden

31 March 2011

7yrs 3m

31 March 2010

Steve Mogford

31 March 2009

10yrs 2m

31 March 2008

› Consider the request from executive directors for election to the
boards of other companies and make a recommendation to the
board; and

Age profile

Dr John McAdam

31 March 2007

› Review directors’ conflict authorisations;
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References would be sought and reviewed by the Chairman prior to an
appointment being taken up. A preferred candidate would also meet
with representatives of Ofwat.

What has been on the committee’s
agenda during the year?
Board succession

The committee has further developed the board succession plans during
the year, taking into account more granularity around timescales for key
board positions, the likely evolution of the business and the changing
shape and increasingly competitive nature of the industry expected from
2020 onwards. A succession planning matrix tool (incorporating the skills
matrix, see below) for board directors is used to support the planning
process for board appointments. The succession planning matrix
highlights the Code governance requirements; existing directors’ terms
of appointment and a forecast/anticipated time frame for when they
might leave the business; the projected strategic needs of the business
and the resulting preferred experience of any potential new board
member; and existing potential internal successors to a role (where
identified) and those who could act as an interim should the need arise.
A candidate suitable for the role of CEO would need to demonstrate
that their management approach would fit with the company’s culture
of behaving responsibly. The committee would seek to consult with the
incumbent CEO, given his unique knowledge and perspective of the
group, on his view of the needs of the business going forwards. The CEO
would not be involved in the appointment process of his successor, nor
would the Chairman be involved in the appointment of his successor.

Board appointment process

Typically, following board discussions, the nomination committee
will be responsible for drafting a brief, setting out the attributes and
experience of a preferred candidate supported by the customer services
and people director as part of the human resources function of the role.
The brief would be shared with a number of executive search agencies
(all of which would be signatories to the voluntary code of conduct on
gender diversity for executive search firms) who would be invited to
present their understanding of the role and attributes required. One of
these firms would be engaged to conduct the search. (Russell Reynolds
were involved in Paulette Rowe’s recruitment, as they demonstrated
the best understanding of the role. Other than providing executive
search services on previous occasions, Russell Reynolds had no other
connection with the company.) A long-list of candidates would then be
reviewed by the nomination committee and those identified for a shortlist would be invited for interview, initially with the Chairman, the CEO
and the customer services and people director. Thereafter, a number of
candidates would be invited to meet other non-executive directors and
the CFO. Following the interview process, the nomination committee
would meet to review and discuss the candidates (with the support of
the customer services and people director) taking into account the views
of the CEO/CFO and assess the ‘best fit’ with the succession planning
and skills matrix and then make a recommendation to the board.

Reviewing membership of
the principal board committees
The committee considered the membership of the principal board
committees. During the year, Brian May joined the remuneration
committee as it was felt that Brian’s financial expertise would provide
a mutual benefit for both the remuneration and audit committees.
On appointment, Paulette Rowe became a member of the audit
committee, where it was felt her experience of regulated services, and
the importance of risk and reputation, would be of most benefit to the
board. As a result, it was agreed that Alison Goligher should relinquish
her responsibilities as a member of the audit committee given her
membership of both the corporate responsibility and the remuneration
committees.

Board diversity
The board diversity policy (see page 77) is to ‘ensure the selection
process for board candidates provides access to a range of candidates,
although any appointments will be made on the basis of equal merit
but with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the board, including
gender diversity’. The objective of the policy, is for new directors to bring
something different to the board table, be it in terms of experience, skills,
perspective, interests or other attributes. As referred to above, our board
diversity policy would be brought to the attention of any executive search
firm used as part of the selection and appointment process for a board
position. Feedback would be sought from the search firm in terms of
their success in attracting potential candidates with diversity of attributes
and from any interview process conducted by other board members and
taken into consideration in identifying suitable candidates. As mentioned
above, Steve Fraser and Paulette Rowe were appointed during the year
and their biographies can be found on pages 61 and 62 respectively. For
both of them, this is their first directorship of a FTSE 100 company. Steve
is bringing his first-hand operational experience to the board discussions
and Paulette’s interest in the charitable sector brings a new element of
diversity to our discussions. Additionally, with Steve’s appointment the
range of ages of board members has increased.
We are keen to develop our female senior managers so that, over time,
they can be considered for executive board appointments or as potential
candidates for non-executive directorships in other companies and we
have a number of initiatives in place supporting women in the workplace
(see page 78). We encourage our senior managers to take on a nonexecutive directorship role but recognise that the responsibilities of
such a role are very much a personal commitment.

Skills matrix of board directors
Finance/
accounting
Dr John McAdam
Steve Mogford
Russ Houlden
Steve Fraser
Stephen Carter
Mark Clare
Alison Goligher
Brian May
Paulette Rowe
Sara Weller
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✓

✓

Utilities
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

Regulation

Government

Construction/
engineering

Industrial
✓

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

✓
✓

✓
✓

✓
✓

Customer
facing
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

FTSE
companies
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
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› Ensure the selection process for board candidates provides
access to a range of candidates, although any appointments will
be made on the basis of equal merit but with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the board, including gender diversity;
› Ensure that the policies adopted by the group will, over time,
promote gender diversity among senior managers who will in
turn aspire to a board position;
› In selecting candidates for board positions, only use the
services of executive search firms who have signed up to
the voluntary code of conduct for executive search firms as
recommended by Lord Davies; and
› Adopt measurable objectives from time to time for achieving
gender diversity at board level – which shall be to maintain
at least 25 per cent, and aspire to 33 per cent female
representation by 2020.

Conflicts of interest and time commitment
The company’s articles of association contain provisions which permit
unconflicted directors to authorise conflict situations. Each director is
required to notify the Chairman of any potential conflict or potential
new appointment or directorship, and the board reviews the position of
each director annually. No changes were recorded which would impact
the independence of any of the directors.
The board does not specify the precise time commitment it requires
from its non-executive directors in taking on the role as they are
expected to fulfil it and manage their diaries accordingly. The board is
content that none of its directors are overcommitted and unable to fulfil
their responsibilities as a board director for United Utilities and are not
‘overboarded’. Each individual’s circumstances are different, as is their
ability to take on the responsibilities of a non-executive directorship
role. Should a director be unable to attend meetings on a regular basis,
not be preparing appropriately or not contributing to board discussions
the Chairman would be responsible for discussing the matter with them
and agreeing a course of action.

Induction of new non-executive directors
An induction programme is devised for each new non-executive director.
It would include one-to-one meetings with the Chairman and each of
the existing non-executive directors. They will have one-to-one meetings
with the CEO, CFO, managing director of the wholesale business and the
company secretary along with other members of the executive team.
They will also meet members of the operational teams and visit some
of the key operational sites and capital projects to ensure they get a
first-hand understanding of the water and wastewater business. New
directors receive a briefing on the key duties of being a director of a
regulated water company, including the role of the regulated company’s
holding company. They will also meet with the strategy and regulation
director and are required to meet with representatives of Ofwat.

Paulette Rowe: summary of induction
› Met with members of the executive team discussing our
business and regulation;
› Visited the integrated control centre based in Warrington,
meeting staff, and discussing the group’s monitoring and
control of its water and wastewater network and assets which
forms the ‘digital brain’ of our network;

Governance

Summary of board diversity policy

› Met with the corporate affairs director and head of
sustainability;
› Met with the customer services and people director to discuss
the actions undertaken by the business to improve service to
customers;
› Met with the director of human resources operations to discuss
the group’s employee agenda;
› Discussed the wholesale operating model with the wastewater
network director and the water and scientific services director;
and
› Met with the chief scientist and visited the water and wastewater
testing laboratories where regulatory and operational samples
are analysed every day providing essential data.

Wider succession pipeline
and talent management
For a number of years, we have had a written succession plan for our
executive directors and other members of the executive team, which
now includes more granularity in terms of timescale. This plan identifies
an interim internal successor to fill a role in the short-term should
the need arise, and the longer-term development needs of potential
successors to be able to fulfil a role on a more permanent basis. As
with all our board appointments, we would always aim to appoint the
best person to fulfil a role. It would be common, when recruiting for a
senior role, for an external search to be conducted alongside an internal
candidate recruitment process.
Any changes that are required to the profile of the management team to
reflect the changing needs of the business are considered by the board
in the executive succession plan. Succession and development initiatives
for senior executives include executive mentoring and coaching and
participating in an executive business school programme. Leadership
development centres have been delivered to identify, and validate
potential for future director and senior leader positions and developing
a number of role-ready diverse candidates to provide the group with
leadership capacity in an increasingly complex environment. The gender
diversity across all talent groups is 30 per cent female and 70 per cent
male; we continue to work to create balance as part of our ongoing
diversity and inclusion plan (see page 78). There have been three senior
appointments during the year from our executive succession plan, Steve
Fraser appointed to COO, James Bullock appointed to strategy and
regulation director and Louise Beardmore now has a broader role with
responsibility for human resources in addition to her customer role.
During the year, board directors have a number of opportunities to
meet with members of the executive team, both formally when senior
managers are required to present at board meetings on matters related
to their responsibilities, and on more informal occasions such as when
they host site visits for board members. Board members also have
the opportunity to meet members of the apprentice and graduate
population and other employees identified as potential talent within the
business.
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What we have done to improve diversity in 2017/18
Our aim is to have a workforce representative of our region and our
customer base, with the capability to deliver requirements now and
in the future. To do this we aim to increase our diversity year on year,
requiring us to attract talent from a wide and diverse talent pool.
Our workforce profile is made up of 64 per cent male and 36 per
cent female, compared to the UK average where 50 per cent of
the workforce are female. We remain committed to improving our
gender balance, but recognise that this will take time to change.

Gender
We have focused on how to challenge tradition and attract more women
into our business, particularly into historically male dominated roles by:
› Evolving and building our employer brand to attract more women
and building relationships with external organisations like Teach First
to help target and attract women with a focus on the STEM-based
roles;
› Evolving our recruitment processes to eliminate unconscious bias
and gathering insight into why women drop out during the process
and committing to having shortlists of diverse candidates for all
roles;
› Putting the spotlight on our female ambassadors to help inspire
and attract talent;
› Reviewing our employee brand across the employee life cycle
to retain and provide a working environment that meets female
requirements;
› Challenging our talent development programme lists to ensure
there is a representative gender split;
› Growing our employee and ambassador networks to give our
women a stronger voice;
› Our CEO Steve Mogford signing the 30 per cent Club campaign to
achieve the target of 30 per cent female representation in senior
leadership teams by 2020. Along with 60 leading companies,
we have joined a national mentoring scheme to support the
succession of our talented women into senior leadership positions;
› Asking our supply chain base to share their approach to improving
diversity; and
› Reviewing quarterly metrics to measure our progress.
In 2017 through our graduate and apprentice campaigns we targeted
our activities at better attracting a more gender diverse intake; we now
have 39 per cent female graduates (as compared with 13 per cent of
the UK science, technology, engineering and maths (STEM) workforce)
and 61 per cent male graduates. Our apprenticeship population is now
23 per cent female and 77 per cent male.

Disability
In the North West 19 per cent of the working age population are
disabled or live with a long-term health condition. Our ability network
aims to support employees with, or those who support, people with
a disability or long-term health condition. In 2017 we gained the
government recognised Disability Confident status.

Ethnicity and social mobility
We are members of the National Apprenticeship Champions Diversity
Network Forum, alongside other companies in the UK, to address
the challenge of recruiting more apprentices from black, Asian and
minority ethnic (BAME) backgrounds.
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Youth unemployment in the North West is higher than the national
average at 11.2 per cent. Throughout 2017 we continued, in
collaboration with our partners, to lead our youth programme.
Since the programme started in 2014, we have helped support 80
young people from across our region who were not in education,
employment or training attain the skills they need for work with 70
per cent of participants moving into paid employment after being
involved in the programme. The objective of our young people plan
is to improve the quality, diversity mix and geographic coverage of
candidates. We have been working with Teach First as a way to gain
access to talented young people from diverse cultural communities
in our region. Teach First works to end educational inequality by
training excellent graduates to teach in schools serving low-income
communities. We have hosted a number of visits from schools
in low-income communities to promote our early years careers
programmes. Pupils participated in practical exercises, such as C.V.
writing. Around 60 per cent of students from the visiting schools
were from BAME backgrounds

Gender pay
At present, we have a higher proportion of men at more senior
levels within our organisation and more men in higher-skilled and
higher-paid roles which contributes to the gender pay gap. We have
an action plan in place which focuses on how we challenge tradition
and attract more women into these currently male dominated
roles; how we develop our female talent to increase the number
of women in senior positions and strengthen succession pipelines;
and leading from the top on a commitment to change. Our gender
equality network (GENEq) aims to support, mentor, develop, inspire
and promote both men and women in United Utilities to realise the
benefits of gender equality. Our gender pay gap figures are shown
below. Further details can be found in the full report, a copy can be
found at unitedutilities.com/corporate/responsibility/employees/
diversity/

Median and mean
gender pay gap

Median and mean bonus
gender pay gap(3)

18.4%

National
median(1)

17.2%

15.9%

Our median(2)

35.1%

13.1%

Our mean(2)

Our median
bonus pay gap

Our mean bonus pay gap

91.7 per cent of males and 84.4 per cent of females received a bonus
payment. Levels are less than 100 per cent as the eligibility criteria
requires a minimum level of service to be completed during the
bonus year and therefore some new starters may not be eligible.
(1) Source : Office for National Statistics October 2017
(2) Source: company payroll data for the month of April 2017
(3) Source: company payroll data, bonus paid in the 12 months period preceding 30 April 2017
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Introduction by Dr John McAdam
“Both myself and Mark Clare, as senior independent director, welcome
the opportunity to engage with investors. Face-to-face meetings are
particularly useful in gaining a better understanding of investors’ views
which would be shared with board colleagues. I am planning for a
number of such meetings to be held later in the year. ”
The board as a whole accepts its responsibility for engaging with
shareholders and is kept fully informed about information in the
marketplace including:
› The investor relations adviser produces an annual survey of investors’
views and perceptions about United Utilities, the results of which are
presented and discussed by the board;
› The board receives regular updates and feedback on investor
meetings involving the CEO; CFO and/or investor relations team and
reports from sector analysts to ensure that the board maintains an
understanding of investors’ priorities; and
› The executive and non-executive directors are available to meet with
major shareholders and institutional investors; this is also one of the
specific roles of the senior independent director.

Institutional investors
We are always keen to engage with our shareholders, hear their views
and update them on developments in our business. As well as current
investors, we engage actively with institutional investors who do not
currently hold shares in United Utilities, as we are keen to ensure our
business is well understood across the investment community, and to
hear and discuss the views of all investors.
We have an active investor relations programme, which includes:
› A regular schedule of face-to-face meetings between the CEO and CFO
and representatives from our major shareholders, supplemented with
meetings hosted by our investor relations team;
› Presentations by the CEO and CFO to groups of institutional investors,
both on an ad hoc basis and linked to our half and full-year results
announcements;
› The programme covers a range of major global financial centres,
typically including the UK, Europe, North America and the Asia Pacific
region;
› Regular feedback is provided to the board on the views of our
institutional investors following these meetings; and
› Close contact is also maintained between the investor relations team
and a range of City analysts that conduct research on United Utilities.
In 2017/18, through our investor relations programme, we met or
offered to meet with 57 per cent, by value, of the overall shareholder
base, which represents 96 per cent of the targetable institutional
shareholder base (when adjusting for shareholders who do not typically
meet with companies, such as indexed funds).

Frequent areas of common interest arising in meetings with investors
include operational and environmental performance, customer service,
capital investment, efficiency initiatives, regulatory performance, regulatory
changes and political risk. Investors are always keen to observe financial
stability and are interested in the level of gearing versus regulatory
assumptions; cost of finance; our debt portfolio and debt maturity profile;
future financing requirements; and dividends. The performance against
the final determination for the 2015–20 period is a key area of interest,
and investors are also keen to understand how the company is performing
relative to the price review allowances and targets each year, along with the
potential implications of regulatory change and political risk. Furthermore,
investors are keen to hear that we are progressing with our plans for the
2020–25 regulatory period and beyond.

Governance
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Retail shareholders
Despite the privatisation process being over 25 years ago, we have
retained a large number of individual shareholders with registered
addresses in the North West of England – in fact over 50 per cent of
registered shareholdings on the share register. We have historically
always held our AGM in our region in Manchester, which enables our
more local shareholders, many of whom are also our customers, to
attend the meeting. We endeavour to hold the meeting at a venue
which is both centrally located in the city (to enable shareholders to use
public transport should they so wish) whilst being mindful of the costs.
There is a considerable amount of information on our website, including
our online report which provides information on our key social and
environmental impacts and performance during the year. Together with
the annual and half-yearly results announcements, our annual report
and financial statements are also available on our website; these are the
principal ways in which we communicate with our retail shareholders.
Our company secretariat and investor relations teams, along with our
registrar, Equiniti, are also on hand to help our retail shareholders with
any queries. Information for shareholders can also be found on the
inside back cover of this document, with a number of useful website
addresses.

Outcome of 2017 AGM
At the 2017 AGM votes were cast in relation to approximately 64 per
cent of the issued share capital. All 23 resolutions were passed by the
required majority. Votes were cast in favour of the reappointment of the
board directors as follows:
Dr John McAdam
Steve Mogford
Stephen Carter
Mark Clare
Alison Goligher

98.54%
99.69%
99.68%
99.74%
99.94%

Russ Houlden
Brian May
Paulette Rowe
Sara Weller

99.06%
99.45%
99.90%
99.36%

Steve Fraser will stand for election by shareholders for the first time at
the 2018 AGM.
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Running a water and wastewater business, by its very nature, requires
a long-term outlook. Our regulatory cycle is based on five-year periods,
and we raise associated funding in order to build and improve our water
and wastewater treatment works and associated network of pipes for
each five-year cycle and beyond. We are heavily reliant on successfully
acquiring long-term funding from banks and the debt capital markets to
fund our capital investment programme and refinance upcoming debt
maturities.
This requires long-term support from our credit investors who invest in
the company by making term funding available in return for receiving
interest on their investment and repayment of principal on maturity of
the loans or bonds. We arrange term debt finance in the bond markets
(with maturities typically ranging from seven years to up to 50 years
at issue). Debt finance is raised via the group’s London listed multiissuer Euro Medium Term Note Programme, which gives us access to
the sterling and euro public bond markets and privately arranged note
issues. Committed credit facilities are arranged with our relationship
banks on a bilateral basis. Additionally, the European Investment Bank
(EIB), which is the financing arm of the European Union (EU), is our
single biggest lender, currently providing around £2 billion of debt and
undrawn facilities to support our capital investment programmes (past
and present). Following the 2016 referendum regarding the UK exiting
the EU (Brexit), it is likely that the EIB will significantly curtail new
lending into the UK once Brexit has been effected. We therefore expect
that post-Brexit, further loans from the EIB will not be available and our
existing loan portfolio with the EIB will enter into ‘run-off’ in line with
the scheduled maturities of each loan. The group is therefore likely to
access the debt capital markets on a more regular basis post Brexit. The
group currently has gross borrowings of circa £7,912 million.
Given the importance of debt funding to our group, we have an active
credit investor programme coordinated by our group treasury team,
which provides a first point of contact for credit investors’ queries and
maintains a dedicated area of the company’s website. One-to-one
meetings are held with credit investors through a programme aimed at
the major European fund managers known to invest in corporate bonds
that may be existing holders of the group’s debt or potential holders.
Regular mailings of company information are sent in order to keep
credit investors informed of significant events. The treasury team has
regular dialogue with the group’s relationship banks and the EIB and the
credit rating agencies. More information can be found on our website at
unitedutilities.com/corporate/investors/credit-investors.

Code principle – Accountability

All the actions relating to improvements to the risk management
framework that were identified by the investigation undertaken by
Mark Clare, senior independent director, following the Lancashire water
quality incident in 2015 have been completed. A series of briefing
sessions were held with other industry executives and stakeholders to
share lessons learnt from the Lancashire water quality incident of 2015.

Review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems
During the year, the board reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management systems and internal control systems, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. Taking into account the principal
risks and uncertainties set out on pages 54 to 57, and the ongoing work
of the audit committee in monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems on behalf of the board (and to whom the committee
provides regular updates, see pages 88 and 89), the board:
› Is satisfied that it has carried out a robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the company, including those that would threaten its
business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity; and
› Has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems including all material financial, operational and
compliance controls (including those relating to the financial reporting
process) and no significant failings or weaknesses were identified.
After review, it was concluded that through a combination of the work
of the board, the audit committee and the UUW board (with specific
responsibility for operational and compliance controls), the company’s
risk management and internal controls were indeed effectively
monitored throughout the year.
In the review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal
controls systems the board also took into account the:
› Biannual review of significant risks (see page 54);
› Reviewing the outcome of the biannual business unit risk assessment
process (see page 88);
› Reviewing and assessing the activities and effectiveness of internal
audit (see page 88);

Introduction by Dr John McAdam

› Reviewing management’s internal control self-assessment
(see page 89);

“ A series of briefing sessions were held with other industry executives
and stakeholders to share lessons learnt from the Lancashire water
quality incident of 2015.”

› Oversight of treasury matters (in particular the debt financing and
interest rate management (see page 50); and

Board’s approach to risk management
and internal control

› Reviewing the business risk management framework and
management’s approach and tolerance towards risk with a
particular focus on financial and operational risk (see page 88).

The board discharges its responsibility for determining the nature
and extent of the risks that it is willing to take to achieve its strategic
objectives through the risk appetite framework. Sitting alongside the
risk management framework, risk appetite captures on an annual basis
the board’s desire to take and manage risk relative to the company’s
obligations, stakeholder interests and the capacity and capability of our
key resources.
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The board is also responsible for ensuring that the company’s risk
management and internal control systems are effectively managed
across the business and that they receive an appropriate level of scrutiny
and board time. The group’s risks predominantly reflect those of all
regulated water and wastewater companies. These generally relate
to the failing of regulatory performance targets or failing to fulfil our
obligations in any five-year planning cycle, potentially leading to the
imposition of fines and penalties in addition to reputational damage.

› Reviewing reports from the group audit and risk board (see page 88);

Going concern and long-term viability
The board, following the review by the audit committee, concluded
that it was appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
(see page 140). Similarly, in accordance with the principles of the Code,
the board concluded, following the recommendation from the audit
committee, that it was appropriate to provide the long-term viability
statement (see below). Assurance supporting these statements was
provided by the review of: the group’s key financial measures and
contingent liabilities; the key credit financial ratios; and the group’s

liquidity and ongoing ability to meet its financial covenants. As part of
the assurance process, the board also took into account the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the company, and the actions taken
to mitigate those risks. These principal risks and uncertainties are
detailed on pages 54 to 57, as are the risk management processes and
structures used to monitor and manage them. Biannually, the board
receives a report detailing management’s assessment of the most
significant risks facing the company. The report gives an indication of
the level of exposure, subject to the mitigating controls in place, for the
risk profile of the group, while also highlighting the reputational and
customer service impact. This provides the board with information in
two categories: group-wide business risks; and wholesale operational
risks. The board also receives information during the year from the
treasury committee (to which the board has delegated matters of a
treasury nature – see the structure diagram on page 67) including such
matters as liquidity policy, the group’s capital funding requirements
and interest rate management. Furthermore, the board believes that
under the current regulatory and statutory framework a period of five
years to assess the group’s long-term viability is appropriate, amongst
other things, because of the underlying protection provided by Ofwat’s
primary legal duty to ensure that water and wastewater companies are
able to finance their functions.

Long-term viability statement
The directors have assessed the viability of the group, taking account
of the group’s current position, the potential impact of the principal
risks facing the business in severe but reasonable scenarios, and the
effectiveness of any mitigating actions. This assessment has been
performed in the context of the group’s prospects as considered over
the longer-term. Based on this viability assessment, the directors have
a reasonable expectation that the company will be able to continue
in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the five-year
period to March 2023.
This viability statement is based on the fundamental assumption that
the current regulatory and statutory framework does not substantively
change, for example a change which facilitated the compulsory purchase
of the shares or assets of either UUW or UUG for the Renationalisation
of the water sector, throughout the viability assessment period.
The long-term planning detailed on page 35 assesses the group’s
prospects and establishes its strategy over a 25-year time horizon
consistent with its rolling 25-year licence and its published long-term
strategy. This provides a framework for the group’s strategic planning
process, and is key to achieving the group’s aim of providing the best
service to customers at the lowest sustainable cost and in a responsible
manner over the longer-term, underpinning our business model set out
on pages 18 to 28. In order to achieve this aim and promote the longterm sustainability and resilience of the business, due consideration
is given to the management of risks that could impact on the business
model, future performance, solvency and liquidity of the group. An
overview of our risk management approach that supports the group’s
long-term planning and prospects, together with the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the business, can be found on pages 54 to 57.
The viability statement for the five-year period to March 2023 has
been assessed based upon the group’s medium-term business planning
process, which sits within the overarching strategic planning process and
considers:
› The group’s current liquidity position – which provides headroom to
cover projected financing needs through until mid-2019;
› The group’s robust capital solvency position – with a debt to
regulatory capital value (RCV) ratio of around 60 per cent, providing
considerable headroom supporting access to medium-term liquidity
as required; and
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› The current regulatory framework within which the group operates –
which provides a high degree of certainty over cashflows in the short to
medium-term and broader regulatory protections in the longer-term.
The analysis underpinning this assessment has been through a robust
internal review process, which has included scrutiny and challenge from
the audit committee, and has been reviewed by the group’s external
auditors, KPMG, as part of their normal audit procedures.
The group has a proven track record of being able to raise new forms
of finance in most market conditions, and expects to continue to do so
into the future. In addition, the board has considered the protections
which exist from the regulatory and economic environment within which
it operates. From an economic perspective, given the market structure
of water and wastewater services, threats to the group’s viability from
risks such as reduced market share, substitution of services and reduced
demand are low compared to those faced by many other industries.
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From a regulatory perspective the group currently benefits from a
rolling 25-year licence and a regulatory regime in which regulators
– including the economic regulator, Ofwat – are required to have
regard to the principles of best regulatory practice. These include
that regulation should be carried out in a way which is transparent,
accountable, proportionate, consistent and targeted. Ofwat’s primary
duties provide that it should protect consumers’ interests, by promoting
effective competition wherever appropriate, secure that the company
properly carries out its statutory functions, secure that the company
can finance the proper carrying out of these functions – in particular
through securing reasonable returns on capital, and secure that water
and wastewater supply systems have long-term resilience and that the
company takes steps to meet long-term demands for water supplies and
wastewater services.
The business planning process is closely aligned with these principles,
and, coupled with the group’s robust management of risks, gives
confidence that current and future regulatory price controls will provide
certainty around cash flows that will support the continuing viability
and prospects of the group. For these reasons the board considers it
appropriate to provide a medium-term viability statement of five years.
The directors have assessed the group’s viability in the context of
its expected performance and past ability to deliver for customers,
considering the principal risks as set out on pages 54 to 57 and its ability
to absorb a number of severe but reasonable scenarios including those
arising from operational and environmental risks, political and regulatory
risks, the risk of critical asset failure and the potential for a restriction
to the availability of financing resulting from a global capital markets
crisis. The viability assessment has considered the potential impacts
of these risks on the group’s business model, future performance,
solvency and liquidity based on a number of stress-tested and sensitised
scenarios in which the group is assumed to face a series of the top risks
in terms of the most severe impact and likelihood of occurence over
the course of the viability assessment period. As well as the protections
which exist from the regulatory environment within which the group
operates, a number of mitigating actions are available in the kind of
severe scenarios considered, including the raising of new finance, capital
programme deferral, the close-out of derivative asset positions, the
restriction of dividend payments and access to additional equity. These
actions provide the group with significant scope to improve its liquidity
and capital position to further absorb such threats.
The directors also considered it appropriate to prepare the financial
statements on the going concern basis, as explained in the basis of
preparation paragraph in note 1 to the accounts (see page 140).
Read more about Our business model on pages 18 to 28
Read more about the Principal risks and uncertainties on pages 54 to 57
Read more online at www.unitedutilities.com/corporate/about-us/
our-future-plans/our-long-term-strategy/
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The audit committee has a particular role acting independently from
the executive to ensure that the interests of shareholders are properly
protected in relation to financial reporting and internal control.

Dear Shareholder

Quick facts
› Brian May has chaired the committee since July 2013. He is a
serving finance director of a FTSE 100 company and chartered
accountant and is considered by the board to have recent and
relevant financial experience;
› All members of the committee are independent non-executive
directors and the Board is satisfied that the committee as
a whole has sectoral competence and its members have an
appropriate level of experience of corporate financial matters;
› Other regular attendees at meetings include the Chairman, the
CEO, the CFO, the company secretary, the head of audit and
risk, the group controller, and representatives from the external
auditor KPMG LLP (KPMG);
› The representatives from KPMG and the head of audit and risk
are each afforded time with the committee and the company
secretary to raise freely any concerns they may have without
management being present; and
› The committee is authorised to seek outside legal or other
independent professional advice as it sees fit, but has not done
so during the year.

Quick links
Terms of reference –
unitedutilities.com/corporate-governance

Audit committee members
Brian May (chair)
Stephen Carter

Alison Goligher

(relinquished 1 July 2017)

Paulette Rowe (appointed

1 July 2017)

All directors have a duty to act in a way that they consider, in good faith,
would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the
benefit of its members as a whole and have regard to other stakeholders
as set out in s172 of the Companies Act 2006. The Disclosure and
Transparency Rules set out the need for an audit committee and the
responsibilities that the committee should fulfil.
In the ‘2016 Guidance on Audit Committees’, which accompanies the
2016 UK Corporate Governance Code against which we are reporting
this year, the FRC articulated that whilst all directors have a duty to act in
the interests of the company, the audit committee has a particular role,
acting independently from the executive to ensure that the interests of
shareholders are properly protected in relation to financial reporting
and internal control. However, the board has overall responsibility for an
organisation’s approach to risk management and internal control.
In my following report I have sought to provide shareholders with an
understanding of the work that we have done to provide assurance on
the integrity of the 2017/18 annual report and financial statements.
In reviewing the group’s financial statements the committee reviews
both the judgements made by management, whether management’s
accounting policies are appropriate, and the external audit work
undertaken by KPMG as set out in the audit plan. KPMG present their
audit plan to the committee before the work starts, it includes the areas
on which the audit will focus and the materiality thresholds. KPMG’s
independent auditor’s report, setting out its opinions and conclusions,
can be found on pages 128 to 133. Information on the committee’s
overview of the group’s internal controls and risk management activities
can be found on pages 88 to 89.
During the year the committee asked KPMG to perform an in-depth
internal quality performance review of the 2016/17 audit as a
consequence of the Financial Reporting Council’s Audit Quality Report
(FRC’s AQR) of the 2015/16 audit. As reported in the 2016/17 audit
committee report, we were satisfied that KPMG had taken appropriate
action to enhance the quality of their audit process relating to the
2016/17 audit. The committee was satisfied with the findings of the
in-depth internal quality performance review which were presented
to it in September 2017 (see page 85).
Our 2018 long-term viability statement can be found on page 81; we
continue to be of the opinion that a period of five years is appropriate
to assess the group’s viability given the nature of the business and
the regulatory investment and planning cycles; and the underlying
protection afforded by Ofwat’s primary duties to protect consumers’
interests, by promoting effective competition wherever appropriate,
secure that the company can finance the proper carrying out of these
functions – in particular through securing reasonable returns on capital,
and secure that water and wastewater supply systems have long-term
resilience and that the company takes steps to meet long-term demands
for water supplies and wastewater supplies. Further information on our
long-term planning cycles can be found in our business model section in
the strategic report on pages 18 to 28.
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Pictured: Paulette Rowe, Brian May and Stephen Carter

Much of the work of the committee is necessarily targeted at the
regulated activities of UUW, which represent over 98 per cent of
group revenues and is a reflection of our commitment to safeguarding
the interests of our stakeholders, particularly our shareholders and
customers.
The committee also reviews the internal control and risk management
processes, leaving the review of the significant risks to be undertaken by
the board with support from the group audit and risk board (see pages
56 to 57, and page 88).
As chair of the committee I reiterate the board’s view (see page 65) that
the committee as a whole has sectoral competence as disclosed in the
biographies of the relevant committee members (see the biographies
of the directors on pages 60 to 63). All members contribute to the
work of the committee and have the skills and necessary degree of
financial literacy. As non-executive directors, my colleagues and I are
of an independent mindset and would have no hesitation in seeking
clarification and a full explanation from management or the external
auditor on any matter we feel necessary.

We have worked to enhance this report and make it more informative
for the reader and we continue to be committed to providing
meaningful disclosure of the committee’s activities. As chair of the audit
committee, I am intent on ensuring that the committee’s agenda is kept
under review and keeps abreast of relevant developments. The details
of the annual evaluation process of the committee’s performance, which
was conducted by Lintstock Consultants, can be found on page 70.
The following report was approved by the committee at its meeting held
on 16 May 2018.
Brian May
Chairman of the audit committee

Main responsibilities of the committee
›› Make a recommendation to the board for the appointment or
reappointment of the auditor, and to be responsible for the tender of
the audit from time to time and to agree the fees paid to the auditor;

›› Review the scope, remit and effectiveness of the internal audit
function and the group’s internal control and risk management
systems;

›› Establish policies for the provision of any non-audit services by the
auditor;

›› Review the group’s procedures for whistleblowing, reporting fraud
and other inappropriate behaviour and to receive reports relating
thereto; and

›› Review the scope and the results of the annual audit and report to
the board on the effectiveness of the audit process and how the
independence and objectivity of the auditor has been safeguarded;

›› Report to the board on how it has discharged its responsibilities.

›› Review the half-year and annual financial statements and any
announcements relating to financial performance, including reporting
to the board on the significant issues considered by the committee in
relation to the financial statements and how these were addressed;
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What has been on the committee’s agenda during the year?
The committee has an extensive agenda of items of business focusing on the audit, assurance and risk processes within the business which it deals
with in conjunction with senior management, the auditor, the internal audit function and the financial reporting team. In doing so it ensures that
high standards of financial governance in line with the regulatory framework as well as market practice for audit committees going forward are
maintained. There were four scheduled meetings of the committee during the year. Items of business considered by the committee during the year
are set out in the table below.
− Considered the issues and findings brought to the committee’s attention by the internal audit team and satisfying itself that
management has resolved or is in the process of resolving any outstanding issues or concerns;
− Reviewed the reports from the financial reporting team on the financial statements, and considering matters such as the
accounting judgements and policies being applied and how the statutory audit contributed to the integrity of the financial
reporting;
− Reviewed the regulatory reporting process relating to the annual performance report for UUW as required to be submitted
to Ofwat and noted the differences between the regulatory and statutory accounts;
− Reviewed the company’s responses to changes to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in particular IFRS 9
financial instruments, IFRS 15 revenue from contracts with customers and IFRS 16 leases;
− Reviewed the proposed audit strategy for the 2017/18 statutory audit, including the level of materiality applied by KPMG,
audit reports from KPMG on the financial statements and the areas of particular focus for the 2017/18 audit and tasking
management to resolve any issues relating to internal controls and risk management systems;
− Reviewed the basis of preparation of the financial statements as a going concern (prior to making its recommendations to
the board) as set out in the accounting policies;
− Reviewed the long-term viability statement prior to making its recommendations to the board;
− Reviewed the results of the committee’s assessment of the effectiveness of the 2016/17 external audit and confirmation
of the independence of the auditor and made a recommendation to the board on the reappointment of KPMG at the
forthcoming annual general meeting;
− Reviewed the 2017/18 annual report and financial statements and provided a recommendation to the board that they
complied with the Code principle to be ‘fair, balanced and understandable’;
− Reviewed KPMG’s internal quality performance report in relation to its review of the 2016/17 audit;
− Monitored the completion of actions relating to the risk management framework identified following the Lancashire water
quality incident;
− Reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems prior to making a recommendation to
the board;
− Reviewed the statutory audit fee for the year ended 31 March 2018;
− Reviewed and approved the non-audit services and related fees provided by the statutory auditor for the year 2017/2018;
approval of a revised policy on non-audit services provided by the auditor for 2018/19 which is in accordance with the
European Union Audit Directive and Audit Regulation which came into force in the UK from 17 June 2016;
− Monitored incidents of whistleblowing and fraud reporting;
− Biannual oversight and monitoring of the group’s compliance with the Bribery Act which the board then reviews annually;
− Approved the strategic internal audit planning approach and reviewed reports on the work of the internal audit function
from the head of audit and risk;
− Reviewed the quality and effectiveness of internal audit and the effectiveness of the current co-source arrangements; and
− Reviewed the committee’s terms of reference and the conclusions of the committee’s annual evaluation. The externally
facilitated evaluation was undertaken as part of the overall board evaluation. The review explored: time management and
the composition of the committee; the committee’s processes and support; and the agenda and work of the committee. All
elements of the workings of the committee reviewed were highly rated. It was concluded that the committee continued to
be effective.
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Cross reference
See page 88
See page 87

See page 141
See page 128

See page 140
See page 81
See page 85

See page 85
See page 83
See page 89
See page 88
See page 86
See page 86

See page 89
See page 89
See page 89
See page 88
See page 70

How we assessed whether ‘the annual report
and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable and provides
the information necessary for shareholders
to assess the company’s position and
performance, business model and strategy’
The committee, further to the board’s request, has reviewed the annual
report and financial statements with the intention of providing advice
to the board on whether, as required by the Code, ‘the annual report
and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
company’s position and performance, business model and strategy’.
To make this assessment, the committee received copies of the annual
report and financial statements to review during the drafting process
to ensure that the key messages being followed in the annual report
were aligned with the company’s position, performance and strategy
being pursued and that the narrative sections of the annual report
were consistent with the financial statements. The significant issues
considered by the committee in relation to the financial statements
were consistent with those identified by the external auditor in their
report on pages 128 to 133.
The committee received regular updates on the calculation of
underlying operating profit measures as one of the principal alternative
performance measures (APMs). A guide to APMs can be found on pages
52 to 53. APMs are used in accordance with the ESMA guidelines and
management highlight any impact on APMs as a result of changes to
accounting methods/transactions.
The key performance indicators included in the strategic report (see
pages 38 to 39) were, amongst others, those used by management
and some of which reflect the regulatory measures to be monitored by
either Ofwat, the DWI or the EA during the 2015–20 period.
In addition, the committee was satisfied that all the key events and
issues which had been reported to the board in the CEO’s monthly
report during the year, both good and bad, had been adequately
referenced or reflected within the annual report.

How we assessed the effectiveness
of the external audit process
The committee, on behalf of the board, is responsible for the
relationship with the external auditor, and part of that role is to examine
the effectiveness of the audit process. Audit quality is a key requirement
of the external audit process.
We reported last year that the FRC had undertaken a review of KPMG’s
audit of the company for the 2015/16 financial year, referred to as the
FRC’s AQR, and it was confirmed that KPMG had taken appropriate
action to enhance the quality of the audit process for the 2016/17
financial year.
The committee asked KPMG to undertake an in-depth internal quality
performance review of the 2016/17 audit. The review was undertaken
by a recently retired partner of KPMG who regularly undertakes quality
control reviews of KPMG audits. The reviewer confirmed to the committee
that the principal findings of the FRC’s AQR had been adequately
addressed in the 2016/17 audit. KPMG work to their own audit quality
framework, with a view to ensuring that their employees concentrate on
the fundamental skills and behaviours required to deliver an appropriate
and independent opinion. As a further commitment to improving audit
quality, KPMG provided extra resource, to supplement the usual audit
team ensuring additional oversight and review of the 2017/18 audit.

Prior to the statutory audit work starting, KPMG presented the strategy
and scope of the audit for the forthcoming financial year, highlighting
any areas which would be given special consideration. KPMG then report
against this audit scope at subsequent committee meetings providing
an opportunity for the committee to monitor progress. Private meetings
are held at each committee meeting between the audit committee, the
company secretary and representatives of the external auditor without
management being present in order to encourage open and transparent
feedback by both parties.
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On completion of the audit process at the full-year, all members of the
committee, as well as key members of the senior management team
and those who regularly provide input into the audit committee or have
regular contact with the auditor, were required to complete a feedback
questionnaire seeking their views on how well KPMG performed the
year-end audit.
Views of the respondents were sought in terms of:
› The robustness of the audit process and degree of challenge to
matters of significant audit risk and areas of management subjectivity;
› The quality of the delivery of the audit;
› The expertise of the audit team conducting the audit;
› That the degree of professional scepticism applied by the auditor was
appropriate;
› The appropriateness of the communication between the committee
and the auditor in terms of technical issues;
› The quality of the service they gave;
› Their views on the quality of the interaction between the audit
partner, the audit director and the company; and
› Whether the statutory audit contributed to the group’s financial
reporting.
The feedback was collated and presented to the committee’s meeting
in November 2017, at which the conclusions were discussed and any
opportunities for improvement brought to the attention of the external
auditor.
In summary, the committee concluded that the overall external audit
process and services provided by KPMG were satisfactory and effective.

How we assessed the independence
of our external auditor
There are two aspects to auditor independence that the committee
monitors to ensure that the external auditor remains independent of the
company.
First, in assessing the independence of the auditor from the company the
committee takes into account the information and assurances provided by
the external auditor confirming that all its partners and staff involved with
the audit are independent of any links to United Utilities. KPMG confirmed
that all its partners and staff complied with their ethics and independence
policies and procedures which are fully consistent with the FRC’s Revised
Ethical Standard 2016 (FRC’s Ethical Standard) including that none of
its employees working on our audit hold any shares in United Utilities
Group PLC. KPMG is also required to provide written disclosure at the
planning stage of the audit about any significant relationships and matters
that may reasonably be thought to have an impact on its objectivity and
independence and that of the lead partner and the audit team. The lead
partner must change every five years and other senior audit staff rotate at
regular intervals.
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Second, the committee develops and recommends to the board the
company’s policy on non-audit services and associated fees that are paid
to KPMG. The EU Audit Directive (2014/56/EU) and Audit Regulation
(537/2014) (the Regulation) came into force in the UK on 17 June 2016.
Associated guidance was included in the FRC’s Ethical Standard, which
prohibits the statutory auditor from providing certain non-audit services
to public interest entities (i.e. United Utilities Group PLC) as such
services could impede their independence. The FRC’s Ethical Standard
clarified that non-audit services would be subject to a fee cap of no
more than 70 per cent of the average annual statutory audit fee for the
three consecutive financial periods preceding the financial period in
which the cap will apply. The cap will first apply for the group in the year
ending 31 March 2021 and, as such, the year ended 31 March 2018 will
be the first year of the initial three-year rolling period over which the
annual statutory audit fee will be measured for this purpose. In March
2017, the committee revised its non-audit services policy incorporating
the 70 per cent fee cap as described above with effect from 1 April 2017.
Furthermore, a limit of £10,000 is applied for individual items that the
CFO can approve, with individual items in excess of £10,000 requiring
the approval of the committee.
Fees for non-audit services are shown in the bar chart below (2018:
£80,000) and represent 21 per cent of the total audit fees. Non-audit
services fees for the prior years (2017: £201,000; 2016: £288,000) were
considerably higher reflecting the inclusion of fees paid to Makinson
Cowell, a subsidiary of KPMG, which provided investor relations services
to the group until 31 March 2017. Such services are regarded to be a
prohibited service under the Regulation. Fees paid to KPMG also include
the cost of the UUW regulatory assurance work they undertake which
is separate to the regulatory audit. Whilst this work could be performed
by a different firm, the information is in fact more granular breakdowns
of data that forms part of the statutory audit, and by KPMG undertaking
the work it reduces duplication and saves considerable cost.

Work undertaken by KPMG in auditing management’s methodology
and processes in the implementation of the new international financial
reporting standards and related disclosures and judgements is included
in the statutory audit fee.
Taking into account our findings in relation to the effectiveness of
the audit process and in relation to the independence of KPMG, the
committee was satisfied that KPMG continues to be independent, and
free from any conflicting interest with the group.

External auditor reappointment
We last undertook a formal tender process for statutory audit services
in 2011. KPMG commenced their appointment as auditor and presented
their first report to shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2012.
Audit partners must rotate every five years. Bill Meredith, who has
considerable audit experience of other FTSE 100 utility companies, was
appointed as the lead audit partner for the year ended 31 March 2017.
The 2017/18 year end audit has been KPMG’s seventh consecutive year
in office as statutory auditor. As previously reported, the most recent
audit tender review was undertaken in September 2015, when it was
concluded that the committee would next undertake a competitive
tender for statutory audit services for the year ended 31 March 2022,
most probably during 2020. This was felt to be an appropriate point
in the regulatory cycle, due to the benefits of having an experienced
audit team in place in the run-up to the 2019 price determination for
the regulatory period commencing on 1 April 2020. United Utilities has
complied fully with the provisions of The Statutory Audit Services for
Large Companies Market Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive
Tender Processes and Audit Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014 for
the year ended 31 March 2018.
As a result, the committee recommended to the board that KPMG be
proposed for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM in July 2018. There
are no contractual obligations that restrict the committee’s choice of
external auditor; the recommendation is free from third-party influence
and no auditor liability agreement has been entered into.
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accordance with the audit committee's policy.

Significant issues considered by the
committee in relation to the financial
statements and how these were addressed
In relation to the group’s financial statements, the committee reviewed the
following principal areas of judgement (as noted in the accounting policies):

Capitalisation of fixed assets

Fixed assets (see page 149) represent a subjective area, particularly in
relation to costs permitted for capitalisation and depreciation policy.
› In considering the work performed by KPMG during the year in this
area, the committee assessed the reasonableness of the group’s
capitalisation policy and the basis on which expenditure is determined
to relate to the enhancement or maintenance of assets. These were
both deemed to be appropriate; and
› The committee also reviewed the recovery of the capital overhead
rate which management has applied during the year and which the
committee had approved in the year ended 31 March 2015 for the
five-year regulatory period ending 31 March 2020. The committee
concluded that the rate still remained appropriate.

Revenue recognition and allowance
for doubtful receivables

Due to the nature of the group’s business, the extent to which revenue is
recognised and doubtful customer debts are provided against is an area
of considerable judgement and estimation.
› The committee reviewed the current levels of doubtful debt and
credit note provisioning (see pages 151 and 152) for more detail). The
committee challenged management over the appropriateness of the
overall levels of provisioning following these reviews and was satisfied
that the resulting net debtor balance was appropriate.

Retirement benefits

The group’s defined benefit retirement schemes are an area of
considerable judgement, the performance and position of which is
sensitive to the assumptions made.
› The committee sought from management an understanding as to the
factors which led to the increase in the IAS 19 net retirement benefit
surplus during the period and noted that the scheme specific funding
basis had not been impacted by this volatility. Management presented
an explanatory note (see pages 167 and 168) in order to communicate
most effectively what is a complex area for the benefit of the group’s
stakeholders. The committee was satisfied with the explanations
provided by management and following a review of the explanatory
note approved its inclusion in the financial statements; and
› The committee reviewed the methodology and assumptions used
in calculating the defined benefit scheme IAS 19 surplus (see pages
167 to 171 for more details). The group employs the services of an
external actuary to perform these calculations and determine the
appropriate assumptions to make. KPMG presented a report showing
how the assumptions applied compared to their client base. After
considering the above, the committee concluded that the approach
taken and assumptions made were appropriate and fairly balanced in
determining the net retirement benefit surplus.

Provisions and contingencies

The group makes provisions for contractual and legal claims which, by
their nature, are subjective and require management to arrive at a best
estimate as to the probable outcomes and costs associated with each
individual case.

› The committee received regular updates on new and existing
claims being made against the group and the extent to which these
have been provided for (see page 155 for details). The committee
focused their attention on the more significant items and discussed
the judgements made by management in arriving at appropriate
provisions in relation to these matters; and
› Based upon the facts behind each provision and taking account of any
relevant legal advice that may have been received as well as the past
experience of management in making such provisions and challenging
where necessary the views taken by management and through the
assurance provided by KPMG who cover these as part of their audit,
the committee concluded that the provisions management had made
were appropriate.
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Carrying value of loans to and investments in
joint ventures

The group has interests relating to its joint ventures in the form of equity
investments (see page 150) and loans receivable (see page 172), the
recoverability of which are considered with reference to the estimated
future cash flows of the joint ventures. Management tests whether
any impairment exists in relation to the equity investments and loans
receivable if adverse changes in conditions associated with the joint
ventures suggest that this is appropriate. The committee scrutinised
the impairment assessments performed by management during the
year by reviewing the valuations that underpin the carrying values of
these amounts and challenging the methodology and assumptions used.
Following robust discussion on this issue, the committee confirmed
that it was satisfied that the carrying values of these interests as at the
reporting date were recoverable.

Derivative financial instruments

The group has a significant value of swap instruments, the valuation
of which is based upon models which require certain judgements
and assumptions to be made (see page 166). Management performs
periodic checks to ensure that the model derived valuations agree back
to third-party valuations and KPMG check a sample against their own
valuation models. It was confirmed to the committee that such testing
had been undertaken during the year and there were no significant
issues identified.

Underlying operating profit adjustments

During the year the committee considered and challenged
management’s treatment of items as adjustments to underlying
operating profit (see pages 52 and 53) and satisfied itself that those
items being reported as adjustments met the requirements of the
group’s policy.
In reading the above significant issues considered by the committee,
shareholders might also wish to examine the auditor’s report and their
assessment of risks of material misstatement on pages 128 to 130.

New accounting standards

The group will adopt a number of new accounting standards in the
coming years, with IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ and IFRS 15 ‘Revenue
from Contracts with Customers’ becoming effective on 1 April 2018
and IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ coming into effect on 1 April 2019. The committee
reviewed and approved the proposed judgements and disclosures
associated with the implementation of these standards, with a particular
focus on those relating to accounting for capital income under IFRS 15.
Read more about Our business model on pages 18 to 28
Read more about the Principal risks and uncertainties on pages 54 to 57
Read more online at www.unitedutilities.com/corporate/about-us/
our-future-plans/our-long-term-strategy/
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The main features of the group’s internal
controls and risk management systems
are summarised below:
a. Internal audit function

The internal audit function is a key element of the group’s corporate
governance framework. Its role is to provide independent and objective
assurance, advice and insight on governance, risk management and
internal control to the audit committee, the board and to senior
management. It supports the organisation’s vision and objectives by
evaluating and assessing the effectiveness of risk management systems,
business policies and processes, systems and key internal controls. In
addition to reviewing the effectiveness of these areas and reporting
on aspects of the group’s compliance with them, internal audit makes
recommendations to address any key issues and improve processes,
and as such, provides an indication of the behaviours being exhibited
by employees in the areas under review. Once any recommendations
are agreed with management, the internal audit monitors their
implementation and reports to the committee on progress made at
every meeting.
A five-year strategic audit planning approach is applied. This facilitates
an efficient deployment of internal audit resource in providing
assurance coverage over time across the whole business, as well as
greater variation in the nature, depth and breadth of audit activities.
This strategic approach supports the annual audit plan, which is then
endorsed by management, and which the committee also approves.
The plan focuses the team’s work on those areas of greatest risk to the
business. Building on the strategic planning approach, the development
of the plan considers risk assessments, issues raised by management,
areas of business and regulatory change, prior audit findings and the
cyclical review programme. The purpose, scope and authority of internal
audit is defined within its charter which is approved annually by the
audit committee.
The in-house team is expanded as and when required with additional
resource and skills sourced from external providers – primarily PwC at
present. The committee keeps the relationship with PwC under review
to ensure the independence of the internal audit function is maintained
and there is a documented process to manage possible conflicts of
interest with the co-sourced resource. In the course of its work, the
internal audit function also liaises with the statutory auditor, discussing
relevant aspects of their respective activities which ultimately supports
the assurance provided to the audit committee and board. During the
year, the committee reviewed the current operating model in particular
the balance of in-house versus co-sourced resource and concluded that,
while minor improvements were identified, the current approach was
satisfactory.

b. Assessing the effectiveness of the
internal audit function

The effectiveness of the internal audit function’s work is continually
monitored using a variety of inputs including the ongoing audit reports
received, the audit committee’s interaction with the head of audit and
risk, an annual review of the department’s internal quality assurance
report, a quarterly summary dashboard providing a snapshot of the
progress against the internal audit plan tabled at each committee
meeting as well as any other periodic quality reporting requested.
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An annual stakeholder survey in the form of a feedback questionnaire
is circulated to committee members, senior management and other
managers who have regular contact with the internal audit function,
including representatives from the external auditor KPMG and the
co-source audit provider PwC. The responses were anonymous to
encourage open and honest feedback, and were consistently favourable
as were previous surveys.
From time to time, the quality and effectiveness of the internal audit
function is also assessed externally, and was most recently undertaken in
2015. Taking all these elements into account, the committee concluded
that the internal audit function was effective and appropriate resources
were available as required. An external assessment will next be
undertaken in 2018/19.
Internal audit, led by the head of audit and risk, covers the group’s
principal activities and reports to the committee and functionally to the
CFO. The head of audit and risk attends all scheduled meetings of the
audit committee, and has the opportunity to raise any matters with the
members of the committee at these meetings without the presence
of management. He is also in regular contact with the chair of the
committee outside of the committee meetings.

c. Risk management systems

The committee receives updates and reports from the head of audit and
risk on key activities relating to the company’s risk management systems
and processes at every meeting. These are then reported to the board,
as appropriate. The group designs its risk management activities in order
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve its strategic
objectives.
The CFO has executive responsibility for risk management and is
supported in this role by the head of audit and risk and the corporate
risk manager and his team. The group audit and risk board (GARB) is
a sub-committee of the executive team. The GARB meets quarterly
and reviews the governance processes and the effectiveness and
performance of these processes along with the identification of
emerging trends and themes within and across the business. The work
of the GARB then feeds into the information and assurance processes of
the audit committee and into the board’s assessment of risk exposures
and the strategies to manage these risks.
Supplementing the more detailed ongoing risk management activities
within each business area, the bi-annual business unit risk assessment
process (BURA) seeks to identify how well risk management is
embedded across the different teams in the business. The BURA
involves a high level review of the effectiveness of the controls that
each business unit has in place to mitigate risks relating to activities
in their business area, while also identifying new and emerging risks
and generally to facilitate improvements in the way risks are managed.
The outcome of the BURA process is communicated to the executive
team and the board. This then forms the basis of the determination
of the most significant risks that the company faces which are then
reviewed by the board. The group utilises risk management software
to underpin the company’s risk management process. The maturity of
the risk management framework and its application across the business
is assessed on an annual basis against a defined maturity model. This
assessment provides an objective appraisal of the degree of maturity
in how the risk management system is being applied and the quality of
each risk in terms of quantification and management. The results of the
maturity assessment are reported to the GARB, and actions agreed with
business units.

An external assessment of the risk management process took place
in 2015/16 as part of the internal investigation of the Lancashire
water quality incident that occurred in August 2015. The committee
was responsible for monitoring progress of the implementation of
the actions identified to improve the risk management framework.
It was confirmed to the committee that all relevant actions had
been completed in November 2017. An internal audit confirmed the
completion of the Lancashire water quality incident risk management
actions and reaffirmed that the risk management framework was in line
with good practice.

d. Internal controls

The committee reviews the group’s internal control systems and
receives updates on the findings of internal audit’s investigations at
every meeting, prior to reporting any significant matters to the board.
Internal control systems are part of our ‘business as usual’ activities and
are documented in the company’s internal control manual which covers
financial, operational and compliance controls and processes. Internal
control systems are the responsibility of the CFO, with the support of the
GARB, the financial control team and the internal audit team, although
the head of audit and risk and his team are directly accountable to the
audit committee.
Confirmation that the controls and processes are being adhered to
throughout the business is the responsibility of managers, but is
continually tested by the work of the internal audit team as part of its
annual plan of work which the committee approves each year as well as
aspects being tested by other internal assurance providers. Compliance
with the internal control system is monitored annually by the completion
of a self-assessment checklist by senior managers in consultation with
their teams. The results are then reviewed and audited on a sample
basis by the internal audit team and reported to the committee.

unitedutilities.com/corporate

The audit committee is kept fully appraised in regular updates on the
progress of investigation of cases of whistleblowing and alleged fraud
and the findings of any investigation and remedial actions. A number of
employees have been selected and received specialist training in order
to conduct investigations of cases of whistleblowing and alleged fraud.
The company has an anti-bribery policy to prevent bribery being
committed on its behalf, which all employees must follow, and processes
in place to monitor compliance with the policy. As part of the antibribery programme, employees are also required to comply with the
group’s hospitality policy. The hospitality policy permits employees to
accept proportionate and reasonable hospitality for legitimate business
purposes only. Our employees and representatives of our suppliers
must also comply with the group’s sustainable supply chain charter
which explains that we will not tolerate corruption, bribery and unfair
anti-competitive actions and we expect our suppliers to comply with
applicable laws and regulations and in particular never to offer or accept
any undue payment or other consideration, directly or indirectly, for
the purposes of inducing any person or entity to act contrary to their
prescribed duties.
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As part of the internal control self-assessment checklist (part of the
group’s internal control processes), senior managers in consultation with
their teams are required to confirm, amongst other things, that they
have complied with the group’s anti-bribery and hospitality policies. The
anti-bribery programme is monitored and reviewed biannually by the
committee.
The anti-bribery policy is available on the company’s website at
unitedutilities.com/corporate/about-us/governance/
The sustainable supply chain charter is available at unitedutilities.com/
corporate/responsibility/stakeholders/suppliers/

e. Whistleblowing, anti-fraud and anti-bribery

The audit committee is responsible for reviewing the group’s
arrangements for individuals to raise concerns and the arrangements
for investigation of such matters and for the company’s procedures
for detecting fraud and systems and controls for preventing other
inappropriate behaviour. The group’s whistleblowing policy supports the
culture within the group where genuine concerns may be reported and
investigated without reprisals for whistleblowers.
The company operates an independently provided, confidential
reporting telephone helpline and web portal for employees to raise
matters of concern in relation to fraud, dishonesty, corruption, theft,
security and bribery. Furthermore, employees are encouraged to raise
any matters relating to health and safety and any activities of the
business which have caused or may cause damage to the environment,
such as pollution or other contamination. Alternatively, any matters of
concern can also be raised with their manager, their human resources
business partner or another senior manager. Employees can remain
anonymous if they wish. All concerns are investigated fully, whether they
are raised with a manager, or via the confidential helpline/web portal.
In the first instance of an incident being reported, a summary of
the allegations are passed to the fraud and whistleblowing committee
(consisting of the company secretary, customer services and people
director, commercial director and head of internal audit and risk)
to decide on the appropriate course of action and investigation
and by whom.
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Corporate responsibility committee
The committee warmly welcomed the company’s first affordability
summit which brought together the region’s affordability stakeholders
to identify new ways to support customers and promote open
discussion and collaboration.
Dear Shareholder

Quick facts
› The committee comprises three directors appointed by the
board, two of whom are independent non-executive directors;
› The company secretary, corporate affairs director and customer
services and people director attend all meetings of the
committee;
› Senior operational managers attend the committee to report
on the environmental and social impact of particular topics and
initiatives; and
› The corporate responsibility committee has existed for over
10 years.

Quick links
Terms of reference –
unitedutilities.com/corporate-governance

Corporate responsibility committee members
Stephen Carter (chair)
Steve Mogford

Alison Goligher

I am pleased to report on the work of the corporate responsibility
committee (CRC) in 2017/18.
The North West continues to face economic challenges. Over half of
England’s most deprived neighbourhoods are in the region and it has
higher than average numbers of people claiming Jobseekers’ Allowance
and Universal Credit. The committee agreed the company’s support
for lower income groups should be a regular topic of focus and each
meeting is now presented with a dashboard highlighting progress in
tackling this material social issue.
The CRC warmly welcomed the company’s first affordability summit
which brought together the region’s affordability stakeholders to identify
new ways to support customers and promote open discussion and
collaboration. The company also published its first vulnerability and
affordability report, laying out its framework for assisting customers in
vulnerable circumstances, including what it is doing now and how it aims
to continue to develop this through its own initiatives and by working
with other specialist charities and organisations.
The publication of the government’s 25 year Natural Environment Plan
was discussed by the committee and, in particular, the emphasis placed
on natural capital. The company recognises the important role natural
capital will play in future catchment management activity and the CRC
supported the proposal to put this at the heart of an updated natural
environment strategy.
With the company firmly focused on its price review plans, the
committee reviewed specific topics such as resilience, as well as
affordability. As well as debating the trade-off between reducing
customer bills and investment in resilient services and, in particular
securing long-term water supplies, the CRC also considered ‘resilience
in the round’ covering corporate and financial resilience.
The management team updated the committee on its approach to
customer research and stakeholder engagement. The committee
welcomed efforts to build relationships with the newly elected metro
mayors and a new partnership with Youth Focus, to bring the voice of
future bill payers closer to the company’s planning.
In a year when the issue of gender pay has been widely reported, as
a result of mandatory reporting requirements, the committee was
updated on the steps taken to prepare and publish the report. It
discussed issues arising and noted plans being implemented by the
company including the establishment of a gender equality network,
targeting diverse shortlists and attraction campaigns for apprentice and
graduate recruitment and working with partners to influence younger
women into careers within utilities. The CRC will return to the topic
ahead of the publication of the second report.
In addition, the CRC considered a wide range of topics. These included
environmental topics such as energy, social topics such as human rights
and, in particular, several governance items such as the draft Corporate
Governance Code, the Duty to Report, Integrated Reporting and board
ESG training.
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The committee reviewed the company’s responsible business scorecard,
used to track progress against company objectives to provide the best
service to customers, at the lowest sustainable cost, in a responsible
manner. We were delighted to retain world class status in the Dow Jones
Sustainability index for the tenth consecutive year and 75 per cent of the
stretching targets tracked by the committee to measure the company’s
CR performance were achieved.

Given the sustained level of external scrutiny of responsible business
behaviour, and the specific challenges within the water sector, the CRC
agreed it should increase the frequency of its meetings and from 2018
the committee will meet four times each year. This extra time will allow
the committee more opportunity to examine the steps being taken
by the company to act responsibly and build legitimacy amongst the
opinions of customers, regulators and government.

As a listed company, United Utilities complies with the UK Corporate
Governance Code and continues to drive for the highest standards of
board leadership, transparency and governance. Its reinvestment of
regulatory outperformance in projects to improve the resilience of
services to customers offers insight into how the company seeks
to strike a balance across all of its stakeholders.

Stephen Carter
Chair of the corporate responsibility committee

Main responsibilities of the committee
The board approved an unchanged set of Terms of Reference for the CRC
in February 2018. The main duties are to:
› Consider and recommend to the board the broad corporate
responsibility policy taking into account the company’s desired CR
positioning;
› Keep under review the group’s approach to CR and ensure it is aligned
with the group strategy;
› Review CR issues and objectives material to the group’s stakeholders
and identify and monitor the extent to which they are reflected in
group strategies, plans and policies;
› Monitor and review the status of the company’s reputation and
examine the contribution the Group’s corporate responsibility
activities make towards protecting and enhancing this;

› Monitor and review compliance with the board’s CR policy and
scrutinise the effectiveness of the delivery of the CR policy
requirements;
› Develop and recommend to the board CR targets and key
performance indicators and receive and review reports on progress
towards the achievement of such targets and indicators;
› Monitor and review the steps taken by the company to support
customers in vulnerable circumstances; and
› Review all approved specific giving where the aggregate financial
contribution exceeds £100,000 over the period of the proposed
funding and to review all community giving expenditure annually.
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Corporate responsibility committee
What has been on the committee’s agenda
during the year?
In carrying out its duties, the CRC has paid particular attention to the
following:
› Affordability – The CRC considered the scale and effectiveness of
the support offered to customers against a background of rising
household costs, falling real term wages, economic uncertainty, and
a decrease in the percentage of people of working age, given that
the North West has half of England’s most deprived neighbourhoods.
In addition, the Committee was updated on the creation of the
independent Customer Advisory Panel, with membership drawn
from across the affordability sector from organisations such as Mind,
Citizens Advice and Age UK (see page 43).
› Lower income groups – The committee requested that the company’s
approach to lower income groups become a topic of regular focus
given the heightened interest in debt and affordability and those who
find it a struggle to pay their water bill. Discussions focused around
a dashboard to chart progress in supporting lower income groups
covering support schemes, debt management, budgeting and new
initiatives. The committee welcomed the improved performance
against most of the measures.

Environmental
› Resilience – The CRC noted how the company has already made
significant reductions to the risks to water supply resilience, having
learnt from events such as the Lancashire water quality incident
and the Cumbria floods, both in 2015. It explored the significance
of resilience in PR19 planning and striking the appropriate balance
between customer bills and resilient services, with the trade-off
informed by customer research and engagement. The Committee
heard how this extended to the Manchester-Pennine resilience
scheme and securing long-term water supplies for parts of Cumbria,
Lancashire and Greater Manchester. In addition, the notion of
‘resilience in the round’, which includes corporate and financial
resilience, was discussed by the Committee which recognised that, as
a listed company, we comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code
and continue to drive for the highest standards of board leadership,
transparency and governance.
› Natural environment strategy including natural capital – In the year
the Government published its 25 year Natural Environment Plan,
the Committee reflected on the important role the company plays in
safeguarding the quality of the natural environment, now and into the
future. It examined a proposed new strategy which, for the first time,
includes recognition of the importance of natural capital thinking,
a concept now shaping the external policy world and at the heart
of Defra’s Pioneer projects. Two of these are in the North West and
the company is heavily involved in both – the catchment pioneer in
Cumbria and the urban pioneer in Greater Manchester – where closer
collaboration with partners such as other major land owners and
catchment stakeholders is essential to protect and enhance natural
capital and the services it provides.

› Energy – The committee was provided with an update on the amount
and cost of electricity consumed, progress on renewable energy
generated and future opportunities. It noted the balanced approach
adopted by the company towards energy management and how it
has set and cascaded energy consumption targets throughout its
Wholesale business. Further, the company reported how it had sought
through supply contracts to minimise the total cost of electricity
consumed, moving consumption outside of high cost energy time
bands and alternative income streams by providing balancing services
to Distribution Network Operators in return for a financial payment.

Social
› Gender pay reporting – As a result of the requirement to report
gender pay data, the CRC was updated on the development of the
company’s first report (see page 78), the issues arising and the steps
taken to prepare and publish the report. The Committee heard how
a Gender Equality Network was established in 2015 to provide role
models, mentoring and opportunities and that working with partners
like Teach First and the North West Women’s Network provides the
opportunity to influence younger women into careers within utilities.
› Human Rights Policy – Recognising that human rights has gained
greater prominence in recent years, with measures such as the
Modern Slavery Act, and that companies are expected to have an
active commitment to managing and respecting human rights, the
CRC reviewed the company’s management of its human rights risks.
It focused on the salient issues – those human rights that stand out
because they are at risk of the greatest negative impact to people
through company activity or business relationships – and the policies
and commitments already in place to address these. It agreed that
United Utilities’ risk to human rights infringements is low given that
existing policies are extensive, that the company operates mainly in
the UK, in a highly regulated environment and most of the issues are
already measured as part of the company’s corporate risk assessment.

Governance
a) Corporate governance

› Draft Corporate Governance Code – The CRC considered the draft
UK Corporate Governance Code (due to apply from 1 January
2019) and the proposed changes relevant to the Committee’s
responsibilities. In particular, the Committee discussed the role it
should take on culture, diversity and stakeholder engagement and
debated the proposal in relation to voice of the employee in the
Boardroom.

› Duty to Report – The ‘Reporting on Payment Practices and
Performance Regulations 2017’ come into effect in 2018 and the
Committee was updated on the steps being taken by the company
to be ready to report on or before 30 October 2018.
› Board ESG training – The committee noted a report on the
question of ESG training for board members and comparisons
with those organisations considered to have a comprehensive
approach. The company’s current approach to disclosure allows a
reader to conclude that the board regularly receives updates on
topics related to ESG matters and that current disclosure compares
favourably with others.
› Integrated Reporting – In preparing for the 2018 Annual Report,
the Committee reviewed the steps being taken to further refine
the report and it supported a stronger statement on the board’s
responsibility for Integrated Reporting.
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› Reputation – This broad topic continued to be an area of focus for
the CRC, in particular building trust and confidence in the water
sector and addressing questions of legitimacy. The CRC examined
how the sector was responding to the debate on Renationalisation
following the 2017 General Election. An assessment of the
company’s key reputational risks remained a standing agenda item;

› Engagement – Linked to reputation, the committee discussed
several papers on the company’s approach to stakeholder
engagement, including work to develop relationships with the
newly elected metro mayors and local enterprise partnerships. The
CRC was updated on a new partnership with Youth Focus, to bring
the voice of future bill payers into our business planning process;
› Participation in CR indices – The CRC debated the company’s future
participation in CR indices and the importance of independent
third-party assessment of our responsible business performance.
It agreed there should be an updated approach, with participation
in a targeted selection of investor led ratings, the use of a selection
of benchmarks/standards and enhanced communication of the
CR scorecard and external accolades that evidence responsible
business improvement; and
› Measuring and reporting CR performance – The committee
reviewed the company’s 2016/17 CR scorecard, noting that 75
per cent of the targets were achieved. Notable improvements
included increasing the amount of waste put to beneficial use,
employees feeling much better informed about the performance
of the organisation as a whole, doubling community investment
to £3.6 million and increasing volunteering hours due to regular
volunteering at customer engagement roadshows promoting
Priority Services.

Looking to the next year, the CRC will:
› Continue its focus on the interaction between CR, communications
and reputation, including a look at the role of social media;
› Consider new, emerging and current issues and opportunities such as:
what Brexit means for environmental and employment legislation; the
company’s approach to plastics and air quality; an update on natural
capital; what social value means for the company; and gender pay
reporting;

Governance

b) Reputation and engagement

› Return to issues previously discussed to examine progress such as
the support given to customers on lower incomes; the company’s
approach to talent and young people; progress on diversity and
inclusion and human rights; and updates on sustainable supply chain,
climate change, waste and community strategy, including charitable
giving and donations;
› Discuss the Price Review process from a responsible business perspective
in the lead up to the submission of plans in September 2018;
› Consider matters of governance such as the revised corporate
governance code and the CRC’s terms of reference;
› Consider other matters such as Integrated Reporting in the 2018/19
Annual Report; and
› Review progress in delivering responsible business targets set out to
2020 and shape the next set of responsible business commitments
from 2020 onwards.
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Annual statement from the remuneration committee chair
Our executive pay arrangements are aligned to our purpose, vision
and strategy, thereby incentivising great customer service and the
creation of long-term value for all of our stakeholders.

Code principle – Remuneration
Introduction by Dr John McAdam
“Our remuneration policy has been designed to promote the longterm success of the company, with a significant proportion of senior
executives’ pay being performance-related.”

Quick facts
› The Code requires that ‘the board should establish a
remuneration committee of at least three independent nonexecutive directors’;
› The role of the committee is to set remuneration terms for all
executive directors, other senior executives and the Chairman; and
› By invitation of the committee, meetings are also attended by
the Chairman, the CEO, the company secretary, the customer
services and people director, the head of reward and pensions
and the external adviser to the committee.

Quick links

Dear Shareholder
I am pleased to introduce the directors’ remuneration report for the year
ended 31 March 2018. Our approach to remuneration is set out in our
directors’ remuneration policy, which was approved by shareholders at
our 2017 AGM and has been implemented this year. A summary of the
policy is included in an appendix for reference (see pages 110 to 114).
Our executive pay arrangements are aligned to our purpose, vision and
strategy, thereby incentivising great customer service and the creation
of long-term value for all of our stakeholders. We aim to pay only what
is required to recruit, retain and motivate the strong management team
needed to achieve this ambition.
Executive directors’ salaries are appropriately positioned relative to the
market, and normally increase in line with salaries for other employees.
In light of this, Steve Mogford and Russ Houlden received a base salary
increase of 2.5 per cent with effect from 1 September 2017, in line with
the headline increase applied across the wider workforce. Salaries will
next be reviewed in September 2018.
Our annual bonus structure focuses on key measures of performance
and ensures that employees at all levels benefit from company success,
whilst longer-term incentives closely align the interests of executive
directors and other senior leaders with those of shareholders and
customers.

Annual bonus

Terms of reference –
unitedutilities.com/corporate-governance

Employees throughout the company participate in the annual bonus
scheme, alongside the executive directors, to ensure shared focus on the
business plan at all levels. The bonus measures reflect the importance
and challenge of the targets set by our regulators for the period
2015–20.

Index
Read more about At a glance summary: executive directors’
remuneration on pages 96 to 98
Read more about Annual report on remuneration on pages 99 to 109
Read more about Directors’ remuneration policy on pages 110 to 114

Remuneration committee members
Sara Weller (chair)

Alison Goligher

Mark Clare

Brian May

We have seen another good year of customer service, operational and
financial performance in 2017/18, alongside commencement of the
regulatory price review process for 2020–25.
The continued focus on providing the best service to customers has
resulted in sustained improvements in customer satisfaction. This
has been achieved through combining greater levels of investment to
improve the resilience and reliability of water supplies, the increased
use of technology to deliver better customer service, and by taking a
leading approach to supporting vulnerable customers. This has been
reflected in the company’s achievement of its best ever scores against
Ofwat’s qualitative service incentive mechanism (SIM), reaching first
position in the final wave of measurement in the year, and achieving an
upper quartile position for the year overall.
Underlying operating profit was better than in 2016/17 and the efficient
and effective delivery of the capital programme is reflected in our Time,
Cost and Quality index (TCQi) score which remains high at 93.1 per cent.
Performance against the outcome delivery incentives (ODIs) during the
year was mixed, although cumulative ODI performance during the current
regulatory period remains positive.
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Pictured: Alison Goligher, Mark Clare, Brian May, Sara Weller (seated)

Overall company results, together with strong personal performance by
the executive directors, has resulted in annual bonus outturn of around
75 per cent of maximum (compared to the 2016/17 outcome of around
84 per cent of maximum) and a company-wide bonus pool totalling
£16 million (compared to £18 million in the prior year). Half of the
annual bonuses earned by the executive directors will be deferred
into shares for a period of three years.

Long-term incentives
The Long-Term Plan awards which were granted in 2015, and whose
performance is measured over the three years to 31 March 2018,
are expected to vest in July 2018 at 55.4 per cent. This reflects the
significant improvements in SIM scores, and the achievement of the
stretch level of sustainable dividend performance. Following the recent
falls in the company’s share price, the threshold target set for relative
total shareholder return over the period was not achieved, and so there
will be no vesting in relation to that measure.
To increase alignment with shareholders and the interests of customers,
awards granted to executive directors will only be released to them
following an additional two-year holding period and these shares will
remain subject to withholding provisions over this period.

Appointment of chief operating officer
Steve Fraser joined the board on 1 August 2017 in the role of chief
operating officer (COO). Some changes to the structure of management
responsibilities during the year resulted in his role being further
expanded on 1 January 2018.

Agenda for 2018/19
During 2018/19 the remuneration arrangements will be kept under
review, although no material changes are anticipated to how we
implement the policy approved by shareholders last year (with c.99
per cent of votes cast in favour).
We expect that the 2018/19 annual bonus, and the Long Term Plan
awards to be granted in 2018 will operate in a similar way to those in
operation in 2017/18.
The committee will continue to focus on setting stretching targets that
drive excellent customer service, operational and financial performance
and enhance long-term shareholder value, and on supporting
preparation for the price review for 2020–25, noting that for the Long
Term Plan, the performance period starting in 2018 will cross two
separate regulatory periods.
The committee will also continue to monitor the developing corporate
governance and remuneration environment, and in particular the
outcome of the FRC’s consultation on changes to the UK Corporate
Governance Code.
I hope we will receive your support for the resolution relating to
remuneration at the forthcoming AGM.
Sara Weller
Chair of the remuneration committee

The remuneration arrangements for Steve Fraser are in line with those
of the two other executive directors and are fully consistent with our
remuneration policy, including an expectation that he will build and
maintain a shareholding of 200 per cent of salary within five years of his
appointment to the board. Further details can be found on page 99.
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Executive directors’ remuneration policy
Elements of executive directors’ pay

A significant proportion of executive directors’ pay is performance-linked, long-term and remains ‘at risk’ (i.e. subject to withholding and recovery
provisions for a period over which the committee can withhold vesting or recover sums paid):

Fixed vs performance-linked (%)(1)
Fixed

33%

Shortterm

50%

Base salary

26%

Base salary

26%

7%

Pension and
other beneﬁts

7%

Annual bonus – cash

17%

Longterm

50%

Pension and
other beneﬁts

(1)

Short-term vs long-term (%)(1)

Performancelinked

67%

Annual bonus – cash

17%

Annual bonus – shares
Long Term Plan (LTP)

17%

Annual bonus – shares

17%

33%

Long Term Plan (LTP)

33%

Based on maximum pay-out scenario for executive directors assuming the normal maximum award level of 130 per cent of salary for the Long Term Plan (LTP).

Pay at risk
Key element

Timeframe

Annual bonus – cash

Performance
period

Annual bonus – shares

Performance
period

Period subject to recovery provisions

Long Term Plan (LTP)

Year 1

Period subject to withholding provisions
Period subject to withholding
and recovery provisions

Performance period

Award date

Year 1

Year 2

Year 3

Year 4

Year 5

Further details on what triggers the withholding and recovery provisions can be found on pages 111 to 112.

Implementation of directors’ remuneration policy in 2017/18
The table below summarises the implementation of the directors’ remuneration policy for executive directors in 2017/18. For further details see the
annual report on remuneration on pages 99 to 109. The policy will operate on a similar basis for 2018/19.
Key element

Implementation of policy in 2017/18

Base salary

› Salary increase of 2.5 per cent from 1 September 2017 in line with the headline increase for the wider workforce.

Benefits and pension

› Market competitive benefits package.
› Cash pension allowance of 22 per cent of base salary.

Annual bonus

› Maximum opportunity of 130 per cent of base salary.
› 2017/18 annual bonus outcome of around 75 per cent of maximum.
› 50 per cent of 2017/18 annual bonus deferred in shares for three years.
› Withholding and recovery provisions apply.

Long Term Plan

› Award of 130 per cent of base salary.
› Estimated long-term incentive vesting of 55.4 per cent for the performance period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2018.
These awards will vest after an additional two-year holding period .
› Withholding and recovery provisions apply.

Shareholding guidelines
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› Personal shareholdings for Steve Mogford and Russ Houlden remain above the 200 per cent of salary minimum
guideline. Steve Fraser is expected to reach the minimum guideline within five years of his appointment to the board.
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Single total figure of remuneration for executive directors for 2017/18

}

2,500

2,000
£429

£’000

1,500
£718
1,000

500

£928

0

Governance

Fixed pay comprises base salary, benefits and pension. Further information on the single figure of remuneration can be seen on page 99. Figures for
Steve Fraser reflect part-year earnings since his appointment to the board as COO on 1 August 2017.

Lorem ipsum

£271

Total
£2,075

£450

£593

Steve Mogford
CEO

Russ Houlden
CFO

}

Total
£1,314

£102
£277
£354

Steve Fraser
COO

}

Total
£733

Longterm incentives
Annual bonus
Fixed pay

Key performance indicators (KPIs) performance
Annual bonus –
Year ended 31 March 2018

Long Term Plan –
Three years ended 31 March 2018

Underlying operating
profit1

SIM qualitative

SIM quantitative

Wholesale outcome
delivery incentive
(ODI) composite

Time, Cost and
Quality index (TCQi)

Total shareholder
return (TSR)2

Underlying dividend
cover3

SIM ranking versus
17 other water
companies4

£788.1m

4.49

71.3

(£7.0m)

93.1%

(14.8%)

1.18

6th out of 18

Key:
Above stretch target
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Between threshold and stretch targets

Below threshold target

For the purpose of annual bonus underlying operating profit excludes infrastructure renewals expenditure and property trading.
Below threshold versus the comparator group. See page 102 for further details.
Average underlying dividend cover over 2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18.
The estimated SIM combined score ranking for 2017/18.

Annual bonus and Long Term Plan (LTP) outcomes

The charts below show the results of the performance against targets for the annual bonus and LTP schemes. Further information on the annual
bonus can be seen on page 100 and on the LTP on page 102.

2017/18 Annual bonus outcome

Estimated 2015 Long Term Plan (LTP) outcome

100%
100%
90%
90%

Actual
totals:
Actual
totals:
Steve
Mogford
Steve
Mogford
74.9%
of maximum
74.9%
of maximum
Russ
Houlden
Russ
Houlden
74.4%
of maximum
74.4%
of maximum
Steve
Fraser
Steve
Fraser
76.8%
of maximum
76.8%
of maximum

30.0%
30.0%

80%
80%
70%
70%
60%
60%
50%
50%
40%
40%

12.0%
12.0%

30%
30%
20%
20%
10%
10%
0%0%

Maximum
Maximum

80%
80%

26.2%
26.2%

12.0%
12.0%

12.0%
12.0%

12.0%
12.0%

4.0%
4.0%

4.0%
4.0%

4.0%
4.0%

40%
40%

11.8%
11.8%

11.8%
11.8%

11.8%
11.8%

30%
30%

13.8%
13.8%

13.8%
13.8%

13.8%
13.8%

9.0%
9.0%

8.5%
8.5%

9.0%
9.0%

Actual
Actual

Actual
Actual

Actual
Actual

HoHo
ulden
Fraser
Russ
ulden Steve
Steve
Fraser
Steve
Mogford
Steve
Mogford Russ
CFO
COO
CFO
COO
CEO
CEO

Underlying
opera
ng proﬁt
Underlying
opera
ng proﬁt Wholesale
Wholesale
outcome
outcome
incen
ve (ODI)
delivery
incen
ve (ODI)
delivery
SIM/qualita
ve ve
SIM/qualita
composite
composite
SIM/quan
ta ve
SIM/quan
ta ve

TCQiTCQi
Personal
objec
ves ves
Personal
objec

Estimated
total:
Estimated
total:
55.4%
of award
vests
55.4%
of award
vests

33.3%
33.3%

70%
70%

24.3%
24.3%

20.0%
20.0%

10.0%
10.0%

90%
90%

24.3%
24.3%

4.0%
4.0%
24.0%
24.0%

100%
100%

60%
60%
50%
50%

20%
20%

33.3%
33.3%
33.3%
33.3%

33.3%
33.3%
22.1%
22.1%

10%
10%
0%0%

Maximum
Maximum

Es mated
Es mated

RelaRela
ve total
sharehold
er return
(TSR)
ve total
sharehold
er return
(TSR)
Sustainable
dividends
Sustainable
dividends
Customer
service
excellence
Customer
service
excellence
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Aligning remuneration to business strategy
Our remuneration policy is aligned to our purpose, vision and strategy, thereby incentivising great customer service and the creation of long-term
value for all of our stakeholders.
The following table provides a summary of how our incentive framework aligns with our business strategy and the results that it delivers. Many of
the performance measures are key performance indicators (KPIs) for the regulatory period 2015–20 (see pages 38 to 40).
A long-term
approach
to creating
Link to
strategic sustainable
value
objectives

Alignment to strategy
Annual bonus
Underlying operating profit

Key measure of shareholder value.

✓

Delivering the best service to customers is a strategic objective.
Customer service in year
› Service incentive mechanism
– qualitative
Ofwat can apply financial incentives or penalties depending on our customer
› Service incentive mechanism service performance.
– quantitative

✓

Maintaining and enhancing
services for customers
› Wholesale outcome delivery
incentive (ODI) composite

Delivering the best service to customers is a strategic objective.

› Time, cost and quality of the
capital programme (TCQi)

Keeping tight control of our capital programmes ensures we can provide a reliable
service to our customers at the lowest sustainable cost.

Personal

Focused on specific areas of individual contribution

✓

Compulsory deferral of bonus

Deferral of part of bonus into shares aligns the interests of executive directors
and shareholders.

✓

Relative total shareholder
return (TSR)

Direct measure of delivery of shareholder returns, rewarding management for the
outperformance of a comparator group of companies.

✓

Sustainable dividends

Direct measure of return to shareholders through dividend payments, while
focusing on the creation of strong earnings that ensure the sustainability of
dividends.

✓

Customer service excellence

This is fundamental to delivering our vision of becoming the best UK water and
wastewater company. This measure has a direct financial impact on the company
as Ofwat can apply financial incentives or penalties depending on our customer
service performance.

✓

Additional two-year holding
period

Ensures continued alignment with shareholder interests and provides an additional
period over which withholding can be applied.

✓

Shareholding guidelines

It is important that a significant investment is made by each executive director in
the shares of the company to provide alignment with shareholder interests.

✓

✓

There is a direct financial impact on the company of Ofwat incentives and penalties
for delivery/non-delivery of customer promises.

Long Term Plan (LTP)

Key:
The best service to customers
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At the lowest sustainable cost

In a responsible manner
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Executive directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2018
Fixed pay

Year ended 31 March
Steve Mogford
Russ Houlden
Steve Fraser(3)
(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

Base salary
£’000
2018
2017
737
721
466
455
278
n/a

Pension
£’000
2018
2017
162
159
102
100
61
n/a

Benefits
£’000
2018
2017
29
28
25
26
15
n/a

Executive director
Steve Mogford(1)
Russ Houlden(1)
Steve Fraser(2)

(2)

Total
£’000
2018
2017
2,075 2,144
1,314 1,358
733
n/a

The long-term incentive amount is in respect of the Long Term Plan award which was granted in July 2015 and which will vest based on performance over the three-year period
1 April 2015 to 31 March 2018. The Long Term Plan amount is estimated as the vesting percentage for the one-third relating to customer service excellence will not be known
until later in 2018, and the award for Steve Mogford and Russ Houlden will not vest until the end of an additional two-year holding period. See page 102 for further details.
The long-term incentive amount for the year ended 31 March 2017 is in respect of the Long Term Plan award which was granted in July 2014 and whose performance period
ended on 31 March 2017. The final vesting outcome was confirmed by the committee in July 2017 as 54.5 per cent, having been estimated at 59.1 per cent and included at
that level in last year’s single total figure of remuneration table. This takes account of the final outcome of the customer service excellence measure which had previously been
estimated (the company ranked 8th out of 18 water companies). The figure has been restated to reflect this outcome. The restated amount also reflects the additional dividend
equivalents accrued to 31 March 2018. The award is not due to vest until April 2019 following an additional two-year holding period and for the purposes of this table has been
valued on the basis of the average share price over the three-month period 1 January 2018 to 31 March 2018 of 715.8 pence per share.
Salary, benefits, pension and annual bonus figures for Steve Fraser reflect part-year earnings and are for the period from 1 August 2017, when he was first appointed to the board.
A bonus of around £74,000 was earned by Steve Fraser in respect of the period 1 April 2017 to 31 July 2017 prior to him joining the board. This is not included in the table.

Base salary

(1)

Variable pay
Long-term
incentives
Annual bonus
£’000
£’000
2018
2017 2018(1) 2017(2)
718
785
429
451
450
492
271
285
277(4)
n/a
102
n/a

Governance

Single total figure of remuneration for executive directors (audited information)

Base salary
£’000
Current 1 September
Salary
2016
745.0
727.0
470.5
459.0
435.0
n/a

Salaries for the CEO and CFO were increased by 2.5 per cent with effect from 1 September 2017, in line with the headline increase applied across the wider workforce.
The committee judged that the increase was supported by very good individual and business performance.
On his appointment as COO on 1 August 2017, Steve Fraser’s salary was set at £405,000 in consideration of the organisational structure and the level of responsibilities he
assumed at that time, and also took account of internal and external market benchmarks. On 1 January 2018 there was a material change in the size and scope of the COO
role as a result of a reorganisation, and his salary was increased to £435,000 from the same date in recognition of this. It is expected that future salary increases for Steve Fraser
will be in line with the normal policy (i.e. broadly in line with increases applied across the wider workforce in normal circumstances).

Pensions

The executive directors receive a cash allowance of 22 per cent of base salary in lieu of pension. No changes are expected to the pensions cash
allowance percentage during the year commencing 1 April 2018.

Benefits

For executive directors, benefits include a car allowance of £14,000; health, life cover and income protection insurance; travel costs; and
communication costs.
No material changes are expected to benefits during the year commencing 1 April 2018.

External appointments

Steve Mogford is the senior independent director of G4S PLC for which he received and retained an annual fee of £78,000. Russ Houlden is an
independent member of the supervisory board, and audit committee chairman, of Orange Polska SA for which he receives and retains annual fees
estimated at around £80,000.
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Annual bonus
Annual bonus in respect of financial year ended 31 March 2018 (audited information)

The performance measures, targets and outcomes in respect of the executive directors’ annual bonus for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out
below. The table on page 98 summarises how these performance measures are linked to our business strategy.
Steve Fraser
Vesting Steve Mogford Russ Houlden
weighting
weighting
weighting
as a
Stretch
Threshold
(% of award)
(% of award) (% of award)
% of
(100%
(25%
Outcome
Outcome
Outcome
maximum
vesting)
vesting)
Target
Measure
Underlying operating profit(1)
£744.4m
£769.4m
£794.4m
81%
30.0%
30.0%
30.0%
Actual: £788.1m
24.3%
24.3%
26.2%
Customer service in year
Service incentive
mechanism – qualitative
Service incentive
mechanism – quantitative

4.37

4.40

79

4.43

12.0%

12.0%

12.0%

12.0%

12.0%

100%

4.0%
4.0%

4.0%
4.0%

4.0%
4.0%

£19.7m

49%

24.0%
11.8%

24.0%
11.8%

24.0%
11.8%

98%

69%

20.0%
13.8%

20.0%
13.8%

20.0%
13.8%

90%

10.0%

76

74

Maintaining and enhancing services for customers
Wholesale outcome delivery
incentive (ODI) composite (£22.6m)
(£6.5m)
Actual: (£7.0m)
Time, cost and quality of
capital programme (TCQi)(2) 85%

12.0%

90%
Actual: 93.1%

Actual: 4.49

Actual: 71.3

Personal objectives (see page 101 for further detail)
Steve Mogford
Actual: 90%
Russ Houlden
Actual: 85%
Steve Fraser

Actual: 90%

Total:
Actual award (% of maximum)
Maximum award (% of salary)
Actual award (% of salary)(3)
Actual award(£’000 – shown in single figure table)(3)
(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

100%

9.0%
85%

10.0%
8.5%

90%

10.0%
9.0%
74.9%
130%
97.3%
718

74.4%
130%
96.7%
450

76.8%
130%
99.8%
277(4)

The underlying operating profit figure for bonus purposes is based on the underlying operating profit on page 53 and excludes infrastructure renewals expenditure and property trading.
Recognising the performance of Water Plus during the year, of which Steve Mogford and Russ Houlden are directors, the committee used its discretion to reduce the underlying operating profit
outcome used for assessing their bonus outcomes by £3.2 million from £788.1 million to £784.9 million. The vesting percentage shown in the table above is the figure after this adjustment.
TCQi is an internal measure which measures the extent to which we deliver our capital projects on time, to budget and to the required quality standard. It is expressed as a
percentage, with a higher percentage representing better performance.
Under the Deferred Bonus Plan, 50 per cent of the annual bonus will be deferred in shares for three years.
This is the bonus earned by Steve Fraser since his appointment as COO on 1 August 2017. A bonus of around £74,000 was earned by Steve Fraser in respect of the period 1 April
2017 to 31 July 2017 prior to him joining the board. This is not included in the table above.

Further detail of achievement against personal objectives

Personal objectives represent 10 per cent of the total bonus opportunity. Assessment of outcomes against personal objectives are summarised in the
table below:

Steve Mogford
Personal objectives related to:
› Continued improvements in customer service;
› Strengthening of relationships with key
stakeholders and effective preparations for
the start of the new regulatory period
2020–25; and
› Continued development of the talent
management process for senior roles.
100

Performance summary
The Committee assessed that Steve’s performance warranted an outcome of 90 per cent in respect of
the personal objective element of his bonus, including:
› Customer service comparing favourably to other water companies using Ofwat’s service
incentive mechanism and other sectoral and cross-sector measures of customer satisfaction;
› Strengthening of relationships with key stakeholders; crucial leading up to the start of the new
regulatory period in 2020; and
› Succession planning at the senior executive level and at the tier below.
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Personal objectives related to:
› Financial preparations for the new regulatory
period 2020–25;
› Debt financing activities;
› Strengthening investor relationships; and
› IT security.

Performance summary
The Committee assessed that Russ’ performance warranted an outcome of 85 per cent in respect of
the personal objective element of his bonus, including:
› Engagement with Ofwat on finance-related areas of methodology for the next price review;
› Establishing agile processes enabling the company to raise low-cost debt;
› Building relationships with key shareholders and analysts; and
› Creating a future roadmap for IT security.

Governance

Russ Houlden

Steve Fraser
Personal objectives related to:
› Continued improvements in customer service
and operational performance;
› Strengthening of relationships with key
stakeholders; and
› Operational preparations for the new
regulatory period 2020–25.

Performance summary
The Committee assessed that Steve’s performance warranted an outcome of 90 per cent in respect of
the personal objective element of his bonus, including:
› Sustained improvements in customer service;
› Environment Agency and the Drinking Water Inspectorate placing the company as one of the
leading companies in the sector; and
› Building the business plan for the new regulatory period starting in 2020, including work on the
outcome delivery incentives.

Deferred Bonus Plan awards made in year ended 31 March 2018 (audited information)

Bonuses are earned by reference to performance in the financial year and paid in June following the end of the financial year. Fifty per cent of any
bonus is deferred into shares under the Deferred Bonus Plan. These awards vest after three years and are subject to withholding provisions. There
are no service or additional performance conditions attached.
The table below provides details of share awards made during the year in respect of bonus payments made to executive directors in 2017/18.
Executive Director
Steve Mogford
Russ Houlden
(1)

Type of
award
Conditional shares
Conditional shares

Basis of
award
50% of bonus
50% of bonus

Face value of award(1)
(£’000)
£392
£246

End of
deferral period
16/06/2020
16/06/2020

The face value has been calculated using the closing share price on 15 June 2017 (the dealing day prior to the date of grant) which was 961 pence per share.

Annual bonus in respect of financial year commencing 1 April 2018

The maximum bonus opportunity for the year commencing 1 April 2018 will remain unchanged at 130 per cent of base salary.
The annual bonus will operate in the same way as that for the year 2017/18.
The table below summarises the measures, weighting and targets for the 2018/19 bonus. Please note that the majority of targets are considered
commercially sensitive, and consequently they will be disclosed in the 2018/19 annual report on remuneration.

Measure
Underlying operating profit(1)
Customer service in year
Service incentive mechanism – qualitative
Service incentive mechanism – quantitative
Maintaining and enhancing services for customers
Wholesale outcome delivery incentive (ODI) composite
Time, cost and quality of capital programme (TCQi)(2)
Personal objectives
Total
(1)
(2)

Targets
Threshold
Target
Stretch
(25% vesting)
(50% vesting) (100% vesting)
Commercially sensitive
Commercially sensitive
Commercially sensitive

85%

Commercially sensitive
91.5%
Commercially sensitive

Weighting
(% of award)
30.0%
12.0%
4.0%

98%

24.0%
20.0%
10.0%
100%

Underlying operating profit for bonus purposes excludes infrastructure renewals expenditure and property trading.
TCQi is an internal measure which measures the extent to which we deliver our capital projects on time, to budget and to the required quality standard. It is expressed as a
percentage, with a higher percentage representing better performance.
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Long-term incentives
Performance for Long Term Plan awards
2015 Long Term Plan (LTP) awards with a performance period ended 31 March 2018 (audited information)

The 2015 LTP awards were granted in June 2015 and performance was measured over the three-year period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2018. The
awards for Steve Mogford and Russ Houlden will normally vest in April 2020, following an additional two-year holding period and these unvested
shares will remain subject to withholding provisions over this period. A holding period will apply to LTP awards made to Steve Fraser after he became
an executive director.
Note that the final outcome for the customer service excellence measure (which forms one-third of the award) will not be known until Ofwat
publishes the combined service incentive mechanism scores for the company and its comparator water companies (expected to be published in late
summer 2018). The values of the 2015 LTP awards in the single total figure of remuneration table are therefore estimated and will be restated in next
year’s report once the final outcome is known.
The table below shows how the long-term incentive amount in respect of the 2015 LTP was calculated:

Measure
Relative total shareholder return (TSR)
TSR versus median TSR
of FTSE 100 companies
(excluding financial
services, oil and gas, and
mining companies)(1)
Sustainable dividends
Average underlying dividend
cover over the three-year
performance period

Threshold
(25%
vesting)

Intermediate

Median
Straight-line between
TSR
threshold and stretch
Actual: Less than median TSR

Stretch
(100%
vesting)
Median
TSR 5 1.15

(2)
(3)
(4)

102

0.0%

Company TSR of (14.8%) was below threshold TSR
of 8.6%
(50% vesting)
1.05
1.10
1.15
100.0%
Actual: 1.18

Underpin:
✓ Met
Dividend growth of at least RPI
in each of the years 2015/16,
2016/17 and 2017/18(2) (2)
Customer service excellence
(80% vesting)
Ranking for the year ended
Median
Upper
Upper
31 March 2018 versus 17
rank
quartile rank
decile rank
other water companies using
``
Estimate: 6th out of 18
Ofwat’s service incentive
mechanism (SIM) combined
score(3)
Overall underpin
✓ Assumed met.
Overall vesting is subject to the
The committee will make a final assessment of the
committee being satisfied that
company’s performance once the combined SIM
the company’s performance on
score is known.
these measures is consistent
with underlying business
performance
Estimated vesting (% of award)
Number of shares granted
Number of dividend equivalent shares
Number of shares before performance conditions applied
Estimated number of shares after performance conditions applied
Three-month average share price at end of performance period (pence)(4)
Estimated value at end of performance period (£’000 – shown in single figure table)
(1)

Steve
Russ
Steve
Fraser
Mogford Houlden
weighting weighting weighting
(% of
(% of
(% of
Vesting
award)
award)
award)
as a % of
maximum Outcome Outcome Outcome

66.3%

33.3%
0.0%

33.3%
0.0%

33.3%
0.0%

33.3%
33.3%

33.3%
33.3%

33.3%
33.3%

33.3%
22.1%

33.3%
22.1%

33.3%
22.1%

55.4%
98,184
10,116
108,300
59,998
715.8
429

55.4%
61,987
6,386
68,373
37,878
715.8
271

55.4%
23,257
2,394
25,651
14,210
715.8
102

For the purposes of calculating TSR, the TSR index is averaged over the three months prior to the start and end of the performance period. TSR is independently calculated by
New Bridge Street.
Subject to approval of the final dividend by shareholders at the 2018 AGM.
This is an estimate as the final outcome will not be known until the combined scores are published later in 2018.
Average share price over the three-month period 1 January 2018 to 31 March 2018.
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Long Term Plan awards granted in the year
2017 LTP awards with a performance period ending 31 March 2020 (audited information)

Executive Director
Steve Mogford
Russ Houlden
Steve Fraser
(1)
(2)
(3)

Type of award
Conditional shares
Conditional shares
Conditional shares

Basis of award
130% of salary
130% of salary
70% of salary(3)

Face value
of award
(£’000)(1)
£945
£597
£224

Number of
shares under
award
103,572
65,391
24,547

% vesting at
threshold
25%
25%
25%

End of
performance
period(2)
31/03/2020
31/03/2020
31/03/2020

Governance

The table below provides details of share awards made to executive directors during the year in respect of the 2017 LTP:

The face value has been calculated using the closing share price on 26 June 2017 (the dealing day prior to the date of grant) which was 912.5 pence per share.
An additional two-year holding period applies after the end of the three-year performance period for Steve Mogford and Russ Houlden.
Steve Fraser’s LTP award was granted before he was appointed as an executive director.

Details about the 2017 LTP performance measures and targets are shown in the following table. Performance is measured over the three-year period
1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020. The table on page 98 summarises how these performance measures are linked to our business strategy.
Targets
Measure
Relative total shareholder return (TSR)
TSR versus median TSR of FTSE 100 companies (excluding
financial services, oil and gas, and mining companies).(1)
Measured over the three-year performance period
Sustainable dividends
Average underlying dividend cover over the three-year
performance period

Underpin:

Threshold
(25% vesting)
Median TSR

Stretch
(100% vesting)
Median TSR
5 1.15

The targets are considered commercially sensitive and so are not
disclosed in this report. However, actual targets, performance
achieved and awards made will be published retrospectively so
that shareholders can fully understand the basis for any vesting

Weighting
33.3%

33.3%

Dividend growth of at least RPI in each of the years 2017/18,
2018/19 and 2019/20

Customer service excellence
Ranking for the year ending 31 March 2020 versus nine other
Median rank
Upper
33.3%
water and wastewater companies using Ofwat’s Service Incentive
quartile rank
Mechanism (SIM) combined score
Overall underpin
Overall vesting is subject to the committee being satisfied that the company’s performance on these measures is consistent with underlying
business performance
(1)

For the purposes of calculating TSR, the TSR index is averaged over the three months prior to the start and end of the performance period. TSR is independently calculated by
New Bridge Street.

Straight-line vesting applies between the threshold and stretch targets, with nil vesting below threshold performance. The committee will have the
flexibility to make appropriate adjustments to the performance targets in exceptional circumstances, to ensure that the award achieves its original
purpose.

Performance targets for future Long-Term Plan awards
2018 LTP awards with a performance period ending 31 March 2021

There will be broad consistency in the approach to how the 2018 Long-Term Plan (LTP) awards will operate. The award level for executive directors
will remain unchanged at 130 per cent of base salary.
The performance targets for the total shareholder return and customer service measure are expected to be as for the 2017 LTP award, but the
committee retains the discretion to adjust the customer service measure and targets once Ofwat’s approach to assessing customer service for the
regulatory period 2020–25 is agreed. The targets for the sustainable dividends measure will reflect the fact that the performance period starting in
2018 will cross two regulatory periods.
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Executive directors’ interests in shares
Executive directors’ shareholding (audited information)

Executive directors are expected to reach a shareholding guideline of 200 per cent of salary, normally within five years of appointment.
Details of beneficial interests in the company’s ordinary shares as at 31 March 2018 held by each of the executive directors and their connected
persons are set out in the charts below along with progress against the target shareholding guideline level. Steve Mogford reduced his shareholding
during 2017/18, but his holding remains above the guideline level of 200 per cent of salary. Russ Houlden’s shareholding is also above the 200
per cent of salary guideline level. Steve Fraser is expected to reach his shareholding guideline of 200 per cent of salary within five years of his
appointment to the board.
450

Unvested shares not subject to performance conditions
after tax and national insurance

411

400

Shares owned outright

‘000s of shares

350

Number of shares required to achieve shareholding
guideline at 31 March 2018

300
250

230

200
145

150

126

100

62

50

n/a

0
2018

2017

2018

2017

Year ended 31 March

Year ended 31 March

Steve Mogford
CEO

Russ Houlden
CFO

2018

2017

Year ended 31 March

Steve Fraser
COO

Further details of the executive directors’ shareholdings and their share plan interests are given in the table below and in the appendix on page 115.

Shareholding
guideline
(% of
salary)
Director
Steve Mogford(5) (6)
Russ Houlden(5) (6)
Steve Fraser(5)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)

Number
of shares Number of shares
required
owned outright
to meet
(including
shareholding
connected
guideline(1)
persons)
2018
2017

Unvested
shares
not subject
to performance
conditions(2)
2018
2017

Shareholding
Shareas % of
holding
Total shares
base guideline
counting
met at
towards salary at
shareholding 31 March 31 March
2018(1)
2018
guidelines(3)
2018
2017
2018
2018

Unvested
shares subject
to performance
conditions(4)
2018
2017

200%

208,159

110,119

327,287

225,615

157,289

229,713

410,668

221%

Yes

318,589

314,125

200%

131,461

69,435

73,500

142,088

99,127

144,760

126,056

220%

Yes

201,117

198,286

200%

121,542

46,905

n/a

29,027

n/a

62,310

n/a

103%

No

75,479

n/a

Share price used is the average share price over the three months from 1 January 2018 to 31 March 2018 (715.8 pence per share).
Unvested shares subject to no further performance conditions such as matching shares under the ShareBuy scheme. Includes shares only subject to withholding provisions such
as the Deferred Bonus Plan shares in the three-year deferral period and Long Term Plan shares in the two-year holding period.
Includes unvested shares not subject to performance conditions (on a net of tax and national insurance basis), plus the number of shares owned outright.
Includes unvested shares under the Long Term Plan.
In the period 1 April 2018 to 23 May 2018, additional shares were acquired by Steve Mogford (41 ordinary shares), Russ Houlden (41 ordinary shares) and Steve Fraser (41
ordinary shares) in respect of their regular monthly contributions to the ShareBuy scheme. These will be matched by the company on a one-for-five basis. Under the scheme,
matching shares vest provided the employee remains employed by the company one year after grant.
On 3 April 2018 shares granted on 29 July 2013 under the Long Term Plan vested for Steve Mogford and Russ Houlden following their additional two-year holding period.
Steve Mogford had 48,700 shares vesting, of which 22,947 shares were sold to cover tax and national insurance. Steve retained the remaining balance 25,753 shares. Russ
Houlden had 30,733 shares vesting, of which 14,481 shares were sold to cover tax and national insurance. Russ retained the remaining balance of 16,252 shares.

Dilution limits

Awards granted under the company’s share plans are satisfied by market purchased shares bought on behalf of the company by United Utilities
Employee Share Trust immediately prior to the vesting of a share plan. The company does not make regular purchases of shares into the Trust nor
employs a share purchase hedging strategy and shares are bought to satisfy the vesting of share plans. The rules of the Deferred Bonus Plan do not
permit awards to be satisfied by newly issued shares and must be satisfied by market purchased shares. The rules of the Long-Term Plan permit the
awards to be satisfied by newly issued shares but the company has decided to satisfy awards by market purchased shares.
Should the company’s method of satisfying share plan vestings change (i.e. issuing new shares) then the company would monitor the number of
shares issued and their impact on dilution limits set by The Investment Association in respect of all share plans (10 per cent in any rolling 10-year
period) and executive share plans (five per cent in any rolling 10-year period).
No treasury shares were held or utilised in the year ended 31 March 2018.
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Other information
This graph illustrates the company’s performance against the FTSE 100 over the past nine years. The FTSE 100 has been chosen as the appropriate
comparator as the company is a member of the FTSE 100 and it is considered to be the most widely published benchmark for this purpose. The table
below the TSR chart shows the remuneration data for the CEO over the same nine-year period as the TSR chart.
350
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300
265

Value (£)

250

251

215

200

100
2009

138

123
2010

189

164

162

150

150
100

272

183

201
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Performance and CEO remuneration comparison

250
214

203

2015

2016

2017

230

148

2011

2012

2013

2014

2018

Year ended 31 March
United U li es Group PLC

Year ended 31 March
CEO single figure of Steve Mogford
remuneration (£000)
Philip Green
Annual bonus
Steve Mogford
payment (% of
maximum)
Philip Green
LTP vesting (% of
Steve Mogford
maximum)(3)
Philip Green

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)

2010
n/a

2011
377

2012
1,421

2013
1,549

2014
2,378

2015
2,884

2016
2,760(1)

2017
2,144(2)

2018
2,075

1,992
n/a

3,073
90.6

n/a
72.0

n/a
84.4

n/a
78.2

n/a
77.4

n/a
54.5

n/a
83.7

n/a
74.9

n/a
93.5

n/a
97.5

n/a
33.6(5)

n/a
54.5

n/a
55.4(7)

n/a

100(6)
n/a

n/a

n/a

89.2
n/a

90.8
n/a(4)

0
12.5(9)
(8)

28.1
100(11)
(10)

n/a
n/a(4)

n/a

n/a
n/a(4)

n/a

n/a

This includes the pay-out from the 2013 Long Term Plan (LTP) as well as £1.028 million in respect of Steve Mogford’s one-off Matched Share Investment Scheme which ended
on 5 January 2016. The pay-out from the 2013 LTP, which vested on 3 April 2018 after the end of a two-year holding period, has been updated to reflect the additional dividends
accruing on these awards and the closing share price on the date of vesting of 703.2 pence per share.
The pay-out from the 2014 LTP has been restated to reflect the additional dividend equivalents accruing on these awards, final vesting outcome and updated share price. See
page 99 for further details.
For performance periods ended on 31 March, unless otherwise stated.
Steve Mogford was not a participant in any long-term incentive plans that had performance periods ending during 2011 to 2013. For those who did participate in those plans,
the vesting as a percentage of maximum was 37.5 per cent for those vesting in 2012 and 35.3 per cent for those vesting in 2013.
2013 LTP.
The retention period applicable to Steve Mogford’s Share Investment Scheme ended on 5 January 2016.
The 2015 Long Term Plan amount vesting percentage is estimated. See page 102 for further details.
2007 Performance Share Plan (PSP).
2007 Matching Share Award Plan (MSAP).
2008 PSP and MSAP.
The retention period applicable to Philip Green’s Matched Share Investment Scheme ended on 12 February 2011.

Date of service contracts
Executive directors
Steve Mogford
Russ Houlden
Steve Fraser(1)
(1)

FTSE 100 Index

Date of service contract
5.1.11
1.10.10
1.8.17

Steve Fraser joined the company on 23 May 2005.
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Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below shows the relative importance of spend on pay compared to distributions to shareholder.
2017/18
£288
Employee
costs £m (1)

+3.4%

2016/17

£278

+1.5%

£267
Dividends paid to
shareholders £m

£263
£0

(1)

£50

£100

£150

£200

£250

£300

Employee costs includes wages and salaries, social security costs, and post-employment benefits.

Alignment of wider workforce pay
Consideration of employee views

Although employees are not consulted directly on executive remuneration policy, employee engagement surveys are carried out annually and
regular discussion takes place with union representatives on matters of pay and remuneration for employees covered by collective bargaining
or consultation arrangements. The committee takes into account the general base salary increases and remuneration arrangements for the
wider employee population when determining remuneration policy for the executive directors.
In line with developing best practice, the company will be building its plans for further engagement between the remuneration committee and
the wider workforce.

Percentage change in CEO’s remuneration versus the wider workforce

The figures below show how the percentage change in the CEO’s salary, benefits and bonus earned in 2016/17 and 2017/18 compares with
the percentage change in the average of each of those components for a group of employees.

Change in CEO remuneration
Base salary(1)

+2.5%

Bonus(2)

Taxable benefits(2)

Bonus

Taxable benefits

-8.5%

+2.6%

Change in employee remuneration(3)
Base salary(4)

+3.5%

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

-3.6%

On 1 September 2017, Steve Mogford received a base salary increase of 2.5 per cent.
See page 99 for further details.
To aid comparison, the group of employees selected by the committee are all those members of the workforce who were employed over the complete two-year period.
Includes promotional increases. The headline salary increase for employees was 2.5 per cent.

Cascade of remuneration through the organisation

(1)

106

+9.7%

Base salary
Annual bonus – cash
Annual bonus – deferred shares

Executive
directors
✓
✓
✓

Executive
committee
✓
✓
✓

Long Term Plan(1)
Pension
Life cover and ill health benefits
Company funded healthcare
ShareBuy
Other benefits

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

LTP grants for senior leaders are made annually on a selective basis.

Senior
leaders Management
✓
✓
✓
✓
✗
✗
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✗
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

Wider
workforce
✓
✓
✗

Graduates
✓
✓
✗

Apprentices
✓
✓
✗

✗
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✗
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✗
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
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Non-executive directors

Year ended 31 March
Dr John McAdam
Dr Catherine Bell(1)
Stephen Carter
Mark Clare
Alison Goligher(2)
Brian May
Paulette Rowe(3)
Sara Weller
(1)
(2)
(3)

Salary/fees
£’000
2018
2017
300
294
n/a
22
76
70
78
76
65
43
81
78
49
n/a
78
76

Taxable benefits
£’000
2018
2017
2
1
n/a
1
0
1
2
1
0
0
2
1
0
n/a
0
0

Total
£’000
2018
302
n/a
76
80
65
83
49
78

2017
295
23
71
77
43
79
n/a
76

Governance

Single total figure of remuneration for non-executive directors (audited information)

Catherine Bell retired from the board on 22 July 2016.
Alison Goligher joined the board on 1 August 2016.
Paulette Rowe joined the board on 1 July 2017.

Fees

Non-executive director annual fee rates were reviewed and increased with effect from 1 September 2017 as shown below. Base fees were increased
in line with the wider workforce. Additional fees for the senior independent non-executive director and the chairs of committees were increased,
taking into account market data for companies of a broadly similar size and complexity, and reflecting the relative time commitment of the roles.

Role
Base fees: Chairman(1)
Base fees: other non-executive directors(2)
Senior independent non-executive director(2)
Chair of audit and treasury committees(2)
Chair of remuneration committee(2)
Chair of corporate responsibility committee(2)
(1)
(2)

1 Sept 2017
303.0
65.6
13.5
16.0
13.5
12.0

Fees
£’000
1 Sept 2016
296.0
64.0
12.5
15.0
12.5
10.0

Approved by the remuneration committee.
Approved by a separate committee of the board.

Non-executive directors’ shareholding (audited information)

Details of beneficial interests in the company’s ordinary shares as at 31 March 2018 held by each of the non-executive directors and their connected
persons are set out in the table below.

Non-executive directors
Dr John McAdam
Stephen Carter
Mark Clare
Alison Goligher
Brian May
Paulette Rowe
Sara Weller
(1)

Date first appointed
to the board
4.2.08
1.9.14
1.11.13
1.8.16
1.9.12
1.7.17
1.3.12

Number of shares
owned outright
(including connected
persons) at 31 March
2018 (1)
1,837
3,075
7,628
3,000
3,000
3,000
11,000

From 1 April 2018 to 23 May 2018 there have been no movements in the shareholdings of the non-executive directors.
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The remuneration committee
Summary terms of reference

The committee’s terms of reference were last reviewed in November 2017 and are available on our website:
unitedutilities.com/corporate-governance
The committee’s main responsibilities include:
› Making recommendations to the board on the company’s framework of executive remuneration and its cost;
› Approving the individual employment and remuneration terms for executive directors and other senior executives, including: recruitment and
severance terms, bonus plans and targets, and the achievement of performance against targets;
› Approving the general employment and remuneration terms for selected senior employees;
› Approving the remuneration of the Chairman;
› Proposing all new long-term incentive schemes for approval of the board, and for recommendation by the board to shareholders; and
› Assisting the board in reporting to shareholders and undertaking appropriate discussions as necessary with institutional shareholders on aspects
of executive remuneration.

Composition of the remuneration committee
Member
Sara Weller (chair since 27.7.12)
Mark Clare
Alison Goligher
Brian May

Member since
1.3.12
1.9.14
1.8.16
16.5.17

Member to
To date
To date
To date
To date

The committee’s members have no personal financial interest in the company other than as shareholders and the fees paid to them as non-executive
directors.

Support to the remuneration committee

By invitation of the committee, meetings are also attended by the Chairman of the company, the CEO, the company secretary (who acts as secretary
to the committee), the customer services and people director and the head of reward and pensions, who are consulted on matters discussed by the
committee, unless those matters relate to their own remuneration. Advice or information is also sought directly from other employees where the
committee feels that such additional contributions will assist the decision-making process.
The committee is authorised to take such internal and external advice as it considers appropriate in connection with carrying out its duties, including
the appointment of its own external remuneration advisers.
During the year, the committee was assisted in its work by the following external adviser:

Advisor
New Bridge Street

Appointed by
Committee

How appointed
Reappointed following
committee review in 2013

Services provided to the
committee in year ended
31 March 2018
General advice on
remuneration matters

Fees paid by company for these
services in respect of year and
basis of charge
£76,000 on a time/cost basis

Other services provided to the company
Benchmarking of roles not under the committee’s remit and advice on non-executive director remuneration
The independent consultants New Bridge Street (a trading name of Aon Hewitt Limited, an Aon PLC company) are members of the Remuneration
Consultants Group and, as such, voluntarily operate under the Code of Conduct in relation to executive remuneration consulting in the UK. The
committee is satisfied that the advice they received from external advisers is objective and independent.
In addition, during the year the law firm Eversheds Sutherland provided advice on the company’s share schemes to the company.

108

unitedutilities.com/corporate

Stock Code: UU.

Key activities of the remuneration committee over the past year
The committee met four times in the year ended 31 March 2018.

› Reviewed the pay comparator group;
› Reviewed the base salaries of executive directors and other members of the executive team;
› Reviewed the base fee for the Chairman;
› Assessed the achievement of targets for the 2016/17 annual bonus scheme, reviewed progress against the targets for the 2017/18 annual bonus
scheme, and set the targets for the 2018/19 annual bonus scheme;

Governance

Regular activities

› Approved the 2016/17 directors’ remuneration report;

› Assessed the achievement of targets for the Long-Term Plan (LTP) awards made in 2014 and set the targets for LTP awards made in 2017;
› Reviewed and approved awards made under the annual bonus scheme, Deferred Bonus Plan (DBP) and LTP;
› Monitored progress against shareholding guidelines for executive directors and other members of the executive team;
› Agreed leaver terms for executives;
› Reviewed the committee’s performance during the period;
› Reviewed the committee’s terms of reference;
› Considered governance developments and market trends in executive remuneration, including in the wider utilities sector; and
› Noted progress on the company’s gender pay gap reporting.

Other activities

› Agreed the appointment terms for Steve Fraser as Chief Operating Officer.
› Reviewed the shareholding guidelines.

2017 AGM: Statement of voting
At the last Annual General Meeting on 28 July 2017, votes on the remuneration-related resolutions were cast as follows:

Approval of the directors’ remuneration policy

Approval of the directors’ remuneration report

(other than the part containing the directors’ remuneration policy)

Votes for
430,241,250
(98.88% of votes cast)

Votes for
431,158,611
(98.91% of votes cast)

Votes against
4,888,798
(1.12% of votes cast)

Votes against
4,751,506
(1.09% of votes cast)

435,130,048
Total votes cast

1,323,288
Votes withheld
(absten ons)

435,910,117
Total votes cast

541,419

Votes withheld
(absten ons)

The directors’ remuneration report was approved by the board of directors on 23 May 2018 and signed on its behalf by:
Sara Weller
Chair of the remuneration committee
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Appendix 1: Directors’ remuneration policy (abridged)
This appendix to the directors’ remuneration report sets out an abridged version of the remuneration policy for the company which was approved
by shareholders at the AGM on 28 July 2017. The policy took formal effect from the date of approval and is intended to apply until the 2020 AGM.
In the interests of clarity, the report includes some minor annotations to additionally show, where appropriate, how the policy will be implemented
in 2018/19. A full version of the shareholder approved policy can be found in the Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended
31 March 2017.

Overview of remuneration policy

The company’s remuneration arrangements are designed to promote the long-term success of the company. The company does not pay more than
is necessary for this purpose. The committee recognises that the company operates in the North West of England in a regulated environment and
therefore needs to ensure that the structure of executive remuneration reflects both the practices of the markets in which its executives operate,
and stakeholder expectations of how the company should be run.
The committee monitors the remuneration arrangements to ensure that there is an appropriate balance between risk and reward and that the longterm performance of the business is not compromised by the pursuit of short-term value. There is a strong direct link between incentives and the
company’s strategy and if the strategy is delivered within an acceptable level of risk, senior executives will be rewarded through the annual bonus
and long-term incentives. If it is not delivered, then a significant part of their potential remuneration will not be paid.

Policy table for directors
Base salary
Purpose and link to strategy: To attract and retain executives of the experience and quality required to deliver the company’s strategy.
Operation

Maximum opportunity

Normally reviewed annually, typically effective 1 September.
Significant increases in salary should only take place infrequently, for
example where there has been a material increase in:

Current salary levels are shown in the annual report on remuneration.

› The size of the individual’s role;
› The size of the company (through mergers and acquisitions); or
› The pay market for directly comparable companies (for example,
companies of a similar size and complexity).
On recruitment or promotion to executive director, the committee will
take into account previous remuneration, and pay levels for comparable
companies, when setting salary levels. This may lead to salary being set
at a lower or higher level than for the previous incumbent.

Executive directors will normally receive a salary increase broadly in line
with the increase awarded to the general workforce, unless one or more
of the conditions outlined under ‘operation’ is met.
Where the committee has set the salary of a new hire at a discount
to the market level initially, a series of planned increases can be
implemented over the following few years to bring the salary to the
appropriate market position, subject to individual performance.
Performance measures
None.

Benefits
Purpose and link to strategy: To provide market competitive benefits to help recruit and retain high-calibre executives.
Operation

Maximum opportunity

Provision of benefits such as:

As it is not possible to calculate in advance the cost of all benefits,
a maximum is not pre-determined.

› Health benefits;
› Car or car allowance;

Performance measures

› Relocation assistance;

None.

› Life assurance;
› Group income protection;
› All employee share schemes (e.g. opportunity to join the
ShareBuy scheme);
› Travel; and
› Communication costs.
Any reasonable business-related expenses can be reimbursed
(and any tax thereon met if determined to be a taxable benefit).
Executives will be eligible for any other benefits which are introduced
for the wider workforce on broadly similar terms and additional
benefits might be provided from time to time if the committee decides
payment of such benefits is appropriate and in line with emerging
market practice.
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Pension

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Executive directors are offered the choice of:

› Up to 25 per cent of salary into a defined contribution scheme;

› A company contribution into a defined contribution pension scheme;

› Cash allowance of broadly equivalent cost to the company (up to
25 per cent of salary less employer National Insurance Contributions
at the prevailing rate, i.e. up to 22 per cent of base salary for
2017/18); or

› A cash allowance in lieu of pension; or
› A combination of a company contribution into a defined contribution
pension scheme and a cash allowance.
External hires will not be eligible to join a defined benefit pension
scheme.
Internal promotees who are active members of an existing United
Utilities defined benefit scheme will be offered the choice of staying in
that scheme or of choosing one of the above options.

Governance

Purpose and link to strategy: To provide a broadly mid-market level of retirement benefits.

› A combination of both such that the cost to the company is broadly
the same.
Under the defined benefit schemes, a maximum future accrual of 1/80th
pension plus 3/80ths lump sum of final pensionable salary for each year
of service.
Performance measures
None.

Annual bonus
Purpose and link to strategy: To incentivise performance against personal objectives and selected financial and operational KPIs which are directly
linked to business strategy. Deferral of part of bonus into shares aligns the interests of executive directors and shareholders.
Operation

Maximum opportunity

A maximum of 50 per cent of bonus awarded paid as cash.

Maximum award level of up to 130 per cent of salary, for the
achievement of stretching performance objectives.

A minimum of 50 per cent of bonus awarded deferred into company
shares under the Deferred Bonus Plan (DBP) for a period of at least
three years.
DBP shares accrue dividend equivalents.
Not pensionable.
Bonuses are subject to withholding and recovery provisions in certain
negative circumstances; for example, in the event of a material
misstatement of audited financial results, an error in the calculation or
gross misconduct.

Performance measures
Payments predominantly based on financial and operational
performance, with a minority based on achievement of personal
objectives.
Targets and weightings set by reference to the company’s financial and
operating plans.
Target bonus of up to 50 per cent of maximum bonus potential and
bonus of up to 25 per cent of maximum for threshold performance.
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Long Term Plan (LTP)
Purpose and link to strategy: To incentivise long-term value creation and alignment with longer-term returns to shareholders.
Operation

Maximum opportunity

Awards under the Long Term Plan are rights to receive company shares,
subject to certain performance conditions.

The normal maximum award level will be up to 130 per cent of salary
per annum.

Each award is measured over at least a three-year performance period.

The overall policy limit is 200 per cent of salary. It is not anticipated
that awards above the normal level will be made to current executive
directors and any such increase on an ongoing basis will be subject to
prior consultation with major shareholders.

An additional two-year holding period applies after the end of the
three-year performance period.
Vested shares accrue dividend equivalents.
Shares under the LTP are subject to recovery and withholding
provisions in certain negative circumstances; for example: material
misstatement of audited financial results, an error in the calculation
or gross misconduct.

Performance measures
The current performance measures are relative total shareholder
return (TSR), sustainable dividends and customer service excellence.
The weighting of any one of these single measures will not exceed
40 per cent
Any vesting is also subject to the committee being satisfied that the
company’s performance on these measures is consistent with underlying
business performance.
The committee retains discretion to set alternative performance
measures for future awards but will consult with major shareholders
before making any changes to the currently applied measures.
100 per cent of awards vest for stretch performance, up to 25 per cent
of an award vests for threshold performance and no awards vest for
below threshold performance.

Non-executive directors’ fees and benefits
Purpose and link to strategy: To attract non-executive directors with a broad range of experience and skills to oversee the development and
implementation of our strategy.
Operation

Maximum opportunity

The remuneration policy for the non-executive directors (with the
exception of the Chairman) is set by a separate committee of the
board. The policy for the Chairman is determined by the remuneration
committee (of which the Chairman is not a member).

Current fee levels are shown in the annual report on remuneration.

Fees are reviewed annually taking into account the salary increase for
the general workforce and the levels of fees paid by companies of a
similar size and complexity. Any changes are normally effective from
1 September.
Additional fees are paid to the chairs of certain board sub-committees
and to the senior independent non-executive director.
In exceptional circumstances, if there is a temporary yet material
increase in the time commitments for non-executive directors, the
board may pay extra fees on a pro rata basis to recognise the additional
workload.
No eligibility for bonuses, long-term incentive plans, pension schemes,
healthcare arrangements or employee share schemes.
The company repays any reasonable expenses that a non-executive
director incurs in carrying out their duties as a director, including travel,
hospitality-related and other modest benefits and any tax liabilities
thereon, if appropriate.
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The value of benefits may vary from year to year according to the cost
to the company.
Performance measures
Non-executive directors are not eligible to participate in any
performance-related arrangements.
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Notes to the policy table
Performance measures for the annual bonus are selected annually to align with the company’s key strategic goals for the year and reflect financial,
operational and personal objectives. ‘Target’ performance is typically set in line with the business plan for the year, following rigorous debate and
approval of the plan by the board. Threshold to stretch targets are then set based on a sliding scale on the basis of relevant commercial factors.
Only modest rewards are available for delivering threshold performance levels, with rewards at stretch requiring substantial outperformance of the
business plan. Details of the measures used for the annual bonus are given in the annual report on remuneration.
The current Long Term Plan (LTP) measures were selected by the committee following an extensive review and shareholder consultation in 2012/13.
These measures were reviewed again as part of the wider review of the remuneration policy in 2016/17 and are considered to continue to align
with the company’s key strategic goals and be closely linked to the creation of long-term shareholder value. LTP targets are set taking into account a
number of factors, including reference to market practice, the company business plan and analysts’ forecasts where relevant. The LTP will only vest in
full if stretching business performance is achieved.

Governance

Selection of performance measures and targets

Annual bonus and long-term incentives – flexibility, discretion and judgement

The committee will operate the company’s incentive plans according to their respective rules and consistent with normal market practice, the Listing
Rules and HMRC rules where relevant, including flexibility in a number of regards.
Any discretion exercised (and the rationale) will be disclosed in the annual remuneration report.

Scenarios for total remuneration
The charts below show the pay-out under the remuneration policy for each executive director under three different scenarios (updated for 2018/19).

Steve Mogford CEO
£’000s

100%

Fixed

Target

49%

Maximum

33%
0

Notes on the scenario methodology:

938

25.5%

25.5%

1,906

33.5%

500

1,000

1,500

› Fixed pay is base salary effective
31 March 2018 plus cash allowance in
lieu of pension of 22 per cent of salary
and the value of benefits as shown in
the single total figure of remuneration
table for 2017/18. For Steve Fraser
the value of his benefits has been
annualised;

33.5%
2,000

2,500

2,875
3,000

› Target performance is the level of
performance required for the bonus
and Long Term Plan to pay out at 50
per cent of maximum;

Russ Houlden CFO
£’000s

Fixed

100%

599

Target

50%

25%

Maximum

33%
0

25%

33.5%

500

1,000

› Maximum performance would result in
100 per cent vesting of the bonus and
Long Term Plan (i.e. 260 per cent of
salary in total);

1,211

33.5%

1,500

› Annual bonus includes amounts
compulsorily deferred into shares;

1,822

› Long Term Plan is measured at face
value, i.e. no assumption for dividends
or changes in share price; and

2,000

› Amounts relating to all-employee share
schemes have, for simplicity, been
excluded from the charts.

Steve Fraser COO
£’000s

Fixed

100%

551

Target

50%

25%

25%

1,117
Fixed
Annual bonus

33.5%

33%

Maximum
0

500

1,000

33.5%

1,500

1,682

Long Term Plan

2,000
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Shareholding guidelines

Service contracts and letters of appointment
Executive directors’ service contracts are subject to up to one year’s
notice period when terminated by the company and at least six months’
notice when terminated by the director.

For external and internal appointments, the committee may agree that
the company will meet certain relocation and/or incidental expenses as
appropriate.

The Chairman and other non-executive directors have letters of
appointment rather than service contracts. Their appointments may
be terminated without compensation at any time. All non-executive
directors are subject to re-election at the AGM.

Annual bonus performance conditions

Copies of executive directors’ service contracts and non-executive
directors’ letters of appointment are available for inspection at the
company’s registered office during normal hours of business and will
be available at the company’s AGM. Copies of non-executive directors’
letters of appointment can also be viewed on the company’s website.

Approach to recruitment remuneration
The remuneration package for a new executive director would be set in
accordance with the terms of the company’s approved remuneration
policy in force at the time of appointment.

Buy-out awards

In addition, the committee may offer additional cash and/or share-based
elements (on a one-time basis or ongoing) when it considers these to
be in the best interests of the company (and therefore shareholders).
Any such payments would be limited to a reasonable estimate of value
of remuneration lost when leaving the former employer and would
reflect the delivery mechanism (i.e. cash and/or share-based), time
horizons and whether performance requirements are attached to that
remuneration. Shareholders will be informed of any such payments at
the time of appointment.

Maximum level of variable pay

The maximum level of long-term incentives which may be awarded to a
new executive director will be limited to the maximum Long Term Plan
limit of 200 per cent of salary per annum on an ongoing basis. Therefore,
the maximum level of overall variable pay that may be offered will be
330 per cent of salary (i.e. 130 per cent annual bonus plus 200 per cent
Long-Term Plan) per annum on an ongoing basis. These limits are in
addition to the value of any buy-out arrangements which are governed
by the policy above.
In the case of an internal appointment, any variable pay element
awarded in respect of the prior role would be allowed to pay out
according to its terms, adjusted as relevant to take into account the
appointment. In addition, any other previously awarded entitlements
would continue, and be disclosed in the next annual report on
remuneration.
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Base salary and relocation expenses

Base salary levels for new recruits will be set in accordance with the
policy, taking into account the experience of the individual recruited.
The committee has the flexibility to set the salary of a new appointment
at a discount to the market level initially, with a series of planned
increases implemented over the following years to bring the salary to
the appropriate market position, subject to individual performance in
the role.

The committee believes that it is important for a significant investment
to be made by each executive director in the shares of the company to
provide alignment with shareholder interests. Shareholding guidelines
are therefore operated and the details of how these are currently
applied are provided in the annual report on remuneration.

Where a new executive director is appointed part way through a
financial year, the committee may set different annual bonus measures
and targets for the new executive director from those used for other
executive directors (for the initial year only).

Appointment of non-executive directors

For the appointment of a new Chairman or non-executive director,
the fee arrangement would be set in accordance with the approved
remuneration policy in force at that time. Non-executive directors’ fees
are set by a separate committee of the board; the Chairman’s fees are
set by the remuneration committee.

Payment for loss of office
The circumstances of the termination, including the individual’s
performance and an individual’s duty and opportunity to mitigate
losses are taken into account in every case. Our policy is to stop or
reduce compensatory payments to former executive directors to the
extent that they receive remuneration from other employment during
the compensation period. A robust line on reducing compensation is
applied and payments to departing employees may be phased in order
to mitigate loss.
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Appendix 2: Executive directors’ share plan interests
1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

Steve Mogford
Shares not subject to performance conditions at 31 March 2018
DBP
30.6.14
42,789
DBP
16.6.15
39,768
DBP
16.6.16
28,169
DBP(2)
16.6.17
–
LTP
29.7.13
46,525
LTP
30.6.14
110,485
38
ShareBuy matching shares(3) 1.4.17 to 31.3.18
Subtotal
267,774
Shares subject to performance conditions at 31 March 2018
LTP
30.6.15
103,461
LTP
28.6.16
100,179
27.6.17
–
LTP(4)
Subtotal
203,640
TOTAL
471,414
Russ Houlden
Shares not subject to performance conditions at 31 March 2018
DBP
30.6.14
27,006
DBP
16.6.15
25,104
DBP
16.6.16
17,617
16.6.17
–
DBP(2)
LTP
29.7.13
29,361
LTP
30.6.14
69,741
39
ShareBuy matching shares(3) 1.4.17 to 31.3.18
Subtotal
168,868
Shares subject to performance conditions at 31 March 2018
LTP
30.6.15
65,319
LTP
28.6.16
63,226
27.6.17
–
LTP(4)
Subtotal
128,545
TOTAL
297,413
Steve Fraser
Shares not subject to performance conditions at 31 March 2018
DBP
30.6.14
10,394
DBP
16.6.15
9,742
DBP
16.6.16
7,724
16.6.17
–
DBP(2)
LTP
30.6.14
26,167
38
ShareBuy matching shares(3) 1.4.17 to 31.3.18
Subtotal
54,065
Shares subject to performance conditions at 31 March 2018
LTP
30.6.15
24,506
LTP
28.6.16
23,732
27.6.17
–
LTP(4)
Subtotal
48,238
TOTAL
102,303
(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)

Notional
dividends
Awards held
accrued in
at 31 March
year(1)
2018

Granted in
year

Vested
in year

Lapsed/
forfeited in
year

–
–
–
40,827
–
–
39
40,866

44,011
–
–
–
–
–
38
44,049

–
–
–
–
–
50,271
–
50,271

1,222
1,859
1,316
1,908
2,175
2,815
–
11,295

–
41,627
29,485
42,735
48,700
63,029
39
225,615

–
–
103,572
103,572
144,438

–
–
–
0
44,049

–
–
–
0
50,271

4,839
4,684
1,854
11,377
22,672

108,300
104,863
105,426
318,589
544,204

–
–
–
25,619
–
–
38
25,657

27,777
–
–
–
–
–
39
27,816

–
–
–
–
–
31,733
–
31,733

771
1,173
823
1,197
1,372
1,776
–
7,112

–
26,277
18,440
26,816
30,733
39,784
38
142,088

–
–
65,391
65,391
91,048

–
–
–
0
27,816

–
–
–
0
31,733

3,054
2,957
1,170
7,181
14,293

68,373
66,183
66,561
201,117
343,205

–
–
–
10,225
–
43
10,268

10,690
–
–
–
14,679
38
25,407

–
–
–
–
12,255
–
12,255

296
455
361
477
767
–
2,356

–
10,197
8,085
10,702
–
43
29,027

–
–
24,547
24,547
34,815

–
–
–
0
25,407

–
–
–
0
12,255

1,145
1,110
439
2,694
5,050

25,651
24,842
24,986
75,479
104,506

Governance

Award date

Awards held
at 1 April
2017

Note that these are also subject to performance conditions where applicable.
See page 101 for further details.
Under ShareBuy, matching shares vest provided the employee remains employed by the company one year after grant. During the year Steve Mogford purchased 194 partnership shares
and was awarded 39 matching shares (at an average share price of 849 pence per share). Russ Houlden purchased 194 partnership shares and was awarded 38 matching shares (at an
average share price of 848 pence per share). Steve Fraser purchased 214 partnership shares and was awarded 43 matching shares (at an average share price of 845 pence per share).
See page 103 for further details.
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Tax policies and objectives

Our tax policies and objectives, which are approved by the board on an
annual basis, ensure that we:
› Only engage in reasonable tax planning aligned with our commercial
activities and we always comply with what we believe to be both the
letter and the spirit of the law;
› Do not engage in aggressive or abusive tax avoidance;
› Are committed to an open, transparent and professional relationship
with HMRC based on mutual trust and collaborative working; and
› Maintain a robust governance and risk management framework to
ensure that these policies and objectives are applied at all levels
In line with the above, we expect to fully adhere to the HMRC
framework for co-operative compliance.
Our Chief Financial Officer (CFO) has responsibility for tax governance
with oversight from the board. The CFO is supported by a specialist
team of tax professionals with many years of tax experience within the
water sector and led by the Head of Tax. The Head of Tax has day-to-day
responsibility for managing the group’s tax affairs and engages regularly
with key stakeholders from around the group in ensuring that tax risk is
proactively managed. Where appropriate, he will also engage with both
external advisers and HMRC to provide additional required certainty
with the aim of ensuring that any residual risk is typically low. All
significant tax issues are reported to the board regularly.
Consistent with the group’s general risk management framework, all
tax risks are assessed for the likelihood of occurrence and the negative
financial or reputational impact on the group and its objectives, should
the event occur. In any given period, the key tax risk is likely to be the
introduction of unexpected legislative or tax practice changes which lead
to increased cash outflow which has not been reflected in the current
regulatory settlement. The group is committed to actively engaging with
relevant authorities in order to actively manage any such risk.

In any given year, the group’s effective cash tax rate on underlying
profits may fluctuate from the standard UK rate due to the available
tax deductions on capital investment and pension contributions. These
deductions are achieved as a result of utilising tax incentives, which
have been explicitly put in place by successive governments precisely
to encourage such investment. This reflects responsible corporate
behaviour in relation to taxation.
Under the regulatory framework the group operates within, the
majority of any benefit from reduced tax payments will typically not be
retained by the group but will pass to customers; reducing their bills.
For 2017/18, the impact of tax deductions on capital investment alone
reduced average household bills by around £20.
The group’s principal subsidiary, United Utilities Water Limited (UUW),
operates solely in the UK and its customers are based here. All of the
group’s profits are taxable in the UK (other than profits relating to the
group’s 35 per cent holding in Tallinn Water which are fully taxable in
Estonia).
Every year, the group pays significant contributions to the public
finances on its own behalf as well as collecting and paying over further
amounts for its 5,000 strong workforce. Details of the total payments for
2018 of around £242 million are set out below.
We expect the above details, which apply for the year ended 31 March
2018, to fully comply with the new legislative requirements for ‘Publication
of Group Tax Strategies’ for UK groups.

Taxes/contributions to public finances for 2018
Total taxes and contributions to public finances

£242m

£92m

£36m

£22m

£50m

£15m

£27m

Business rates
Corporation tax
Employment taxes:
company

Employment taxes:
employees
Environmental taxes
and other duties
Regulatory services fees (e.g.
water extraction charges)
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167GWh

Gross carbon emissions for 2017/18

391,640

generated from renewable sources, an increase of 18GWh
on 2016/17, equivalent to 21 per cent of our electricity consumption

tonnes CO2 equivalent (tCO2e)
33 per cent below our 2005/06 baseline

Our directors present their management report including the strategic
report on pages 10 to 57 and the audited financial statements of United
Utilities Group PLC (the company) and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the group) for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Business model
A description of the company’s business model can be found within the
strategic report on pages 18 to 28.

Greenhouse gas emissions reporting
We measure and report our greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions of all Kyoto
Protocol gases resulting from all our operational activities in the UK over
the financial reporting year and there are no material omissions. We
report as required under the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and
Directors’ Reports) Regulations and follow the 2013 UK Government
Environmental Reporting Guidance and the GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard (2015).
In line with the recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosure (TCFD), we are reporting scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions,
our methodology and targets.
Our reporting is compliant with the international carbon reporting
standard (ISO 14064, Part 1) and assured by the Certified Emissions
Measurement and Reduction Scheme (CEMARS).

Governance

Statutory and other information

Methodology – how we measure
our carbon footprint
A carbon footprint is calculated by converting all emissions of Kyoto
Protocol gases into a carbon dioxide equivalent. Emissions are
categorised as direct, indirect and net reductions.
Direct emissions, known as scope 1 emissions, are those from activities
we own or control including those from our treatment processes,
company vehicles, burning of fossil fuels for heating and incineration of
sewage sludge.
Indirect emissions, known as scope 2 and 3 emissions, result from
operational activities we do not own or control. These include emissions
produced as a consequence of electricity we purchase to power our
treatment plants (scope 2) and other indirect emissions such as travel
on company business (scope 3). Emissions from electricity we use are
calculated by converting each kilowatt hour purchased into its carbon
dioxide equivalent.
Gross emissions are the sum of all three scopes. Net emissions are the
gross emissions minus reductions from exported renewable energy.
The GHG Protocol recommends using two methods of calculating carbon
emissions – the ‘location based’ method which uses average grid electricity
emissions factors and the ‘market based’ method which is specific to the
actual electricity purchased. We currently use the location based method
and intend to adopt the market based method from 2018 onwards.

Carbon footprint

PFC

CH4
Methane

Perfluorocarbons

N2O

CO2

SF6

Sulphur
hexafluoride

HFC
Hydrofluorocarbons

Carbon dioxide

Nitrous
oxide

Net emission reductions
Exported renewables
Exported biomethane
Scope 1 Direct emissions
Process emissions
Fossil fuel use
Company vehicles

Scope 2 Energy indirect emissions
Purchased electricity (generation)

Scope 3 Other indirect emissions
Purchased electricity
(transmission and distribution)
Sludge and process waste disposal
Public transport and mileage

117

United Utilities Group PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Directors’ report

Statutory and other information
United Utilities’ greenhouse gas emissions
To calculate our GHG emissions we use a UK water industry carbon accounting tool.

.
Direct emissions from burning of fossil fuels
Process emissions from our treatment plants – including refrigerants
Transport: company owned or leased vehicles
Scope 1 Direct emissions
Total grid electricity purchased – Generation
Scope 2 Energy indirect emissions
Business travel on public transport and private vehicles used for company business
Emissions from sludge and process waste disposal
Total grid electricity purchased – Transmission and distribution
Scope 3 Other indirect emissions
Gross operational emissions
Emission reductions from exported renewable electricity
Emission reductions from exported biomethane
Avoided emissions
Net operational emissions
Gross operational emissions per £m revenue

Pictured: Floating solar panel facility at Godley reservoir, East Manchester
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Current Year
2017/18
tCO2e
14,324
91,456
11,803
117,583
227,257
227,257
2,504
23,048
21,248
46,800
391,640
(1,817)
(8,577)
(10,394)
381,246
225.6

Previous years
2016/17
2015/16
tCO2e
tCO2e
20,848
96,019
11,783
128,649
277,256
277,726
2,889
17,915
25,120
45,924
452,301
(4,417)
(3,240)
(7,657)
444,644
265.4

12,283
87,004
11,246
110,533
302,791
302,791
2,783
13,744
25,006
41,533
454,857
(4,209)
(0)
(4,209)
450,648
262.9

Baseline Year
2005/06
tCO2e
17,638
125,032
7,514
150,183
357,660
357,660
2,374
42,712
33,088
78,174
586,017
(1,597)
(0)
(1,597)
584,420
280.9

Targets and trends
By 2020 we aim to reduce our gross operational emissions by 50 per
cent from the 2005/06 baseline and to achieve 60 per cent reduction
by 2035. In 2017/18 our gross operational emissions (location based
method) were 391,640 tCO2e, a 60,661 tCO2e reduction from last year,
and 33 per cent below the 2005/06 baseline.
The majority of our GHG emissions, the biggest determinant of our
carbon footprint, are from our purchase of grid electricity. This year
the grid electricity emissions factor reduced by 14 per cent and we
purchased 4 per cent less electricity, reducing our scope 2 emissions by
over 50,000 tCO2e.
A key part of achieving our carbon ambition is increasing our generation
of power from renewable sources, exporting any excess to the grid.

This year we generated the equivalent of 167 GWh of renewable
electricity, an increase of 18 GWh on last year. This is equivalent to
21 per cent of our annual electricity consumption of 799 GWh. We
have achieved this with a mix of generation from wind, hydro and solar
photovoltaics and energy recovery from bioresources (using sewage
sludge to power combined heat and power generators). We have also
more than doubled the export of biomethane from the gas to grid
facility at our Manchester Bioresource Centre. This has reduced our net
emissions still further to 381,246 tCO2e.

Governance
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While weather and operational conditions can impact our consumption
of electricity and generation of renewable energy, we expect the overall
trend in emissions to remain downwards, reflecting our commitment to
act responsibly and minimise our carbon footprint.

Our carbon footprint since 2005/06: our baseline year

Renewable generation as percentage of electricity consumption

119

United Utilities Group PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Directors’ report

Statutory and other information
Dividends

Our directors are recommending a final dividend of 26.49 pence per ordinary share for the year ended
31 March 2018, which, together with the interim dividend of 13.24 pence, gives a total dividend for the year
of 39.73 pence per ordinary share (the interim and final dividends we paid in respect of the 2016/17 financial year
were 12.95 pence and 25.92 pence per ordinary share respectively). Subject to approval by our shareholders at our
AGM, our final dividend will be paid on 3 August 2018 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on
22 June 2018.

Directors

The names of our directors who served during the financial year ended 31 March 2018 can be found on
pages 60 to 63.

Reappointment

Our articles of association provide that our directors must retire at every annual general meeting following their
last election or reappointment by our shareholders which is consistent with the recommendation contained within
the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code (‘the Code’) that all directors should be subject to annual election by
shareholders. This has been the case at all the AGMs since 2011. Information regarding the appointment of our
directors is included in our corporate governance report on pages 74 to 77.

Interests

Details of the interests in the company’s shares held by our directors and persons connected with them are set
out in our directors’ remuneration report on pages 94 to 109 which is hereby incorporated by reference into this
directors’ report.

Corporate governance
statement

The corporate governance report on pages 60 to 116 is hereby incorporated by reference into this directors’ report
and includes details of our compliance with the Code. Our statement includes a description of the main features of
our internal control and risk management systems in relation to the financial reporting process and forms part of
this directors’ report. A copy of the Code, as applicable to the company for the year ended 31 March 2018, can be
found at the Financial Reporting Council’s website frc.org.uk. Copies of the matters reserved for the board and the
terms of reference for each of the main board committees can be found on our website.

Share capital

At 31 March 2018, the issued share capital of the company was £499,819,926 divided into 681,888,418 ordinary
shares of 5 pence each and 273,956,180 deferred shares of 170 pence each. Details of our share capital and
movements in our issued share capital are shown in note 21 to the financial statements on page 156. The ordinary
shares represented 71.3 per cent and the deferred shares represented 28.7 per cent respectively of the shares in
issue as at 31 March 2018.
All our ordinary shares have the same rights, including the rights to one vote at any of our general meetings,
to an equal proportion of any dividends we declare and pay, and to an equal amount of any surplus assets which
are distributed in the event of a winding-up.
Our deferred shares convey no right to income, no right to vote and no appreciable right to participate in any
surplus capital in the event of a winding-up. The rights attaching to our shares in the company are provided by
our articles of association, which may be amended or replaced by means of a special resolution of the company
in general meeting. The company renews annually its power to issue and buy back shares at our AGM and such
resolutions will be proposed at our 2018 AGM. Our directors’ powers are conferred on them by UK legislation and by
the company’s articles. At the AGM of the company on 28 July 2017, the directors were authorised to issue relevant
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £11,364,806 and were empowered to allot equity securities for
cash on a non pre-emptive basis to an aggregate nominal amount of £1,704,721.

Voting

Electronic and paper proxy appointment and voting instructions must be received by our registrars (Equiniti) not
less than 48 hours before a general meeting and when calculating this period, the directors can decide not to take
account of any part of a day that is not a working day.

Transfers

There are no restrictions on the transfer of our ordinary shares in the company, nor any limitations on the holding
of our shares in the company, save: (i) where the company has exercised its right to suspend their voting rights or
to prohibit their transfer following the omission of their holder or any person interested in them to provide the
company with information requested by it in accordance with Part 22 of the Companies Act 2006; or (ii) where their
holder is precluded from exercising voting rights by the Financial Conduct Authority’s Listing Rules or the City Code
on Takeovers and Mergers.
There are no agreements known to us between holders of securities that may result in restrictions on the transfer
of securities or on voting rights. All our issued shares are fully paid.
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At 23 May 2018, our directors had been notified of the following interests in the company’s issued ordinary share
capital in accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority:

Lazard Asset Management LLC
BlackRock Inc
Norges Bank

Per cent of issued
share capital
8.03
5.13
3.03

Direct or indirect
nature of holding
Indirect
Indirect
Direct

Purchase of own shares

At our last AGM held on 27 July 2017, our shareholders authorised the company to purchase, in the market, up to
68,188,841 of our ordinary shares of 5 pence each. We did not purchase any shares under this authority during
the year. We normally seek such an authority from our shareholders annually. At our 2018 AGM, we will again seek
authority from our shareholders to purchase up to 68,188,841 of our ordinary shares of 5 pence each with such
authority expiring at the end of our AGM held in 2018.

Change of control

As at 31 March 2018, Equiniti Trust (Jersey) Limited was the trustee that administered our executive share plans
and had the ability to exercise voting rights at its discretion which related to shares that it held under the trust deed
constituting the trust. In the event of a takeover offer which could lead to a change of control of the company, the
trustee must consult with the company before accepting the offer or voting in favour of the offer. Subject to that
requirement, the trustee may take into account a prescribed list of interests and considerations prior to making a
decision in relation to the offer, including the interests of the beneficiaries under the trust.

Governance

Major shareholdings

In the event of a change of control, the participants in our all employee share incentive plan (ShareBuy) would be
able to direct the trustee of ShareBuy, Equiniti Share Plan Trustees Limited, how to act on their behalf.
Information required by
UK Listing Rule 9.8.4

Details of the amount of interest capitalised by the group during the financial year can be found in note 5 to the
financial statements on page 146. In line with current UK tax legislation, the amount is fully deductible against the
group’s corporation tax liability, resulting in tax relief of £7.5 million.
There are no other disclosures to be made under Listing Rule 9.8.4.

Directors’ indemnities and
insurance

We have in place contractual entitlements for the directors of the company and of its subsidiaries to claim
indemnification by the company in respect of certain liabilities which might be incurred by them in the course of
their duties as directors. These arrangements, which constitute qualifying third-party indemnity provision and
qualifying pension scheme indemnity provision, have been established in compliance with the relevant provisions
of the Companies Act 2006 and have been in force throughout the financial year. They include provision for the
company to fund the costs incurred by directors in defending certain claims against them in relation to their duties
as directors of the company or its subsidiaries. The company also maintains an appropriate level of directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance.

Political donations

We do not support any political party and do not make what are commonly regarded as donations to any political
party or other political organisations. However, the wide definition of donations in the Political Parties, Elections
and Referendums Act 2000 covers activities which form part of the necessary relationship between the group and
our political stakeholders. This includes promoting United Utilities’ activities at the main political parties’ annual
conferences, and occasional stakeholder engagement in Westminster.
The group incurred expenditure of £21,662 (2017: £11,298) as part of this process, the increase on the previous
year as a result of a parliamentary reception hosted by the company to engage parliamentary stakeholders on its
business plan development. At the 2017 AGM, an authority was taken to cover such expenditure.
A similar resolution will be put to our shareholders at the 2018 AGM to authorise the company and its subsidiaries
to make such expenditure.

Trade associations

We are members of a small number of trade associations. Some of these have a national focus, such as Water UK,
the representative body of the UK water industry, which considers industry-wide priorities such as development
of markets, customer trust, resilience, and legislation and regulation, and the Confederation of British Industry,
which provides a policy making voice for firms at a regional, national and international level. Others focus on
specific professions such as the 100 Group representing the views of the finance directors of FTSE100 and large UK
private companies and the GC100, the voice of general counsel and company secretaries in FTSE100 companies.
The company is also a member of regional bodies, such as the North West Business Leadership Team and Atlantic
Gateway, both of which encourage engagement across the public and private sectors to promote the sustainable
economic development and long-term wellbeing of the North West. Our contribution to these associations in
2017/18 was £389,743 (2016/17: £393,000).
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Directors’ report

Statutory and other information
Employees

Our policies on employee consultation and on equal opportunities for our disabled employees can be found in the
‘People’ section on page 24. The company’s business principles make clear how the company and all our employees
must seek to act with integrity and fairness and observe legal requirements. Anyone with serious concerns that the
company may not be adhering to these principles is encouraged to speak up via their line manager or through a
confidential telephone line.
Importance is placed on strengthening employees’ engagement, measuring their views annually, then taking
action to improve how they feel about the company and understand its direction. Employees are provided with
regular information to enable them to understand the financial and economic factors affecting the company’s
performance. The board encourages employees to own shares in the company through the all employee share
incentive plan (ShareBuy). For further information on our average number of employees during the year, go to
note 2 on page 144.

.
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Environmental, social
and community matters

Details of our approach to corporate responsibility, relating to the environment and social and community issues,
can be found on pages 90 to 93.

Essential contractual
relationships

Certain suppliers we use contribute key goods or services, the loss of which could cause disruption to our services.
However, none are so vital that their loss would affect our viability as a group as a whole nor are we overly
dependent on any one individual customer.

Approach to technology
development

We are committed to using innovative, cost-effective and practical solutions for providing high-quality services and
we recognise the importance of ensuring that we focus our investment on the development of technology and that
we have the right skills to apply technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantage and also that we continue
to be alert to emerging technological opportunities.

Financial instruments

Our risk management objectives and policies in relation to the use of financial instruments can be found in note A4
to the financial statements.

Events occurring after the
reporting period

Details of events after the reporting period are included in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements on
page 156.

Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement

Our statement can be found on our website at: unitedutilities.com/human-rights
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Total dividend per share

Governance

39.73p
for 2017/18
(2016/17: 38.87p per share)

Annual general meeting
Our 2018 annual general meeting (AGM) will be held on 27 July.
› Full details of the resolutions to be proposed to our shareholders, and
explanatory notes in respect of these resolutions, can be found in our
notice of AGM. A copy can be found on our website.
At our 2018 AGM, resolutions will be proposed, amongst other matters:
› To receive the annual report and financial statements; to approve the
directors’ remuneration report; to declare a final dividend; and to
reappoint KPMG LLP as auditor; and
› To approve the directors’ general authority to allot shares; to grant
the authority to issue shares without first applying statutory rights of
pre-emption; to authorise the company to make market purchases of
its own shares; to authorise the making of limited political donations
by the company and its subsidiaries; and to enable the company to
continue to hold general meetings on not less than 14 working
days’ notice.

Information given to the auditor

Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this
report confirms that:
› So far as he or she is aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the company’s auditor is unaware; and
› He or she has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken
as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is
aware of that information. This confirmation is given, and should
be interpreted, in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

Reappointment of the auditor
Our board is proposing that our shareholders reappoint KPMG LLP as
our auditor at the forthcoming AGM and authorises the audit committee
of the board to set the auditor’s remuneration.
Approved by the board on 23 May 2018 and signed on its behalf by:
Simon Gardiner
Company Secretary

123

United Utilities Group PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Stakeholder report
Stakeholder performance table
We have a wide range of stakeholders who take an interest in the way we do business. The following table provides a summary of a broad set of
performance measures covering environmental, social and governance issues that are of interest to our stakeholders. Further information on how
we manage our business in a responsible manner can be found elsewhere in this report or on the responsibility pages of our corporate website.
Theme
Governance

Area
Compliance

Customer

Complaints

Digital
Customer
assistance
Customer water
efficiency
Environment
Carbon and
energy
Waste

Fines

Natural capital

Measure
UK Corporate Governance Code
Dow Jones Sustainability Indices
Total number of domestic customer
complaints
Average speed of complaint resolution
Number of customers using online
services – My Account
Number of customers assisted by
Priority Services
Total customer water savings from
measures promoted by United Utilities
Carbon footprint
Electricity used
Total waste
Waste to beneficial use
Number of incidents resulting in fines
Environmental fines
Enforcement undertakings

Performance
Compliant
World Index
6,755

Further Information
Directors’ report – statutory and other information
Our performance in a responsible manner section
Our performance best service to customers section

3 days
738,790

Our performance best service to customers section
Our performance best service to customers section

52,367

Our performance best service to customers section

3.2 Ml/d

Our performance best service to customers section

391,640
tCO2e
799 GWh
695,871
tonnes
95.25%
1*
£666,000
2
(£60,000 and
£95,000)
12,800

Directors’ report – statutory and other information
Directors’ report – statutory and other information
Responsibility pages of our website
Responsibility pages of our website
Our performance in a responsible manner section
Our performance in a responsible manner section
Our performance in a responsible manner section

Number of trees planted on
Responsibility pages of our website
catchment land
No net loss of biodiversity across
100%
Responsibility pages of our website
capital programme
People
Employee
Overall employee engagement
79%
Our performance in a responsible manner section
engagement
Employees with trade union
46%
Our key resources
membership**
Gender pay
Mean gender pay gap
13.1%
Gender Pay Report on our website
reporting
Median gender pay gap
15.9%
Gender Pay Report on our website
Employee
Average number of days of training
3.48 days
Our performance in a responsible manner section
development
per FTE per year
Health and safety Employee accident frequency rate
0.196
Our performance in a responsible manner section
(per 100,000 hours)
Contractor accident frequency rate
0.087
Our performance in a responsible manner section
(per 100,000 hours)
Workforce profile 84% White 2% BAME 14% Non-disclosed 64% Male 36% Female <1% Disability (including long-term
health conditions)
Suppliers
Payment statistics Average time taken to pay invoices
23 days
Suppliers pages of our website
Suppliers paid on time
95.44%
Suppliers pages of our website
Communities Charity
Match funding to charity through
£120,717
Responsibility pages of our website
employee efforts
Employee
Number of hours employee
3,577
Responsibility pages of our website
volunteering
volunteering
Community
How investment was made
investment (LBG
Cash £3,436,675
Time £69,239
Management costs £145,486
Total £3,651,400
method)
Type of support
Charitable gift £47,559
Community investment £3,445,355
Commercial initiative £13,000
* water discharge activity in contravention of Reg 38(1)(a) of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 (as amended)
** based on employees who pay their union subscriptions via their payroll

124

unitedutilities.com/corporate

Stock Code: UU.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect
of the annual report and the financial statements

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent
company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they are required to prepare the group financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (EU) (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and
applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial
statements on the same basis.
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their
profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the group and parent
company financial statements, the directors are required to:
› Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
› Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and
reliable;

Responsibility statement of the directors in
respect of the annual financial report
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:
› The financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable
set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and
› The strategic report includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the issuer and
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole,
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face.

Governance

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the
group and parent company financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

We consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the group’s position and performance,
business model and strategy.
Approved by the board on 23 May 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

› State whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU;

Dr John McAdam
Chairman

› Assess the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern;
and

Russ Houlden
Chief Financial Officer

› Use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to
liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent company and enable them to ensure
that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.
Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also
responsible for preparing a strategic report, directors’ report, directors’
remuneration report and corporate governance statement that complies
with that law and those regulations.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the company’s website.
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Financial
statements
In this section you will find our full
audited financial results for the year
ended 31 March 2018.
Independent auditor’s report to the members
of United Utilities Group PLC only
Consolidated income statement
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated and company statements
of financial position
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Company statement of changes in equity
Consolidated and company statements
of cash flows
Guide to detailed financial statements disclosures
Accounting policies
Notes to the financial statements
Notes to the financial statements – appendices
Five-year summary – unaudited
Shareholder information
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139
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144
157
178
180
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
United Utilities Group PLC only
1. Our opinion is unmodified
We have audited the financial statements of United Utilities Group
PLC (the Company) for the year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise
the Consolidated income statement, Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, Consolidated and company statements of
financial position, Consolidated and company statements of changes in
equity, Consolidated and company statements of cash flows, and the
related notes, including the accounting policies on page 140.
In our opinion:
ͧͧ

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and
of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

ͧͧ

the group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU);

ͧͧ

the parent company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and as
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act
2006; and

ͧͧ

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities are
described below. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion is
consistent with our report to the audit committee.
We were appointed as auditor by the directors on 9 October 2017. The
period of total uninterrupted engagement is for the seven financial years
ended 31 March 2018. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under,
and we remain independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed public
interest entities. No non-audit services prohibited by that standard
were provided.
Overview
£19.0m (2017: £19.5m)
Materiality: group
4.9% (2017: 4.7%) of normalised group profit
financial statements
before tax
as a whole
Coverage
98% (2017: 98%) of group profit before tax
Risks of material misstatement
vs 2017
Recurring risks
Revenue recognition and

allowance for customer debts
(no change)
Capitalisation of costs relating

to the capital programme
Retirement benefit obligation

valuation
Water Plus joint venture
New risk
investment and loan carrying value
Recoverability of intercompany

debtors and investment in United
Utilities PLC (parent company only)

2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements and
include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. We
summarise below the key audit matters, in decreasing order of audit significance, in arriving at our audit opinion above, together with our key audit
procedures to address those matters and, as required for public interest entities, our results from those procedures. These matters were addressed,
and our results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context of, and solely for the purpose of, our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and consequently are incidental to that opinion, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Revenue recognition and
provisions for household
customer debt
Revenue not recognised:
£20.3 million (2017: £28.3 million)
Provision for customer debts:
£63.4 million (2017: £85.4 million)

The risk
Subjective estimation:

Our response
Our procedures included:

Household revenue recognition and
provision for household customer debts
are key areas of judgement, particularly in
relation to:

ͧ

Accounting analysis – Assessing whether appropriate
revenue recognition policies are applied through
comparison with relevant accounting standards including
the policy of not recognising revenue where it is not
probable that cash will be received;

ͧ

Control observation – Testing the group’s controls over
revenue recognition and provision for customer debts,
including reconciliations between sales and cash receipts
systems and the general ledger;

ͧ

Methodology choice – Assessing the appropriateness of
the customer debt provisioning policy based on historical
cash collections, credits, re-bills and write-off information;
and

ͧ

Assessing transparency – Assessing the adequacy of
the group’s disclosures of its revenue recognition and
customer debt provisioning policies, including the
judgement involved in recording revenue and estimation
uncertainty of the bad debt provision.

ͧ

Refer to page 87 (Audit Committee
Report), page 140 (accounting
policy) and pages 145 and 152
(financial disclosures).
ͧ

identifying properties where there is
little prospect cash will be received
for revenue that has been billed due
to either the occupier not being able
to be identified or a past history of
non-payment of bills relating to that
property; and
assessing the recoverability of trade
debtors.

Financial statements
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Our results:

Capitalisation of costs relating to
the capital programme

Subjective classification:

The group has a substantial capital
programme which has been agreed with the
Water Services Regulation Authority (Ofwat)
and therefore incurs significant annual
Refer to page 87 (Audit Committee
expenditure in relation to the development
Report), pages 141 and 174
and maintenance of both infrastructure and
(accounting policy) and page 149
non-infrastructure assets.
(financial disclosures).
The determination of in year project costs as
capital or operating expenditure is inherently
judgemental. Costs capitalised include an
allocation of overhead costs, relating to the
proportion of time spent by support function
staff, which is also inherently judgemental.
£741.3 million (2017: £717.9
million)

ͧ

In respect of the recognition of revenue only where it is
probable that economic benefits/cash will be received,
we found the amount of revenue recognised to be
appropriate; and

ͧ

From the evidence obtained, we considered the level of
bad debt provisioning to be acceptable.

Our procedures included:
ͧ

Accounting analysis – Assessing the group’s capitalisation
policy for compliance with relevant accounting standards;

ͧ

Control observation – Testing controls over the application
of the policy in the period including review of project
business case submissions, and attending a sample of
capital approval meetings to observe the judgements
made and evaluating the documented conclusions;

ͧ

Tests of details – Critically assessing the costs capitalised
for a sample of projects against the capitalisation policy;

ͧ

Tests of details – Identify and assess the impact of
changing capitalisation rates for all existing projects;

ͧ

Historical comparisons – Critically assess the proportion
of overhead costs by business area which are capitalised
using historical comparisons and expected changes based
upon corroborated enquiry and our sector knowledge; and

ͧ

Assessing transparency – Assessing the adequacy of the
group’s disclosures of its capitalisation policy and other
related disclosures.

Our results:
ͧ

We found the group’s treatment of expenditure as capital
or operating to be acceptable.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
United Utilities Group PLC only
Retirement benefit obligation
valuation

The risk
Estimation in valuation of retirement
obligations:

Our response
Our procedures included:

ͧͧ
The group’s retirement benefit surplus is
the difference between the fair value of the
pension assets and the retirement benefit
Refer to page 87 (Audit Committee
obligation.
Report), pages 141 and 176
Significant estimates are made in valuing
(accounting policy) and page 154
the group’s retirement benefit obligation.
(financial disclosures).
Small changes in assumptions and estimates
used to value the group’s pension obligation
would have a significant effect on the group’s
ͧͧ
financial position.
£3,498.7 million (2017: £3,615.5
million)

Benchmarking assumptions – Challenging the key
assumptions supporting the group’s retirement benefit
obligations valuation with input from our own actuarial
specialists, including comparing the discount rate, inflation
rate and life expectancy assumptions used against
externally derived data. We performed a comparison
of key assumptions against our own benchmark ranges
which are derived from available data as well as comparing
against those used by other companies reporting on the
same period; and
Assessing transparency – Assessing the group’s disclosure
in respect of the sensitivity of the liabilities to changes in
the key assumptions.

Our results:
ͧͧ
Water Plus joint venture
investment and loans carrying
value

Forecast-based estimate valuation:

The group’s investment in the equity of,
and loans to Water Plus is significant. The
estimated recoverable amount is subjective
£39.3 million investment in joint
venture and £135.8 million loans to due to the inherent uncertainty involved in
joint venture (2017: £39.1 million forecasting future cash flows. The estimate
of the investment in Water Plus is also
and £118.5 million respectively)
sensitive to the discount rate used.
Refer to page 87 (Audit Committee
Report), pages 141 and 173
(accounting policy) and page 150
(financial disclosures).

Our procedures included:
ͧͧ

Benchmarking assumptions – Evaluating assumptions
used, in particular those relating to discount rate, terminal
growth rate, and the normalised level of working capital
in the business, using our own valuation specialist and
comparing to externally derived data;

ͧͧ

Sensitivity analysis – Performing sensitivity analysis on the
assumptions noted above; and

ͧͧ

Assessing transparency – Assessing whether the group’s
disclosures are appropriate.

Our results:
ͧͧ

Recoverability of intercompany
debtors and investment in United
Utilities PLC
Investment in subsidiary and
participating interests £6,326.8
million (2017: £6,326.8 million)
Amounts owed by subsidiary
undertakings £74.2 million (2017:
£69.0 million)
Refer to page 175 (accounting
policy) and page 151 (financial
disclosures).
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The results of our testing were satisfactory and we found
the obligation recognised to be acceptable.

We found the resulting estimate of the recoverable
amount of the total investment and loans in the Water Plus
joint venture to be acceptable.

Material amounts:

Our procedures included:

The carrying amount of the company’s
investments in subsidiaries held at cost less
impairment and intercompany receivables
represent 100 per cent (2017: 100 per cent)
of the company’s total assets.

ͧͧ

We do not consider the valuation of these
investments and recovery of intercompany
receivables to be at a high risk of significant
misstatement, or to be subject to a
significant level of judgement. However,
due to their materiality in the context of
the company financial statements, this
is considered to be the area that had
the greatest effect on our overall parent
company audit.

Tests of detail: Comparing the carrying value of
intercompany investments and receivables to the relevant
subsidiary balance sheet to identify whether their
net assets, being an approximation of their minimum
recoverable amount, were in excess of the investment
carrying amounts and whether the intercompany
receivables were included in the net assets.

Our results:
ͧͧ

We found the assessment of the amounts recorded to be
acceptable.
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Normalised group profit before tax
£384.8m (2017: £418.1m)

Materiality for the group financial statements as a whole was set at
£19.0 million (2017: £19.5 million), determined with reference to a
benchmark of group profit before tax, normalised to exclude this
year’s net fair value gains on debt and derivative instruments as
disclosed in note 5, of £384.8 million, of which it represents 4.9 per cent
(2017: 4.7 per cent).

£19.0m
Whole financial
statements materiality
(2017: £19.5m)
£18.5m
Range of materiality at
6 components £2.5m to £18.5m
(2017: £1.7m to £18.5m)

Materiality for the parent company financial statements as a whole was
set at £18.5 million (2017: £18.5 million), determined with reference to
a benchmark of company total assets, of which it represents 0.29 per
cent (2017: 0.29 per cent).
We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any corrected or
uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding £0.5 million, in
addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on
qualitative grounds.
Of the group’s 34 (2017: 34) reporting components, we subjected six
(2017: six) to full scope audits for group purposes.
The components within the scope of our work accounted for the
percentages illustrated opposite.

£0.5m
Misstatements reported to the
audit committee (2017: £0.5m)

Normalised group profit
before tax
Group materiality

Group revenue

The remaining two per cent of group profit before tax and one per cent
of total group assets is represented by 28 of reporting components,
none of which individually represented more than two per cent of any of
total group revenue, group profit before tax or total group assets.
The group team instructed component auditors as to the significant
areas to be covered, including the relevant risks detailed above and
the information to be reported back. The group team approved the
component materiality of £2.5 million to £18.5 million, having regard to
the mix of size and risk profile of the group across the components. The
work on one of the six components (2017: one of the six components)
was performed by component auditors and the rest, including the audit
of the parent company, was performed by the group team. The group
team performed procedures on the items excluded from normalised
group profit before tax.
The group team visited no (2017: one) component locations (2017:
Stoke). To assess the audit risk and strategy, telephone conference
meetings were also held with the component auditor that was not
physically visited. At these meetings, the findings reported to the group
team were discussed in more detail, and any further work required by
the group team was then performed by the component auditor.

Materiality
£19.0m (2017: £19.5m)

Financial statements

3. Our application of materiality and an
overview of the scope of our audit

Group normalised
profit before tax

1

100%

100%

99

100

100

100

(2017: 99%)

Group total assets

(2017: 100%)

Group profit before tax

1

2

3

2

99%

98%

(2017: 97%)

(2017: 98%)

97

98

99

98

Full scope for group audit
purposes 2018
Specified risk-focused audit
procedures 2018

Full scope for group audit
purposes 2017
Specified risk-focused audit
procedures 2017

Residual components
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
United Utilities Group PLC only
4. We have nothing to report on
going concern
We are required to report to you if:
ͧͧ

we have anything material to add or draw attention to in relation to
the directors’ statement on page 140 of the financial statements on
the use of the going concern basis of accounting with no material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt over the group and
company’s use of that basis for a period of at least 12 months from
the date of approval of the financial statements; or

ͧͧ

the related statement under the Listing Rules set out on pages 80 to
81 is materially inconsistent with our audit knowledge.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

5. We have nothing to report on the other
information in the Annual Report
The directors are responsible for the other information presented in
the Annual Report together with the financial statements. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly
stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the
information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work
we have not identified material misstatements in the other information.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the long-term viability
statement. We have nothing to report in this respect.

Corporate governance disclosures
We are required to report to you if:
ͧͧ

we have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge
we acquired during our financial statements audit and the directors’
statement that they consider that the annual report and financial
statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the group’s position and performance, business model and
strategy; or

ͧͧ

the section of the annual report describing the work of the Audit
Committee does not appropriately address matters communicated
by us to the Audit Committee.

We are required to report to you if the Corporate Governance Statement
does not properly disclose a departure from the 11 provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code specified by the Listing Rules for our review.
We have nothing to report in these respects.
Based solely on our work on the other information described above:
ͧͧ

Strategic report and Directors’ report

Based solely on our work on the other information:
ͧͧ

we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic
report and the directors’ report;

ͧͧ

in our opinion the information given in those reports for the
financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and

ͧͧ

in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ remuneration report

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006.

Disclosures of principal risks and longer-term viability
Based on the knowledge we acquired during our financial statements
audit, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in
relation to:
ͧͧ
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the directors’ confirmation within the long-term statement on page
81 that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the group, including those that would threaten its
business model, future performance, solvency and liquidity;

ͧͧ

the Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks and explaining
how they are being managed and mitigated; and

ͧͧ

the directors’ explanation in the long-term viability statement of
how they have assessed the prospects of the group, over what
period they have done so and why they considered that period
to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the group will be able to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period
of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

with respect to the Corporate Governance Statement disclosures
about internal control and risk management systems in relation to
financial reporting processes and about share capital structures;
ͧͧ

we have not identified material misstatements therein;

ͧͧ

the information therein is consistent with the financial
statements; and

ͧͧ

in our opinion, the Corporate Governance Statement has been
prepared in accordance with relevant rules of the Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority.

6. We have nothing to report on the other
matters on which we are required to report
by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in
our opinion:
ͧͧ

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

ͧͧ

the parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns; or

ͧͧ

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are
not made; or

ͧͧ

we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

7. Respective responsibilities
Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 125, the
directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements
including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; assessing the group and parent company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or other irregularities (see below), or error, and to
issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists.

unitedutilities.com/corporate

8. The purpose of our audit work and to
whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Financial statements

Stock Code: UU.

William Meredith (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
St Peter’s Square, Manchester, M2 3AE
23 May 2018

Misstatements can arise from fraud, other irregularities or error and
are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s
website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

Irregularities – ability to detect

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be
expected to have a material effect on the financial statements from our
sector experience and through discussion with the directors and other
management (as required by auditing standards).
We had regard to laws and regulations in areas that directly affect the
financial statements, including financial reporting (including related
company legislation) and taxation legislation. We considered the extent
of compliance with those laws and regulations as part of our procedures
on the related financial statement items.
In addition, we considered the impact of laws and regulations in the
specific areas of environmental law, health and safety, anti-bribery,
employment law, regulatory capital and liquidity and certain aspects
of company legislation recognising the financial and regulated nature
of the group’s activities and its legal form. With the exception of
any known or possible non-compliance and, as required by auditing
standards, our work in respect of these was limited to enquiry of the
directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal
correspondence. We considered the effect of any known or possible
non-compliance in these areas as part of our procedures on the related
financial statement items.
We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team
and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the
audit. This included communication from the group to component audit
teams of relevant laws and regulations identified at group level, with
a request to report on any indications of potential existence of noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations (irregularities) in these
areas, or other areas directly identified by the component team.
As with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal controls.
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Consolidated income statement
for the years ended 31 March
Revenue
Employee benefits expense
Other operating costs
Other income
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Infrastructure renewals expenditure
Total operating expenses
Operating profit
Investment income
Finance expense
Investment income and finance expense
Profit on disposal of business
Share of profits of joint ventures
Profit before tax
Current tax charge
Deferred tax charge
Deferred tax credit – change in tax rate
Tax
Profit after tax

Note
1
2
3
3
3

4
5

11
6
6
6
6

2018
£m
1,735.8
(153.5)
(423.4)
3.8
(376.8)
(149.5)
(1,099.4)
636.4
12.0
(218.6)
(206.6)
–
2.3
432.1
(18.7)
(58.8)
–
(77.5)
354.6

2017
£m
1,704.0
(151.9)
(435.1)
4.2
(364.9)
(150.8)
(1,098.5)
605.5
13.7
(202.7)
(189.0)
22.1
3.8
442.4
(31.5)
(35.2)
58.2
(8.5)
433.9

Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted

7
7

52.0p
51.9p

63.6p
63.5p

Dividend per ordinary share

8

39.73p

38.87p

All of the results shown above relate to continuing operations.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the years ended 31 March
Note
Profit after tax
Other comprehensive income
Remeasurement gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes
Tax on items taken directly to equity
Foreign exchange adjustments
Total comprehensive income

17
6

2018
£m
354.6

2017
£m
433.9

50.2
(8.5)
0.2
396.5

(76.7)
17.3
3.7
378.2

With the exception of foreign exchange adjustments, none of the items in the table above will be prospectively reclassified to profit or loss.
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2018
£m

Group
2017
£m

2018
£m

Company
2017
£m

9
10
11
12
14
17
A4

10,790.5
197.7
75.2
7.1
141.1
344.2
297.8
11,853.6

10,405.5
187.7
75.2
9.0
112.3
247.5
731.0
11,768.2

–
–
–
6,326.8
–
–
–
6,326.8

–
–
–
6,326.8
–
–
–
6,326.8

13
14

16.8
260.9
24.5
510.0
337.7
1,149.9
13,003.5

22.4
303.9
7.1
247.8
76.7
657.9
12,426.1

–
74.2
–
–
–
74.2
6,401.0

–
69.0
–
–
–
69.0
6,395.8

Note
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Interests in joint ventures
Investments
Trade and other receivables
Retirement benefit surplus
Derivative financial instruments
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Current tax asset
Cash and short-term deposits
Derivative financial instruments

15
A4

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

20
16
18
A4

(642.7)
(7,072.8)
(1,098.8)
(96.8)
(8,911.1)

(589.3)
(7,058.4)
(1,031.5)
(235.5)
(8,914.7)

–
(1,690.3)
–
–
(1,690.3)

–
(1,665.4)
–
–
(1,665.4)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Derivative financial instruments

20
16
19
A4

(275.7)
(839.5)
(22.1)
(4.2)
(1,141.5)
(10,052.6)
2,950.9

(323.0)
(326.1)
(26.5)
(14.2)
(689.8)
(9,604.5)
2,821.6

(11.3)
(0.5)
–
–
(11.8)
(1,702.1)
4,698.9

(10.3)
(0.6)
–
–
(10.9)
(1,676.3)
4,719.5

21

499.8
2.9
(1.8)
–
329.7
2,120.3
2,950.9

499.8
2.9
(2.0)
–
329.7
1,991.2
2,821.6

499.8
2.9
–
1,033.3
–
3,162.9
4,698.9

499.8
2.9
–
1,033.3
–
3,183.5
4,719.5

Total liabilities
Total net assets
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the
company
Share capital
Share premium account
Cumulative exchange reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Merger reserve
Retained earnings
Shareholders’ equity

Financial statements

Consolidated and company statements of
financial position at 31 March

These financial statements for the group and United Utilities Group PLC (company number: 6559020) were approved by the board of directors on
23 May 2018 and signed on its behalf by:
Steve Mogford
Chief Executive Officer

Russ Houlden
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the years ended 31 March

At 1 April 2017
Profit after tax
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit pension schemes
(see note 17)
Tax on items taken directly to equity (see note 6)
Foreign exchange adjustments
Total comprehensive income
Dividends (see note 8)
Equity-settled share-based payments (see note 2)
Exercise of share options – purchase of shares
At 31 March 2018

At 1 April 2016
Profit after tax
Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Remeasurement losses on defined benefit pension schemes
(see note 17)
Tax on items taken directly to equity (see note 6)
Foreign exchange adjustments
Total comprehensive income
Dividends (see note 8)
Equity-settled share-based payments (see note 2)
Exercise of share options – purchase of shares
At 31 March 2017

Share
capital
£m
499.8
–

Share
premium
account
£m
2.9
–

Cumulative
exchange
reserve
£m
(2.0)
–

Merger
reserve
£m
329.7
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
499.8

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
2.9

–
–
0.2
0.2
–
–
–
(1.8)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
329.7

Share
capital
£m
499.8
–

Share
premium
account
£m
2.9
–

Cumulative
exchange
reserve
£m
(5.7)
–

Merger
reserve
£m
329.7
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
499.8

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
2.9

–
–
3.7
3.7
–
–
–
(2.0)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
329.7

Retained
earnings
£m
1,991.2
354.6

50.2
(8.5)
–
396.3
(267.0)
3.2
(3.4)
2,120.3

Retained
earnings
£m
1,878.8
433.9

(76.7)
17.3
–
374.5
(263.1)
3.4
(2.4)
1,991.2

Total
£m
2,821.6
354.6

50.2
(8.5)
0.2
396.5
(267.0)
3.2
(3.4)
2,950.9

Total
£m
2,705.5
433.9

(76.7)
17.3
3.7
378.2
(263.1)
3.4
(2.4)
2,821.6

The merger reserve arose in the year ended 31 March 2009 on consolidation and represents the capital adjustment to reserves required to effect the
reverse acquisition of United Utilities PLC by United Utilities Group PLC.
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At 1 April 2017
Profit after tax
Total comprehensive income
Dividends (see note 8)
Equity-settled share-based payments (see note 2)
Exercise of share options – purchase of shares
At 31 March 2018

Share
capital
£m
499.8
–
–
–
–
–
499.8

Share
premium
account
£m
2.9
–
–
–
–
–
2.9

Capital
redemption
reserve
£m
1,033.3
–
–
–
–
–
1,033.3

Retained
earnings
£m
3,183.5
246.6
246.6
(267.0)
3.2
(3.4)
3,162.9

Total
£m
4,719.5
246.6
246.6
(267.0)
3.2
(3.4)
4,698.9

At 1 April 2016
Profit after tax
Total comprehensive income
Dividends (see note 8)
Equity-settled share-based payments (see note 2)
Exercise of share options – purchase of shares
At 31 March 2017

Share
capital
£m
499.8
–
–
–
–
–
499.8

Share
premium
account
£m
2.9
–
–
–
–
–
2.9

Capital
redemption
reserve
£m
1,033.3
–
–
–
–
–
1,033.3

Retained
earnings
£m
3,204.8
240.8
240.8
(263.1)
3.4
(2.4)
3,183.5

Total
£m
4,740.8
240.8
240.8
(263.1)
3.4
(2.4)
4,719.5

Financial statements

Company statement of changes in equity
for the years ended 31 March

The capital redemption reserve arose as a result of a return of capital to shareholders following the reverse acquisition of United Utilities PLC by
United Utilities Group PLC in the year ended 31 March 2009.
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its own income statement. The result of the company for
the financial year was a profit after tax of £246.6 million (2017: £240.8 million).
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Consolidated and company statements of cash flows
for the years ended 31 March
Note
Operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Interest received and similar income
Tax paid
Tax received
Net cash generated from operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Grants and contributions received
Loans to joint ventures
Investment in joint ventures
Proceeds from disposal of business
Dividends received from joint ventures
Proceeds from investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Dividends paid to equity holders of the company
Exercise of share options – purchase of shares
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

138

A1

20
A6

11
12

8

15

2018
£m

Group
2017
£m

2018
£m

989.8
(144.6)
5.9
(35.5)
–
815.6

1,018.1
(161.0)
4.9
(42.4)
1.2
820.8

271.2
(25.1)
–
–
–
246.1

(698.6)
(36.1)
1.1
23.7
(26.5)
–
8.9
3.3
1.0
(723.2)

(672.4)
(52.4)
4.1
29.0
(109.0)
(13.5)
3.3
5.4
0.9
(804.6)

801.0
(345.9)
(267.0)
(3.4)
184.7
277.1
220.3
497.4

736.2
(448.7)
(263.1)
(2.4)
22.0
38.2
182.1
220.3

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
24.4
–
(267.0)
(3.4)
(246.0)
0.1
(0.6)
(0.5)

Company
2017
£m
265.4
(28.5)
–
–
5.5
242.4
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
23.0
–
(263.1)
(2.4)
(242.5)
(0.1)
(0.5)
(0.6)
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In the interest of providing clear and relevant information to the users of our financial statements we have included summary information within
notes to the financial statements, with additional detailed information included in appendices where required. These notes and appendices can be
grouped as follows:
Notes and appendices

Page

Notes and appendices

Page

Operations – information relating to our operating results
1
2
3

Revenue and segment reporting
Directors and employees
Operating profit

144
144
145

22 Operating lease commitments
A1 Cash generated from operations

156
157

Financial statements

Guide to detailed financial statements disclosures

Financing – information relating to how we finance our business
4
5
7
8
15

Investment income
Finance expense
Earnings per share
Dividends
Cash and cash equivalents

146
146
148
148
152

16
21
A2
A3
A4

Borrowings
Share capital
Net debt
Borrowings
Financial risk management

153
156
157
158
160

Working capital – information relating to the day-to-day working capital of our business
13
14
15

Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

151
151
152

20 Trade and other payables
A6 Related party transactions

155
172

Tax – information relating to our current and deferred taxation
6

Tax

147

18 Deferred tax liabilities

154

Employees – information relating to the costs associated with employing our people
2
17

Directors and employees
Retirement benefit surplus

144
153

A5 Retirement benefits

167

Long-term assets – information relating to our long-term operational and investment assets
9
10
11

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Joint ventures

149
150
150

12 Investments
17 Retirement benefit surplus
A5 Retirement benefits

151
153
167

155
156
156

A7 Accounting policies
A8 Subsidiaries and other group undertakings

173
177

Other – other useful information
19
23
24

Provisions
Contingent liabilities
Events after the reporting period
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below. Further detail can be found in
note A7.

The following paragraphs detail the estimates and judgements the group
believes to have the most significant impact on the annual results under
IFRS.

Basis of preparation

Revenue recognition and allowance for doubtful
receivables

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union (EU). They have been prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments, accounting
for the transfer of assets from customers and the revaluation of
infrastructure assets to fair value on transition to IFRS.
The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with IFRS,
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods presented. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual
results ultimately may differ from these estimates.
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern
basis as the directors have a reasonable expectation that the group has
adequate resources for a period of at least 12 months from the date of
the approval of the financial statements, and that there are no material
uncertainties to disclose.
In assessing the appropriateness of the going concern basis of
accounting, the directors have reviewed the resources available to the
group, taking account of the group’s financial projections, together
with available cash and committed borrowing facilities as well as
consideration of the group’s capital adequacy. The board has also
considered the magnitude of potential impacts resulting from uncertain
future events or changes in conditions, the likelihood of their occurrence
and the likely effectiveness of mitigating actions that the directors would
consider undertaking.

Adoption of new and revised standards

The following standards, interpretations and amendments, effective
for the year ended 31 March 2018, have had no material impact on the
group’s financial statements:
ͧ

Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’, clarifying how to account
for deferred tax assets related to debt instruments measured at fair
value;

ͧ

Amendments to IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’, requiring
disclosures that enable evaluation of changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities; and

ͧ

Improvements to IFRS (2016) (Amendment to IFRS 12 ’Disclosure of
Interests in Other Entities’, effective date 1 January 2018).

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying its accounting policies set out in note A7,
the group is required to make certain estimates, judgements and
assumptions that it believes are reasonable based on the information
available. These judgements, estimates and assumptions affect the
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the amounts of revenues and expenses recognised during the
reporting periods presented. Changes to these estimates, judgements
and assumptions could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
On an ongoing basis, the group evaluates its estimates using historical
experience, consultation with experts and other methods considered
reasonable in the particular circumstances. Actual results may differ
significantly from the estimates, the effect of which is recognised in the
period in which the facts that give rise to the revision become known.
140

Accounting judgement – The group recognises revenue generally at
the time of delivery and when collection of the resulting receivable
is reasonably assured. When the group considers that the criteria for
revenue recognition are not met for a transaction, revenue recognition
is delayed until such time as collectability is reasonably assured.
Management considers that where customers have not paid their bills
within the last two years, or have not cleared previously outstanding
arrears aged more than two years, collectability is not deemed to be
reasonably assured, and therefore amounts billed to these customers
are not recognised as revenue. This resulted in £20.3 million of amounts
billed not being recognised as revenue during the year (net of cash
receipts and credits). Had management made an alternative judgement
that collectability was not reasonably assured where customers had not
paid within one year or within three years, or had not cleared previously
outstanding arrears within these time frames, this would have resulted
in £0.9 million of revenue not being recognised during the year or
£9.4 million additional revenue being recognised during the year
respectively. Payments received in advance of revenue recognition are
recorded as deferred income.
Accounting estimate – At each reporting date, the company and each of
its subsidiaries evaluate the estimated recoverability of trade receivables
and record allowances for doubtful receivables based on experience.
Judgements associated with these allowances are based on, amongst
other things, a consideration of actual collection history. The actual level
of receivables collected may differ from the estimated levels of recovery,
which could impact operating results positively or negatively. At
31 March 2018, the allowance for doubtful receivables of £63.4 million
was supported by a six-year cash collection projection. Based on a fiveyear or seven-year cash collection projection the allowance for doubtful
receivables would have been £64.3 million or £62.4 million respectively.
Accounting estimate – United Utilities Water Limited raises bills in
accordance with its entitlement to receive revenue in line with the
limits established by the periodic regulatory price review processes.
For water and wastewater customers with water meters, the receivable
billed is dependent on the volume supplied including the sales value of
an estimate of the units supplied between the date of the last meter
reading and the billing date. Meters are read on a cyclical basis and the
group recognises revenue for unbilled amounts based on estimated
usage from the last billing through to each reporting date. The estimated
usage is based on historical data, judgement and assumptions; actual
results could differ from these estimates, which would result in
operating revenues being adjusted in the period that the revision to
the estimates is determined. Revenue recognised for unbilled amounts
for these customers at 31 March 2018 was £40.2 million. Had actual
consumption been five per cent higher or lower than the estimate
of units supplied this would have resulted in revenue recognised for
unbilled amounts being £3.8 million higher or lower respectively. For
customers who do not have a meter, the receivable billed and revenue
recognised is dependent on the rateable value of the property, as
assessed by an independent rating officer.

Property, plant and equipment

Accounting judgement – The group recognises property, plant and
equipment (PPE) on its water and wastewater infrastructure assets
where such expenditure enhances or increases the capacity of the
network, whereas any expenditure classed as maintenance is expensed
in the period it is incurred. Determining enhancement from maintenance
expenditure requires an accounting judgement, particularly when

projects have both elements within them. Enhancement spend was
30 per cent of total spend in relation to infrastructure assets during the
year. A change of +/- one per cent would have resulted in £2.3 million
less/more expenditure being charged to the income statement during
the period. In addition, management capitalises time and resources
incurred by the group’s support functions on capital programmes,
which requires accounting judgements to be made in relation to
the appropriate capitalisation rates. Support costs allocated to PPE
represent 58 per cent of total support costs. A change in allocation of +/one per cent would have resulted in £0.9 million less/more expenditure
being charged to the income statement during the period.
Accounting estimate – The estimated useful economic lives of PPE
and intangible assets is based on management’s experience. When
management identifies that actual useful economic lives differ materially
from the estimates used to calculate depreciation, that charge is
adjusted prospectively. Due to the significance of PPE and intangibles
investment to the group, variations between actual and estimated
useful economic lives could impact operating results both positively
and negatively. As such, this is a key source of estimation uncertainty,
although historically few changes to estimated useful economic lives
have been required. The depreciation and amortisation expense for the
year was £376.8 million. A 10 per cent increase in average asset lives
would have resulted in a £33.6 million reduction in this figure and a
10 per cent decrease in average asset lives would have resulted in a
£42.3 million increase in this figure.

Retirement benefits

Accounting estimate – The group operates two defined benefit schemes
which are independent of the group’s finances. Actuarial valuations
of the schemes are carried out as determined by the trustees at
intervals of not more than three years. Profit before tax and net assets
are affected by the actuarial assumptions used. The key assumptions
include: discount rates, pay growth, mortality, and increases to pensions
in payment and deferred pensions. It should be noted that actual rates
may differ from the assumptions used due to changing market and
economic conditions and longer or shorter lives of participants and, as
such, this represents a key source of estimation uncertainty. Sensitivities
in respect of the assumptions used during the year are disclosed in
note A5.

Joint ventures

Accounting estimate – The group has interests relating to its joint
ventures in the form of equity investments and loans receivable,
the recoverability of which are considered with reference to the
present value of the estimated future cash flows of the joint ventures.
Management tests whether any impairment exists in relation to the
equity investments and loans receivable if adverse changes in conditions
associated with the joint ventures suggest that this is appropriate. The
estimated present value of these future cash flows is sensitive to the
discount rate and terminal growth rate used in the calculation, together
with the normalised level of working capital in the joint venture, all of
which require management judgement. Testing of the carrying value
has been performed during the year, which has involved a number of
scenarios being modelled. Based on this testing, management believes
there is sufficient headroom to support the carrying value of the
group’s interests in joint ventures, although it is possible, on the basis
of existing knowledge, that outcomes within the next financial year
that are different from the assumptions used could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets.

Derivative financial instruments

are then discounted back using discount factors which are derived from
the applicable interest rate curves adjusted for management’s estimate
of counterparty and own credit risk, where appropriate. Sensitivities
relating to derivative financial instruments are included in note A4.

Provisions and contingencies

Accounting estimates – The group is subject to a number of claims
incidental to the normal conduct of its business, relating to and including
commercial, contractual, employment and environmental matters,
which are handled and defended in the ordinary course of business. The
group routinely assesses the likelihood of any adverse judgements or
outcomes to these matters as well as ranges of probable and reasonably
estimated losses. Reasonable estimates are made by management after
considering information including notifications, settlements, estimates
performed by independent parties and legal counsel, available facts,
identification of other potentially responsible parties and their ability
to contribute, and prior experience. A provision is recognised when it
is probable that an obligation exists for which a reliable estimate can
be made after careful analysis of the individual matter. The required
provision may change in the future due to new developments and as
additional information becomes available. The provisions in respect of
these claims, based on management’s best estimates, totalled £19.5
million as at 31 March 2018 as set out in the ‘Other’ category in note 19;
due to an inherent level of estimation uncertainty management estimate
that there is an 80 per cent probability that the outcomes of these items
will fall within a range of £10 million to £25 million. Matters that either
are possible obligations or do not meet the recognition criteria for a
provision are disclosed as contingent liabilities in note 23, unless the
possibility of transferring economic benefits is remote.
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New and revised standards not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following
relevant major standards were in issue but not yet effective. The
directors anticipate that the group will adopt these standards on their
effective dates.

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

The standard is effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January
2018. Under the provisions of this standard, where the group has chosen
to measure borrowings at fair value through profit or loss, the portion of
the change in fair value due to changes in the group’s own credit risk will
be recognised in other comprehensive income rather than within profit
or loss. If this standard had been adopted in the current year, a £24.0
million loss would have been recognised in other comprehensive income
rather than within the income statement.
The new standard has moved to a principles-based approach to
align hedge accounting to the risk management activities of the
entity, broadening the scope of what can be included within a hedge
relationship. This change will see the requirement for cross currency
basis spread adjustments to be incorporated in the test for the
effectiveness of a hedge to be removed. The portion of the change
in fair value due to changes in the cross currency basis spread will be
recognised in other comprehensive income rather than within profit
or loss. If the standard had been adopted in the current year, an £8.2
million gain would have been recognised in other comprehensive
income rather than within the income statement.
The changes in hedge accounting may present increased opportunities
in the future to put non-financial risks into hedge relationships; however,
we do not expect this to have any material impact on the financial
statements in the period of initial application.

Accounting estimate – The model used to fair value the group’s
derivative financial instruments requires management to estimate future
cash flows based on applicable interest rate curves. Projected cash flows
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Accounting policies
In addition, the standard requires entities to use an expected credit
loss model for impairment of financial assets instead of an incurred
credit loss model. Consequently, judgement will be required in forming
an expectation of future credit losses, particularly in relation to the
group’s trade receivable balances. The group currently employs a model
that uses historic cash collection rates to form an expectation of the
estimated recoverability of trade receivables at a point in time as this is
the best information available on which an expectation can be formed.
As such, there will be no significant change to the model currently used,
although the group will continue to explore ways in which it might be
further refined, and will take into consideration any significant economic
changes that may have a bearing on expected credit losses. This is not
expected to have a material impact on the overall level of allowances for
bad and doubtful receivables.

Capital income – Capital income refers to the group’s income streams
relating to transactions, typically with property developers, which
impact the group’s capital network assets. It should be noted that
this area remains under active consideration within the industry and
the accounting profession more broadly, and that the accounting
treatment ultimately adopted by the group in this area could therefore
be impacted by the outcome of these ongoing discussions. We set out
below our current assessment of the impact of IFRS 15 in relation to the
transactions.

ͧ

Diversions relating to the relocation of water and wastewater assets;
and

The group is not required to restate 2018 comparative information for
balances affected by the adoption of IFRS 9 in the year of transition.

ͧ

Activities that facilitate the creation of an authorised connection
through which properties can obtain water and wastewater services.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

The adoption of IFRS 15 will not result in any net income statement
impact relating to diversions, where income is currently recognised
in line with the completion of diversion work. However, whereas this
income is currently included in the income statement as a credit within
infrastructure renewals expenditure (IRE) due to it representing a
contribution towards these costs, under IFRS 15 it will be recognised
within revenue resulting in an increase in both the revenue and IRE
expense balances. If the standard had been adopted in the current year
this would have resulted in revenue and IRE both increasing by
£7.9 million.

The standard is effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January
2018. This standard introduces a new revenue recognition model
and replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’, IFRIC
13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’, IFRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate’, IFRIC 18 ‘Transfer of Assets from Customers’
and SIC-31 ‘Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising
Services’. The standard requires revenue to be recognised in line with
the satisfaction of performance obligations identified within contracts
between an entity and its customers, at an amount that reflects the
transaction price allocated to each performance obligation.
Particular challenges exist within the water industry as formal written
contracts do not exist for most transactions with customers. Contracts
are instead implied through statute and regulation. Judgement is
therefore required in identifying the services contained within the
contract and the customer with whom the contract is entered into,
which in turn impacts on how the performance obligations are
considered and therefore revenue recognised.
There are two main areas of the group’s activities that will be impacted
by the adoption of IFRS 15:
ͧ

Core water and wastewater services, accounting for more than 97
per cent of the group’s revenue under current accounting standards;
and

ͧ

Capital income streams accounting for less than 2 per cent of the
group’s revenue in the income statement under current accounting
standards, but where around £600 million of balances are currently
included within deferred grants and contributions on the statement
of financial position.

Other ancillary revenue streams are not expected to be significantly
impacted, and no significant judgements are required in relation
to these.
Core water and wastewater services – These services relate to:
(i) the supply of clean water; and (ii) the removal and treatment of
wastewater, with provision of each of these services deemed to be a
distinct performance obligation under the contract with customers,
though following the same pattern of transfer to the customer who
simultaneously receives and consumes both of these services over
time. No significant judgements are required in identifying customers
of these services. In accordance with IFRS 15, revenue relating to these
activities will be recognised over time as these performance obligations
are satisfied. The adoption of the new standard is not expected to have
any impact on the timing and amount of revenue recognised in these
services.
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There are two categories of capital income, both of which will be
impacted by the adoption of IFRS 15:

Significant judgement is required in relation to accounting for activities
that facilitate an authorised network connection through which
water and wastewater services can be delivered. Establishing such an
authorised connection can involve a number of activities performed
opposite developers which are considered to be neither separable nor
distinct and instead form a bundle of activities necessary to establish an
authorised connection from which network access can be obtained and
water and wastewater services can be provided. These are considered
to form part of the group’s ordinary activities associated with the
operation, maintenance and expansion of a water and wastewater
network and, because they are deemed to result in an exchange
transaction, we have determined that they fall within the scope of
IFRS 15 as transactions arising from contracts with customers.
In addition, as the group has a legal obligation to keep a connection in
place for as long as a property requires water and wastewater services,
these initial connection activities are deemed to result in a broader
ongoing performance obligation that is not distinct from the ongoing
supply of water and wastewater services. The right to benefit from this
connection, and obtain water and wastewater services through it, is
deemed to be transferable from the initial developer to subsequent
occupants of a connected property. Accordingly, under IFRS 15, the
element of the performance obligation associated with the connection
activities will be deemed to be satisfied over the period of time that
water and wastewater services are expected to be provided through the
connection, compared with the current treatment under which deferred
amounts are released to the income statement over the useful economic
life of the related assets or, for certain items, immediately to the income
statement. This estimated period is a matter of judgement. We estimate
that an average connection will be in place for a period of around 60
years and therefore revenue associated with connection activities will be
recognised evenly over this period.
We intend to apply IFRS 15 retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initially applying the standard recognised as an adjustment to the
opening retained earnings balance at the date of initial application. The
standard permits that, where this approach is used, contracts that have
been completed in accordance with current accounting standards at the
date of initial application will not be restated on an IFRS 15 basis.

Based on the deferred balance held on the statement of financial
position relating to connection activities where the contract has not
been completed as at 31 March 2018, the adjustment to retained
earnings on the transition date of 1 April 2018 is expected to be a
reduction in deferred grants and contributions and a corresponding
increase in retained earnings of £2.7 million. In the year of adoption,
revenue of £12.3 million is expected to be recognised in the income
statement in relation to the updated deferred balances held on the
statement of financial position relating to connection activities at
1 April 2018, compared with £8.9 million under current accounting
standards. In addition, around £0.1 million of revenue is expected to be
recognised in relation to balances that will be newly deferred under IFRS
15, compared with around £4 million that would have been expected
to be recognised in the year ending 31 March 2019 under accounting
standards adopted at 31 March 2018.
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The net effect of these changes is that the total amount of annual
revenue recognised in relation to these items is expected to fall by
around £0.5 million as a result of the adoption of IFRS 15, compared
with the group’s treatment under accounting standards adopted at the
reporting date.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

The standard is effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January
2019. Under the provisions of the standard, most leases, including
the majority of those previously classified as operating leases, will be
brought onto the statement of financial position, as both a right-of-use
asset and a largely offsetting lease liability. The right-of-use asset and
lease liability are both based on the present value of lease payments
due over the term of the lease, with the asset being depreciated in
accordance with IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and the liability
increased for the accretion of interest and reduced by lease payments.
The key judgements associated with adoption of this standard relate
to the identification and classification of contracts containing a lease
within the scope of IFRS 16, and the discount rate to use in calculating
the present value of future lease payments on which the reported lease
liability and right-of-use asset is based when the rate is not implicit in
the lease contract.
Work to ensure the correct identification and classification of leases
remains ongoing and will continue over the course of the coming year.
The discount rate is a key determinant in calculating the present value
of future lease payments. The appropriate rate to use remains an area
of active discussion, the outcome of which is likely to have a material
impact on the valuation of the right-of-use asset and lease liability on
adoption. Accordingly, as we do not yet have clarification on this point,
we have not sought to quantify the impact of adoption at this stage.
We intend to use the modified retrospective transitional approach
permitted by the standard in which the right-of-use asset and lease
liability brought onto the balance sheet will be based on the present
value of future lease payments at the adoption date calculated using
the appropriate discount rate. The discount rate will be based on the
company’s incremental cost of borrowing at the point of adoption where
the interest rate is not implicit in the lease contract. As such, the impact
on adoption will be sensitive to the group’s incremental borrowing costs
as at the 1 April 2019 adoption date.
All other standards, interpretations and amendments, which are in issue
but not yet effective, are not expected to have a material impact on the
group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Revenue and segment reporting

The group’s revenue predominantly arises from the provision of services within the United Kingdom, with less than one per cent of external revenue
and non-current assets being overseas.
The board of directors of United Utilities Group PLC (the board) is provided with information on a single segment basis for the purposes of assessing
performance and allocating resources. The group’s performance is measured against financial and operational key performance indicators which
align with our three strategic themes to deliver the best service to customers, at the lowest sustainable cost, in a responsible manner. The board
reviews revenue, operating profit and gearing, along with operational drivers at a consolidated level (see page 53). In light of this, the group has a
single segment for financial reporting purposes and therefore no further detailed segmental information is provided in this note.

2

Directors and employees

Directors’ remuneration

Fees to non-executive directors
Salaries
Benefits
Bonus
Share-based payment charge

2018
£m
0.7
1.5
0.4
0.7
1.8
5.1

2017
£m
0.7
1.2
0.3
0.6
1.5
4.3

Further information about the remuneration of individual directors and details of their pension arrangements are provided in the directors’
remuneration report on pages 99 to 109.

Remuneration of key management personnel

Salaries and short-term employee benefits
Severance
Post-employment benefits
Share-based payment charge

2018
£m
5.3
0.6
–
2.4
8.3

2017
£m
5.5
–
0.1
2.6
8.2

2018
£m
220.7
22.8
3.7

2017
£m
219.9
21.7
7.0

32.2
12.1
44.3
(138.0)
–
153.5

25.5
11.2
36.7
(129.4)
(4.0)
151.9

Key management personnel comprises all directors and certain senior managers who are members of the executive team.

Employee benefits expense (including directors)
Group
Wages and salaries
Employee-related taxes and levies
Severance
Post-employment benefits:
Defined benefit pension expense (see note 17)
Defined contribution pension expense (see note 17)
Charged to regulatory capital schemes
Amounts recharged to related parties at nil margin under transitional service agreements (see note A6)
Employee benefits expense
Within employee benefits expense there were £6.0 million (2017: £10.1 million) of restructuring costs.
The total expense included within employee benefits expense in respect of equity-settled share-based payments was £3.2 million (2017: £3.4
million). The company operates several share option schemes, details of which are given on pages 102 to 104 in the directors’ remuneration report.
Further disclosures have not been included as they are considered immaterial to the assessment of the share-based payments charge.
Average number of employees during the year (full-time equivalent including directors):

Average number of employees during the year

Company

The company has no employees.
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2018
number
5,223

2017
number
5,310
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Operating profit

The following items have been charged/(credited) to the income statement in arriving at the group’s operating profit:

Other operating costs
Hired and contracted services
Property rates
Power
Materials
Regulatory fees
Charge for bad and doubtful receivables (see note 14)
Cost of properties disposed
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Legal and professional expenses
Operating leases payable:
Property
Plant and equipment
Third party wholesale charges
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (see note 9)
Compensation from insurers
Amortisation of deferred grants and contributions (see note 20)
Other expenses
Other income
Other income
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (see note 9)
Amortisation of intangible assets (see note 10)

2018
£m

2017
£m

97.7
90.5
70.4
67.3
29.7
20.8
9.8
6.8
5.8

101.5
91.6
68.7
67.7
28.6
29.9
8.6
3.3
6.5

3.5
0.7
–
–
(3.6)
(6.4)
30.4
423.4

3.8
0.6
3.0
0.2
(12.3)
(6.7)
40.1
435.1

(3.8)
(3.8)

(4.2)
(4.2)

348.4
28.4
376.8

Financial statements
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336.2
28.7
364.9

As a result of two significant flooding incidents caused by storms Desmond and Eva in December 2015, there were £5.3 million (2017: £13.8 million)
of expenses incurred, comprising £2.9 million (2017: £11.1 million) of operating costs, £2.4 million (2017: £2.5 million) of infrastructure renewals
expenditure, and a £nil (2017: £0.2 million) impairment of property, plant and equipment. Insurance compensation of £3.6 million (2017: £12.3
million) relating to the flooding incidents has been recognised as part of a final settlement of the insurance claim. The group does not expect there
to be any further costs or insurance receipts in respect of the flooding incidents.
In addition, there were £1.0 million (2017: £5.8 million) of market reform restructuring costs relating to the non-household retail market opening
to competition in April 2017.
Total other operating costs are stated net of £1.4 million (2017: £14.5 million) of costs recharged to Water Plus at nil margin under transitional
service agreements.
Research and development expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018 was £1.2 million (2017: £2.3 million).
Other income relates primarily to property rental income.
During the year, the group obtained the following services from its auditor:

Audit services
Statutory audit – group and company
Statutory audit – subsidiaries
Non-audit services
Regulatory audit services provided by the statutory auditor
Other non-audit services

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

84
295
379

72
278
350

46
80
505

53
201
604
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Investment income

Interest receivable on short-term bank deposits held at amortised cost
Interest receivable on loans to joint ventures held at amortised cost (see note A6)
Net pension interest income (see note 17)

5

2018
£m
1.5
3.4
7.1
12.0

2017
£m
0.9
2.6
10.2
13.7

2018
£m

2017
£m

265.9
265.9

227.0
227.0

(149.2)
159.6
10.4

70.4
(81.4)
(11.0)

(27.8)
63.7
35.9
(87.4)
(8.0)
(20.4)
2.2
23.1
(3.1)
(93.6)
(47.3)
218.6

37.5
(30.1)
7.4
0.8
(9.6)
(14.4)
(5.0)
–
7.5
(20.7)
(24.3)
202.7

Finance expense

Interest payable
Interest payable on borrowings held at amortised cost(1)
Fair value (gains)/losses on debt and derivative instruments(2)
Fair value hedge relationships:
Borrowings
Designated swaps
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:
Borrowings designated at fair value through profit or loss(3)
Associated swaps(4)
Fixed interest rate swaps(4)
Electricity swaps(4)
Net receipts on swaps and debt under fair value option
Other swaps(4)(5)
Realisation of fair value loss on settlement of borrowings held at amortised cost(6)
Other
Net fair value gains on debt and derivative instruments(7)

Notes:
(1) Includes a £137.8 million (2017: £80.7 million) non-cash inflation uplift expense repayable on maturity in relation to the group’s index-linked debt.
(2) Includes foreign exchange gains of £56.5 million (2017: £119.7 million losses), excluding those on instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss. These gains/losses
are largely offset by fair value losses/gains on derivatives.
(3) Includes a £24.0 million loss (2017: £11.9 million) on the valuation of debt reported at fair value through profit or loss due to changes in credit spread assumptions.
(4) These swap contracts are not designated within an IAS 39 hedge relationship and are, as a result, classed as ‘held for trading’ under the accounting standard. These derivatives
form economic hedges and, as such, management intends to hold these through to maturity.
(5) Includes fair value movements in relation to other economic hedge derivatives relating to debt held at amortised cost.
(6) This fair value loss results from the partial close-out of £50.0 million RPI index-linked notes due April 2043. The portion of the notes closed out had a nominal value of
£30.0 million (carrying value £41.3 million), and were purchased at a fair value of £64.4 million resulting in a £23.1 million fair value loss.
(7) Includes £23.5 million income (2017: £15.4 million) due to net interest on swaps and debt under fair value option.

Interest payable is stated net of £39.7 million (2017: £29.2 million) borrowing costs capitalised in the cost of qualifying assets within property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets during the year. This has been calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 3.6 per cent (2017: 3.0 per cent) to
expenditure on such assets as prescribed by IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’.
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Tax

Current tax
UK corporation tax
Adjustments in respect of prior years
Total current tax charge for the year
Deferred tax
Current year
Adjustments in respect of prior years
Change in tax rate
Total deferred tax charge/(credit) for the year
Total tax charge for the year

2018
£m

2017
£m

25.4
(6.7)
18.7

54.0
(22.5)
31.5

51.7
7.1
58.8
–
58.8
77.5

28.2
7.0
35.2
(58.2)
(23.0)
8.5
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The prior year deferred tax credit of £58.2 million reflects the enacted reduction in the headline rate of corporation tax to 17 per cent from 1 April
2020. The adjustments in respect of prior years relate to agreement with the tax authorities of prior years’ UK tax matters; the prior year figure also
includes the release of a current tax provision in relation to agreed historic overseas tax matters.
The table below reconciles the notional tax charge at the UK corporation tax rate to the effective tax rate for the year:

Profit before tax
Tax at the UK corporation tax rate
Adjustments in respect of prior years
Change in tax rate
Net income not taxable/other
Total tax charge and effective tax rate for the year

Tax on items taken directly to equity
Current tax
Relating to other pension movements
Deferred tax (see note 18)
On remeasurement gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes
Relating to other pension movements
Change in tax rate
Total tax charge/(credit) on items taken directly to equity

2018
£m
432.1
82.1
0.4
–
(5.0)
77.5

2018
%
19.0
0.1
–
(1.2)
17.9

2017
£m
442.4
88.5
(15.5)
(58.2)
(6.3)
8.5

2017
%
20.0
(3.5)
(13.2)
(1.4)
1.9

2018
£m

2017
£m

–
–

(9.8)
(9.8)

8.5
–
–
8.5
8.5

(13.8)
8.8
(2.5)
(7.5)
(17.3)

The prior year deferred tax credit of £2.5 million reflects the enacted reduction in the headline rate of corporation tax to 17 per cent from
1 April 2020.
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Earnings per share

Profit after tax attributable to equity holders of the company

Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted

2018
£m
354.6

2017
£m
433.9

2018
pence

2017
pence

52.0
51.9

63.6
63.5

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit after tax for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the company by 681.9 million,
being the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year (2017: 681.9 million). Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit
after tax for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the company by 683.1 million, being the weighted average number of shares in issue
during the year including dilutive shares (2017: 683.0 million).
The difference between the weighted average number of shares used in the basic and the diluted earnings per share calculations represents those
ordinary shares deemed to have been issued for no consideration on the conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares in accordance with IAS 33
‘Earnings per Share’. Potential dilutive ordinary shares comprise outstanding share options awarded to directors and certain employees (see note 2).
The weighted average number of shares can be reconciled to the weighted average number of shares including dilutive shares as follows:

Average number of ordinary shares – basic
Effect of potential dilutive ordinary shares – share options
Average number of ordinary shares – diluted

8

2018
million
681.9
1.2
683.1

2017
million
681.9
1.1
683.0

2018
£m

2017
£m

176.7
90.3
267.0
180.6

174.8
88.3
263.1
176.8

Dividends

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders of the company in the year comprise:
Ordinary shares
Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 at 25.92 pence per share (2016: 25.64 pence)
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2018 at 13.24 pence per share (2017: 12.95 pence)
Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2018 at 26.49 pence per share (2017: 25.92 pence)

At 31 March 2017, the proposed final dividend was £176.8 million, although the final dividend amount actually paid was £176.7 million. This
difference is due to a higher than anticipated number of shares purchased cum dividend to satisfy the dividend reinvestment plan. Dividends in
relation to these shares are waived.
The proposed final dividends for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 were subject to approval by equity holders of United Utilities
Group PLC as at the reporting dates, and hence have not been included as liabilities in the consolidated financial statements at 31 March 2018 and
31 March 2017.
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Property, plant and equipment

Group

Land and
buildings
£m

Infrastructure
assets
£m

Operational
assets
£m

Fixtures,
fittings, tools
and
equipment
£m

Cost
At 1 April 2016
Additions
Transfers
Disposals
At 31 March 2017
Additions
Transfers
Disposals
At 31 March 2018

326.9
6.7
24.3
(3.7)
354.2
2.4
12.0
(1.4)
367.2

5,120.7
80.1
42.3
–
5,243.1
70.7
72.6
(0.1)
5,386.3

6,479.6
107.0
494.6
(48.0)
7,033.2
122.2
141.8
(46.4)
7,250.8

498.1
10.5
22.6
(34.4)
496.8
10.1
23.4
(3.7)
526.6

Accumulated depreciation
At 31 March 2016
Charge for the year
Impairment
Transfers
Disposals
At 31 March 2017
Charge for the year
Disposals
At 31 March 2018

104.2
10.1
–
–
(2.7)
111.6
9.4
(1.3)
119.7

309.7
36.0
–
0.2
–
345.9
39.5
–
385.4

2,660.2
253.1
0.2
–
(42.8)
2,870.7
260.9
(39.3)
3,092.3

332.3
37.0
–
(0.2)
(33.2)
335.9
38.6
(3.1)
371.4

Net book value at 31 March 2017
Net book value at 31 March 2018

242.6
247.5

4,162.5
4,158.5

160.9
155.2

4,897.2
5,000.9

Assets in
course of
construction
£m
1,012.5
513.6
(583.8)
–
942.3
535.9
(249.8)
–
1,228.4

Total
£m
13,437.8
717.9
–
(86.1)
14,069.6
741.3
–
(51.6)
14,759.3

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
942.3
1,228.4

Financial statements
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3,406.4
336.2
0.2
–
(78.7)
3,664.1
348.4
(43.7)
3,968.8
10,405.5
10,790.5

At 31 March 2018, the group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounting to
£430.1 million (2017: £335.2 million).
In addition to these commitments, the group has long-term expenditure plans which include investments to achieve improvements in performance
required by regulators and to provide for future growth.

Company

The company had no property, plant and equipment or contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment at 31 March
2018 or 31 March 2017.
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Intangible assets

Group

Total
£m

Cost
At 1 April 2016
Additions
Disposals
At 31 March 2017
Additions
At 31 March 2018

310.9
54.5
(8.2)
357.2
38.4
395.6

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2016
Charge for the year
Disposals
At 31 March 2017
Charge for the year
At 31 March 2018

148.5
28.7
(7.7)
169.5
28.4
197.9

Net book value at 31 March 2017
Net book value at 31 March 2018

187.7
197.7

The group’s intangible assets relate mainly to computer software.
At 31 March 2018, the group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets amounting to £2.8 million (2017:
£1.7 million).

Company

The company had no intangible assets or contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets at 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.

11

Joint ventures

Group

At 1 April 2016
Additions
Share of profits of joint ventures
Dividends received from joint ventures
Currency translation differences
At 31 March 2017
Share of profits of joint ventures
Dividends received from joint ventures
Currency translation differences
At 31 March 2018

£m
35.1
39.1
3.8
(5.4)
2.6
75.2
2.3
(3.3)
1.0
75.2

The group’s interests in joint ventures mainly comprise its interests in Water Plus Group Limited (Water Plus) and AS Tallinna Vesi (Tallinn Water).
Water Plus is jointly owned and controlled by the group and Severn Trent PLC under a joint venture agreement. Joint management of Tallinn Water is
based on a shareholders’ agreement.
Tallinn Water has disclosed a new contingent liability of EUR 26.5 million in its latest financial statements relating to possible third-party claims. If
this contingent liability materialises in the future this would impact the group’s share of profits of the joint venture and the joint venture’s carrying
value under the equity method of accounting.
There are no restrictions on the ability of the group’s joint ventures to transfer funds to the group in the form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or
advances made by the group.
Details of transactions between the group and its joint ventures are disclosed in note A6.

Company

The company had no investments in joint ventures at either 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.
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Investments

Group

£m
8.7
(0.9)
1.2
9.0
(1.0)
(0.9)
7.1

At 1 April 2016
Disposals
Currency translation differences
At 31 March 2017
Disposals
Currency translation differences
At 31 March 2018

Financial statements
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During the year, the group reduced its investment in Muharraq Holding Company 1 Limited through a £1.0 million (2017: £0.9 million) repayment
of a shareholder loan.
At 31 March 2018, the group’s investments mainly comprised its investment in Muharraq Holding Company 1 Limited. These investments are held
at fair value.

Company

At 31 March 2018, the company’s investments related solely to its investments in United Utilities PLC, which was recorded at a cost of £6,326.8
million (2017: £6,326.8 million).

13

Inventories

Group

Properties held for resale
Other inventories

2018
£m
9.0
7.8
16.8

2017
£m
13.5
8.9
22.4

2018
£m
–
74.2
–
–
–
74.2

Company
2017
£m
–
69.0
–
–
–
69.0

Company

The company had no inventories at 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.

14

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Amounts owed by related parties (see note A6)
Other debtors and prepayments
Accrued income

2018
£m
116.7
–
179.7
40.8
64.8
402.0

Group
2017
£m
124.7
–
163.5
62.0
66.0
416.2

At 31 March 2018, the group had £141.1 million (2017: £112.3 million) of trade and other receivables classified as non-current, of which
£137.2 million (2017: £112.3 million) was owed to related parties.
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair value.
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Trade and other receivables continued

Trade receivables do not carry interest and are stated net of allowances for bad and doubtful receivables, an analysis of which is as follows:
2018
£m
85.4
20.8
(44.6)
1.6
0.2
63.4

Group

At the start of the year
Amounts charged to operating expenses (see note 3)
Trade receivables written off
Amounts charged to deferred income
Amounts charged to infrastructure renewals expenditure
At the end of the year

2017
£m
94.4
29.9
(38.9)
–
–
85.4

Amounts charged to deferred income relate to amounts invoiced for which revenue has not yet been recognised in the income statement.
Amounts charged to infrastructure renewals expenditure relate to amounts invoiced in relation to contributions towards the cost of infrastructure
renewals incurred as a result of carrying out infrastructure diversions works.
At each reporting date, the group evaluates the recoverability of trade receivables and records allowances for doubtful receivables based on
experience.
At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, the group had no trade receivables that were past due and not individually impaired.
The following table provides information regarding the ageing of net trade receivables that were past due and individually impaired:

Trade receivables

At 31 March 2018
At 31 March 2017

Aged
less than one
year
£m
77.5
79.9

Aged
between one
year and two
years
£m
24.4
32.0

Aged
greater than
two years
£m
4.2
5.0

Carrying
value
£m
106.1
116.9

At 31 March 2018, the group had £10.6 million (2017: £7.8 million) of trade receivables that were not past due.

Company

At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, the company had no trade receivables that were past due.
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017.

15

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term bank deposits
Cash and short-term deposits
Book overdrafts (included in borrowings, see note 16)
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows

2018
£m
1.0
509.0
510.0
(12.6)
497.4

Group
2017
£m
1.5
246.3
247.8
(27.5)
220.3

2018
£m
–
–
–
(0.5)
(0.5)

Company
2017
£m
–
–
–
(0.6)
(0.6)

Cash and short-term deposits include cash at bank and in hand, deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and have a maturity of three months or less. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents
approximate their fair value.
Book overdrafts, which result from normal cash management practices, represent the value of cheques issued and payments initiated that had not
cleared as at the reporting date.
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Borrowings

Group

Non-current liabilities
Bonds
Bank and other term borrowings

Current liabilities
Bonds
Bank and other term borrowings
Book overdrafts (see note 15)

2018
£m

2017
£m

4,723.4
2,349.4
7,072.8

4,851.0
2,207.4
7,058.4

583.2
243.7
12.6
839.5
7,912.3

37.3
261.3
27.5
326.1
7,384.5

2018
£m

2017
£m

1,690.3
1,690.3

1,665.4
1,665.4

0.5
0.5
1,690.8

0.6
0.6
1,666.0

Financial statements
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For further details of the principal economic terms and conditions of outstanding borrowings see note A3.

Company

Non-current liabilities
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Current liabilities
Book overdrafts (see note 15)

Borrowings are unsecured and are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair value.

17

Retirement benefit surplus

Defined benefit schemes

The net pension expense before tax recognised in the income statement in respect of the defined benefit schemes is summarised as follows:

Group

Current service cost
Curtailments/settlements
Administrative expenses
Pension expense charged to operating profit
Net pension interest income credited to investment income
(see note 4)
Net pension expense charged before tax

2018
£m
27.3
2.3
2.6
32.2

2017
£m
19.7
3.1
2.7
25.5

(7.1)
25.1

(10.2)
15.3

Defined benefit pension costs excluding curtailments/settlements included within employee benefit expense were £29.9 million (2017: £22.4
million) comprising current service costs and administrative expenses. Total post-employment benefits expense excluding curtailments/settlements
charged to operating profit of £42.0 million (2017: £33.6 million) comprise the defined benefit costs described above of £29.9 million (2017: £22.4
million) and defined contribution pension costs of £12.1 million (2017: £11.2 million) (see note 2).

153

United Utilities Group PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Notes to the financial statements
17

Retirement benefit surplus continued

The reconciliation of the opening and closing net pension surplus included in the statement of financial position is as follows:
2018
£m
247.5
(25.1)
71.6
50.2
344.2

Group

At the start of the year
Expense recognised in the income statement
Contributions paid
Remeasurement gains/(losses) gross of tax
At the end of the year

2017
£m
275.2
(15.3)
64.3
(76.7)
247.5

Included in the contributions paid of £71.6 million (2017: £64.3 million) were deficit repair contributions of £43.0 million (2017: £43.0 million), and
an inflation funding mechanism payment of £0.4 million made during the year (2017: £nil). Following the 2016 actuarial valuation, contributions in
relation to current service cost increased to £28.2 million (2017: £21.3 million).
Remeasurement gains and losses are recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income.
2018
£m
(60.0)
85.1
43.2
(18.1)
50.2

Group

The return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial gains arising from changes in demographic assumptions
Actuarial (losses)/gains arising from experience
Remeasurement gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes

2017
£m
555.5
(721.4)
52.7
36.5
(76.7)

For more information in relation to the group’s defined benefit pension schemes see note A5.

Defined contribution schemes

During the year, the group made £12.1 million (2017: £11.2 million) of contributions to defined contribution schemes which are included in
employee benefit expense (see note 2).

Company

The company did not participate in any of the group’s pension schemes during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017.

18

Deferred tax liabilities

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group, and the movements thereon, during the current and
prior year:

Group

At 1 April 2016
(Credited)/charged to the income statement (see note 6)
Credited to equity (see note 6)
At 31 March 2017
Charged to the income statement (see note 6)
Charged to equity (see note 6)
At 31 March 2018

Accelerated
tax
depreciation
£m
1,036.8
(25.4)
–
1,011.4
38.5
–
1,049.9

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’.

Company

The company had no deferred tax assets or liabilities at 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.
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Retirement
benefit
obligations
£m
49.6
–
(7.5)
42.1
7.9
8.5
58.5

Other
£m
(24.4)
2.4
–
(22.0)
12.4
–
(9.6)

Total
£m
1,062.0
(23.0)
(7.5)
1,031.5
58.8
8.5
1,098.8
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Provisions
Severance
£m
0.9
7.0
(4.2)
3.7
3.7
(4.8)
2.6

Group

At 1 April 2016
Charged to the income statement
Utilised in the year
At 31 March 2017
Charged to the income statement
Utilised in the year
At 31 March 2018

Other
£m
14.2
11.0
(2.4)
22.8
1.0
(4.3)
19.5

Total
£m
15.1
18.0
(6.6)
26.5
4.7
(9.1)
22.1

Financial statements
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The group had no provisions classed as non-current at 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.
The severance provision as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 relates to severance costs as a result of group reorganisation.
Other provisions principally relate to contractual, legal and environmental claims against the group and represent management’s best estimate of
the value of settlement, the timing of which is dependent on the resolution of the relevant legal claims.

Company

The company had no provisions at 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.

20 Trade and other payables
Non-current
Deferred grants and contributions
Other creditors

2018
£m
617.0
25.7
642.7

Group
2017
£m
570.7
18.6
589.3

2018
£m
–
–
–

Company
2017
£m
–
–
–

Current
Trade payables
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Amounts owed to related parties
Other tax and social security
Deferred grants and contributions
Accruals and other creditors
Deferred income

2018
£m
27.9
–
1.4
5.3
8.8
191.7
40.6
275.7

Group
2017
£m
35.2
–
12.1
5.1
8.5
222.6
39.5
323.0

2018
£m
–
9.0
–
–
–
2.3
–
11.3

Company
2017
£m
–
8.7
–
–
–
1.6
–
10.3

The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 23 days (2017: 23 days).
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair value.

Deferred grants and contributions
Group

At the start of the year
Amounts capitalised during the year
Transfers of assets from customers
Credited to the income statement – revenue
Credited to the income statement – other operating costs (see note 3)
Credited to allowance for bad and doubtful receivables
At the end of the year

2018
£m
579.2
23.7
34.2
(3.3)
(6.4)
(1.6)
625.8

2017
£m
526.4
29.0
33.5
(3.0)
(6.7)
–
579.2
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Share capital

Group and company

Issued, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 5.0 pence each
Deferred shares of 170.0 pence each

2018
million

2018
£m

2017
million

2017
£m

681.9
274.0
955.9

34.1
465.7
499.8

681.9
274.0
955.9

34.1
465.7
499.8

Details of the voting rights of each category of shares can be found within the directors’ report on page 120.
The 170.0 pence deferred shares were created to facilitate a return of capital to shareholders following the reverse acquisition of United Utilities
PLC by United Utilities Group PLC in the year ended 31 March 2009 (see company statement of changes in equity on page 137), and represent the
amount of a special dividend paid on B shares at that time. The deferred shares convey no right to income, no right to vote and no appreciable right
to participate in any surplus capital in the event of a winding up.

22

Operating lease commitments

Group

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases due
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After five years

Property
2018
£m

Plant and
equipment
2018
£m

Property
2017
£m

Plant and
equipment
2017
£m

2.6
9.4
279.9
291.9

0.6
0.4
–
1.0

2.8
10.2
277.9
290.9

0.6
0.4
–
1.0

In respect of the group’s commitment to significant property leases, there are no contingent rentals payable, or restrictions on dividends, debt or
further leasing imposed by these lease arrangements. Wherever possible, the group ensures that it has the benefit of security of tenure where this is
required by operational and accommodation strategies. Escalation of rents is via rent reviews at agreed intervals.
The company had no operating lease commitments at 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.

23

Contingent liabilities

The group has determined that the possibility of any outflow in respect of performance guarantees issued is remote and, as such, there are no
contingent liabilities to be disclosed in respect of these (2017: none).
The company has not entered into performance guarantees as at 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.

24

Events after the reporting period

There were no events arising after the reporting date that require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2018.
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Notes to the financial statements – appendices
Cash generated from operations

Profit before tax
Adjustment for investment income (see note 4) and finance expense
(see note 5)
Adjustment for profit on disposal of business
Adjustment for share of profits of joint ventures (see note 11)
Operating profit
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (see note 9)
Amortisation of intangible assets (see note 10)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (see note 9)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (see note 3)
Loss on disposal of intangible assets
Amortisation of deferred grants and contributions (see note 20)
Equity-settled share-based payments charge (see note 2)
Other non-cash movements
Changes in working capital:
Decrease in inventories (see note 13)
Decrease in trade and other receivables
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (see note 19)
Pension contributions paid less pension expense charged
to operating profit
Cash generated from operations

2018
£m
432.1

Group
2017
£m
442.4

2018
£m
241.7

Company
2017
£m
235.4

206.6
–
(2.3)
636.4

189.0
(22.1)
(3.8)
605.5

25.4
–
–
267.1

27.7
–
–
263.1

348.4
28.4
–
6.8
–
(6.4)
3.2
(3.3)

336.2
28.7
0.2
3.3
0.5
(6.7)
3.4
(3.0)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

5.6
27.5
(13.0)
(4.4)

6.9
71.1
(0.6)
11.4

–
3.5
0.6
–

–
2.3
–
–

(39.4)
989.8

(38.8)
1,018.1

–
271.2

–
265.4

Financial statements

A1

The group has received property, plant and equipment of £34.2 million (2017: £33.5 million) in exchange for the provision of future goods and
services (see notes 20 and A7).

A2 Net debt
Group

At the start of the year
Net capital expenditure
Dividends (see note 8)
Interest
Inflation uplift on index-linked debt (see note 5)
Tax
Loans to joint ventures
Other
Fair value movements* (see note 5)
Cash generated from operations (see note A1)
At the end of the year

2018
£m
6,578.7
701.0
267.0
138.7
137.8
35.5
26.5
(0.7)
(26.9)
(989.8)
6,867.8

2017
£m
6,260.5
691.7
263.1
156.1
80.7
41.2
109.0
4.4
(9.9)
(1,018.1)
6,578.7

* Fair value movements includes net fair value gains on debt and derivative instruments of £47.3 million (2017: £24.3 million gains), less £20.4 million (2017: £14.4 million) of net
receipts on swaps and debt under fair value option (see note 5).

Net debt comprises borrowings, net of cash and short-term deposits and derivatives. As such, movements in net debt during the year reflected in the
above reconciliation are impacted by net cash generated from financing activities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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A3 Borrowings
Terms and debt repayment schedule

The principal economic terms and conditions of outstanding borrowings, along with fair value and carrying value, were as follows:

Borrowings in fair value hedge relationships
5.375% 150m bond
4.55% 250m bond
5.375% 350m bond
4.25% 500m bond
5.75% 375m bond
2.0% 300m bond
2.92% 739m bond
1.129% 52m bond
2.37% 830m bond
5.625% 300m bond
5.02% JPY 10bn dual currency loan
2.058% 30m bond
1.641% 30m bond
2.9% 600m bond
1.707% 28m bond
1.653% 26m bond
1.70% 30m bond
5.0% 200m bond
Borrowings designated at fair value through profit or loss
6.875% 400m bond
Borrowings measured at amortised cost
1.30%+LIBOR 5bn bond
Short-term bank borrowings – fixed
1.61%+RPI 50m EIB IL loan
1.73%+RPI 50m EIB IL loan
1.84%+RPI 50m EIB IL loan
1.90%+RPI 50m EIB IL loan
1.93%+RPI 50m EIB IL loan
1.88%+RPI 50m EIB IL loan
2.10%+RPI 50m EIB IL loan
2.46%+RPI 50m EIB IL loan
0.80%+LIBOR 100m loan
0.47%+RPI 100m IL loan
0.49%+RPI 100m IL loan
0.013%+RPI 25m IL bond
0.1275%+RPI 100m IL loan
0.01%+RPI 20m IL bond
1.23%+RPI 50m EIB (amortising) IL loan
1.29%+RPI 50m EIB (amortising) IL loan
1.12%+RPI 50m EIB (amortising) IL loan
1.10%+RPI 50m EIB (amortising) IL loan
0.75%+RPI 50m EIB (amortising) IL loan
0.76%+RPI 50m EIB (amortising) IL loan
1.15%+RPI 50m EIB (amortising) IL loan
1.11%+RPI 50m EIB (amortising) IL loan
0.178%+RPI 35m IL bond
0.245%+CPI 20m IL bond
0.01%+RPI 38m IL bond
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Currency

Year of final
repayment

GBP
USD
USD
EUR
GBP
GBP
HKD
EUR
HKD
GBP
JPY/USD
EUR
EUR
HKD
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP

2018
2018
2019
2020
2022
2025
2026
2027
2027
2027
2029
2030
2031
2031
2032
2032
2033
2035

USD

2028

JPY
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP

2017
2018
2020
2020
2020
2020
2020
2020
2020
2020
2022
2023
2025
2025
2026
2028
2029
2029
2029
2029
2029
2030
2030
2030
2030
2031
2031

Fair
value
2018
£m
2,905.9
157.9
181.2
256.5
478.8
435.3
299.6
65.9
45.0
70.6
388.6
86.9
27.0
25.7
52.4
23.9
21.9
25.4
263.3
347.7
347.7
5,798.4
–
161.5
67.6
67.8
67.9
67.9
67.9
67.7
68.0
68.6
102.6
117.9
116.2
28.1
111.7
22.1
51.2
53.4
52.6
52.5
52.9
52.8
53.7
53.7
40.4
20.3
42.4

Carrying
value
2018
£m
2,895.3
150.8
178.8
253.6
466.4
411.5
301.5
66.9
44.5
72.4
393.2
95.0
26.7
25.0
48.3
24.7
22.4
26.4
287.2
347.7
347.7
4,669.3
–
161.5
63.7
63.6
63.5
63.4
63.4
63.3
63.2
63.2
100.0
112.2
107.9
26.9
106.5
22.9
47.4
49.2
48.8
48.8
49.8
49.6
49.4
49.6
37.6
20.6
42.6

Fair
value
2017
£m
2,544.6
164.3
208.1
295.3
478.9
455.4
–
–
43.5
–
408.7
97.7
27.0
25.7
61.1
–
–
–
278.9
375.5
375.5
5,682.8
36.3
202.0
67.8
68.0
68.2
68.2
68.2
68.1
68.5
69.3
102.6
116.5
115.6
28.1
112.3
22.0
55.1
57.4
56.5
56.3
56.5
56.4
57.5
57.6
40.2
20.2
42.2

Carrying
value
2017
£m
2,522.4
156.8
204.7
294.8
469.7
429.3
–
–
43.6
–
412.1
105.8
26.3
24.6
56.4
–
–
–
298.3
375.5
375.5
4,486.6
37.3
202.0
61.2
61.2
61.1
61.0
60.9
60.9
60.8
60.8
100.0
107.9
103.8
25.9
102.4
22.3
49.7
51.5
51.0
51.0
51.9
51.7
51.5
51.7
36.2
20.0
41.3
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Borrowings measured at amortised cost (continued)
3.375%+RPI 50m IL bond
0.709%+LIBOR 100m EIB (amortising) loan
0.691%+LIBOR 150m EIB (amortising) loan
0.573%+LIBOR 100m EIB (amortising) loan
0.511%+LIBOR 150m EIB (amortising) loan
0.01%+RPI 100m EIB (amortising) IL loan
0.01%+RPI 75m EIB (amortising) IL loan
0.01%+RPI 75m EIB (amortising) IL loan
0.01%+RPI 75m EIB (amortising) IL loan
1.9799%+RPI 100m IL bond
0.873%+LIBOR 100m EIB (amortising) loan
0.840%+LIBOR 75m EIB (amortising) loan
0.01%+RPI 26.5m IL bond
0.379%+CPI 20m IL bond
0.01%+RPI 29m IL bond
0.093%+CPI 60m IL bond
1.66%+RPI 35m IL bond
2.40%+RPI 70m IL bond
1.7829%+RPI 100m IL bond
1.3258%+RPI 50m IL bond
1.5802%+RPI 100m IL bond
1.5366%+RPI 20m IL bond
1.5366%+RPI 30m IL bond
1.397%+RPI 50m IL bond
0.359%+CPI 32m IL bond
1.7937%+RPI 50m IL bond
Commission for New Towns (amortising) loan – fixed
1.847%+RPI 100m IL bond
1.815%+RPI 100m IL bond
1.662%+RPI 100m IL bond
1.5865%+RPI 50m IL bond
1.591%+RPI 25m IL bond
1.556%+RPI 50m IL bond
1.435%+RPI 50m IL bond
1.3805%+RPI 35m IL bond
1.585%+RPI 100m IL bond
0.387%+CPI 33m IL bond
1.702%+RPI 50m IL bond
Book overdrafts (see note 15)
IL
CPI
RPI
EIB

Currency

Year of final
repayment

Fair
value
2018
£m

Carrying
value
2018
£m

Fair
value
2017
£m

Carrying
value
2017
£m

GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP

2032
2032
2032
2033
2033
2033
2034
2034
2034
2035
2035
2035
2036
2036
2036
2037
2037
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2043
2046
2048
2049
2053
2056
2056
2056
2056
2056
2056
2056
2056
2057
2057
2057
2018

122.4
86.6
134.4
92.0
141.6
109.6
82.2
81.8
81.8
208.3
99.6
75.2
30.1
20.7
32.9
58.8
61.9
135.9
219.0
100.7
214.7
43.2
–
109.1
32.0
122.9
56.2
232.2
231.7
222.0
109.2
54.7
108.6
105.9
73.5
218.9
33.2
112.9
12.6
9,052.0

76.9
87.5
135.9
93.8
145.3
106.4
79.7
79.3
79.3
143.9
100.0
75.0
31.8
20.6
32.5
61.4
46.5
90.7
142.4
71.1
142.0
28.3
–
71.0
32.4
70.7
27.9
140.3
139.8
139.5
69.7
34.8
69.3
69.1
48.4
134.2
33.0
67.7
12.6
7,912.3

124.1
94.9
146.4
100.2
149.6
107.9
80.9
80.7
80.7
212.4
–
–
30.3
20.9
32.2
59.0
62.7
132.2
207.5
95.7
202.6
41.0
61.4
102.9
–
118.0
56.1
224.1
221.5
218.2
105.8
52.5
105.3
102.5
71.0
208.6
–
107.9
27.5
8,602.9

74.2
93.8
145.3
100.0
150.0
102.3
76.7
76.2
76.2
138.9
–
–
31.0
20.0
31.5
59.6
44.7
87.2
137.5
68.6
137.0
27.4
41.0
68.5
–
68.2
28.4
135.0
134.4
134.2
67.0
33.4
66.7
66.5
46.5
129.1
–
65.1
27.5
7,384.5

Financial statements

A3 Borrowings continued

Index-linked debt – this debt is adjusted for movements in the Consumer or Retail Prices Indices with reference to a base CPI or RPI
established at trade date.
The UK general index of consumer prices (for all items) as published by the Office for National Statistics (May 2015 = 100).
The UK general index of retail prices (for all items) as published by the Office for National Statistics (Jan 1987 = 100).
Borrowings that are held with the European Investment Bank.

Borrowings in the above table are unsecured. Funding raised in foreign currencies is swapped to sterling to match funding costs to income
and assets.
During the year, there has been a partial close-out of the £50.0 million RPI index-linked notes due April 2043. The nominal value of the portion of the
notes closed-out was £30.0 million. In order to provide a prior year comparison on a like-for-like basis, the carrying and fair values of the RPI indexlinked notes as at 31 March 2017 have been split to reflect this partial close-out.
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Risk management

The board is responsible for treasury strategy and governance, which is reviewed on an annual basis.
The treasury committee, a subcommittee of the board, has responsibility for setting and monitoring the group’s adherence to treasury policies,
along with oversight in relation to the activities of the treasury function.
Treasury policies cover the key financial risks: liquidity risk, credit risk, market risk (inflation, interest rate, electricity price and currency) and capital
risk. These policies are reviewed by the treasury committee for approval on at least an annual basis, or following any major changes in treasury
operations and/or financial market conditions.
Day-to-day responsibility for operational compliance with the treasury policies rests with the treasurer. An operational compliance report is provided
monthly to the treasury committee, which details the status of the group’s compliance with the treasury policies and highlights the level of risk
against the appropriate risk limits in place.
The group’s treasury function does not act as a profit centre and does not undertake any speculative trading activity.

Liquidity risk

The group looks to manage its liquidity risk by maintaining liquidity within a board approved duration range. Liquidity is actively monitored by the
group’s treasury function and is reported monthly to the treasury committee through the operational compliance report.
At 31 March 2018, the group had £1,205.0 million (2017: £1,147.8 million) of available liquidity, which comprised £510.0 million (2017: £247.8
million) of cash and short-term deposits, £695.0 million (2017: £725.0 million) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities, and £nil (2017: £175.0
million) of undrawn term loan facilities. Short-term deposits mature within three months.
The group had available committed borrowing facilities as follows:

Group

Expiring within one year
Expiring after one year but in less than two years
Expiring after more than two years
Total borrowing facilities
Facilities drawn(1)
Undrawn borrowing facilities

2018
£m
100.0
150.0
500.0
750.0
(55.0)
695.0

2017
£m
150.0
100.0
500.0
750.0
(25.0)
725.0

Note:
(1) Facilities expiring after more than two years.

These facilities are arranged on a bilateral rather than a syndicated basis, which spreads the maturities more evenly over a longer time period,
thereby reducing the refinancing risk by providing several renewal points rather than a large single refinancing point.

Company

The company did not have any committed facilities available at 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.
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Maturity analysis

Concentrations of risk may arise if large cash flows are concentrated within particular time periods. The maturity profile in the following table
represents the forecast future contractual principal and interest cash flows in relation to the group’s financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis.
Derivative cash flows have been shown net where there is a contractual agreement to settle on a net basis; otherwise the cash flows are shown
gross.

Group

At 31 March 2018
Bonds
Bank and other term borrowings
Adjustment to carrying value(2)
Borrowings
Derivatives:
Payable
Receivable
Adjustment to carrying value(2)
Derivatives – net assets

At 31 March 2017
Bonds
Bank and other term borrowings
Adjustment to carrying value(2)
Borrowings
Derivatives:
Payable
Receivable
Adjustment to carrying value(2)
Derivatives – net assets

Total(1)
£m
10,343.8
3,119.3
(5,550.8)
7,912.3
1,382.5
(1,885.7)
(31.3)
(534.5)

Total(1)
£m
9,926.5
3,061.4
(5,603.4)
7,384.5
1,292.1
(1,855.3)
5.2
(558.0)

Adjustment(2)
£m

(5,550.8)
(5,550.8)

(31.3)
(31.3)
Adjustment(2)
£m

(5,603.4)
(5,603.4)

5.2
5.2

1 year or
less
£m
733.9
289.4

1–2 years
£m
585.7
125.2

2–3 years
£m
116.7
682.5

3–4 years
£m
492.5
124.5

4–5 years
£m
96.7
355.3

More than
5 years
£m
8,318.3
1,542.4

1,023.3

710.9

799.2

617.0

452.0

9,860.7

404.4
(750.0)

475.6
(546.9)

28.6
(28.7)

22.4
(28.7)

19.7
(51.6)

431.8
(479.8)

(345.6)

(71.3)

(0.1)

(6.3)

(31.9)

(48.0)

1 year or
less
£m
191.9
318.5

1–2 years
£m
771.4
110.9

2–3 years
£m
563.2
117.8

3–4 years
£m
107.2
663.4

4–5 years
£m
482.9
111.6

More than
5 years
£m
7,809.9
1,739.2

510.4

882.3

681.0

770.6

594.5

9,549.1

143.3
(245.5)

397.8
(807.9)

491.2
(518.7)

33.3
(10.7)

25.0
(10.6)

201.5
(261.9)

(102.2)

(410.1)

(27.5)

22.6

14.4

(60.4)

Financial statements

A4 Financial risk management continued

Notes:
(1) Forecast future cash flows are calculated, where applicable, using forward interest rates based on the interest environment at year-end and are therefore susceptible to changes
in market conditions. For index-linked debt it has been assumed that RPI will be three per cent and CPI will be two per cent over the life of each instrument.
(2) The carrying value of debt is calculated following various methods in accordance with IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ and therefore this
adjustment reconciles the undiscounted forecast future cash flows to the carrying value of debt in the statement of financial position.

Company

The company has total borrowings of £0.5 million (2017: £0.6 million), which are payable within one year, and £1,690.3 million (2017: £1,665.4
million), which are payable within one to two years.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises principally from trading (the supply of services to customers) and treasury activities (the depositing of cash and holding of
derivative instruments). While the opening of the non-household retail market to competition from 1 April 2017 has impacted on the profile of the
group’s concentration of credit risk, as discussed further overleaf, the group does not believe it is exposed to any material concentrations that could
have an impact on its ability to continue as a going concern or its longer-term viability.
The group manages its risk from trading through the effective management of customer relationships. Concentrations of credit risk with respect
to trade receivables are limited due to the majority of the group’s customer base consisting of a large number of unrelated households. The Water
Industry Act 1991 (as amended by the Water Industry Act 1999) prohibits the disconnection of a water supply and the limiting of supply with the
intention of enforcing payment for certain premises including domestic dwellings.
Following the non-household retail market opening to competition, credit risk in this area is now concentrated to a small number of retailers to
whom the group provides wholesale water and wastewater services. Retailers are licensed and monitored by Ofwat and as part of the regulations
they must demonstrate that they have adequate resources available to supply services. The group’s retail customers are on 30-day credit terms
in respect of trading transactions. As at 31 March 2018, Water Plus was the group’s single largest debtor, with amounts outstanding in relation to
wholesale services of £42.2 million (2017: £40.8 million). During the year, sales to Water Plus in relation to wholesale services were £495.4 million
(2017: £402.7 million). Details of transactions with Water Plus can be found in note A6.
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Under the group’s revenue recognition policy, revenue is only recognised when collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.
Considering the above, the directors believe there is no further credit risk provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful receivables (see
note 14). An allowance is made by the water regulator in the price limits at each price review for a proportion of debt deemed to be irrecoverable.
The group manages its credit risk from treasury activities by establishing a total credit limit by counterparty, which comprises a counterparty credit
limit and an additional settlement limit to cover intra-day gross settlement of cash flows. In addition, potential derivative exposure limits are also
established to take account of potential future exposure which may arise under derivative transactions. These limits are calculated by reference
to a measure of capital and credit ratings of the individual counterparties and are subject to a maximum single counterparty limit. Credit limits
are refreshed annually and reviewed in the event of any credit rating action. Additionally, a control mechanism to trigger a review of specific
counterparty limits, irrespective of credit rating action, is in place. This entails daily monitoring of counterparty credit default swap levels and/or
share price volatility. Credit exposure is monitored daily by the group’s treasury function and is reported monthly to the treasury committee
through the operational compliance report.
At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, the maximum exposure to credit risk for the group and company is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the statement of financial position:

Cash and short-term deposits (see note 15)
Trade and other receivables (see note 14)*
Investments (see note 12)
Derivative financial instruments

2018
£m
510.0
402.0
7.1
635.5
1,554.6

Group
2017
£m
247.8
416.2
9.0
807.7
1,480.7

2018
£m
–
74.2
–
–
74.2

Company
2017
£m
–
69.0
–
–
69.0

* Included within trade and other receivables is £137.2 million of amounts owed by joint ventures in respect of borrowings, further details of which are disclosed in note A6.

The credit exposure on derivatives is disclosed gross of any collateral held. At 31 March 2018, the group held £106.7 million (2017: £176.9 million) as
collateral in relation to derivative financial instruments (included within short-term bank borrowings – fixed in note A3).

Market risk

The group’s exposure to market risk primarily results from its financing arrangements and the economic return which it is allowed on the regulatory
capital value (RCV).
The group uses a variety of financial instruments, including derivatives, in order to manage the exposure to these risks.

Inflation risk

The group earns an economic return on its RCV, comprising a real return through revenues and an inflation return as an uplift to its RCV. Currently,
the group’s regulatory assets are linked to RPI inflation; however, following Ofwat’s decision to transition to the use of CPIH for inflation indexation
for the 2020–25 regulatory period, from 2020 the group’s RCV will be 50 per cent linked to RPI inflation and 50 per cent linked to CPIH inflation, with
any new additions being added to the CPIH portion of the RCV.
In addition, the group’s defined benefits pension schemes have continued to hedge inflation exposure, partly through a market hedge using RPI
swaps and index-linked gilts, and partly through an inflation funding mechanism (see note A5), whereby company contributions are flexed for
movements in RPI inflation and smoothed over a rolling five-year period. It is anticipated that the schemes will progressively increase their market
hedges of inflation, with a corresponding reduction and/or removal of the inflation funding mechanism, as part of a long-term de-risking strategy.
In light of these changes, the group has reviewed its inflation hedging policy and has adopted a revised policy with the aim of maintaining
around half of the group’s net debt in index-linked form (where it is economic to do so), by issuing index-linked debt and/or swapping a portion of
nominal debt. This is expected to remain mostly in RPI-linked form until CPI and/or CPIH debt and swaps become available in sufficient size at an
economic cost.
The group believes this is an appropriate inflation hedging policy taking into account a balanced assessment of the following factors: economic hedge
of United Utilities Water Limited’s (UUW) RCV and revenues; cash flow timing mismatch between allowed cost of debt and the group’s incurred cost
of debt; the inflation risk premium that is generally incorporated into nominal debt costs; income statement volatility; hedging costs; debt maturity
profile mismatch risk; and index-linked hedging positioning relative to the water sector.
As a result of the evaluation of the above factors, the group will continue to identify opportunities to maintain around 50 per cent of the group’s net
debt being hedged for inflation, which can be evidenced by the issuing of £65.0 million (2017: £100.0 million) of CPI index-linked debt during the
year. Inflation risk is reported monthly to the treasury committee in the operational compliance report.
The carrying value of index-linked debt held by the group was £3,729.8 million at 31 March 2018 (2017: £3,602.3 million).
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Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the sensitivity of profit before tax to changes in the RPI and CPI on the group’s index-linked borrowings. The sensitivity
analysis has been based on the amount of index-linked debt held at the reporting date and, as such, is not indicative of the years then ended. In
addition, it excludes the hedging aspect of the group’s regulatory assets and post-retirement obligations described above.
2018
£m
(37.7)
37.7

Increase/(decrease) in profit before tax and equity
1 per cent increase in RPI/CPI
1 per cent decrease in RPI/CPI

2017
£m
(36.4)
36.4

Financial statements

A4 Financial risk management continued

The sensitivity analysis assumes a one per cent change in RPI and CPI having a corresponding one per cent impact on this position over a 12-month
period. It should be noted, however, that there is a time lag by which current RPI and CPI changes impact on the income statement, and the analysis
does not incorporate this factor. The portfolio of index-linked debt is calculated on either a three or eight-month lag basis. Therefore, at the reporting
date the index-linked interest and principal adjustments impacting the income statement are fixed and based on the annual RPI or CPI change either
three or eight months earlier.

Company

The company had no material exposure to inflation risk at 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2017.

Interest rate risk

The group’s policy is to structure debt in a way that best matches its underlying assets and cash flows. The group currently earns an economic return
on its RCV, comprising a real return through revenues, determined by the real cost of capital fixed by the regulator for each five-year regulatory
pricing period, and an inflation return as an uplift to its RCV (see inflation risk section for changes being introduced by Ofwat to inflation indexation
from 2020).
In the next regulatory period, Ofwat intends to continue using materially the same methodology in setting a fixed real cost of debt in relation to
embedded debt (currently assumed to be 70 per cent of net debt), but will introduce a debt indexation mechanism in relation to new debt (currently
assumed to be 30 per cent of net debt).
The group has therefore reviewed its interest rate hedging policy, retaining most elements of the existing policy as Ofwat’s embedded debt
methodology is materially unchanged.
Sterling index-linked debt is left unswapped at inception, in accordance with our inflation hedging policy goal to maintain around half of the group’s
net debt in index-linked form. Conventional nominal debt is hedged as set out below.
Where conventional long-term debt is raised in a fixed-rate form, to manage exposure to long-term interest rates, the debt is generally swapped
at inception to create a floating rate liability for the term of the liability through the use of interest rate swaps. These instruments are typically
designated within a fair value accounting hedge.
To manage the exposure to medium-term interest rates, the group fixes underlying interest rates on nominal debt out to 10 years in advance on
a reducing balance basis, mirroring Ofwat’s expected split of 70 per cent embedded and 30 per cent new debt. However, the group will no longer
substantively fix the residual floating underlying interest rates on projected nominal net debt at the start of each regulatory period, leaving this
element floating until it is fixed via the above 10-year reducing balance basis, which should more closely mirror Ofwat’s new debt indexation
mechanism.
This interest rate hedging policy dovetails with our revised inflation hedging policy should we need to swap a portion of nominal debt to real rate
form to maintain our desired mix of nominal and index-linked debt.
The group seeks to manage its risk by maintaining its interest rate exposure within a board approved range. Interest rate risk is reported to the
treasury committee through the operational compliance report.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the sensitivity of the group’s profit before tax and equity to changes in interest rates. The sensitivity analysis has been
based on the amount of net debt and the interest rate hedge positions in place at the reporting date and, as such, is not indicative of the years
then ended.

Increase/(decrease) in profit before tax and equity
1 per cent increase in interest rate
1 per cent decrease in interest rate

2018
£m
128.1
(138.3)

Group
2017
£m
155.7
(153.6)

2018
£m
(16.9)
16.9

Company
2017
£m
(16.7)
16.7

The sensitivity analysis assumes that both fair value hedges and borrowings designated at fair value through profit or loss are effectively hedged and
it excludes the impact on post-retirement obligations. The exposure largely relates to fair value movements on the group’s fixed interest rate swaps
which manage the exposure to medium-term interest rates. Those swaps are not included in hedge relationships.
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Repricing analysis

The following tables categorise the group’s borrowings, derivatives and cash deposits on the basis of when they reprice or, if earlier, mature. The
repricing analysis demonstrates the group’s exposure to floating interest rate risk.
Our largest concentration of floating interest rate risk is with index-linked instruments. This has been classified as repricing in one year or less due to
the refixing of the interest charge with changes in RPI and CPI.

Group

At 31 March 2018
Borrowings in fair value hedge relationships
Fixed rate instruments
Effect of swaps
Borrowings designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Fixed rate instruments
Effect of swaps
Borrowings measured at amortised cost
Fixed rate instruments
Floating rate instruments
Index-linked instruments
Effect of fixed interest rate swaps
Total borrowings
Cash and short-term deposits
Net borrowings

At 31 March 2017
Borrowings in fair value hedge relationships
Fixed rate instruments
Effect of swaps
Borrowings designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Fixed rate instruments
Effect of swaps
Borrowings measured at amortised cost
Fixed rate instruments
Floating rate instruments
Index-linked instruments
Effect of fixed interest rate swaps
Total borrowings
Cash and short-term deposits
Net borrowings

164

Total
£m

1 year or
less
£m

2,895.3
–
2,895.3

583.2
2,312.1
2,895.3

347.7
–
347.7

–
347.7
347.7

189.4
750.1
3,729.8
4,669.3
–
7,912.3
(510.0)
7,402.3

162.0
750.1
3,729.8
4,641.9
(3,006.3)
4,878.6
(510.0)
4,368.6

1–2 years
£m
466.4
(466.4)
–

2–3 years
£m
–
–
–

3–4 years
£m
411.5
(411.5)
–

4–5 years
£m

More than
5 years
£m

–
–
–

1,434.2
(1,434.2)
–

347.7
(347.7)
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

0.6
–
–
0.6
925.4
926.0
–
926.0

0.6
–
–
0.6
252.1
252.7
–
252.7

0.7
–
–
0.7
50.0
50.7
–
50.7

0.8
–
–
0.8
164.5
165.3
–
165.3

24.7
–
–
24.7
1,614.3
1,639.0
–
1,639.0

1–2 years
£m

2–3 years
£m

3–4 years
£m

4–5 years
£m

More than
5 years
£m

Total
£m

1 year or
less
£m

2,522.4
–
2,522.4

–
2,522.4
2,522.4

656.3
(656.3)
–

469.7
(469.7)
–

–
–
–

429.3
(429.3)
–

967.1
(967.1)
–

375.5
–
375.5

–
375.5
375.5

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

375.5
(375.5)
–

0.6
–
–
0.6
1,127.1
1,127.7
–
1,127.7

0.6
–
–
0.6
325.0
325.6
–
325.6

0.7
–
–
0.7
–
0.7
–
0.7

25.5
–
–
25.5
1,729.2
1,754.7
–
1,754.7

230.4
653.9
3,602.3
4,486.6
–
7,384.5
(247.8)
7,136.7

202.5
653.9
3,602.3
4,458.7
(3,131.3)
4,225.3
(247.8)
3,977.5

0.5
–
–
0.5
(50.0)
(49.5)
–
(49.5)
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Company

Borrowings measured at amortised cost
Floating rate instruments
Total borrowings

Total
£m

2018
1 year or less
£m

Total
£m

2017
1 year or less
£m

1,690.8
1,690.8

1,690.8
1,690.8

1,666.0
1,666.0

1,666.0
1,666.0

Electricity price risk

The group is allowed a fixed amount of revenue by the regulator, in real terms, to cover electricity costs for each five-year regulatory pricing period.
To the extent that electricity prices remain floating over this period, this exposes the group to volatility in its operating cash flows. The group’s policy,
therefore, is to manage this risk by fixing a proportion of electricity commodity prices in a cost-effective manner. The group has fixed the price on
a substantial proportion of its anticipated net electricity usage out to the end of the AMP in 2020, partially through entering into electricity swap
contracts.

Financial statements
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Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the sensitivity of the group’s profit before tax and equity to changes in electricity prices. The sensitivity analysis has been
based on the amounts of electricity swaps in place at the reporting date and, as such, is not indicative of the years then ended.

Increase/(decrease) in profit before tax and equity
20 per cent increase in electricity commodity prices
20 per cent decrease in electricity commodity prices

2018
£m
9.4
(9.4)

2017
£m
9.8
(9.8)

The company has no exposure to electricity price risk.

Currency risk

Currency exposure principally arises in respect of funding raised in foreign currencies.
To manage exposure to currency rates, foreign currency debt is hedged into sterling through the use of cross currency swaps and these are often
designated within a fair value accounting hedge.
The group seeks to manage its risk by maintaining currency exposure within board approved limits. Currency risk in relation to foreign currency
denominated financial instruments is reported monthly to the treasury committee through the operational compliance report.
The group and company have no material net exposure to movements in currency rates.

Capital risk management

The group’s objective when managing capital is to maintain efficient access to debt capital markets throughout the economic cycle. The board
therefore believes that it is appropriate to maintain RCV gearing, measured as group consolidated net debt (including derivatives) to regulatory
capital value (RCV) of UUW, within a target range of 55 per cent to 65 per cent. As at 31 March 2018, RCV gearing was 61 per cent (2017: 61 per
cent), which is comfortably within this range.
Assuming no significant changes to existing rating agencies’ methodologies or sector risk assessments, the group aims to maintain, as a minimum,
credit ratings of A3 with Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s) and BBB+ with Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (Standard & Poor’s) for UUW and
debt issued by its financing subsidiary, United Utilities Water Finance PLC.
In order to maintain its targeted minimum credit ratings, the group needs to manage its capital structure with reference to the ratings methodology
and measures used by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s. The ratings methodology is normally based on a number of key ratios (such as RCV gearing,
adjusted interest cover and Funds from Operations (FFO) to debt) and threshold levels as updated and published from time to time by Moody’s and
Standard & Poor’s. The group looks to manage its risk by maintaining the relevant key financial ratios used by the credit rating agencies to determine
a corporate’s credit rating, within the thresholds approved by the board. Capital risk is reported monthly to the treasury committee through the
operational compliance report.
Further detail on the precise measures and methodologies used to assess water companies’ credit ratings can be found in the methodology papers
published by the rating agencies.
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Fair values

The table below sets out the valuation basis of financial instruments held at fair value and financial instruments where fair value has been separately
disclosed in the notes as the carrying value is not a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Group

2018
Available for sale financial assets
Investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial assets – fair value hedge
Derivative financial assets – held for trading(1)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial liabilities – fair value hedge
Derivative financial liabilities – held for trading(1)
Financial liabilities designated as fair value through profit or loss
Financial instruments for which fair value has been disclosed
Financial liabilities in fair value hedge relationships
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

2017
Available for sale financial assets
Investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial assets – fair value hedge
Derivative financial assets – held for trading(1)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial liabilities – held for trading(1)
Financial liabilities designated as fair value through profit or loss
Financial instruments for which fair value has been disclosed
Financial liabilities in fair value hedge relationships
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

–

7.1

–

7.1

–
–

455.7
179.8

–
–

455.7
179.8

–
–
–

(24.2)
(76.8)
(347.7)

–
–
–

(24.2)
(76.8)
(347.7)

(2,192.4)
(2,425.6)
(4,618.0)

(713.5)
(3,372.8)
(3,892.4)

–
–
–

(2,905.9)
(5,798.4)
(8,510.4)

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

–

9.0

–

9.0

–
–

591.1
216.6

–
–

591.1
216.6

–
–

(249.7)
(375.5)

–
–

(249.7)
(375.5)

(778.5)
(4,744.9)
(5,331.9)

–
–
–

(2,544.6)
(5,682.8)
(8,035.9)

(1,766.1)
(937.9)
(2,704.0)

Note:
(1) These derivatives form economic hedges and, as such, management intends to hold these through to maturity. Derivatives forming an economic hedge of the currency exposure
on borrowings included in these balances were £151.8 million (2017: £215.7 million).

ͧ

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

ͧ

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

ͧ

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable).

The group has calculated fair values using quoted prices where an active market exists, which has resulted in £4,618.0 million (2017: £2,704.0
million) of ‘level 1’ fair value measurements. In the absence of an appropriate quoted price, the group has applied discounted cash flow valuation
models utilising market available data in line with prior years. The £1,914.0 million increase (2017: £755.4 million reduction) in ‘level 1’ fair value
measurements is largely due to an increase in the number of observable quoted bond prices in active markets at 31 March 2018.
During the year, changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss resulted in a £27.8 million gain
(2017: £37.5 million loss). Included within this was a £24.0 million loss (2017: £11.9 million) attributable to changes in own credit risk. The
cumulative amount recognised in the income statement due to changes in credit spread was £38.2 million profit (2017: £62.2 million). The carrying
amount is £145.6 million (2017: £173.4 million) higher than the amount contracted to settle on maturity.

Company

The company does not hold any financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value or where fair value has been
separately disclosed in the notes as the carrying value is not a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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Defined benefit schemes

The group participates in two major funded defined benefit pension schemes in the United Kingdom – the United Utilities Pension Scheme (UUPS)
and the United Utilities PLC group of the Electricity Supply Pension Scheme (ESPS), both of which are closed to new employees. The assets of these
schemes are held in trust funds independent of the group’s finances.
The trustees are composed of representatives of both the employer and employees. The trustees are required by law to act in the interests of all
relevant beneficiaries and are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets plus the day-to-day administration of the benefits.
During the year ending 31 March 2019, the majority of active members in the defined benefit sections of the UUPS will transition to a hybrid section
incorporating both defined benefit and defined contribution elements. The changes have had no impact on the financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2018 as they will only take effect for pensionable service from 1 April 2018. Benefits relating to pensionable service before this date
are unaffected by the changes. This transition is a consequence of an increase in future service costs and is intended to reduce the overall costs and
risk to the group whilst balancing the interests of employees by maintaining an element of defined benefit pension provision.

Financial statements

A5 Retirement benefits

The group also operates a series of historic unfunded, unregistered retirement benefit schemes. The costs of these schemes are included in the total
pension cost, on a basis consistent with IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ and the assumptions set out below.
Information about the pension arrangements for executive directors is contained in the directors’ remuneration report.
Under the schemes, employees are entitled to annual pensions on retirement. Benefits are also payable on death and following other events such
as withdrawing from active service. No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.
The defined benefit obligation includes benefits for current employees, former employees and current pensioners as analysed in the table below:

Group

Total value of current employees benefits
Deferred members benefits
Pensioner members benefits
Total defined benefit obligation

2018
£m
913.8
748.6
1,836.3
3,498.7

2017
£m
917.5
798.9
1,899.1
3,615.5

The duration of the combined schemes is around 21 years. The schemes’ duration is an indicator of the weighted-average time until benefit
payments are settled, taking account of the split of the defined benefit obligation between current employees, deferred members and the current
pensioners of the schemes.

Funding requirements

The latest finalised funding valuations of the schemes were carried out by independent qualified actuaries as at 31 March 2016 and determined
that the schemes were both in a deficit position on a funding basis. The basis on which scheme liabilities are valued for funding purposes differs
from the basis required under IAS 19, with liabilities on a funding basis being subject to assumptions at the valuation date that are not updated
between revaluations. Funding deficits vary significantly from company to company, but neither the deficits, the assumptions on which they are
based, the associated sensitivities, nor the risk exposures are disclosed by many companies and therefore meaningful cross-company comparisons
are not possible. Conversely, scheme liabilities are valued on a consistent basis between companies under IAS 19 and are subject to assumptions and
sensitivities that are required to be disclosed. Consequently, the relative economic positions of companies are comparable only on an IAS 19 basis,
subject to normalisation of assumptions used between companies.
A retirement benefit surplus was recognised as an asset at both 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 as, under both the UUPS and ESPS scheme
rules, the group has an unconditional right to a refund of the surplus assuming the full settlement of the plans’ liabilities in a single event, such
as a scheme wind-up.
Under UK legislation there is a requirement that pension schemes are funded prudently, and that funding plans are agreed by pension scheme
trustees. The group has plans in place with the schemes’ trustees to address the funding deficits by 31 December 2021 for the UUPS and
30 September 2024 for the ESPS, through a series of deficit recovery contributions. The group and trustees have agreed long-term strategies for
reducing investment risk in each scheme.
This includes an asset-liability matching policy which aims to reduce the volatility of the funding level of the pension plan by investing in assets
such as corporate bonds and gilts, supplemented by swap and gilt long-term hedges of interest and inflation rates, which perform in line with
the liabilities so as to hedge against changes in interest and inflation rates. Further details of the derivatives used in reducing investment risk are
disclosed in the ‘Further reporting analysis’ section of this appendix.
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Under the Inflation Funding Mechanism (IFM), the schedule of deficit contributions is calculated for a notional amount of liabilities (UUPS: £1,572.0
million; ESPS: £192.0 million) based on a fixed RPI inflation assumption of 3.0 per cent, being 1.0 per cent above Bank of England CPI target inflation.
Each year, the outturn RPI inflation rate is compared to the fixed assumption and applied to the notional amount of liabilities to determine the IFM
amount. This IFM amount, which may be positive or negative, represents a true-up for RPI inflation for the year in question. A cumulative total is
maintained, and where this represents a payment due to the pension scheme, 20 per cent of the outstanding balance is contributed as an additional
deficit contribution. This approach seeks to smooth the impact of RPI inflation, which is expected to vary around the fixed assumption, and
recognises that payments can only flow into the pension scheme. The IFM does not have an accounting impact except to the extent that resulting
payments give rise to a cash flow from the group and an increase in the level of scheme assets, as for any other deficit contribution.
The group expects to make contributions of £52.3 million in the year ending 31 March 2019, comprising £38.9 million to the UUPS and £4.1 million
to the ESPS in respect of deficit repair contributions, £6.6 million and £0.9 million in respect of current service contributions to UUPS and ESPS
respectively, and £0.6 million in respect of expenses to the ESPS; and contributions of £1.1 million and £0.1 million are expected to be made under
the IFM for UUPS and ESPS respectively.
The schemes’ funding plans are reviewed every three years, and the next funding valuation for UUPS and ESPS is due no later than 31 March 2019.

Impact of scheme risk management on IAS 19 disclosures

Under the prescribed IAS 19 basis, pension scheme liabilities are calculated based on current accrued benefits. Expected cash flows are projected
forward allowing for RPI and the current member mortality assumptions. These projected cash flows are then discounted by a high-quality corporate
bond rate, which comprises an underlying interest rate and a credit spread.
The group has de-risked its pension schemes through hedging strategies applied to the underlying interest rate and the forecast RPI. The underlying
interest rate and part of the inflation exposure has been hedged through external market swaps and gilts, the value of which is included in the
schemes’ assets. The remaining inflation exposure has been hedged through the IFM, with RPI in excess of 3.0 per cent per annum being funded
through an additional schedule of deficit contributions.
As a consequence, the reported statement of financial position under IAS 19 remains volatile due to: changes in credit spread which have not been
hedged, primarily due to the difficulties in doing so over long durations; changes in inflation when hedged through the IFM, as the IFM results in
changes to the IFM deficit contributions rather than a change in the schemes’ assets; and, to a lesser extent, changes in mortality as management
has decided, at the current time, not to hedge this exposure due to its lower volatility in the short term and the relatively high hedging costs.
In contrast, the schemes’ specific funding bases, which form the basis for regular (non-IFM) deficit repair contributions, are unlikely to suffer from
significant volatility due to credit spread or inflation. This is because a prudent, fixed credit spread assumption is applied, and inflation-linked
contributions are included within the IFM.
Pension benefits under the defined benefit element of the new UUPS hybrid section that will be effective for pensionable service from
1 April 2018 will be linked to CPI rather than RPI.
In the year ended 31 March 2018, the discount rate increased by 0.05 per cent (2017: 0.85 per cent), which includes a 0.05 per cent decrease in
credit spreads and a 0.1 per cent increase in swap yields over the year. The IAS 19 remeasurement gain of £50.2 million (2017: £76.7 million loss)
reported in note 17 has largely resulted from the impact of the decrease in credit spreads during the year, partially offset by the reduction in giltswap spreads, the favourable impact of changes in mortality during the year and growth asset gains.

Reporting and assumptions

The results of the latest funding valuations at 31 March 2016 have been adjusted for IAS 19 in order to assess the position at 31 March 2018, by
taking account of experience over the period, changes in market conditions, and differences in the financial and demographic assumptions. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current service costs, were measured using the projected unit credit method.
Member data used in arriving at the liability figure included within the overall IAS 19 surplus has been based on the finalised actuarial valuations
as at 31 March 2016 for both UUPS and ESPS.
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Financial assumptions

The main financial and demographic assumptions used by the actuary to calculate the defined benefit surplus of UUPS and ESPS are outlined below:

Group

Discount rate
Pensionable salary growth and pension increases
Price inflation – RPI
Price inflation – CPI

2018
% p.a.
2.60
3.35
3.35
1.95

2017
% p.a.
2.55
3.40
3.40
–

Financial statements

A5 Retirement benefits continued

Demographic assumptions

At both 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, mortality in retirement is assumed to be in line with the Continuous Mortality Investigation’s (CMI) S2PA
year of birth tables, with scaling factor of 108 per cent for males and 102 per cent for females, reflecting actual mortality experience. At 31 March
2018, mortality in retirement is based on CMI 2016 (2017: CMI 2015) long-term improvement factors, with a long-term annual rate of improvement
of 1.75 per cent (2017: 1.75 per cent). The current life expectancies at age 60 underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for the schemes are:

Group

Retired member – male
Non-retired member – male
Retired member – female
Non-retired member – female

2018
years
27.0
28.7
29.4
31.1

2017
years
27.0
29.0
29.8
31.9

Sensitivity of the key scheme assumptions

The measurement of the group’s defined benefit surplus is sensitive to changes in key assumptions, which are described above. The sensitivity
calculations presented below allow for the specified movement in the relevant key assumption, whilst all other assumptions are held constant.
This approach does not take into account the interrelationship between some of these assumptions or any hedging strategies adopted.
ͧ

Asset volatility – If the schemes’ assets underperform relative to the discount rate used to calculate the schemes’ liabilities, this will create
a deficit. The schemes hold some growth assets (equities, diversified growth funds and emerging market debt) which, though expected to
outperform the discount rate in the long term, create volatility in the short term. The allocation to growth assets is monitored to ensure it
remains appropriate given the schemes’ long-term objectives.

ͧ

Discount rate – An increase/decrease in the discount rate of 0.1 per cent would have resulted in a £72.7 million (2017: £74.8 million) decrease/
increase in the schemes’ liabilities at 31 March 2018, although as long as credit spreads remain stable this will be largely offset by an increase
in the value of the schemes’ bond holdings and other instruments designed to hedge this exposure. The discount rate is based on high-quality
corporate bond yields of a similar duration to the schemes’ liabilities.

ͧ

Price inflation – An increase/decrease in the inflation assumption of 0.1 per cent would have resulted in a £68.1 million (2017: £70.0 million)
increase/decrease in the schemes’ liabilities at 31 March 2018, as a significant proportion of the schemes’ benefit obligations are linked to
inflation. However, around half of the schemes’ liabilities were hedged for RPI in the external market at 31 March 2018, meaning that this
sensitivity is likely to be halved as a result. In addition, around half of the schemes’ liabilities were hedged through the IFM, with any change in
inflation outturn resulting in a change to cash contributions provided under this mechanism. Any change in inflation outturn results in a change
to the cash contributions provided under the IFM. As assumptions for pensionable salary growth and pension increases are in line with those for
price inflation, sensitivities are also in line.

ͧ

Life expectancy – An increase/decrease in life expectancy of one year would have resulted in a £128.6 million (2017: £135.3 million) increase/
decrease in the schemes’ liabilities at 31 March 2018. The majority of the schemes’ obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member
and, as such, the schemes’ liabilities are sensitive to these assumptions.
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Further reporting analysis

At 31 March, the fair values of the schemes’ assets recognised in the statement of financial position were as follows:

Group

Equities
Other non-equity growth assets
Gilts
Bonds
Other
Total fair value of schemes’ assets
Present value of defined benefit obligations
Net retirement benefit surplus

Schemes’
assets
%
9.5
5.7
47.2
40.6
(3.0)
100.0

2018
£m
363.9
219.1
1,813.3
1,561.7
(115.1)
3,842.9
(3,498.7)
344.2

Schemes’
assets
%
9.1
4.8
44.8
39.8
1.5
100.0

2017
£m
350.4
185.6
1,729.3
1,537.3
60.4
3,863.0
(3,615.5)
247.5

The fair values in the table above are all based on quoted prices in an active market, where applicable.
The assets, in respect of UUPS, included in the table above, have been allocated to each asset class based on the return the assets are expected
to achieve as UUPS has entered into a variety of derivative transactions to change the return characteristics of the physical assets held in order to
reduce undesirable market and liability risks. As such, the breakdown shown separates the assets of the schemes to illustrate the underlying risk
characteristics of the assets held.
The portfolio contains a proportion of assets set aside for collateral purposes linked to the derivative contracts entered into, as described above.
The collateral portfolio, comprising cash and eligible securities readily convertible to cash, provides sufficient liquidity to manage the derivative
transactions and is expected to achieve a return in excess of LIBOR.
The fair value of derivatives included within pension scheme asset classification are analysed as follows:

Group

At 31 March 2018
Equities
Other non-equity growth assets
Gilts
Bonds
Other
Total fair value of schemes' assets
At 31 March 2017
Equities
Other non-equity growth assets
Gilts
Bonds
Other
Total fair value of schemes' assets

Underlying
assets
£m

Fair value of
derivatives
£m

Combined
£m

357.3
219.1
1,813.3
1,561.1
170.1
4,120.9

6.6
–
–
0.6
(285.2)
(278.0)

363.9
219.1
1,813.3
1,561.7
(115.1)
3,842.9

320.6
185.6
1,729.3
1,547.6
250.5
4,033.6

29.8
–
–
(10.3)
(190.1)
(170.6)

350.4
185.6
1,729.3
1,537.3
60.4
3,863.0

The derivative values in the table above represent the net market value of derivatives held within each of these asset categories as follows:
ͧ
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Derivatives are held within the UUPS equity portfolio to gain economic exposure equivalent to around 4.0 per cent of that scheme’s assets,
and comprise total return swaps on equity indices with a value of £4.7 million (2017: £18.2 million) and currency forwards with a value
of £1.9 million (2017: £11.6 million).
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Derivatives are used within both the UUPS and ESPS bond portfolio to hedge non-sterling exposure back to sterling:
ͧ

The UUPS value comprises credit default swaps with a value of £nil (2017: £(10.3) million), interest rate swaps with a value of £(3.9) million
(2017: £nil) and currency forwards with a value of £1.1 million (2017: £nil); and

ͧ
ͧ

The ESPS total value of £3.4 million (2017: £nil) relates to interest rate swaps.
Derivatives are used within both the UUPS and ESPS ‘other’ portfolios to manage liability risks. Both schemes use a range of derivatives to
target a high level of interest rate and inflation hedging, comprising £(285.9) million (2017: £(227.8) million) in the UUPS and £0.7 million (2017:
£37.7 million) in the ESPS. These are further broken down as follows:

ͧ

The UUPS net value of £(285.9) million (2017: £(227.8) million) comprises asset swaps with a value of £(27.3) million (2017: £(132.9) million),
interest rate swaps with a value of £252.1 million (2017: £522.0 million), gilt repurchase agreements with a value of £(517.2) million (2017:
£(655.8) million) and RPI inflation swaps with a value of £6.5 million (2017: £38.9 million); and

ͧ

The ESPS value of £0.7 million represents gilt repurchase agreements with a value of £2.3 million and RPI inflation swaps with a value of
£(1.6) million. The value at 31 March 2017 of £37.7 million represented the total value of pooled funds which made use of derivatives (i.e.
underlying assets plus the value of the derivatives within these funds).
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ͧ

The derivatives shown in the tables only cover those expressly held for the purpose of reducing certain undesirable asset and liability risks. The
schemes also invest in a number of other pooled funds that make use of derivatives. No allowance is made in the figures above for any derivatives
held within these, as these are not held expressly for the purpose of managing risk. The total fair value of pooled funds held within the schemes’
assets was £567.4 million (2017: £1,179.5 million).
Movements in the fair value of the schemes’ assets were as follows:

Group
At the start of the year
Interest income on schemes’ assets
The return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest
Member contributions
Benefits paid
Administrative expenses
Company contributions
At the end of the year

2018
£m
3,863.0
97.7
(60.0)
4.9
(131.7)
(2.6)
71.6
3,842.9

2017
£m
3,245.6
109.4
555.5
5.2
(114.3)
(2.7)
64.3
3,863.0

The group’s actual return on the schemes’ assets was a gain of £37.7 million (2017: £664.9 million), principally due to gains on derivatives hedging
the schemes’ liabilities.
Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

Group

At the start of the year
Interest cost on schemes’ obligations
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial gains arising from changes in demographic assumptions
Actuarial (losses)/gains arising from experience
Curtailments/settlements
Member contributions
Benefits paid
Current service cost
At the end of the year

2018
£m
(3,615.5)
(90.6)
85.1
43.2
(18.1)
(2.3)
(4.9)
131.7
(27.3)
(3,498.7)

2017
£m
(2,970.4)
(99.2)
(721.4)
52.7
36.5
(3.1)
(5.2)
114.3
(19.7)
(3,615.5)

The equalisation of Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP), for which the UK Government intends to implement legislation, is expected to have a
widespread impact on defined benefit schemes operating in the UK. Such legislation could result in an increase in GMP for certain individuals, which
would increase the defined benefit obligation of the schemes. At this stage, until the Government has further developed its proposals in light of
ongoing legal review, it is not possible to quantify the impact of this change.
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Group

Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in
this note.
The related party transactions with the group’s joint ventures during the period and amounts outstanding at the period end date were as follows:

Sales of services
Purchases of goods and services
Costs recharged at nil margin under transitional service agreements
Interest income and fees recognised on loans to related parties
Amounts owed by related parties
Amounts owed to related parties

2018
£m
496.3
0.7
1.4
3.4
179.7
1.4

2017
£m
404.3
0.7
18.5
2.6
163.5
12.1

Sales of services to related parties during the year mainly represent non-household wholesale charges and were on the group’s normal
trading terms.
At 31 March 2018, amounts owed by joint ventures, as recorded within trade and other receivables in the statement of financial position, were
£179.7 million (2017: £163.5 million), comprising £42.5 million (2017: £41.5 million) of trade balances, which are unsecured and will be settled in
accordance with normal credit terms, and £137.2 million (2017: £122.0 million) relating to loans. Included within these loans receivable were the
following amounts owed by Water Plus:
ͧ

£100.0 million outstanding on a £100.0 million revolving credit facility provided by United Utilities Water Limited, which is guaranteed by United
Utilities PLC, with a maturity date of 30 September 2019, bearing a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus a credit margin;

ͧ

£9.3 million receivable being the fair value of amounts owed in relation to a £12.5 million unsecured loan note held by United Utilities PLC, with
a maturity date of 28 March 2027. This is an interest-free shareholder loan with a total amount outstanding at 31 March 2017 of £12.5 million,
comprising the £9.3 million receivable held at fair value, and £3.2 million recorded as an equity contribution to Water Plus recognised within
interests in joint ventures; and

ͧ

£26.5 million outstanding on a £32.5 million revolving credit facility provided by United Utilities PLC, with a maturity date of 30 September 2019,
bearing a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus a credit margin.

A further £1.4 million of non-current receivables (2017: £3.3 million) was owed by other related parties at 31 March 2018.
£nil expense or allowance has been recognised for bad and doubtful receivables in respect of amounts owed by related parties (2017: £nil).
During the year, United Utilities PLC provided guarantees in support of Water Plus in respect of certain amounts owed to wholesalers. The aggregate
limit of these guarantees was £42.5 million, of which £24.0 million related to guarantees to United Utilities Water Limited.
At 31 March 2018, amounts owed to joint ventures were £1.4 million (2017: £12.1 million). The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be
settled in accordance with normal credit terms (2017: same).
Details of transactions with key management are disclosed in note 2.

Company

The parent company receives dividend income and pays and receives interest to and from subsidiary undertakings in the normal course of business.
Total dividend income received during the year amounted to £267.0 million (2017: £263.1 million) and total net interest payable during the year
was £25.4 million (2017: £27.7 million). Amounts outstanding at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 between the parent company and subsidiary
undertakings are provided in notes 14, 16 and 20.
At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, no related party receivables and payables were secured and no guarantees were issued in respect thereof.
Balances will be settled in accordance with normal credit terms. No allowance for doubtful receivables has been made for amounts owed by
subsidiary undertakings as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017.
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Of the accounting policies outlined below, those deemed to be the most
significant for the group are those that align with the critical accounting
judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty set out on pages
140 to 143.

Basis of consolidation

The group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of
the company and entities controlled by the company (its subsidiaries),
and incorporate the results of its share of joint ventures using the equity
method of accounting. The results of subsidiaries and joint ventures
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the date control is obtained or until the date
that control ceases, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used under the relevant
local GAAP into line with those used by the group.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. Control is achieved
where the group is exposed to, or has the rights to, variable returns from
its involvement in an entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. In the parent company accounts,
investments are held at cost less provision for impairment.
On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a
subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. Any deficiency
of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net
assets acquired is credited to the income statement in the period of
acquisition. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are entities in which the group holds an interest on a
long-term basis and which are jointly controlled with one or more
parties under a contractual arrangement. The group’s share of joint
venture results and assets and liabilities is incorporated using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in a
joint venture is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the group’s share of the profit or loss.
On losing control of a subsidiary disposed of to a joint venture, the
group recognises the gain or loss attributable to measuring the
investment retained in the former subsidiary at its fair value at the date
when control is lost.

Revenue recognition

Borrowing costs and finance income

Except as noted below, all borrowing costs and finance income are
recognised in the income statement on an accruals basis.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of a financial asset or financial liability are included in the initial fair
value of that instrument.
Where borrowing costs are attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset, such costs are capitalised as part of
the specific asset.

Tax

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is
recognised in equity. Assessing the outcome of uncertain tax positions
requires judgements to be made regarding the application of tax law
and the result of negotiations with, and enquiries from, tax authorities
in a number of jurisdictions. A current tax provision is only recognised
when the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and
it is probable that the group will be required to settle that obligation to a
taxing authority.

Current tax

Current tax is based on the taxable profit for the period and is provided
at amounts expected to be paid or recovered using the tax rates and
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at each
reporting date.
Taxable profit differs from the net profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible.
Current tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when
it relates to items charged or credited to equity, in which case the tax is
also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are provided,
using the liability method, on all taxable temporary differences at each
reporting date. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Revenue represents the fair value of the income receivable in the
ordinary course of business for goods and services provided, exclusive of
value added tax and foreign sales tax. Where relevant, this includes an
estimate of the sales value of units supplied to customers between the
date of the last meter reading and the period end.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures,
except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The group recognises revenue generally at the time of delivery and
when collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Should
the group consider that the criteria for revenue recognition are not met
for a transaction, revenue recognition would be delayed until such time
as collectability is reasonably assured. Payments received in advance of
revenue recognition are recorded as deferred income.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected
to apply in the periods in which the temporary timing differences are
expected to reverse based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at each reporting date.

Operating profit

Operating profit is stated after charging operational expenses but before
investment income and finance expense.

Financial statements
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting
date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except
when it relates to items charged or credited to equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprises water and wastewater
infrastructure assets and overground assets.
The useful economic lives of these assets are primarily as follows:
ͧ

Water and wastewater infrastructure assets:
ͧ

Impounding reservoirs 200 years;

ͧ

Mains and raw water aqueducts 30 to 300 years;

ͧ

Sewers and sludge pipelines 60 to 300 years;

ͧ

Sea outfalls 77 years;

ͧ

Buildings 10 to 60 years;

ͧ

Operational assets 5 to 80 years; and

ͧ

Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 3 to 40 years.

Employee and other related costs incurred in implementing the capital
schemes of the group are capitalised.
The group is required to evaluate the carrying values of PPE for
impairment whenever circumstances indicate, in management’s view,
that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. An
impairment review requires management to make uncertain estimates
concerning the cash flows, growth rates and discount rates of the cash
generating units under review.

Water and wastewater infrastructure assets

Infrastructure assets comprise a network of water and wastewater
pipes and systems. Expenditure on the infrastructure assets, including
borrowing costs where applicable, relating to increases in capacity or
enhancements of the network, is treated as additions. Amounts incurred
in maintaining the operating capability of the network in accordance
with defined standards of service are expensed in the year in which the
expenditure is incurred. Infrastructure assets are depreciated by writing
off their cost (or deemed cost for infrastructure assets held on transition
to IFRS), less the estimated residual value, evenly over their useful
economic lives.

Other assets

All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items, including relevant borrowing costs, where
applicable, for qualifying assets. Subsequent costs are included in
the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
Freehold land and assets in the course of construction are not
depreciated. Other assets are depreciated by writing off their cost,
less their estimated residual value, evenly over their estimated useful
economic lives, based on management’s judgement and experience.
Depreciation methods, residual values and useful economic lives are
reassessed annually and, if necessary, changes are accounted for
prospectively. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in other
operating costs.

174

Transfer of assets from customers and developers

Where the group receives from a customer or developer an item of
property, plant and equipment (or cash to construct or acquire an item
of property, plant and equipment) that the group must then use, either
to connect the customer to the network, or to provide the customer
with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services, or to do both, such
items are capitalised at their fair value and included within property,
plant and equipment, with a credit of the same amount to deferred
grants and contributions. The assets are depreciated over their useful
economic lives and the deferred contributions released to revenue over
the same period (or where the receipt of property, plant and equipment
is solely to connect the customer to the network, the deferred
contribution is released immediately to revenue). This interpretation has
been applied to transfers of assets from customers received on or after
1 July 2009.
Assets transferred from customers or developers are accounted for at
fair value. If no market exists for the assets then incremental cash flows
are used to arrive at fair value.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost and are amortised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic lives. The
carrying amount is reduced by any provision for impairment where
necessary. On a business combination, as well as recording separable
intangible assets already recognised in the statement of financial
position of the acquired entity at their fair value, identifiable intangible
assets that arise from contractual or other legal rights are also included
in the acquisition statement of financial position at fair value.
Internal expenditure is capitalised as internally generated intangibles
only if it meets the criteria of IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’.
Intangible assets, which relate primarily to computer software, are
amortised over a period of three to ten years.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets may have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where
the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from
other assets, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell, and
value in use. Value in use represents the net present value of expected
future cash flows, discounted on a pre-tax basis, using a rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses in respect of non-current assets are recognised in the
income statement within operating costs.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the reversal is
recognised in the income statement and the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but not so as to exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

A7 Accounting policies continued
Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower
of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets
are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as having been met only when the sale is highly
probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present
condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year
from the date of classification.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised
on the group’s statement of financial position on the trade date when
the group becomes/ceases to be a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Cash and short-term deposits

Cash and short-term deposits include cash at bank and in hand, deposits
and other short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, have a maturity of three
months or less from the date of acquisition and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. In the consolidated statement of
cash flows and related notes, cash and cash equivalents include cash and
short-term deposits, net of book overdrafts.

Financial investments

The default treatment of measuring at amortised cost, whilst associated
hedging derivatives are recognised at fair value, presents an accounting
measurement mismatch that has the potential to introduce considerable
volatility to both the income statement and the statement of financial
position. Therefore, where feasible, the group takes advantage of
the provisions under IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement’ to make fair value adjustments to its borrowing
instruments to reduce this volatility and better represent the economic
hedges that exist between the group’s borrowings and associated
derivative contracts.
Where feasible, the group designates its financial instruments within fair
value hedge relationships. In order to apply fair value hedge accounting,
it must be demonstrated that the hedging derivative has been, and will
continue to be, a highly effective hedge of the risk being hedged within
the applicable borrowing instrument.

Borrowings designated within a fair value hedge
relationship

Where designated, bonds and loans are initially measured at fair value
being the cash proceeds received net of any direct issue costs. They are
subsequently adjusted for any change in fair value attributable to the
risk being hedged at each reporting date, with the change being charged
or credited to finance expense in the income statement.
Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging
instrument is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the hedge
relationship no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.

Investments (other than interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
fixed deposits) are initially measured at fair value, including transaction
costs. Investments classified as available for sale in accordance with IAS
39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ are measured
at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. Gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity, until the
security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in
the net profit or loss for the period.

Borrowings designated at fair value through
profit or loss

Trade receivables

Derivative financial instruments

Trade receivables are initially measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, less any impairment for
irrecoverable amounts. Estimated irrecoverable amounts are based on
historical experience of the receivables balance.

Trade payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of the group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Borrowings

The group’s default treatment is that bonds and loans are initially
measured at fair value, being the cash proceeds received net of any
direct issue costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
applying the effective interest method. The difference between the net
cash proceeds received at inception and the principal cash flows due at
maturity is accrued over the term of the borrowing.
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Designation is made where the requirements to designate within a fair
value hedge cannot be met at inception despite there being significant
fair value offset between the borrowing and the hedging derivative.
Where designated, bonds and loans are initially measured at fair value
being the cash proceeds received and are subsequently measured at fair
value at each reporting date, with changes in fair value being charged or
credited to finance expense in the income statement.
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value at each
reporting date, with changes in fair value being charged or credited
to finance expense in the income statement. The group enters into
financial derivatives contracts to manage its financial exposure to
changes in market rates (see note A4).

Derivatives and borrowings – valuation

Where an active market exists, designated borrowings and derivatives
recorded at fair value are valued using quoted market prices.
Otherwise, they are valued using a net present value valuation model.
The model uses applicable interest rate curve data at each reporting
date to determine any floating cash flows. Projected future cash
flows associated with each financial instrument are discounted to
the reporting date using discount factors derived from the applicable
interest curves adjusted for counterparty credit risk where appropriate.
Discounted foreign currency cash flows are converted into sterling at the
spot exchange rate at each reporting date. Assumptions are made with
regard to credit spreads based on indicative pricing data.
The valuation of debt designated in a fair value hedge relationship
is calculated based on the risk being hedged as prescribed by IAS 39
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The group’s
policy is to hedge its exposure to changes in the applicable underlying
interest rate and it is this portion of the cash flows that is included in the
valuation model (excluding any applicable company credit risk spread).
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The valuation of debt designated at fair value through the profit or loss
incorporates an assumed credit risk spread in the applicable discount
factor. Credit spreads are determined based on indicative pricing data.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
For properties held for resale, cost includes the cost of acquiring and
developing the sites, including borrowing costs where applicable.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit obligations

The group operates two defined benefit pension schemes, which
are independent of the group’s finances, for its employees. Actuarial
valuations to determine the funding of the schemes, along with future
contribution rates, are carried out by the pension scheme actuary as
directed by the trustees at intervals of not more than three years. In any
intervening years, the trustees review the continuing appropriateness of
the funding and contribution rates.
From a financial reporting perspective and in accordance with IAS 19
‘Employee Benefits’, defined benefit assets are measured at fair value
while liabilities are measured at present value, using the projected unit
credit method. The difference between the two amounts is recognised
as a surplus or obligation in the statement of financial position. Where
this difference results in a defined benefit surplus, this is recognised in
accordance with IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset,
minimum funding requirements and their interaction’, on the basis that
the group has an unconditional right to a refund of any surplus that may
exist following the full settlement of plan liabilities in a single event.
The pension cost under IAS 19 is assessed in accordance with the
advice of a firm of actuaries based on the latest actuarial valuation and
assumptions determined by the actuary, which are used to estimate the
present value of defined benefit obligations. The assumptions are based
on information supplied to the actuary by the company, supplemented
by discussions between the actuary and management. The assumptions
are disclosed in note A5.
The cost of providing pension benefits to employees relating to the
current year’s service (including curtailment gains and losses) is included
within employee benefits expense, while the interest on the schemes’
assets and liabilities is included within investment income and finance
expense respectively. Remeasurement gains/losses on scheme assets
and liabilities are presented in other comprehensive income.
In addition, the group also operates a defined contribution pension
section within the United Utilities Pension Scheme. Payments are
charged as employee costs as they fall due. The group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

Share-based compensation arrangements

The group operates equity-settled, share-based compensation
plans, issued to certain employees. The equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest. Fair value is based on simulation models, according
to the relevant measures of performance. The group has the option to
settle some of these equity-settled share-based payments in cash.
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At each reporting date, the group revises its estimate of the number of
options that are expected to become exercisable with the impact of any
revision being recognised in the income statement, and a corresponding
adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount can be reliably estimated. Expenditure that relates to an existing
condition caused by past operations that does not contribute to current
or future earnings is expensed.

Foreign currency translation
Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates
applicable on the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into sterling at the relevant rates of exchange applicable on
that date. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in net
profit or loss for the period.
Exchange differences arising on investments in equity instruments
classified as available for sale are included in the gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value which are recognised directly in equity. In
order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, the group
enters into derivative instruments (see note A4).

Group companies

On consolidation, the statements of financial position of overseas
subsidiaries and joint ventures (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) are translated into sterling at exchange
rates applicable at each reporting date. The income statements are
translated into sterling using the average rate unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly, in which case the exchange rate at the date the
transaction occurred is used. Exchange differences resulting from the
translation of such statements of financial position at rates ruling at the
beginning and end of the period, together with the differences between
income statements translated at average rates and rates ruling at the
period end, are dealt with as movements on the group’s cumulative
exchange reserve, a separate component of equity. Such translation
differences are recognised as income or expense in the period in which
the operation is disposed of.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. The group has elected to treat
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions before the
date of implementation of IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ (1 April 1999)
as sterling denominated assets and liabilities.

Grants and contributions

Grants and contributions receivable in respect of property, plant and
equipment are treated as deferred income, which is credited to the
income statement over the estimated useful economic lives of the
related assets.

Leases

Leases are classified according to the substance of the transaction.
Operating leases are leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
Operating lease rentals are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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Details of the group’s subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures and associates are set out below. Unless otherwise specified, the registered address
for each entity is Haweswater House, Lingley Mere Business Park, Lingley Green Avenue, Great Sankey, Warrington, WA5 3LP, United Kingdom. For
further details of joint ventures and associates please see notes 11 and 12.

Class of share
capital held
Subsidiary undertakings
Great Britain
Halkyn District Mines Drainage Company Limited
North West Water International Limited
North West Water Limited
United Utilities (Overseas Holdings) Limited
United Utilities Energy Limited
United Utilities Healthcare Trustee Limited
United Utilities International Limited
United Utilities North West Limited
United Utilities Operational Services Limited
United Utilities Pensions Trustees Limited
United Utilities PLC
United Utilities Property Services Limited
United Utilities Renewable Energy Limited
United Utilities Total Solutions Limited
United Utilities Utility Solutions (Industrial) Limited
United Utilities Utility Solutions Holdings Limited
United Utilities Water Finance PLC
United Utilities Water Limited
United Utilities Water Operations Holdings Limited
UU (ESPS) Pension Trustee Limited
UU Group Limited
UU Secretariat Limited
United Utilities Bioresources Limited
YCL Transport Limited
The Netherlands
United Utilities (Tallinn) BV
Thailand
Manta Management Services Limited(1)
Joint ventures
Great Britain
Lingley Mere Business Park Development Company Limited
Lingley Mere Management Company Limited
Selectusonline Limited
Water Plus Group Limited(2)
Estonia
AS Tallinna Vesi(3)
Associated undertakings
Bahrain
Muharraq STP Company BSC(c)(4)
Muharraq Wastewater Services Company WLL(4)
Jebel Ali Free Zone, Dubai, UAE
Muharraq Holding Company 1 Limited(5)

Proportion of
share capital
owned/voting
rights %* Nature of business

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

99.9
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

Dormant
Holding company
Dormant
Holding company
Non-trading
Corporate trustee
Consulting services and project management
Holding company
Non-trading
Corporate trustee
Holding and management company
Property management
Renewable energy generation
Water and wastewater services
Holding company
Holding company
Financing company
Water and wastewater services
Holding company
Corporate trustee
Dormant
Dormant
Wastewater services
Non-trading

Ordinary

100.0

Holding company

Ordinary

49.0

Management company

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

50.0
50.0
16.7
50.0

Development company
Property management
Procurement portal
Holding company

Ordinary

35.3

Water and wastewater services

Ordinary
Ordinary

20.0
35.0

Project company
Operations and maintenance company

Ordinary

20.0

Holding company
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* With the exception of United Utilities PLC, shares are held by subsidiary undertakings rather than directly by United Utilities Group PLC.
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Registered address: 4th Floor, Iyara Building Room 405, 2/22 Chan Road, Thung Wat Don Sub-district, Sathorn District, Bangkok 10120, Thailand.
Registered address: Two Smithfield, Leonard Coates Way, Stoke-on-Trent, ST1 4FD, United Kingdom.
Registered address: Adala 10, Tallinn 10614, Estonia.
Registered address: Building 200, Road 13, Block 115, Hidd, Kingdom of Bahrain.
Registered address: Al Tamimi & Company, 9th Floor, Dubai World Trade Centre, Sheikh Zayed Road, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.
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Five-year summary – unaudited
The financial summary (unaudited) set out below has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of United Utilities Group PLC
for the five years ended 31 March 2018. It should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes, together with
the strategic report.
2018
£m
1,735.8

2017
£m
1,704.0

2016
£m
1,730.0

2015
£m
1,720.2

2014
£m
1,688.8

Operating profit per reported results
Underlying operating profit

636.4
645.1

605.5
622.9

567.9
604.1

653.3
664.3

630.2
634.6

Profit before tax per reported results
Underlying profit before tax

432.1
370.2

442.4
389.4

353.5
408.1

341.6
447.4

543.3
388.1

Profit after taxation per reported results
Underlying profit after tax

354.6
304.9

433.9
313.4

397.5
325.3

271.2
354.1

738.6
304.9

Earnings per share (basic) per reported results (pence)
Underlying earnings per share (pence)

52.0p
44.7p

63.6p
46.0p

58.3p
47.7p

39.8p
51.9p

108.3p
44.7p

39.73p

38.87p

38.45p

37.70p

36.04p

11,853.6
1,149.9
13,003.5

11,768.2
657.9
12,426.1

11,280.8
626.0
11,906.8

10,664.8
638.8
11,303.6

9,929.6
542.9
10,472.5

(8,911.1)
(1,141.5)
(10,052.6)
2,950.9

(8,914.7)
(689.8)
(9,604.5)
2,821.6

(8,357.1)
(844.2)
(9,201.3)
2,705.5

(7,867.7)
(1,001.5)
(8,869.2)
2,434.4

(7,660.3)
(596.3)
(8,256.6)
2,215.9

815.6
(723.2)
184.7
277.1

820.8
(804.6)
22.0
38.2

685.6
(676.8)
(46.4)
(37.6)

706.5
(704.9)
139.2
140.8

797.2
(678.6)
(211.5)
(92.9)

Year ended 31 March
Continuing operations
Revenue

Dividend per ordinary share (pence)
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total net assets and shareholders’ equity
Net cash generated from operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
RCV gearing(1) (%)

6,867.8
61%

6,578.7
61%

6,260.5
61%

5,924.0
59%

Note:
(1)
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Regulatory capital value (RCV) gearing is calculated as group net debt (see note A2), divided by the RCV expressed in outturn prices, of United Utilities Water Limited.

5,519.9
58%

Stock Code: UU.

unitedutilities.com/corporate

Financial statements
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Shareholder information
Key dates
−

21 June 2018
Ex-dividend date for 2017/18 final dividend

−

22 June 2018
Record date for 2017/18 final dividend

−

27 July 2018
Annual general meeting

−

3 August 2018
Payment of 2017/18 final dividend to shareholders

−

21 November 2018
Announcement of half-year results for the six months ending
30 September 2018

−

20 December 2018
Ex-dividend date for 2018/19 interim dividend

−

21 December 2018
Record date for 2018/19 interim dividend

−

1 February 2019
Payment of 2018/19 interim dividend to shareholders

−

May 2019
Announce the final results for the 2018/19 financial year

−

June 2019
Publish the Annual Report and Financial Statements for the 2018/19
financial year

Why not make life easy and have your
dividends paid straight to your bank?
ͧ

The dividend goes directly into your bank account and is available
immediately;

ͧ

No need to pay dividend cheques into your bank account

ͧ

No risk of losing cheques in the post;

ͧ

No risk of having to replace spoiled or out-of-date cheques; and

ͧ

It’s cost-effective for your company.

To take advantage of this, please contact Equiniti via shareview.co.uk
or complete the dividend mandate form that you receive with your next
dividend cheque.
If you choose to have your dividend paid directly into your bank account
you’ll receive one tax voucher each year. This will be issued with the
interim dividend normally paid in February and will contain details of all
the dividends paid in that tax year. If you’d like to receive a tax voucher
with each dividend payment, please contact Equiniti.
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Electronic communications
We’re encouraging our shareholders to receive their shareholder
information by email and via our website. Not only is this a quicker way
for you to receive information, it helps us to be more sustainable by
reducing paper and printing materials and lowering postage costs.
Registering for electronic shareholder communications is very
straightforward, and is done online via shareview.co.uk which is a
website provided by our registrar, Equiniti.
Log on to shareview.co.uk and you can:
ͧ

set up electronic shareholder communication;

ͧ

view your shareholdings;

ͧ

update your address details if you change your address; and

ͧ

get your dividends paid directly into your bank account.

Please do not use any electronic address provided in this notice or in any
related document to communicate with the company for any purposes
other than those expressly stated.

Online annual report
Our annual report is available online. View or download the full Annual
Report and Financial Statements from:
unitedutilities.com/corporate

unitedutilities.com/corporate

Stock Code: UU.

Balance analysis as at 31 March 2018
45.23

2.39

31.04

You can find information about United Utilities quickly and easily on
our website: unitedutilities.com/corporate. Here the Annual Report
and Financial Statements, responsible business performance, company
announcements, the half-year and final results and presentations are
published.

Key shareholder facts

Registrar

13.14
265

89

8

100,001 
1,000,000

1,000,001
10,000,000

10,000,001
to highest

10,001 
100,000

We have retained our Gold award status with the Royal Society for the
Prevention of Accidents and been awarded the Chartered Institute of
Procurement and Supply Corporate Ethics Mark for our sustainable and
ethical approach.

665

% of shares
Number of holdings

Shareholders by location

Looking after your investment
Our approach to responsible business has again helped us to retain world
class status in the Dow Jones Sustainability index for the tenth consecutive
year and membership of the FTSE4Good Index for the sixteenth. We also
received an A- rating in the Carbon Disclosure Project and maintained our
position in the Euronext Vigeo index: UK 20 for our environmental, social
and governance performance.

2.96

1,001 
15,600 10,000

Equiniti also offers a stocks and shares ISA for United Utilities shares:
call 0345 300 0430 or go to: shareview.co.uk/dealing

11,000

Equiniti offers a share dealing service by telephone:
0345 603 7037 and online: shareview.co.uk/dealing

62,747

Overseas shareholders may contact them on:
+44 (0)121 415 7048

5.24

The group’s registrar, Equiniti, can be contacted on:
0371 384 2041 or textphone for those with hearing difficulties:
0371 384 2255. Lines are open 8.30 am to 5.30 pm, Monday to Friday
excluding public holidays in England and Wales.
The address is:
Equiniti, Aspect House, Spencer Road,
Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 6DA.

Shareholder information

Keeping you in the picture

10.0%
14.1%

United Kingdom

45.5%

Europe
North America

30.4%

Rest of the World

Dividend history – pence per share
Interim
Final
Total ordinary

2014
12.01
24.03
36.04

2015
12.56
25.14
37.70

2016
12.81
25.64
38.45

2017
12.95
25.92
38.87

2018
13.24
26.49
39.73

Warning to shareholders
This document is printed on Cocoon Silk 100 which is made from 100% FSC® Recycled
pulp and post-consumer waste paper. This reduces waste sent to landfill, greenhouse
gas emissions, as well as the amount of water and energy consumed.

Please be very wary of any unsolicited contact about your investments
or offers of free company reports. It may be from an overseas ‘broker’
who could sell you worthless or high risk shares. If you deal with an
unauthorised firm, you would not be eligible to receive payment under
the Financial Services Compensation Scheme. Further information and
a list of unauthorised firms that have targeted UK investors is available
from the Financial Conduct Authority at:
fca.org.uk/consumers/protect-yourself/unauthorised-firms

Important information
Cautionary statement:
The Annual Report and Financial Statements (the annual report) contains certain forward-looking statements with
respect to the operations, performance and financial condition of the group. By their nature, these statements involve
uncertainty since future events and circumstances can cause results and developments to differ materially from those
anticipated. The forward-looking statements reflect knowledge and information available at the date of preparation
of this annual report and the company undertakes no obligation to update these forward-looking statements. Nothing
in this annual report should be construed as a profit forecast. Certain regulatory performance data contained in this
annual report is subject to regulatory audit.
Terms used in this report:
Unless expressly stated otherwise, the ‘group’, ‘United Utilities’, ‘UU’ or ‘the company’ means United Utilities Group PLC
and its subsidiary undertakings; the ‘regulated business’, ‘regulated activities’ or ‘UUW’ means the licensed water and
wastewater activities undertaken by United Utilities Water Limited (formerly United Utilities Water PLC) in the North
West of England.

United Utilities Group PLC
Haweswater House
Lingley Mere Business Park
Lingley Green Avenue
Great Sankey
Warrington
WA5 3LP
Telephone +44 (0)1925 237000
Stock Code: UU.
Registered in England and Wales
Registered number 6559020

